\*

Sandra de Fátima Fernandes Martins **Expression or Colorectal Cancer Metabolic and Anglogenic Markers:** Association with Clinicopathological Characteristics and Impact on Prognosis

JMinho | 2012



Universidade do Minho Escola de Ciências da Saúde

Sandra de Fátima Fernandes Martins

Expression of Colorectal Cancer Metabolic and Angiogenic Markers: Association with Clinicopathological Characteristics and Impact on Prognosis



Universidade do Minho Escola de Ciências da Saúde

Sandra de Fátima Fernandes Martins

Expression of Colorectal Cancer Metabolic and Angiogenic Markers: Association with Clinicopathological Characteristics and Impact on Prognosis

Tese de Doutoramento em Medicina

Trabalho realizado sob orientação do **Doutor Adhemar Longatto Filho** Professor Auxiliar Convidado da Escola de Ciências da Saúde, Universidade do Minho, Braga, Portugal e da **Doutora Maria de Fátima Monginho Baltazar** Professora Auxiliar da Escola da Ciências da Saúda

Professora Auxiliar da Escola de Ciências da Saúde, Universidade do Minho, Braga, Portugal

#### DECLARAÇÃO

Nome: Sandra de Fátima Fernandes Martins

Endereço Eletrónico: sandramartins@ecsaude.uminho.pt

Telefone: + 351 915303588

Número do Cartão de Cidadão: 10754720

Título Tese:

**Expression of Colorectal Cancer Metabolic and Angiogenic Markers:** Association with Clinicopathological Characteristics and Impact on Prognosis.

Expressão de Marcadores de Metabolismo e de Angiogense no Cancro Colorectal: Associação com Caracteristicas Clinico-patológicas e Impacto no Prognóstico.

Orientador: Professor Doutor: Adhemar Longatto-Filho

Co-Orientadora: Professora Doutora Maria de Fátima Monginho Baltazar

Ano de conclusão: 2012

Designação do Doutoramento: Doutoramento em Medicina

# É AUTORIZADA A REPRODUÇÃO INTEGRAL DESTA TESE APENAS PARA EFEITOS DE INVESTIGAÇÃO, MEDIANTE DECLARAÇÃO ESCRITA DO INTERESSADO, QUE A TAL SE COMPROMETE.

Universidade do Minho, 10/09/2012

Assinatura:

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

To Prof. Dr. Adhemar Longatto and Prof. Dr. Fátima Baltazar for the friendship,

the constant presence and invaluable guidance.

To Dr. Mesquita Rodrigues e Prof. Dr. Nuno Sousa for the friendship,

attention and encouragement to carry on this project.

To Ricardo Amorim for the friendship and all the teaching that allowed the first steps in the laboratory that culminated in the development of this thesis.

To Eduardo Garcia e Marcus Luz for the laboratory colaboration.

To Dr. Céline Pinheiro for all the availability and assistance in statistical analyses of this thesis.

\_ABSTRACT/RESUMO

#### ABSTRACT

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is one of the most common cancers and a leading cause of cancer death worldwide. Several features are common to all cancers, but particularly two aroused of interest to us, namely the capacity of tumour cells to reprogram their energy metabolism and inducing angiogenesis. Therefore, the objective of this study was to understand the role of metabolic and angiogenic markers in CRC, by studying their expression and establish possible correlations with clinicopathological data. To achieve these goals we created a prospective database of CRC patients treated at Braga Hospital in the period 2005-2010, with clinical, pathological and follow-up data. From surgical specimens of CRC patients submitted to surgical treatment, Tissue Microarrays were constructed for subsequent immunohistochemical evaluation.

The metabolic markers selected were the *Monocarboxylate Transporter* (MCTs), particularly MCT1 and MCT4 essential for lactate transport across the plasma membrane, so contributing for intracellular homeostasia. To better characterize the role of MCTs in CRC metabolism we also evaluated the expression of the chaperones CD147 and CD44 and the glycolytic marker GLUT1. The angiogenic markers selected were members of *Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor* (VEGF) family: VEGF-A, VEGF-C and the receptors VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 with functions of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. The expression of metabolic markers on CRC Hepatic metastasis was also evaluated in order to assess whether the metabolic profile of CRC was maintained by the metastatic cells. In CRC series and CRC Hepatic metastasis series, the correlation with clinicopathological data and survival curves were evaluated to assess their potential as prognostic biomarkers.

The epidemiological results allowed a better knowledge of our population, since CRC epidemiological data are scarce in Portugal. Our results, consistent to that observed in the literature, clearly demonstrated that CRC is a major problem of public health and that our population can be considered a high-risk population for CRC development.

We have demonstrated that the metabolic markers are overexpressed in human CRC samples, when compared with normal adjacent tissues and the same expression pattern was observed in CRC Hepatic Metastasis. Also, analysis of the association between expression of the MCT isoforms and chaperones and GLUT1 in CRC and CRC Hepatic Metastasis, demonstrated that tumour MCT1 positive cases were associated with CD147 plasma membrane expression and

between MCT4 and CD147, CD44 and GLUT1. Also, CRC Hepatic Metastasis holds the same metabolic profile alterations documented in CRC tissues for MCT4 positive cases. Thus, we can conclude that these metabolic markers contribute to the malignant phenotype of CRC and this phenotype persists in Hepatic Metastasis. Overexpression of these markers in CRC, compared to normal adjacent cells, places them as potential therapeutic targets in CRC and especially in metastatic CRC as most of these proteins were not expressed on normal adjacent tissue. When analyzing correlations of these markers with epidemiological data we documented associations with parameters that reflect a worse prognosis, reflecting the metabolic advantage that these tumour cells have acquired, documented by the survival curves of MCT1 and MCT4 with stage IV and stage III, respectively, for colon cancer.

Assessing the expression of angiogenic markers in CRC series, we observed that all molecules were overexpressed, reflecting their role in tumour development and progression. When we compared CRC tissue and normal adjacent tissue we observed a statistically significant correlation for VEGF-C and a tendency for correlation with VEGFR-2, so contributing for tumour grow and tumour metastization. Expression of these markers in normal adjacent cells was less pronounced for VEGFR-3 than the remaining proteins, making VEGFR-3 an attractive therapeutic target since the lower expression in normal tissues will be associated to fewer side effects. When we evaluated the correlation of these markers with epidemiological data, we found correlations with tumour characteristics that contribute to progression, invasion, metastasis and poorer prognosis, documented by the overall-survival curves of VEGF-C and VEGFR-3 with stage III and stage IV for rectal cancer.

In conclusion, the results observed in this thesis, in addition to documenting the metabolic and angiogenic gain of CRC cells compared to normal adjacent cells thereby contributing to proliferative advantage and metastization capacity, also document that the presence of this metabolic and angiogenic markers are associated with tumour characteristics that reflects a worse prognosis and so worse patient survival. Altogether, these findings support their role as biomarkers and potential therapeutic targets in CRC and metastatic CRC.

#### RESUMO

O Cancro Colorectal (CCR) é um dos tumores mais frequentes, assim, como uma das principais causas de morte por doença neoplásica, a nível mundial. Várias características são comuns a todos os cancros, mas duas particularmente despertaram o nosso interesse, nomeadamente a capacidade de reprogramação do metabolismo celular e a de angiogénese. Assim, o objetivo deste estudo foi compreender o papel dos marcadores do metabolismo e de angiogénese no CCR, e, estabelecer possíveis correlações com dados clinico-patológicos. De forma a alcançar estes objetivos foi construída uma base de dados prospetiva, de doentes tratados por CCR, no Hospital de Braga, no período de 2005-2010, onde foram reunidos dados clínicos, anatomopatológicos e de follow-up. A partir dos blocos das peças cirúrgicas dos doentes operados, foram realizados "Tissue Microarrays" para posterior avaliação imunohistoquímica.

Os marcadores de metabolismo selecionados foram os *Transportadores de Monocarboxilatos* (MCTs), nomeadamente MCT1 e MCT4, essenciais para o transporte de lactato através da membrana plasmática, contribuindo para a homeostasia intracelular. De forma a melhor caracterizar o papel dos MCTs no metabolismo do CCR também foram avaliados os chaperones CD147 e CD44 e o marcador glicolítico GLUT1. Os marcadores de angiogénese selecionados foram membros da família do *Fator de Crescimento Vascular Endotelial* (VEGF): VEGF-A, VEGF-C e os recetores, VEGFR-2 e VEGFR-3, com funções conhecidas em termos de angiogénese e linfangiogénese. No caso dos marcadores do metabolismo, foram também avaliadas as expressões destes marcadores numa série de Metástases Hepáticas de CRC, com o objetivo de avaliar se o perfil metabólico observado no CCR se mantinha nas respetivas metástases. Em ambas as séries, foram avaliadas as correlações destes marcadores com dados anatomopatológicos e as curvas de sobrevida, de forma a avaliar o seu potencial como marcadores biológicos.

Os resultados epidemiológicos contribuíram para um melhor conhecimento da nossa população, uma vez que estes dados são escassos em Portugal. Os resultados obtidos, concordantes com os observados na literatura, demonstraram que o CCR é um problema importante de saúde pública e que a nossa população pode ser considerada uma população de altorisco para o seu desenvolvimento.

Demonstramos que os marcadores metabólicos analisados estão sobre-expressos nas amostras do CCR comparativamente com o tecido normal adjacente e que o mesmo padrão de expressão foi observado nas Metástases Hepáticas de CCR. A análise da correlação da expressão das isoformas dos MCT com os chaperones e o GLUT1, na série de CCR, demonstrou que o MCT1 estava associado à expressão plasmática do CD147 e o MCT4 à expressão plasmática do CD147, CD44 e GLUT1. Na série de Metástases Hepáticas de CCR o mesmo perfil metabólico foi observado para o MCT4. Desta forma podemos concluir que estes marcadores de metabolismo contribuem para o fenótipo maligno do CCR e que este se mantem nas metástases hepáticas. A sobreexpressão destes marcadores no CCR comparativamente com o tecido normal adjacente coloca-os como potenciais alvos terapêuticos no tratamento do CCR em especial no CCR metastizado uma vez que estes marcadores não se encontram expressos no tecido normal adjacente. Ao analisarmos as correlações destes marcadores com os dados epidemiológicos documentamos a associação com características que revelam um pior prognóstico, refletindo a vantagem metabólica que estas células tumorais adquiriram, comprovada pelas curvas de sobrevida do MCT1 e MCT4 para o estadio IV e III, respetivamente, para o cancro do cólon.

Avaliando a expressão dos marcadores de angiogénese, na série de CCR, observamos que todos estão sobre-expressos o que reflete o seu papel no desenvolvimento e progressão tumoral. Quando comparamos o tecido tumoral com o tecido normal adjacente observamos uma correlação para o VEGF-C e uma tendência para a correlação com o VEGFR-2, desta forma contribuindo para o crescimento e para a metastização tumoral. A expressão destes marcadores no tecido normal adjacente foi menos pronunciada para o VEGFR-3, tornando-o um alvo terapêutico atrativo, uma vez que esta menor expressão estará associada a menores efeitos secundários. Quando avaliamos a correlação com os dados epidemiológicos, encontramos correlações com características tumorais que contribuem para a progressão, metastização e pior prognóstico, documentado pelas curvas de sobrevida do VEGF-C e VEGFR-3 para o estadio III e IV, respetivamente, para o cancro do recto.

Em conclusão, os resultados observados nesta tese documentam o ganho em termos metabólicos e de angiogénese das células tumorais de CCR em relação ao tecido normal adjacente, contribuindo assim para a sua vantagem proliferativa e de metastização, assim como o facto de a presença destes marcadores estar associada a características tumorais de pior prognóstico e com impacto na sobrevida dos doentes. Estes factos suportam o possível papel destes marcadores de metabolismo e angiogénese, como biomarcadores e potenciais alvos terapêuticos no CCR e CCR metastizado.

\_\_\_\_\_ TABLE OF CONTENTS

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	i
ABSTRACT/RESUMO	Vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	Xiii
TABLE OF FIGURES AND TABLES	XXi
ABBREVIATION LIST	xxvii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1Colorectal Cancer Epidemiology	3
1.2 Colorectal Cancer Risk Factors	4
1.2.1 Environmental risk factors	4
1.2.2 Genetic risk factors	5
1.2.2.1 CROMOSSOMIC INSTABILITY PATHWAY	6
1.2.2.1.1 Adenomatous Polyposis Coli gene	7
1.2.2.1.2 Deleted in Colorectal Cancer gene	9
1.2.2.1.3 TUMOUR PROTEIN 53 GENE	9
1.2.2.1.4 KRAS, BRAF and c-myc gene	9
1.2.2.2 MICROSATELLITE INSTABILITY PATHWAY	11
1.3 DIAGNOSIS AND STAGING	11
1.3.1 Computerized Tomography (CT)	12
1.3.2 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)	13
1.3.3 Ultrasound Imaging	13
1.3.4 Positron Emission Tomography (PET)	13
1.3.5 Staging	14
1.4 Cancer Metabolic Behavior	17
1.4.1 Monocarboxylate Transporters	20
1.4.2 MCT REGULATION BY CHAPERONES	21

1.4.5 GLUCUSE TRAINSPORTERS	23
1.4.4 MCT TARGETING THERAPY IN CANCER	24
1.5 Tumour Angiogenesis	26
2. AIMS	35
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	39
3.1 Epidemiological data	
3.2 TUMOUR BLOCK SELECTION	42
3.3 Hematoxylin-Eosin Staining slides preparation	43
3.4 Construction of Tissue microarrays	43
3.5 Immunohistochemistry	43
3.6 Immunohistochemical evaluation	45
3.7 Statistical Analysis	46
4. RESULTS	47
4.1Epidemiological Characterization	49
4.1.1 General characterization	49
4.1.1.1 Age and Gender	49
4.1.1.2 ANATOMIC DISTRIBUTION OF TUMOURS	49
4.1.1.3 Past personal and familiar history	50
4.1.1.4 CLINICAL PRESENTATION	50
	51
4.1.2 COLON CANCER	
4.1.2 COLON CANCER	
4.1.2 COLON CANCER	51 
<ul> <li>4.1.2 COLON CANCER</li> <li>4.1.2.1 Clinical and preoperative diagnostic and staging examination</li> <li>4.1.2.1.1 Clinical presentation</li> <li>4.1.2.1.2 Localization</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>4.1.2 COLON CANCER.</li> <li>4.1.2.1 Clinical and preoperative diagnostic and staging examination</li> <li>4.1.2.1.1 Clinical presentation</li> <li>4.1.2.1.2 Localization</li> <li>4.1.2.1.3 Diagnosis and Staging</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>4.1.2 COLON CANCER.</li> <li>4.1.2.1 Clinical and preoperative diagnostic and staging examination</li> <li>4.1.2.1.1 Clinical presentation</li> <li>4.1.2.1.2 Localization</li> <li>4.1.2.1.3 Diagnosis and Staging</li> <li>4.1.2.2 Operative reports by surgeons</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>4.1.2 COLON CANCER.</li> <li>4.1.2.1 Clinical and preoperative diagnostic and staging examination</li> <li>4.1.2.1.1 Clinical presentation</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>4.1.2 COLON CANCER.</li> <li>4.1.2.1 Clinical and preoperative diagnostic and staging examination</li></ul>	

	4.1.2.3.3 TUMOUR DIFFERENTIATION	. 54
	4.1.2.3.4 Ressection margins involvement	. 55
	4.1.2.3.5 Vascular Invasion	. 55
	4.1.2.3.6 HISTOLOGICAL STAGING	. 55
	4.1.2.4 Follow-up	. 55
	4.1.3 RECTAL CANCER	. 58
	4.1.3.1 CLINICAL AND PREOPERATIVE DIAGNOSTIC AND STAGING EXAMINATION	. 58
	4.1.3.1.1 CLINICAL PRESENTATION	. 58
	4.1.3.1.2 LOCALIZATION	. 59
	4.1.3.1.3 DIAGNOSIS AND STAGING	. 59
	4.1.3.2 Operative reports by surgeons	. 61
	4.1.3.3 HISTOPATHOLOGICAL REPORTS	. 61
	4.1.3.3.1 TUMOUR SIZE	. 61
	4.1.3.3.2 MACROSCOPIC SEROSAL INVOLVEMENT	. 61
	4.1.3.3.3 TUMOUR DIFFERENTIATION	. 61
	4.1.3.3.4 RESSECTION MARGIN INVOLVEMENT	. 62
	4.1.3.3.5 Vascular Invasion	. 62
	4.1.3.3.6 HISTOLOGICAL STAGING	. 62
	4.1.3.4 Follow-up	. 63
	4.1.4 COLORECTAL CANCER OVERALL SURVIVAL	. 65
4	2 Analysis of the Associations of MCTs, Chaperones and Glycolytic Metabolic Marker	S IN
P	RIMARY COLORECTAL CANCERS AND NORMAL ADJACENT TISSUES	. 67
	4.2.1 MCT1, MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL EXPRESSION IN CRCs	3
	and Normal Adjacent Tissues	. 67
	4.2.3 Evaluation of associations between MCTs, CD147, CD44, GLUT1 expression in CR	۲C
	TISSUES AND EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA	. 71
4	3 Analysis of the Associations of MCTs, Chaperones and Glycolytic Metabolic Marker	S IN
С	OLORECTAL CANCER HEPATIC METASTASIS AND NORMAL ADJACENT TISSUES	. 84
	4.3.1 CHARACTERIZATION OF MCT4, CD147, CD44 AND GLUT1 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL	
	Expression in CRC Hepatic Metastasis and Normal Adjacent Tissue	. 85

4.3.2 Evaluation of Associations between MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 expression in
CRC HEPATIC METASTASIS
4.3.3 Evaluation of associations between MCT4, CD147, CD44, GLUT1 expression in CRC
HEPATIC METASTASIS AND EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA
4.4 Analysis of the Associations of VEGF's family in Primary Colorectal Tumours and
Normal Adjacent Tissues
4.4.1 CHARACTERIZATION OF VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 AND VEGFR-3
Immunohistochemical Expression in CRCs and Normal Adjacent Tissues
4.4.2 Evaluation of Associations between VEGF-A, VEGF-C, and VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3
Expression in CRC tissues
4.4.3 EVALUATION OF ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN VEGF-A, VEGF-C, AND VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3
EXPRESSION IN CRC TISSUES AND EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA
5. DISCUSSION
5.1 FRIDEMIOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION 113
5.1.1 GENERAL CHARACTERIZATION 113
5 1 1 1 AGE AND GENDER 113
5.1.1.2 ANATOMIC DISTRIBUTION OF TUMOURS
5.1.1.3 Past personal and familiar history
5.1.1.4 CLINICAL PRESENTATION
5.1.2 Operative reports by surgeons
5.1.3 HISTOPATHOLOGICAL REPORTS
5.1.3.1 TUMOUR SIZE
5.1.3.2 Macroscopic serosal involvement
5.1.3.3 TUMOUR DIFFERENTIATION
5.1.3.4 Ressection margins involvement
5.1.3.5 Vascular Invasion
5.1.3.6 Histological Staging and Follow-up
5.2 MCTs, Chaperones and Glycolytic Metabolic Markers Immunohistochemical
expression in CRCs and Normal Adjacent Tissues and correlation with epidemiological data $121$

	5.3	MCTs,	CHAPERONES	AND	GLYCOLY	пс Метав	OLIC	Markers	Іммилон	ISTOCHEN	IICAL
	EXPRESS	ION IN C	OLORECTAL (	CANCER	HEPATIC	METASTASIS	S AND	Normal	Adjacent	TISSUES	AND
	CORRELA	TION WITH	EPIDEMIOLO	GICAL DA	ATA						127
	5.4	VEGF-A,	VEGF-C, VEG	GFR-2 /	ND VEGFI	R-3 Іммино	HISTO	CHEMICAL	EXPRESSION	IN CRCS	AND
	Normal	ADJACENT	TISSUES AND	) CORRE	LATION WI	TH EPIDEMIO	LOGIC	AL DATA			128
6	CONCL										121
0.	CONCL		IVIARNO/ FU	TURE	FERSFEU	IVES					. 151
	6.1	EPIDEMIOL	LOGICAL DATA								133
	6.2	CRC AND	Hepatic Me	TASTASI	s Metabol	IC MARKERS	S				136
	6.3	CRC ANG	iogenic <b>M</b> ar	KERS							139
Ac	pendix (	l:									. 179
· .	P										
Ap	pendix 2	<u>2</u> :									. 183
Ap	pendix 3	3:									. 187
Ap	opendix 4	1:									. 191
Ap	pendix {	5:									. 195
Ap	pendix (	5:									. 201
Ap	pendix 7	7:									. 205
Ap	pendix 8	3:									. 209
Ap	pendix S	9:									. 213
Ap	pendix 1	10:									. 225
Ap	pendix 1	11:									. 237

\_\_\_ TABLE OF FIGURES AND TABLES

### **FIGURES AND TABLES**

Figure 3	1: The adenoma-carcinoma sequence in sporadic and hereditary colorectal cancer	. 6
Figure 2	2: Multistep genetic model of colorectal carcinogenesis	. 7
Figure 3	3: A model for the Wnt-signaling pathway	.8
Figure 4	<b>4:</b> The RAS signaling pathway	10
Figure !	5: Schematic representation of Warburg effect	18
Figure 6	: MCT1 and MCT4 regulation	21
Figure 2	7: Model for therapeutic targeting of lactate-based metabolic symbiosis in tumours	25
Figure 8	8: VEGF Family and their Receptors	29
Figure 9	9: Strategies to inhibit VEGF signaling	31
Figure 1	<b>0:</b> Age distribution of CRC patients	49
Figure 1	1: Anatomic distribution of CRC.	50
Figure 1	2: CRC presentation at diagnosis.	50
Figure 1	3: Frequency of macroscopic colon cancer appearance	52
Figure 1	4: Distribuition of colon cancer differentiation	54
Figure 1	5: Frequency of macroscopic rectal cancer appearance.	59
Figure 1	.6: Distribution of rectal cancer differentiation	62
Figure 1	7: Kaplan-Meier curve depicting overall survival CRC curve	66
Figure 1	8: Kaplan-Meier curve depicting disease-free survival CRC curve	66
Figure 1	9: Comparison between colon and rectum cancer survival assessed by log-rank test	66
Figure 2	O: MCT1, MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 immunohistochemical expression in CRC samples	69
Figure 2	1: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of MCT1 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage	78
Figure 2	2: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of MCT4 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage	79
Figure 2	3: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of CD147 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage	30
Figure 2	4: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of CD44 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage	81
Figure 2	25: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of GLUT1 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage	32
Figure 2	6: MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 immunohistochemical expression in CRC Hepatic Metastasis samples .	36
Figure 2	7: MCT4 plasma membrane expression CRC Hepatic metastasis survival curve assessed by log-rank test	91
Figure 2	8: CD147 plasma membrane expression CRC Hepatic metastasis survival curve assessed by log-rank test	91
Figure 2	P: GLUT1 plasma membrane expression CRC Hepatic metastasis survival curve assessed by log-rank test	91
Figure 3	CD44 plasma membrane expression CRC Hepatic metastasis survival curve assessed by log-rank test	91
Figure 3	1: VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 immunohistochemical expression in CRC samples	96
Figure 3	2: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of VEGF-A plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage1	)4
Figure 3	3: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of VEGF-C plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage10	35

**Figure 34:** Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of VEGFR-2 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage. 106 **Figure 35:** Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of VEGFR-3 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage. 107

Table I: 7 <sup>th</sup> revision of the TNM Staging of Colorectal carcinoma.	15
Table II: TNM Staging of Colorectal Carcinoma and 5-Year Survival by Stage	16
Table III: Detailed aspects of the immunohistochemical procedure used to visualize the different metabolic	proteins44
Table IV: Detailed aspects of the immunohistochemical procedure used to visualize the different angiogen	ic proteins 45
Table V: Criteria for evaluation immunoreaction depth and the intensity staining.	46
Table VI: Summary of colon cancer symptoms.	51
Table VII:         Summary of colon cancer metastasis localization	53
Table VIII:         Summary of colon cancer histological staging.	56
Table IX: Summary of histopathogical tumour staging of colon cancer recurrence.	56
Table X: Summary of colon cancer metastasis localization and recurrence.	57
Table XI: Summary of symptoms/signs in colon cancer metastasis and recurrence.	57
Table XII:         Summary of rectal cancer symptoms.	58
Table XIII: Summary of rectal cancer metastasis localization.	60
Table XIV:         Summary of neoadjuvant treatment.	60
Table XV:         Summary of rectal cancer histopathological staging.	63
Table XVI:         Summary of histopathological tumour staging of rectal cancer recurrence.	63
Table XVII:         Summary of rectal cancer metastasis localization and recurrence.	64
Table XVIII: Summary of symptoms/signs in rectal cancer metastasis and recurrence.	65
Table XIX: Pattern of protein staining in CRC vs. normal adjacent epithelium.	68
Table XX: Assessment of associations between MCTs and CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane	expression in
tumour cases	70
Table XXI: Assessment of correlation between MCTs, CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane ex	pression and
clinical data	73
Table XXII: Assessment of correlation between MCTs, CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane ex	pression and
diagnosis/surgery data.	74
Table XXIII: Assessment of correlation between MCTs, CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane ex	pression and
pathological data	76
Table XXIV: Pattern of protein staining in CRC Hepatic metastasis vs. normal adjacent epithelium	85
Table XXV: Assessment of associations between MCTs and CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membran	ne expression
in CRC Hepatic metastases	87
Table XXVI: Assessment of correlation between MCT4, CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane ex	pression and
anatomopathological data from primary tumour.	89
Table XXVII: Assessment of correlation between MCT4, CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane ex	pression and
anatomopathological data from hepatic metastasis	90
Table XXVIII: Pattern of protein staining in CRC vs. normal adjacent epithelium.	95

Fable XXIX: Assessment of associations between VEGF-A, VEGF-C and the receptors VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expressi	on
n tumour cases	97
Table XXX:         Assessment of correlation between VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expression and clinical data.	99
Table XXXI: Assessment of correlation between VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expression a	nd
liagnosis/surgery data	00
Table XXXII: Assessment of correlation between VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expression and pathologic	al
lata	02

**ABBREVIATION LIST** 

## **ABBREVIATION LIST**

- AJCC American Joint Committee for Cancer
- Ang Angiopoietin
- APC Adenomatous Polyposis Coli
- ASR-W World Age Standardization
- ATP Adenosine Trifosfato
- **BV** Bevacizumab
- CAIX Carbonic Anhydrase
- **CD147** Cluster of Differentiation 147
- **CEA** Carcinoembryonic Antigen
- **CHC**  $\alpha$ -Cyano-4-Hydroxycinnamate
- **CIN** Cromossomic Instability
- c-Myc Cell Cycle Regulating Genes
- **CRC** Colorectal Cancer
- **CSF-1R** Colony Stimulating Factor-1 Receptor
- **CT** Computerized Tomography
- **DDC** Deleted in Colorectal Cancer
- DFS Survival Free Disease
- EGF Endothelial Growth Factor
- EGFR Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
- **EMMPRIN** Extracellular Matrix Metalloproteinase Inducer
- EPIC European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition
- EUS Endoscopic Ultrasound

- FAP Familial Adenomatous Polyposis
- FDA Food and Drug Administration
- FGF Fibroblast Growth Factor
- Flt-3 Flt ligand receptor
- 5-FU 5-Fluorouracil
- **GLUT** Glucose Transporter
- HE Hematoxylin-Eosin
- HGF Hepatocyte Growth Factor
- HIF1 Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1
- HNPCC Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer
- IGF2 Insulin-Like Growth Factor 2
- IFL Leucovorin
- Kit Stem Cell Factor Receptor
- LPA Lysophosphatic Acid
- mCRC Metastatic Colorectal Cancer
- MCT Monocarboxylate Transporter
- **MMPs** Matrix Metalloproteinases
- MMR Mismatch Repair
- MRI Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- **MSI** Microsatellite Instability
- MSS Microsatellite Stable
- NA Normal Adjacent
- NCCN National Comprehensive Cancer Network

- **OS** Overall Survival
- **OXPHOS** Oxidative Phosphorylation
- PDGF Platelet Derived Growth Factor
- **PET** Positron Emission Tomography
- PIGF1 and 2 Placental Growth Factor 1 and 2
- RORENO Registo Oncológico Regional do Norte
- ROS Reactive Oxygen Species
- **SDF1** Stromal Cell-Derived Factor 1
- SPSS Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
- **TGF-** $\beta$  Transforming Growth Factor- $\beta$
- TMA Tissue Microarray
- TP53 Tumour Protein 53
- **UICC** International Union for Cancer Control
- VEGF Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
- WCRF/AICR World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research
- WHO World Health Organization

1. INTRODUCTION
# **1.1COLORECTAL CANCER EPIDEMIOLOGY**

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer and the fourth most frequent cause of cancer death worldwide (1–5), accounting for over 9% of all cancer incidence (6,7). Approximately 1 million of new CRC cases are diagnosed every year and about half a million people worldwide die due to this cancer (8). Globally, CRC incidence is very variable, with higher rates in North America, Australia and Western Europe and lower rates in developing countries (4,9), although, in recent years, high CRC rates have also been reported in these countries (10). In terms of mortality, geographic disparities have also been observed (4,11). In Western countries, CRC is the second most common cause of death from cancer, and despite advances in treatment, mortality remains high with metastatic spread to the liver occurring in about 50% of patients (4,12).

European countries presents the highest values in terms of CRC incidence and mortality (9,10). Data from the World Health Organization (WHO) and National Registries, reveal that CRC is the second most common cancer, after lung cancer in males and breast cancer in females (13). From 1998 to 2002, in Europe, the incidence of CRC for men and women was 38.5 and 24.6 (world age standardization (ASR-W)) per 100 000 inhabitants and mortality was, 18.5 and 10.7 (ASR-W) per 100 000 inhabitants, respectively (14). However, over the past twenty-five years, mortality rates among Caucasians have steadily dropped (15). Data from the WHO, between 1997 and 2007 revealed that CRC mortality decreased around 2% per year from 19.7 to 17.4/100 000 for men (world standardized rates), and from 12.5 to 10.5/100 000 for women, and these decreases in CRC mortality rates in several European countries are likely due to improvement in earlier diagnosis and treatment, with a consequent impact in survival (16).

CRC is a growing problem in Portugal, as its mortality rate has been increasing since the 1980s, between 1993 e 2001 the new CRC annual cases grew by 44% in men (from 2,060 to 2,975) and 28% in women (from 1,722 to 2,205) and between 1993 to 2005 total cancer mortality grew 15.8% (17). Data from the "National Statistic Registry", revealed that CRC, in Portugal, is the second most common cancer, after gastric cancer, with an incidence of 5000/year and a leading cause of cancer death (18).

In the North of Portugal, data from RORENO (Northern Regional Oncologic Registry) shows that, in 2005, CRC was the most prevalent cancer, followed by prostate cancer in males and breast

cancer in females (19), and the second cause of cancer death, followed by lung cancer (20). Despite improvement in earlier diagnosis and advances in treatment from 2000 to 2005, the number of CRC deaths increased at an annual average growth rate of 3% (17).

Incidence is generally higher in men, and the risk increases with age, as the majority of cases are diagnosed in patients older than 50 years (1,3,4,14), with only 5% of cases recorded in patients younger than 40 years (1,4). Advanced CRC prevalence, also increases with age and is higher among men than women (4,21). A large study identified CRC as one of the 10 most common cancers, diagnosed in both genders aged 20-49 years (22).

#### **1.2 COLORECTAL CANCER RISK FACTORS**

Literature data concerning hereditary, experimental and epidemiological issues state that CRC is a result of elaborated interrelationships between genetic and environmental factors (6,23).

#### **1.2.1 ENVIRONMENTAL RISK FACTORS**

Evidence suggests that environmental risk factors are of major importance in the cause of CRC (17,24) and responsible for the increase in CRC cases in the last 30 years (17). Those factors including cultural, social, and lifestyle factors, nutritional practices, physical activity, obesity, cigarette smoking and heavy alcohol consumption are well established environmental risk factors (25). In the 1970s, Burkitt proposed the hypothesis that dietary fiber reduces CRC risk, based on the observation of low rates of CRC among rural Africans who eat a high-fiber diet (25). In 2003, the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study reported a linear reduction in CRC risk with increasing fiber intake (25,26) and this result was confirmed in subsequent studies (27–30). The lost of Mediterranean diet adoption (especially lower consumption of cereals and olive oil) and higher energy intake (animal fats, red meat and alcohol) are key diet risk factors (17) for CRC. Also, metabolic syndrome, characterized by obesity, insulin resistance and hypertension, and a consequence of western dietary and behavior patterns was been demonstrated

to contribute to CRC risk (31).

Beyond dietary factors, lifestyle factors have also been extensively investigated. The second World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research (WCRF/AICR) expert report showed that high levels of body fat (BMI >23 kg/m2) or a large waist circumference and lower physical activity are associated with increased risk (32–35). Jacobs et al. (32,36) pointed obesity as a risk factor for colorectal adenoma development, particularly in men, in short-interval follow up (3 years). In addition, recent evidence has demonstrated that increasing physical activity in men aged over 50, results in a decrease in CRC risk (31,32,35,37).

Alcohol is one of the best known and most preventable CRC risk factors (32,33,35,38,39). Many epidemiological studies (38,40), but not all (41), have reported a positive association between alcohol consumption and CRC risk (32,33,35,38,39).

#### **1.2.2 GENETIC RISK FACTORS**

Epidemiological studies suggested that approximately 15% of CRCs arise in individuals with an inherited predisposition to the disease (18,42). A much smaller proportion of cases, fewer than 5%, results from gene mutations that are associated with mendelian syndromes; familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC), in this setting, CRC risk is very high. The remaining ones are sporadic, without a CRC familiar history (18,42).

The morphogenesis of CRC is well understood (**Figure 1**): it develops in a dysplasiaadenoma-carcinoma sequence (43), that was described by Fearon and Vogelstein in 1990 as a linear process from normal mucosa to a small polyp to a large polyp to an invasive cancer (44,45). Nowadays, it is know that a total of 4-5 steps have to occur and that these cumulative events are more important than the sequence that is followed (46) and is responsible for 80-85% of CRCs (43– 45,47).



Figure 1: The adenoma-carcinoma sequence in sporadic and hereditary colorectal cancer (48).

In genetic terms, three types of genes are involved in CRC: proto-oncogenes, tumour suppressor genes and mismatch repair genes. In molecular terms, there are two major tumourigenic pathways leading to CRC: cromossomic instability (CIN) and microsatellite instability (MSI), 80% and 15-20% of sporadic colorectal cancer, respectively (43,44,47). In the first pathway, mutations accumulate in the KRAS oncogene and tumour-suppressor genes, leading to a progression from normal mucosa to adenoma and carcinoma. The second pathway is characterized by mutations in mismatch-repair genes. If somatic cells are affected, MSI is responsible for sporadic tumours (43,44,47).

#### 1.2.2.1 CROMOSSOMIC INSTABILITY PATHWAY

This pathway involves chromosomal instability and is characterized by allelic losses on chromosome 5q (APC), 17p (p53), and 18q (DCC/SMAD4), high frequency of allelic imbalance involving chromosomal arms 5q, 8p, 17p, and 18q, chromosomal amplifications, and translocations (49). This model, besides the previously mentioned tumour suppressor genes alterations, is also characterized by alterations in oncogenes such as KRAS and BRAF (50) (**Figure 2**).



Figure 2: Multistep genetic model of colorectal carcinogenesis (51).

The initial step in colorectal tumourigenesis is the formation of aberrant crypt foci as a result of mutations in the *APC* gene. Progression to larger adenomas and early carcinomas requires activating mutations of the proto-oncogene *KRAS*, in *TP53*, and loss of heterozygosity at chromosome 18q. Mutational activation of *PIK3CA* occurs late in the adenoma-carcinoma sequence in a small proportion of CRC. CIN is observed in benign adenomas and increases with tumour progression.

# 1.2.2.1.1 ADENOMATOUS POLYPOSIS COLI GENE

Mutation on Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (*APC*) gene, a tumour suppressor gene, is present in 50 -70% of sporadic CRC (52). This gene acts as a gatekeeper of intestinal epithelial homeostasis by restricting cytoplasmic levels of  $\beta$ -catenin, the central activator of transcription in the Wnt signaling pathway (50,52–54). At molecular level, *APC* promotes phosphorylation and subsequent degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin by supporting a multiprotein destruction complex, composed of the tumour suppressor Axin and the serine-threonine kinases GSK3b and CK1, which (53) (**Figure 3**).



# A. Normal colonic epithelial cells



**Panel A** depicts the down-regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin transactivation activity in normal colonic epithelial cells.  $\beta$ -catenin remains in a complex of Axin/Axil/conductin, APC, GSK3ß kinase and casein kinase 1 or 2 (CK1 or 2). In the absence of Wht-signaling, GSK3β and CK1 or 2 kinases become active and phosphorylate β-catenin. The phosphorylated β-catenin then binds with F-box protein β-TrCP of the Skp1-Cullin-F-box (SCF) complex of ubiquitin ligases and undergoes proteasomal degradation. Some other known genes which are regulated by  $\beta$ -catenin/Tcf-Lef pathway are given here – cvclin D1, CDH1, Tcf-1, c-iun, Fra-1, PPARd, Gastrin, uPAR, MMP7, Conductin, CD44, Id2, Siamois, Xbra, Twin and Ubx, **Panel B** shows the role of mutations in the APC or  $\beta$ -catenin protein in the regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin level and its transactivation property in colon cancer cells. The mutant β-catenin escapes its degradation through Wnt-pathway and becomes stabilized in the cytoplasm. The stabilized level of  $\beta$ -catenin then heterodimerizes with Tcf-Lef transcription factor and locates into the nucleus, where it actively transcribes cell cycle related genes causing cellular proliferation.

In the case of APC mutations,  $\beta$ -catenin is not directed towards degradation, instead it is translocated to the nucleus and is responsible for transcriptional activation of several cell cycle regulating genes (cyclin D and c-Myc), genes connected to tumour progression (MMP-7, MMP-26) and also the peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor delta gene (53). APC gene is connected to carcinogenesis at different levels such as cell migration and adhesion (52,55,56); besides the function on Wnt pathway, it regulates cell migration due to its role in cytoskeletal regulation (52,55) mitosis, by promotion of chromosomal alignment (56) and influencing centrosome duplication (57).

## **1.2.2.1.2 DELETED IN COLORECTAL CANCER GENE**

Deleted in Colorectal Cancer (*DDC*) gene is a tumour suppressor gene (58). Mutation is present in 73% of sporadic CRC (52,58). The protein codified by *DCC* is a transmembrane receptor of the immunoglobulin superfamily for netrins, factors involved in axon guidance in the developing nervous system; besides this function it also has a role in intracellular signaling, apoptosis, cell cycle and cell motility (59,60). There are studies that refer that when mutations are present in this gene, a worst prognosis results (52).

## 1.2.2.1.3 TUMOUR PROTEIN 53 GENE

Tumour Protein 53 *(TP53)* gene is a tumour suppressor gene that encodes p53. Mutation on *TP53* is present in 60-80% of sporadic CRC (52,61,62). This gene stops cells in G phase until DNA repair occurs; if that repair does not occur, cells enter apoptosis (52,63), so mutations in this gene are involved in malignant transformation, and are associated with a worse prognosis (52).

## 1.2.2.1.4 KRAS, BRAF AND C-MYC GENE

Besides the previously mentioned genes, mutation on *KRAS* gene, a proto-oncogene, is present in 40-50% of sporadic CRC (43,62) and plays a important role in cell division, cell differentiation and apoptosis (51) (**Figure 4**).

These mutations are generally observed as somatic mutations. The most frequent types of *KRAS* mutations in CRCs are G-to-A transitions (64) and G-to-T transversions (65). KRAS mutations occur in MSI tumours, both in HNPCC and in sporadic CRC, in 40% and 18% of cases respectively (66). This mutation occurs in earlier stages of dysplasia-adenoma-carcinoma sequence, being associated with adenoma growth (43). Several studies support the importance of mutational activation of KRAS in the progression of CRC. KRAS gene codon 12 and codon 13 mutations were associated with a mucinous and a non-mucinous phenotype, respectively, but were characterized as

more aggressive tumours with a greater metastatic potential (67). Moreover, the frequency of associated KRAS and BRAF mutations increased along with the depth of intestinal wall invasion and a higher frequency of KRAS mutations was observed in lymph node metastases as compared to the primary tumours, suggesting that KRAS mutations are responsible for a more invasive tumour cell behavior (66).





Growth factors binding to their cell surface receptors activate guanine exchange factors (GEF), such as SOS (son of sevenless) that are attached by the adaptor protein GRB2 (growth-factor-receptor bound protein 2). SOS stimulates the release of bound guanosine diphosphate (GDP) from RAS, and it is exchanged for guanosine triphosphate (GTP), leading to the active RAS-GTP conformation. The guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase)-activating proteins (GAP) can bind to RAS-GTP and accelerate the conversion of RAS-GTP to RAS-GDP, which terminates signaling. Mutated RAS is constitutively active in the RAS-GTP conformation. Activated RAS regulates multiple cellular functions through effectors including the Raf–MEK–ERK pathway, phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase (PI3K), RALGDS, RALGDS-like gene (RLG), and RGL2.

Mutations of BRAF are associated with increased kinase activity and are present in 9 -11% of CRC especially at Dukes' stage A and B (68). In sporadic CRC with a MSI phenotype, BRAF mutations were found in 31-45% of the cases (68–70). Remarkably, a single glutamic acid for valine substitution at codon 600 (V600E) accounts for approximately 90% of the BRAF mutations found in

human tumours (68), this mutation leads to constitutive kinase activation (71) and with rare exceptions, V600E BRAF mutations are found in a mutually exclusive pattern with KRAS mutations, suggesting that these genetic events activate a set of common effectors of transformation (72).

Mutation on *c-myc* gene is present in one third of sporadic CRC, it is essential for progression of G1 to S phase and regulation of cellular differentiation. It seems to be associated with distal tumours, and discriminate a group of patients who have earlier recurrence after surgery (52).

#### **1.2.2.2 MICROSATELLITE INSTABILITY PATHWAY**

During each cell division, DNA polymerase makes errors while copying DNA. These mistakes are more frequent at the level of repeated sequences, known as microsatellites, and are normally repaired by a system called MMR (mismatch repair). Tumours defective in this system accumulate mutations and are called MSI. Microsatellites are numerous and dispersed throughout the genome, in coding and non-coding regions and the instability of non-coding microsatellites is a good indicator of the MSI status (73).

MSI phenotype (defects in the mismatch repair genes hMLH1 and hMSH2) has been found in 10-20% of sporadic CRC (73,74) and in 95% of HNPCC (48). These tumours occur preferentially in the right colon, 30% versus 2% when comparing right and left CRC, respectively (74). MSI tumours were associated with a better prognosis than MSS (Microsatellite Stable) tumours, and respond differently to conventional chemotherapeutic agents used in CRC treatment (73,74).

# **1.3D**IAGNOSIS AND STAGING

CRCs are usually diagnosed either by direct endoscopic visualization or by a radiological investigation (barium enema, computerized tomography (CT) or CT colonography). For the majority of cases, histological confirmation is obtained through endoscopic biopsy; 85% of CRCs are adenocarcinomas, 10% are mucinous adenocarcinomas and the remainders are rare histological

types such as papillary carcinoma, adenosquamous carcinoma and signet ring cell carcinoma (75).

Pre-operative staging is central in CRC, on the one hand there are a wide range of clinical scenarios and treatment options (75); on the other hand, CRC survival is directly associated with the tumour stage at the time of diagnosis; patients with distant metastasis have a poor 5-year survival (12%), compared with patients with a localized disease (90%) (76–78).

A number of imaging modalities are used in the pre-operative staging of CRCs including CT, Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), ultrasound imaging and positron emission tomography (PET) (75).

#### **1.3.1 COMPUTERIZED TOMOGRAPHY (CT)**

This exam is capable of identifying the primary tumour, lymph nodes and other organs metastases, but the major limitations of CT is that it does not provide neither histological diagnostic neither functional information and hence cannot discriminate between active cancer and scar tissue (75).

Pre-operative staging with abdominal CT can change the patient treatment plan, by finding liver metastases, peritoneal carcinomatosis and locally advanced colon cancer. Although in the past, these conditions were considered incurable, nowadays various multi-modality treatments can be offered to selected patients (79–81), even in the case of incurable advanced CRC, staging may change the treatment plan towards a palliative treatment plan, avoiding surgery in selected patients (81,82).

Staging with chest CT as a routine procedure before surgery is controversial, mainly due to the low incidence of clinically relevant lung metastases and low specificity of chest CT (83). After the liver, lung is the most common site for distant metastatic in CRC, and about 10% of CRC patients develop pulmonary metastasis (84). However, fewer than 10% of the patients who develop pulmonary metastasis are candidates for surgical resection (84,85). According to the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines, chest CT is recommended for pre-operative staging of CRC patients (84,86,87). On the other hand, Dutch national evidence-based guideline for diagnosis and treatment of patients with colorectal metastases states that in the case of lung

metastasis, imaging exam could be limited to conventional chest X-ray, based on the low prevalence of lung metastases and the occurrence of false-positives at CT (88).

# 1.3.2 MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING (MRI)

MRI is ideal for rectum as this bowel segment is relatively fixed and for this reason, the use of MRI to stage rectal cancers by assessing primary tumour and its relationship to the bowel wall is standard and essential in guiding rectal cancer treatment (75).

MRI can also be used in the assessment of metastatic liver disease, not only in cases where there is some doubt about the nature of the liver lesions but also identifying metastases that have not been seen by standard CT and providing a roadmap for surgery in the case of metastatic liver disease candidate for surgical resection (75).

# **1.3.3 ULTRASOUND IMAGING**

Transrectal ultrasound is a exam that is used to the staging of rectal cancers by assessing the tumour, its relationship to the bowel wall and the presence of lymph node metastasis (75,89,90). Like MRI, transrectal ultrasound is essential in guiding rectal cancer identifying patients that are candidates to the use of pre-operative radiotherapy (75).

# **1.3.4 POSITRON EMISSION TOMOGRAPHY (PET)**

PET is capable of identifying cancer earlier than other exams such as CT and MRI. Actually, in CRC, the main indications for PET are: assessment of residual mass following treatment and of apparently isolated metastatic disease (75). Depending on the tumour type, it can be highly effective in assessing treatment response or for detecting disease recurrence. However, in histological CRC subtypes, like mucinous carcinoma, due to its low metabolic rate, it is not useful (75).

# 1.3.5 STAGING

The need of stratification patients with CRC in order to establish an appropriate treatment results in the first clinical staging system proposed by Dukes and Jass, for rectal cancer, based on the extent of the primary tumour and presence/absence of lymph node involvement (91–94). However, this staging system lacks some important tumour characteristics, such as extent of lymph node involvement and tumour grade. Later, in 1987, Jass added two new characteristics, the nature of the expanding front of the tumour and the presence/absence of lymphocytic infiltration at the advancing edge, thus addressing some of those absences (95). In the following years, as new factors became known, the Dukes'classification has been repeatedly modified by others (Kirklin, Astler and Coller, etc.) (91).

Nowadays, TNM staging is the most widely used system, it classifies the extent of cancer based on anatomical information about the size and extent of primary tumour (T), the regional lymph node status (N) and the distant metastases (M), grouping the cases with similar prognostic (91,96). The system is maintained collaboratively by the International Union for Cancer Control (UICC) and the American Joint Committee for Cancer (AJCC), resulting in periodical and simultaneously publication of the *TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours* and the *AJCC Cancer Staging Manual*. The 7<sup>th</sup> revision of TNM staging was recently published by the AJCC and UICC, and became operational starting on 2010.01.01 (91,97).

The staging system is categorized from Stage 0 through stage IVB (**Table I**) and correlates with patient prognosis (**Table II**). Stage I disease includes tumours with tumour depth penetration into the submucosa (T1) or the muscularis propria (T2). In stage IIA–IIC CRC, tumour penetration can extend from muscularis propria to adhere to other organs however, there is no lymph node involvement. Nodal involvement begins in stage IIIA–IIIC regardless tumour depth penetration. Finally, stage IVA–IVB, incorporates one distant organ involvement (M1a) or greater than 1 organ/peritoneal involvement (M1b), independently of tumour depth penetration and regional lymph nodes involvement (98).

**Table I:** 7<sup>th</sup> revision of the TNM Staging of Colorectal carcinoma [Adapted from (97)].

Primary Tumour (T)			
тх	Primary tumour cannot be assessed		
то	No evidence of primary tumour		
Tis	Carcinoma in situ: intraepithelial or invasion of lamina propria		
Т1	Tumour invades submucosa		
Т2	Tumour invades muscularis propria		
Т3	Tumour invades through the muscularis propria into pericolorectal tissues		
T4a	Tumour penetrates to the surface of the visceral peritoneum		
T4b	Tumour directly invades or is adherent to other organs or structures		

# Lymph Nodes (N)

NX	Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed	
NO	No regional lymph node metastasis	
N1	Metastasis in 1–3 regional lymph nodes	
N1a	Metastasis in one regional lymph node	
N1b	Metastasis in 2–3 regional lymph nodes	
N1c	Tumour deposit(s) in the subserosa, mesentery, or nonperitonealized pericolic or perirectal tissues without regional nodal metastasis	
N2	Metastasis in 4 or more regional lymph nodes	
N2a	Metastasis in 4–6 regional lymph nodes	
N2b	Metastasis in 7 or more regional lymph nodes	

# Distant Metastasis (M)

<b>M0</b>	No distant metastasis
M1	Distant metastasis
M1a	Metastasis confined to one organ or site
M1b	Metastases in more than one organ/site or the peritoneum

Stage	Т	N	Μ
0	Tis	NO	MO
I	T1	NO	МО
	T2	NO	MO
IIA	Т3	NO	МО
IIB	T4a	NO	MO
IIC	T4b	NO	МО
IIIA	T1-T2	N1/N1cM0	MO
	T1	N2a	МО
IIIB	T3-T4a	N1/N1cM0	MO
	T2-T3	N2a	МО
	T1-T2	N2b	MO
IIIC	T4a	N2a	МО
	T3-T4a	N2b	MO
	T4b	N1-N2	МО
IVA	Any T	Any N	M1a
IVB	Any T	Any N	M1b

Table II: TNM Staging of Colorectal Carcinoma and 5-Year Survival by Stage [Adapted from (98)].

Stage	5-Year Survival
1	93.2%
IIA	84.7%
IIB	72.2%
IIC	
IIIA	83.4%
IIIB	64.1%
IIIC	44.3%
IVA	8.1%
IVB	8.1%

Note: Five year percentages based on data prior to institution of  $7^{\text{th}}$  edition, AJCC staging guide (99).

In the last years, there has been a growing interest focusing on the role of non-anatomic markers as prognostic and treatment response in cancer patients (91). These molecules might allow more accurate CRC staging, improving patients selection for multimodal therapy and sparing patients from unnecessary procedures (77,78). However, besides TNM, few stage markers have been validated as diagnosis criteria worldwide (77,78).

## **1.4 CANCER METABOLIC BEHAVIOR**

Reprogramming of energy metabolism is one of the hallmarks of cancer, which was recently added to sustaining proliferative signaling, evading growth suppressors, resisting cell death, enabling replicative immortality, inducing angiogenesis, activating invasion, metastasis and evading immune destruction (100).

Normal cells and tumour cells differ markedly in energy metabolism; normal cells use glucose as their primary energy source. In the presence of adequate oxygen supply, normal cells completely oxidize glucose, a process that involves cytoplasmic glycolysis, mitochondrial citric acid cycle and electron transport chain/oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS). Consequently, normal cells drive the maximum possible energy from glucose by fully oxidizing the molecule to CO<sub>2</sub> (**Figure 5**).

When the oxygen supply is disrupted, normal cells turn their metabolism to anaerobic glycolysis, due to mitochondrial function suppression, as a consequence of oxygen absence. This metabolic pathway has lactate as the end product and conversion of pyruvate, the glycolytic end product, into lactate is mandatory for continued operation of glycolysis in the absence of oxygen. Consequently, the regeneration of NAD<sup>+</sup>, the coenzyme for glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, is ensured. Contrary to "aerobic glycolysis", this pathway only produces a fraction of energy from glucose (Energetic yield: 2 ATPs/glucose molecules). Thus, this less efficient energetic pathway is adopted by normal cells only under anaerobic conditions (102) (**Figure 5**).



**Figure 5:** Schematic representation of Warburg effect (101). Represents the differences between OXPHOS, anaerobic glycolysis, and "aerobic glycolysis".

Unlike normal cells, tumour cell metabolism depends mainly on this metabolic pathway, even in the presence of oxygen. This phenomenon, "aerobic glycolysis" or "Warburg effect", was first described almost one century ago, by the Nobel Prize winner Otto Warburg, it was the first tumour-metabolism specific alteration described and consists of an increase in glycolytic rate that is maintained even in the presence of adequate levels of oxygen. As a consequence, tumour cells are producing lactate at higher levels compared to non-malignant tissue (103–106).

In order to maintain the high rates of glycolysis, cancer cells use elevated amounts of glucose as energetic source (107), with increase in glycolytic flux (103,108–112), mainly caused by upregulation of numerous glycolysis-related genes in the majority of human cancers (104).

There are several reasons why enhanced "aerobic glycolysis" constitutes an advantage for tumour growth (113):

- Tumour cells are able to survive in conditions of low oxygen tension, that would be lethal for cells that depends mostly on aerobic metabolism to generate energy (113,114).

- The acidic tumour microenvironment, resulting by the acids produced by cancer cells, namely lactic acid (115) is associated with tumour aggressiveness features, such as growth,

increased survival, migration, invasion, and angiogenesis (104,116,117), and suppress anticancer immune effectors (118). Moreover, lactate can be taken up by stromal cells to regenerate pyruvate that can be either extruded to refuel the cancer cell or can be used for OXPHOS (115).

- Tumours are able to metabolize glucose, through the pentose phosphate pathway, to generate NADPH thus supplying cell's anti-oxidant defenses against a hostile microenvironment and chemotherapeutic agents (119). NADPH can also contribute to fatty acid synthesis.

- Cancer cells use intermediates of the glycolytic pathway for anabolic reactions: glucose 6phosphate for glycogen and ribose 5-phosphate synthesis, dihydroxyacetone phosphate for triacylglyceride and phospholipid synthesis, and pyruvate for alanine and malate synthesis (119). Moreover, pyruvate may enter a truncated tricarboxylic acid cycle. The resultant acetyl-CoA is exported from the mitochondrial matrix and becomes available for the synthesis of fatty acids, cholesterol, and isoprenoids (113).

- Reduced ATP generation in mitochondria is a compromise that tumour cells have to make in order to initiate oncogenic transformation by partially inhibiting OXPHOS, consequently, the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) increase (120), causing mutations in proto-oncogenes to initiate tumourigenesis (102).

Since enhanced glycolysis in cancer is associated with lactate production and secretion (103,109–112) and despite the large amounts of lactic acid produced only the interstitial pH of tumours is low, while the intracellular pH of tumours is either normal or higher than normal tissues (109–111), tumour cells must find a way to eliminate lactic acid to prevent cellular acidification and apoptosis (103,104,112). This is achieved by specific transporter upregulation like proton pumps, sodium-proton exchangers, bicarbonate transporters, and monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) (109).

By counteracting intracellular acidification, the export of lactic acid leads to acidification of the extracellular milieu which turns to be advantageous to tumour progression for two reasons; first extracellular acidification may kill adjacent normal cells, allowing tumour cells to spread, second it facilitates angiogenesis and metastization through upregulation of molecules involved in tumours growth, progression and metastization such as Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF), Hypoxia-inducible Factor 1, (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ), and hyaluronan and its receptor CD44 (103,121). Some studies report that elevated lactate levels correlate with increasing incidence of metastases (122), radioresistance

(123) and poor prognosis, particularly poor overall survival and poor disease-free survival (104,123,124) in human cervical cancers (125–127), head and neck cancer (111), brain cancer (128,129) non-small-cell lung cancer (130) adenocarcinoma lung cancer (131) and CRC (132,133).

#### **1.4.1 MONOCARBOXYLATE TRANSPORTERS**

The monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) family is presently composed by 14 members, and is encoded by the SLC16 gene family (134,135). Currently, only four members (MCT1-MCT4) of the MCT family have been demonstrated to transport aliphatic monocarboxylates, including lactate, pyruvate and ketone bodies (135,136). Besides the previously mentioned monocarboxylates, MCTs also transport the branched-chain oxo-acids derived from leucine, valine and isoleucine, and the ketone bodies acetoacetate,  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate and acetate. Consequently, MCTs play a central role in metabolism and are critical for metabolic communication between cells (136).

**MCT1** has a broader distribution and transports a wider range of substrates when compared to other family members. The main function of this transporter has been associated with the uptake or efflux of monocarboxylates through the plasma membrane, according to cell metabolic needs and behaving as a high affinity transporter for L-lactate, but not for D-lactate, as well as for pyruvate, acetate, propionate, D,L- $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate and acetoacetate (134,135). It has also been implicated in the transport of butyrate and propionate in human colonocytes, the principal energy substract for these cells (127,135,137).

**MCT4** demonstrates several similarities to MCT1, namely tissue distribution, regulation and substrate/inhibitor specificity. The principal difference between these isoforms lies in tissue specific localization and substrate affinities. MCT4 is predominantly expressed in highly glycolytic cells such as white muscle and white blood cells (135,138) and also strongly expressed in placenta, exporting lactic acid rapidly from the fetal to the maternal circulation, thus suggesting that its physiological function is lactate efflux (139). Another difference is that MCT4 shows a lower affinity for substrates, than MCT1 (138,140). In fact, MCT4 will not only be important for the acid-resistant phenotype, but

also for the hyper-glycolytic phenotype, by exporting newly formed lactate, allowing continuous conversion of pyruvate to lactate, so, and, therefore, continuous aerobic glycolysis (135).

In the past few years some studies reported abnormal expression of MCTs, particularly in solid tumours, however, with contradictory conclusions (141). CRC provides intriguing information regarding MCT expression in cancer. Koukourakis et al. demonstrated that both membrane and cytoplasmic MCT1 expression was seen in both normal colonic tissue as well as in colonic tumour cells (127,142,143). In our previous results, Pinheiro et al. have demonstrated an increase in MCT1 and MCT4 in CRC compared with normal colonic epithelium (108,127). On the other side, Lambert et al. described a decrease in MCT1 expression during transition to malignancy (108,127,144).

# **1.4.2 MCT** REGULATION BY CHAPERONES

Functional expression of MCTs is regulated by accessory proteins (Figure 6), such as Cluster of Differentiation 147 (CD147), also known as Basigin (BSG) or Extracellular Matrix Metalloproteinase Inducer (EMMPRIN) that are involved in trafficking and anchoring of plasma membrane proteins (135).





(Blue boxes indicate upregulation of the specific MCT subtype while green boxes indicate a downregulation) (127).

**CD147** is a broadly distributed plasma membrane glycoprotein and belongs to the immunoglobulin superfamily (145). This chaperone is ubiquitously expressed on the cell surface, with the highest levels found in metabolically active cells such as lymphoblasts and cancer cells (146,147). CD147 promotes extracellular matrix degradation, tumour growth and metastasis of cancer cells through increasing production of hyaluronan (148), and stimulating the production of multiple matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) by fibroblasts, endothelial cells and cancer cells and so increasing the invasiveness of tumour cells (149–154). CD147 also stimulates angiogenesis by upregulation VEGF expression (155) as well as its main receptor VEGFR-2 in both cancer cells and endothelial cells (156).

Regulation of MCT1 and MCT4 by CD147, was supported by evidence on human and in vitro studies (104,135,157–161). Besides the role of CD147 as chaperone for MCT1 and MCT4 activity, these MCT isoforms also have been implicated in CD147 membrane expression (135,157,160). Thus, the contribution of MCTs to the malignant phenotype is not limited to their own function as lactate transporters and pH regulators, but through its role in CD147 expression MCTs may also have indirect roles in tumour growth, invasion and angiogenesis (135,162–164).

Like MCT, studies on CD147 expression in CRC are limited. High expression of CD147 has been observed in various carcinomas including colorectal cancers (149,165–167); breast cancers (148,168–170), hepatomas (171), oesophageal (179) and cervical squamous cell carcinomas (172), ovarian carcinomas (173) and gastric cancer (174). On the other hand, van der Jagt et al. observed that CD147 expression was higher in normal tissue compared to tumour tissue (175).

Elevated CD147 expression has also been shown to correlate with the progression of various malignancies (148,150,151,166,168,171–173,176). Zheng et al. (177) documented that CD147 expression was stronger in CRC and metastatic carcinoma than non-neoplastic superficial epithelium. Also, Buergy et al. and Jin et al. reported that a high relative CD147 expression was associated with advanced tumour stage and with metastatic disease (178,179). Baba et al. observed that blocking CD147 led to an increase in cell death (180).

**CD44** was originally described as an antigen on red blood cells and platelets, and subsequently recognized as a lymphocyte homing receptor (181,182).

It is a transmembrane glycoprotein that acts mainly as a receptor for hyaluronan but can

also bind to other extracellular matrix ligands like chondroitin sulphate, heparan sulphate, fibronectin, serglycin, osteopontin but with lower affinity (181,182). It's main function is communication of cell-matrix interactions (181,182) but also participates in other cellular processes, including growth, survival, differentiation, and motility (183). Recently it was found that CD44 may also act as a chaperone for MCT expression (162).

CD44 is encoded by a single gene containing 20 exons, 10 of which are variant exons inserted by alternative splicing (181), some of these variant isoforms are up-regulated in cancers (181,184–187) and has been implicated in numerous aspects of cancer progression (184–187).

Additionally, parallel analysis of CD44 and MCTs expressions in human cancer, show that CD44 is associated with MCT1 in lung cancer (104) and both MCT1 and MCT4 in prostate cancer (188). Several studies have suggested an important biological role for CD44 in tumour progression, metastasis and as a potential clinicopathological marker of disease progression for colorectal cancer (189–194) breast cancer (195), pancreatic cancer (196) gastric cancer (197) and esophageal carcinoma (198,199).

Some studies correlates variant isoforms of CD44 expression with a poor prognosis in colon cancer (200–202) and that can be a molecular marker for colorectal cancer and for the presence of micrometastasis in regional normal lymph node (202), but different conclusions have been achieved about an potential relationship between variant CD44 expression and the prognosis of patients with CRC (181,203–205) and more recent results suggest either no role or a worse clinical outcome for CD44 variant isoforms expression (192,206–208).

#### **1.4.3 GLUCOSE TRANSPORTERS**

Cancer cells, in order to continue their uncontrolled growth and proliferation, must compensate the inefficient extraction of energy from glucose, this is achieved by overexpression of glucose transport through plasma membrane (209–211), that is mediated by a family of facilitated glucose transporter proteins named (GLUT 1–14) (209,212). This up-regulation may be a constitutive feature of the malignant phenotype in many cancers or may result from an adaptative

increase in GLUT1 expression, a hypoxia-responsive transporter, due to local hypoxia in the tumour microenvironment (213,214).

The GLUT family is expressed in the membrane of nearly all cell types; GLUT1, a highaffinity glucose transporter, is restricted to erythrocytes and blood-tissue barriers such as the bloodbrain and blood-nerve barriers (210,212,213).

Overexpression of GLUTs has been observed in various cancers (209,210), namely breast, lung, kidney, urinary bladder, stomach, colorectum, endometrium, thyroid, head and neck, liver, ovary, salivary gland, and prostate cancer (210,212,215) due to a high metabolic rate and fast growth environment. The lack of GLUTs expression in benign epithelial tissues makes it a potential marker for malignant transformation (210,214,216).

Other studies revealed a correlation between GLUT1 expression level and the grade of tumour aggressiveness (209,212,213,217,218), increased proliferative activity and energy requirements (212) suggesting that GLUT1 expression may correlate with prognostic (209,213,219).

# **1.4.4 MCT TARGETING THERAPY IN CANCER**

Tumour cells intracellular pH homeostasis and subsequent extracellular acidosis have been considered a key factor essential for both cell transformation and progression of the neoplastic process (220). MCT inhibition, by affecting pH homeostasis, will have a direct impact in cellular and extracellular balance with an important effect on cell viability. MCT inhibition not only induces apoptosis due to cellular acidosis, but would also lead to reduction in tumour angiogenesis (221), invasion (222), and metastization (223) (**Figure 7**).



**Figure 7:** Model for therapeutic targeting of lactate-based metabolic symbiosis in tumours (124). Hypoxic tumour cells depend on glycolysis to produce energy. Lactate, diffuses along its concentration gradient toward blood vessels. By contrast, oxygenated tumour cells import lactate (mediated by MCT1) and oxidize it to produce energy. Upon MCT1 inhibition, oxidative tumour cells switch from lactate oxidation to glycolysis, thereby preventing adequate glucose delivery to glycolytic cells, which die from glucose starvation.

This hypothesis was already proven both *in vitro* and *in vivo* in various cancers models, namely in gliomas (224,225) and neuroblastomas (226). In order to investigate a novel method to enhance radiosensitivity of gliomas, namely by modulating the metabolite flux immediately before radiotherapy, Colen et al. (224) disrupted cell metabolic balance with  $\alpha$ -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamate (CHC) concluding that this inhibitor of MCT activity supported the usefulness of metabolic remodeling before low-dose radiation-based glioma therapy. Also Mathupala et al. (225) in malignant gliomas, demonstrated that small interfering ribonucleic acid (siRNA) specific for MCT1 and MCT2, in U-87 MG cells, reduced lactate efflux by 30% individually and 85% in combination, with a concomitant decrease of intracellular pH. Additionally, with prolonged silencing, cell viability was reduced by 75% individually and 92% in combination. Fang et al. (226) also pointed MCT1 as a therapeutic target in neuroblastoma.

Also, inhibition studies on CD147 with RNAi have demonstrated significant decreases in invasiveness, MMP secretion, multidrug resistance and increased cell death. Inhibition by a mouse

monoclonal antibody, who disrupts CD147–MCT1 association, led to specific cancer cell death while sparing normal fibroblast (227).

Since MCT inhibitors have the potential for altering metabolism, intracellular pH, and angiogenic response, they are promising therapeutics targets but we cannot forget the deleterious whole-body effects that they can cause and so it is mandatory to evaluate toxicity to normal tissue (227). Currently a clinical trial is ongoing based on the antitumoural effect of CHC as MCT1 inhibitor, a related orally administered compound, AZD3965, is currently entering Phasel/II clinical trials for advanced solid tumours (228).

# **1.5 TUMOUR ANGIOGENESIS**

Angiogenesis plays a key role in tumourigenesis and metastatic processes (4,229–234). It consists in the formation of new blood vessels from the endothelium of pre-existing vasculature (232,235) but recruitment and *in situ* differentiation of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells are also involved (232); it includes proliferation and migration of activated endothelial cells to reach remote targets, assembly of these cells into new capillary tubes, followed by synthesis of a new basement membrane and maturation with formation of a vascular lumen (232).

During tumourigenesis, the appropriate balance between proangiogenic and antiangiogenic molecules which arise from cancer cells and stromal cells is lost (4,232,235–239). This "angiogenic switch" is triggered by several factors including: (a) oncogene-mediated tumour expression of angiogenic proteins including VEGF, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), endothelial growth factor (EGF), lysophosphatic acid (LPA), and angiopoietin (Ang), (b) metabolic and/or mechanical stress, (c) genetic mutations, (d) the immune response, and (e) hypoxia, maybe the most prominent. Tumour-angiogenesis therefore depends on tumour type, localization, growth and stage of disease and contributes to tumour growth, invasion, and metastization (4,235,238,240–244).

Oxygen tension is the key regulator of VEGF expression, predominantly via the hypoxiainducible factor/von Hippel-Lindau tumour suppressor gene pathway. As a result of tumour growth and insufficient vascularization, tumours often are accompanied by a decrease in oxygen tension (238) and under these hypoxic conditions, non-hydroxylated HIF accumulates, translocates to the nucleus initiating transcription of various genes that play a central role in angiogenesis. Genes induced by HIF include: VEGF, PDGF, transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), TGF $\alpha$ , epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), insulin-like growth factor 2 (IGF2), MMP1, stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF1), GLUT 1, carbonic anhydrase 9 (CAIX), and activin B (238,245,246).

Tumour angiogenesis is essential to allow neoplastic mass development favoring access to the blood components, and also strengthening the vascular routes in the metastatic process (4,241,242,244,247,248). Neovascularization as a whole promotes tumour growth by supplying nutrients, oxygen and releasing growth factors that promote tumour cell proliferation (4,232,239,244,249,250). Hypoxia in solid tumours occurs at a distance of  $\geq$  70 µm from functional blood vessels and tumours do not exceed a volume of 1-2 mm<sup>3</sup> without induction of angiogenesis (4,250). The onset of angiogenesis precedes an exponential phase of tumour growth and local organ invasion. The velocity of angiogenic capillary growth ranges from 0.223 to 0.8 mm/day (248,251). During this expansion, cancer cells grow as a cuff around each new microvessel with a thickness of 50-200 µm. In this configuration, one endothelial cell supports the metabolic needs of 5-100 cancer cells (248,252). Eventually, invading blood vessels occupy 1.5% of the tumour volume (248).

Intratumoural vasculature density is associated directly with cancer cell entrance into the systemic blood circulation, with the ability of cancer cells to invade locally normal anatomic structures and metastasize in distant organs (4,240).

VEGF, a key mediator of angiogenesis, is overexpressed in many tumour types, and has been associated with poor prognosis (233,253), although the role of angiogenesis as a prognostic factor remains controversial (4,254,255). An association between increased angiogenesis and an increased incidence of metastases and a subsequent decrease in survival curve rates was observed for the vast majority of solid tumours (2,4,12,240,244,249).

Several studies revealed that high angiogenic activity in CRC was correlated with aggressive histopathological features such as: parietal invasion, tumour stage, tumour differentiation, metastatic potential and poor patient survival (1,4,254,256). This data were confirmed by Tanigawa et al. (249) that also have document a inverse relationship between tumour vascularity and patient survival.

Gurzu et al. (254) added that augmented angiogenesis in CRC was higher in early-stages of tumour proliferation but was not a progressively increasing process, having rather an oscillating character. However, other studies revealed that angiogenesis does not provide any significant information (4,231,232,254). These controversial findings may be credited to the lack of standardization of the different methods of counting tumour blood vessels and to the different cut-offs used to define relevant parameters to consolidate the results and, lastly, to the different antibodies used (4,231,232,254). Despite the debates, assessment of tumour angiogenesis may be particularly useful in prognostic classification of patients with apparent early cancer by conventional tumour staging, although some may still develop early recurrence or metastasis (4,232). De Vita et al. (240) observed that highly angiogenic tumours were associated with the presence of lymph node invasion. Nevertheless, a higher percentage of patients with node-positive colon cancer than those without will experience recurrence and might benefit from anti-angiogenic adjuvant therapy. Thus, angiogenesis can be used to identify a subset of patients at high risk for recurrence regardless of their lymph node involvement (249) and so the most important clinical implication of tumour angiogenesis is probably the development of anti-angiogenic therapy (4,232).

# **1.5.1 THE VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTOR FAMILY**

In mammals, VEGF family consists of VEGF-A, B, C, D (**Figure 8**) and placental growth factor 1 and 2 (PIGF1 and 2).



Figure 8: VEGF Family and their Receptors (257).

**VEGF-A**, is a key inducer of tumour angiogenesis (234,258,259), it belongs to a subfamily of secreted, dimeric glycoproteins of approximately 40 kDa, which in turn belongs to the PDGF superfamily (259–261). VEGF-A exists as multiple isoforms; VEGF<sub>121</sub>, VEGF<sub>145</sub>, VEGF<sub>162</sub>, VEGF<sub>165</sub>, VEGF<sub>165</sub>, VEGF183, VEGF<sub>189</sub> and VEGF<sub>206</sub>, that results from alternative splicing (259,260,262,263). The isoforms VEGF<sub>121</sub>, VEGF<sub>165</sub>, and VEGF<sub>189</sub> are preferentially expressed in VEGF producing cells (264), being VEGF<sub>165</sub> the most predominant isoform (259–261,265) and represents the major angiogenic form (261). VEGF<sub>121</sub> is readily diffusible but apparently has no important physiological role and VEGF<sub>189</sub> is tightly matrix-bound due to interactions with heparin sulfate proteoglycans (261).

**VEGF-B**, which is similar to VEGF-A in its amino acid sequence (approximately 43% identical), is mitogenic for endothelial cells and can form heterodimers with VEGF-A, being involved in angiogenesis in muscle and heart (266).

**VEGF-C** and **VEGF-D** affect primarily the development of the lymphatic vasculature and PIGF is primarily expressed in the placenta and its levels are inversely correlated with preeclampsia, but it is also detected in non negligible amounts in the heart and lungs (267–270).

All VEGF molecules/ligands transduce their signal through their binding to VEGF receptor -1, -2 and -3 on vascular endothelial cells (**Figure 8**). This distribution on endothelial cells accounts for the selectivity and specificity of action of VEGF. The three VEGF receptors are related to the PDGFR ( $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ), the FGF receptors (1–4), the stem cell factor receptor (Kit), the Flt ligand receptor (Flt-3), and the colony stimulating factor-1 receptor (CSF-1R), all of which contain extracellular immunoglobulin domains and a kinase insert (271).

**VEGFR-1** plays a negative role in angiogenesis in the embryo, most likely by trapping VEGF, but a positive role in adulthood. VEGFR-1 is expressed not only in endothelial cells but also in macrophage-lineage cells, and promotes tumour growth, metastases, and inflammation (272). Activation of VEGFR-1 is implicated in the increased expression of urokinase type of plasminogen activator and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in endothelial cells, that plays a role in extracellular matrix degradation and cell migration (271), although no direct proliferative or cytoskeletal effects was recognized (271,273).

**VEGFR-2** is the key molecule for VEGF signaling in tumour micro-environment, as several cascades emanating from the VEGF/VEGFR-2 complex regulate critical angiogenic responses of endothelial cells (259), namely proliferative and increase of vascular permeability (259,260).

**VEGFR-3** plays a key role in remodeling the primary capillary plexus in the embryo and contributes to angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in the adult. This receptor occurs in embryonic vascular endothelial cells but is restricted to lymphatic vessels in the adult (271,274). Inactivating mutations in the catalytic loop of the kinase domain of VEGFR-3 lead to a human hereditary lymphedema, the Milroy's disease, that is characterized by a chronic and disfiguring swelling of the extremities owing to defective cutaneous lymphatic vessels (271).

#### **1.5.2 ANTIANGIOGENIC THERAPY**

As previously mentioned one important clinical implication of tumour angiogenesis is probably the development of anti-angiogenic therapy (4,232). The participation of angiogenesis in

the pathogenesis of neoplastic disease has been described in many papers (275–278); the presence of VEGF has been found in cancers of the thyroid (279,280), bronchus, stomach, colon, breast, ovary, kidney, and urinary bladder (280). VEGF mRNA expression has been demonstrated in malignant tumours of the brain, esophagus, stomach, CRC, liver, breast, ovary, kidney, and urinary bladder (281,282). High VEGF concentrations in the blood have been found in patients with esophageal cancer (283), CRC, breast cancer (284), ovary (285), uterus (286), bone (287), and hormone-resistant prostate cancer (288). Also, several studies reports the connections between the degree of VEGF expression with tumour aggression and prognosis in patients with cancer of the uterus, ovary (289), breast (289,290), stomach (291), melanoma (292), head and neck neoplasms (289), and small cell lung cancer (290). Similarly, high VEGF expression coexists with worse survival time and an increased probability of recurrence of malignant CRC and kidney neoplasms (289).

Antiangiogenic therapy is based on: (a) inhibitory effects of proangiogenic ligands and their receptors; (b) Stimulation or delivery of angiogenesis inhibitors; and (c) direct destruction of neoplastic tumour vasculature (275) (**Figure 9**).



#### Figure 9: Strategies to inhibit VEGF signaling (293).

These include monoclonal antibodies targeting VEGF-A (a) or the VEGF receptors (b, c). Chimaeric soluble receptors such as the 'VEGF-trap' (domain 2 of VEGFR-1 and domain 3 of VEGFR-2 fused to a Fc fragment of an antibody) (d). Additional extracellular inhibitors are aptamers (e) that bind the heparin-binding domain of VEGF165. Additional strategies to inhibit VEGF signaling include antisense and siRNA targeting VEGF-A or its receptors.

Practical applications of monoclonal antibodies anti-VEGF (bevacizumab, ranibizumab) have already been found, for example in CRC patients with hepatic metastases (275,294,295). Through the development of anti-angiogenic therapy, CRC prognosis is improving (4,232,296–298), the median survival of patients with metastatic CRC (mCRC) is approximately 6 months. Palliative chemotherapy considerably improves treatment outcome, with 5-fluorouracil plus irinotecan and/or oxaliplatin extending median overall survival to approximately 20 months (4,299). Thus, in the past decade, the median overall survival of patients with mCRC has increased from 12 months to approximately 20 months mainly due to the development of new combinations with standard chemotherapy (4,300). Currently, anti-angiogenic treatment can prolong the survival time by some months, however, the results are not reproducible for all cases (4,254). There have been clinical trials that show as many as 94% of invasive carcinomas and 88% of *in situ* carcinomas having a complete response (4,301). Unfortunately, there are no tumour characteristics or molecular markers, at present, that help to identify patients who are likely to benefit from anti-angiogenic treatment (4,302).

Bevacizumab (BV) is a monoclonal antibody against VEGF with anti-angiogenic properties, and several clinical trials supported the use of BV in the first-line treatment of mCRC (4,303,304).

BV is typically used in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents such as oxaliplatin, irinotecan, leucovorin, and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) for treatment of patients with mCRC (4,303,305). In addition to its direct anti-angiogenic effects, BV may also improve the delivery of chemotherapy by changing tumour vasculature and decreasing the elevated interstitial pressure in tumours (4,302). When combined with standard chemotherapy regimens, it has been associated with significant improvements, compared with chemotherapy alone, in the efficacy end points of overall survival, progression-free survival, and response rates in patients with mCRC, and for some facilitates secondary resections (4,306). Jubb et al. (307) demonstrated that in patients with mCRC, the addition of BV to irinotecan, 5-FU/leucovorin (IFL) improves survival regardless of the level of VEGF expression. The addition of BV to IFL resulted in a statistically significant increase in median overall survival of 4.7 months, and in a median progression-free survival of 4.4 months (308).

BV ultimately achieved "Food and Drug Administration" (FDA) approval in 2004 as a firstline treatment for mCRC in combination with chemotherapy, based on its statistically and clinically meaningful benefits on progression-free survival and overall survival (309).

Ranibizumab (which binds to and inhibits a number of subtypes of VEGF-A) received FDA approval in 2006 for the treatment of diabetic macular oedema (310).

Apart from monoclonal antibody, antagonists of VEGF receptors have been used with great success in regulating the angiogenic process, as they are administered orally they present a better patient treatment compliance (310). Sunitinib is an orally active antagonist of VEGFR-1, PDGFR and c-Kit, received FDA approval in 2006 for treatment of renal cell advanced carcinoma and Gastrointestinal stroma tumours resistant to imatinib (310) and Vandetanib is an orally active antagonist of VEGFR-2, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR or HER1 or ErbB1) and RET kinase, and is available for the treatment of metastatic medullary thyroid cancer (275).

CRC is a major public health problem; on the one hand it presents a high incidence and prevalence, on the other hand the elevated cost associated with diagnostic and treatment measures. Despite recent advances in both, earlier diagnosis and treatment options, that resulted in a reduction of CRC mortality, this remains considerably.

Nowadays research in CRC has turned to the attempt to identify new biological markers that can be used as potential therapeutic targets that selectively operate in cancers cells and that along with TNM staging system, can be used to identify subgroups of patients that will have a worse prognostic and so offer those more aggressive therapeutics and follow-up measures. The assessment of metabolic and angiogenic markers fulfil these two goals, so with this work we intend to identify the prevalence of selected Metabolic and Angiogenenic markers of Colorectal Cancer and determine possible associations with clinicopathological characteristics and impact on prognosis by:

- Elaborating a clinicopathological data base of patients with CRC diagnosis treated at Braga
   Hospital between 1 January 2005 and 1 January 2010.
- Evaluating the role of MCTs in the carcinogenesis of CRC by assessing the immunohistochemical expression of the MCT isoforms 1 and 4, chaperones CD147 and CD44 and glycolytic metabolic marker GLUT1.
- Investigating the role of VEGF family in the carcinogenesis of CRC by assessing the immunohistochemical expression of VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3.
- Correlating the expression of the protein markers with clinicopathological parameters.
\_\_\_\_\_3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

The beginning of the development of this thesis coincided with the creation of the Coloproctology Unit of Braga Hospital, responsible, among others diseases, by the treatment of patients with diagnosis of colorectal cancer.

In order to standardize the diagnosis, staging, treatment and follow-up of these patients we have elaborated several protocols that were discussed with the Oncology team and approved by the "Conselho de Administração of Braga Hospital". (approved protocols are in appendix 1-8:"Protocolo de estudo de Cancro do Colon"; "Protocolo de estudo de Cancro do Recto"; "Protocolo de Registo de Cancro Colorectal"; "Protocolo Terapêutico de Cancro Recto"; "Protocolo de Follow-up de Cancro Colorectal"; "Protocolo de Registo de recidiva de Cancro Colorectal"; "Protocolo de Registo de recidiva de Cancro Colorectal"; "Protocolo de Antibioprofilaxia para Cirurgia Colorectal" and "Protocolo de Processamento da peça operatória").

Most patients (except emergent cases) were discussed preoperatively by a multidisciplinary team involving surgeons, oncologists and sometimes a pathologist.

#### **3.1 EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA**

We conducted an observational, prospective and descriptive study between 1 January 2005 and 1 January 2010. The population covered consisted in all patients with histological CRC diagnosis, treated at Braga Hospital.

Data from 672 patients, with CRC diagnosis, were collected prospectively in two excel databases – Colon Cancer and Rectal Cancer – data regarding clinical, preoperative diagnostic examinations, operative reports by the surgeons, histopathological and follow-up were collected.

Clinical and preoperative diagnostic examinations included: age, gender, past oncologic history, clinical presentation, tumour localization, tumour mobility (for rectal cancer), histological type, macroscopic appearance, carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) level and preoperative staging.

Tumour localization was recorded and classified as right sided (caecum, ascending colon, hepatic flexure and transverse colon), left sided (splenic flexure, descending colon, sigmoid colon) and rectum (between anal verge and 15 cm at rigid rectoscopy). Rectal cancer localization was subdivided as superior, middle and lower third ( $\leq$ 15 and > 10 cm;  $\leq$ 10 and > 5 cm and  $\leq$  5cm from anal verge, respectively). Except for emergent cases (defined as a surgery performed for obstruction

or perforation of the colon or rectum) all patients were preoperatively staged for local and distant metastases by chest x-ray and abdominal CT in colon cancer, and toraco-abdominal CT, pelvic magnetic resonance and rectal ultrasonography in rectal cancer.

Operative reports by surgeons like presence of perforation, tumour mobility and type of surgery were also collected. All patients received antibiotic and thrombosis prophylaxis and all operations were performed by or under supervision of a senior surgeon.

The histopathological reports included: tumour extent (T), extent of spread to lymph nodes (N), presence of distant metastasis (M), tumour differentiation, resection margin involvement and lymphatic and blood vessel invasion. The level of positive lymph nodes was not described in all specimens. The histological type of CRC was determined by two experienced pathologists and tumour staging was graded according to TNM classification, sixth edition (311).

All patients were followed up periodically, and their outcomes were investigated.

All cases in this study were identified using a series of unified Code and the study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Braga Hospital. All patients provided written consent.

#### **3.2 TUMOUR BLOCK SELECTION**

At Pathology Department of Braga Hospital, we proceeded to the selection of the surgical specimens blocks of the patients submitted to colorectal cancer resection, ideally with "tumour" and "normal adjacent epithelium" in the same block. This block selection was confirmed by a pathologist and corresponded to 580 cases of the 672 patients with CRC diagnosis, since there were patients who did not undergo surgical intervention, patients that have been operated in other institutions and patients for who was not possible to retrieve the paraffin block. Another series of 45 patients with histological diagnosis of CRC Hepatic Metastasis operated between 1 January 2003 and 1 de January 2011 was also collected.

#### **3.3 HEMATOXYLIN-EOSIN STAINING SLIDES PREPARATION**

After tumour block selection, Hematoxylin-eosin (HE) slides of all cases, CRC and Hepatic metastasis, were made at "Life and Health Sciences Research Institute" (ICVS) laboratory. In all this slides we proceed to the selection of "tumour" and "normal adjacent epithelium" in both series. This selection was confirmed by a pathologist.

#### **3.4 CONSTRUCTION OF TISSUE MICROARRAYS**

In CRC series, after identification, in HE slides, of "tumour" and "normal adjacent epithelium", new slides with 80 cases of "tumour" and "normal adjacent epithelium" were made at ICVS laboratory. In the Tissue Microarray (TMAs) technique, a hollow needle is used to remove tissue cores as small as 0.6 mm in diameter from regions of interest in paraffin-embedded tissues. These tissue cores are then inserted in a recipient paraffin block in a precisely spaced, array pattern. Sections from this block are cut using a microtome, mounted on a microscope slide.

#### **3.5 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY**

In CRC series, TMA protein expression of metabolic markers (MCT1, MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1) and angiogenic markers (VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3) was evaluated by immunohistochemistry.

In Colorectal cancer Hepatic Metastasis series, protein expression of metabolic markers (MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1) was evaluated by immunohistochemistry. MCT1 immunohistochemical reaction was not performed, in this series, due to problems with the "detection system".

Detailed information is given in **Table III and IV**. Briefly, after deparaffinization and rehydration,  $4\mu$ m cytoblock sections were immersed in 0.01M citrate buffer (pH 6.0) and heated at 98 °C for 20 minutes for epitope antigen retrieval. Subsequently, endogenous peroxidase was

blocked with 0.3% hydrogen peroxide in methanol. Slides were then incubated with the respective primary antibodies and 3,3'-<u>dia</u>mino-<u>b</u>enzidine (DAB+ Substrate System, Dako) was used for detection. Cytoblock sections were counterstained with haematoxylin and permanently mounted. Negative controls were obtained by omitting the primary antibody incubation step.

After immunohistochemical procedure, the slides were evaluated.

Table III: Detailed aspects of the immunohistochemical procedure used to visualize the different metabolic proteins.

Protein Marker	Antigen retrieval	Positive Control	Peroxidase inactivation	Detection system		Antibody	
					Company	Dilution	Incubation period
MCT1	Citrate buffer 10mM pH=6.0	Colon carcinoma	0.3% H₂O₂ in methanol, 30 min.	R.T.U. VECTORSTAIN ® Elite® ABC Kit	CHEMICON	1:300	Overnight
MCT4	Citrate buffer 10mM pH=6.0	Colon carcinoma	0.3% H₂O₂in methanol, 30 min.	R.T.U. VECTORSTAIN ® Elite® ABC Kit	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:200	Overnight
CD147	EDTA 1mM pH=8	Colon carcinoma	3% H₂O₂ in methanol, 10 min.	LabVision	Zymed	1:500	2 hours
CD44	Citrate buffer 10mM pH=6.0	Duodenum	3% H₂O₂in methanol, 10 min.	LabVision	Serotec	1:400	2 hours
GLUT-1	Citrate buffer 10mM pH=6.0	Skin	3% H₂O₂in methanol, 10 min.	LabVision	Abcam	1:500	2 hours

Protein Marker	Antigen retrieval	Positive Control	Peroxidase inactivation	Detection system		Antibody	
					Company	Dilution	Incubation period
VEGF-A	EDTA Buffer 1X pH=8.0	Tonsil	3% H₂O₂ in methanol, 10 min.	LabVision	Abcam	1:100	Overnight
VEGF-C	EDTA Buffer 1X pH=8.0	Tonsil	3% H₂O₂ in methanol, 10 min.	LabVision	Invitrogen	1:200	Overnight
VEGFR-2	Citrate Buffer 0.01M pH=6.0	Tonsil	3% H₂O₂ in methanol, 10 min.	LabVision	Abcam	1:100	Overnight
VEGFR-3	Citrate Buffer 0.01M pH=6.0	Tonsil	3% H₂O₂ in methanol, 10 min.	LabVision	Abcam	1:100	Overnight

Table IV: Detailed aspects of the immunohistochemical procedure used to visualize the different angiogenic proteins.

#### **3.6 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL EVALUATION**

Sections were evaluated for immunoreaction, which included both cytoplasmic and membrane-positive staining. MCT1, MCT4, CD147, CD44, GLUT, VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 immunohistochemical reactions were scored semi-quantitatively for immunoreaction extension as follows (**Table V**): 0: 0% of immunoreactive cells; 1: <5% of immunoreactive cells; 2: 5–50% of immunoreactive cells; and 3: >50% of immunoreactive cells. Also, intensity of staining was scored semi-qualitatively as 0: negative; 1: weak; 2: moderate; and 3: strong. Immunoreaction final score was defined as the sum of both parameters (extension and intensity), and grouped as negative (0), weak (2), moderate (3), and strong (4–6). For statistical purposes, only moderate and strong immunoreaction final scores were considered as positive. Positive plasma membrane staining was also assessed. Immunohistochemical expression evaluation was performed blindly by two independent observers and discordant cases were discussed in order to determine a final score.

Exte	ension	Intensity		
Scored	Immunoreactive cells (%)	Scored	Staining	
0	0%	0	Negative	
1	<5%	1	Weak	
2	5 a 50%	2	Moderate	
3	>50%	3	Strong	

#### Table V: Criteria for evaluation immunoreaction depth and the intensity staining.

#### **3.7 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS**

All data were collected and stored in an Excel PC database and statistically analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, version 19.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA). All comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Pearson's chi-square ( $\chi$ 2) test and Fisher's exact test (when n < 5), with the threshold for significance P values <0.05.

*Overall survival (OS)* was defined as time from disease diagnosis until death from any cause and *Survival free disease (DFS)* was defined as time from disease diagnosis until disease relapse, both were assessed using the Kaplan-Meier method.

4. RESULTS

#### 4.1EPIDEMIOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION

Data from 672 patients treated between 1 January 2005 and 1 January 2010 at Braga Hospital, with CRC diagnosis was collected prospectively in two excel databases – Colon Cancer and Rectal Cancer. Clinical, preoperative diagnostic examinations, operative reports by the surgeons, histopathological and follow-up data were collected.

#### 4.1.1 GENERAL CHARACTERIZATION

#### 4.1.1.1 AGE AND GENDER

The casuistic included 672 patients, 419 (62.4%) males and 253 (37.6%) females; the age range of most patients (61%) was 61-80 years old, 20.4% (n=137) 41-60 years old; 16.1% (n=108) older than 81 and 2.5% (n=17) younger than 40 years old (**Figure 10**). Except for the group older than 81 years old, CRC incidence was more frequent in men.





#### 4.1.1.2 ANATOMIC DISTRIBUTION OF TUMOURS

Among the 672 patients, 439 tumours (65.3%) arouse from colon and 233 (34.7%) from rectum (**Figure 11**).



Figure 11: Anatomic distribution of CRC.

#### 4.1.1.3 PAST PERSONAL AND FAMILIAR HISTORY

In patients with colon and rectum cancer, n=672, analysis of past personal history of presence of polyps, colorectal or other cancers and familiar CRC history showed that 94.8% (n=637) of patients had no history of previous colorectal polyps; from the patients with polyps, 4.3% (n=29) were tubular, 0.4% (n=3) adenomatosos, 0.3% (n=2) tubulo-viloso and 1 was non-classified.

From overall patients, 4.1% (n= 28) had previous personal history of CRC and 7.7 % (n=52) had personal history of other cancer. 9.7% (n=65) had a positive CRC familial story.

#### 4.1.1.4 CLINICAL PRESENTATION

Most of patients, 81.3 % (n=546), with CRC were symptomatic at diagnosis, the remainder 18.8% (n=126) were asymptomatic and detected by routine colonoscopies (**Figure 12**). From the symptomatic patients, 82.1% (n= 450) of patients presented symptoms 6 months prior to colonoscopy and 14.6% (n=98) symptoms beyond 6 months.



Figure 12: CRC presentation at diagnosis.

### 4.1.2 COLON CANCER

#### 4.1.2.1 CLINICAL AND PREOPERATIVE DIAGNOSTIC AND STAGING EXAMINATION

#### 4.1.2.1.1 CLINICAL PRESENTATION

Most colon cancer patients (77.4%, n=340 patients), were symptomatic at diagnosis. The most frequent symptom was digestive bleeding, 17.1% (n= 75), followed by large bowel obstruction, 15% (n= 66). Other frequent symptoms observed were: change in bowel habits (8.9%), change in bowel habits with digestive bleeding (8.6%), constitutional symptoms (6.6%), change in bowel habits with abdominal pain (6.4%) and abdominal pain (4.8%) (**Table VI**).

Table	VI:	Summary	of	colon	cancer	symptoms.
-------	-----	---------	----	-------	--------	-----------

Symptom	n (%)
Digestive bleeding	75 (17.1)
Large bowel obstruction	66 (15.0)
Change in bowel habit	39 (8.9)
Digestive bleeding + changes in bowel habit	38 (8.6)
Constitutional symptoms	29 (6.6)
Abdominal pain + changes in bowel habit	28 (6.4)
Study (ascites; anemia, deep venous thrombosis, hepatic metastasis; occult blood losses, colonvesical fistula)	23 (5.2)
Abdominal pain	21 (4.8)
Parcial large bowel obstruction	13 (3.0)
Large bowel perfuration	8 (1.8)

#### 4.1.2.1.2 LOCALIZATION

Most cancers were left-colon, 64.7% (n=284): 6.8% (n=30) were in the splenic flexure; 4.3% (n=19) in the descending colon, 49.2% (n=216) in the sigmoid colon, and 4.3% (n=19) in the rectosigmoid transition. Right-sided tumours comprised 35.3% (n=155) of patients: 8.4 % (n=37) were localized in the caecum, 8.2% (n=36) in the ascending colon and 13.7% (n=60) in the hepatic flexure. 5.0% (n=22) of cancers were localized in the transverse colon.

#### 4.1.2.1.3 DIAGNOSIS AND STAGING

Imaging diagnosis was made by total colonoscopy in 76.1% (n=334) of cases and rectosigmoidoscopy in 13% (n=57). In 10.9% (n=48), diagnosis was made by other imagiological exams and patients did not have a preoperative colonoscopy.

Most lesions (47.2 %, n=207) were polypoid/vegetant cancers. The remaining 21.0% (n=92) were ulcerated, 8.4% (n=37) infiltrative and 11.2% (n=49) exofitic cancers (**Figure 13**). In 54 patients (12.3%) there was no cancer macroscopic appearance information. In 19.1% (n=84) of patients, synchronous lesions were observed.



Figure 13: Frequency of macroscopic colon cancer appearance.

Pre-operative colon biopsy revealed colon adenocarcinoma in 83.8% (n=368) of the patients, 3.9% (n=17) there was no preoperatory information. 85.7% (n=376) of patients were staged by computerized axial tomography and most patients (79.1%; n=347) with colon cancer had a localized cancer at diagnosis. Most patients with disseminated disease had hepatic metastasis, followed by lymph node metastasis (**Table VII**).

Metastasis	n (%)
Lymph node	24 (5.5)
Lymph node + Hepatic	7 (1.6)
Lymph node + Hepatic + pulmonary	3 (0. 7)
Hepatic	44 (10.0)
Hepatic + pulmonary	4 (0.9)
Hepatic + pulmonary + bone	3 (0.7)
Hepatic +spleen+ bone	1 (0.2)
Pulmonary	3 (0.7)
Peritoneal	3 (0.7)

**Table VII:** Summary of colon cancer metastasis localization.

#### 4.1.2.2 OPERATIVE REPORTS BY SURGEONS

Of the 439 patients with colon cancer diagnosis, 422 (96.1%) were submitted to surgical treatment in this period; 334 (79.1%) and 88 (20.9%) were submitted to a scheduled and urgent surgery, respectively. At exploration, 32 patients (7.6%) presented tumour perforation, including not only the patients with clinical perforation, but also the patients with buffered tumour perforation and iatrogenic perforation during surgery.

Also at surgical exploration, 347 (82.2%) had a mobile tumour, 65 (17.8%) a fixed tumour and no information was available for 10 patients.

#### 4.1.2.3 HISTOPATHOLOGICAL REPORTS

Histopathological reports were determined by two experienced pathologists at the Pathology Department of Braga Hospital.

#### 4.1.2.3.1 TUMOUR SIZE

Most patients, 207 patients (49.0%), presented with tumours smaller than or equal to 4.5 cm, 165 (39.0%) patients presented with tumour bigger than 4.5 cm and in the remainder no size information was referred.

#### 4.1.2.3.2 MACROSCOPIC SEROSAL INVOLVEMENT

Macroscopic serosal involvement was observed in 295 patients (69.9%). In 103 (24.4%) this was not observed and not referred in the remainder 24 patients.

#### 4.1.2.3.3 TUMOUR DIFFERENTIATION

Most patients, 172 (40.8%), presented a moderately-differentiated tumour, followed by well and poorly-differentiated tumour (168 and 41 patients, respectively). 1 patient presented an undifferentiated tumour (**Figure 14**).





#### 4.1.2.3.4 Ressection margins involvement

Ressection Margins examination did not reveal involvement in 392 patients, this was observed in 6 patients and in the remainder 24 this was not mentioned.

#### 4.1.2.3.5 VASCULAR INVASION

Although no specific marker of lymphatic or hematogeneous vessels was been used, it was documented that 229 (54.2%) patients had venous vessel invasion and 166 (39.3%) lymphatic vessel invasion. In 156 (36.9%) and 209 (49.5%) patients, respectively, no invasion was documented and in the remainder there was no information.

#### 4.1.2.3.6 HISTOLOGICAL STAGING

Histological staging was determined by two experienced pathologists and tumour staging was graded according to the TNM classification, sixth edition (American Joint Committence on Cancer) (311). In the majority of patients (33.7%; n=142) colon cancer was stage IIA, followed by stage IIIB (22.5%; n=95). In 7 patients post-operative histological stage was not determined because the patients underwent surgery without resection (ex. derivative colostomy) (**Table VIII**).

#### 4.1.2.4 FOLLOW-UP

A total of 137 patients (31.2%) died from all causes, 27.8% (122 patients) had a colorectal cancer-related cause and the remaining 3.4% (15 patients) died in the post-operative period (mortality within 30 days of surgery). Follow-up time ranged between 2 and 7 years; 14.6% (62 patients) had recurrence during follow-up. Stage IIIB was the stage most frequently associated with tumour recurrence (**Table IX**).

Stage	n (%)
0	9 (2.1)
I	55 (13.0)
IIA	142 (33.7)
liB	11 (2.6)
IIIA	6 (1.4)
IIIB	95 (22.5)
IIIC	18 (4.3)
IV	79 (18.7)

Table VIII: Summary of colon cancer histological staging.

Table IX: Summary of histopathogical tumour staging of colon cancer recurrence.

Stage	n (%)
I	1 (1.6)
IIA	12 (19.4)
IIB	6 (9.7)
IIIA	1 (1.6)
IIIB	22 (35.4)
IIIC	4 (6.5)
IV	16 (25.8)

Most metastasis occurred in liver, followed by lymph node and lung. Local recurrence occurred in nine cases (**Table X**).

Most patients wih metastasis and recurrence were asymptomatic (79.0%; n=49), of that 29.0% (n=18) of patients presented asymptomatic elevation of tumour markers. The remaining

cases were patients with abdominal pain (4.8%; n=3), abdominal mass (4.8%; n=3), intestinal obstruction (3.2%; n=2), bone pain (3.2%; n=2), supraclavicular mass (1.6%; n=1), enterocutaneous fistula (1.6%; n=1) and pathological fracture (1.6%; n=1) (**Table XI**).

Table X: Summary of colon cancer metastasis localization and recurrence.

Metastasis localization and Recurrence	n (%)
Hepatic	32 (51.6)
Local recurrence*	9 (14.5)
Lymph node	5 (8.1)
Pulmonary	5 (8.1)
Peritoneal carcinomatosis	4 (6.5)
Hepatic + Pulmonary	3 (4.8)
Hepatic + Pulmonar + Peritoneal carcinomatosis	1 (1.6)
Hepatic + adrenal glands	1 (1.6)
Hepatic + Peritoneal carcinomatosis	1 (1.6)
Bone	1 (1.6)

\*Local recurrence refers to anastomotic, para-anastomotic and abdominal mass

Table XI: Summary of symptoms/signs in colon cancer metastasis and recurrence.

Metastasis and Recurrence Colon Cancer symptoms/signs	n (%)
Abdominal mass	3 (4.8)
Abdominal pain	3 (4.8)
Intestinal obstruction	2 (3.2)
Bone pain	2 (3.2)
Supraclavicular mass	1 (1.6)
Pathological fracture	1 (1.6)
Enterocutaneous fistula	1 (1.6)

#### **4.1.3 RECTAL CANCER**

#### 4.1.3.1 CLINICAL AND PREOPERATIVE DIAGNOSTIC AND STAGING EXAMINATION

#### 4.1.3.1.1 CLINICAL PRESENTATION

Most rectal cancer patients (88.5%, n=206 patients), were symptomatic at diagnosis. 23% (n= 54) presented digestive bleeding, followed by digestive bleeding with change in bowel habits, 17.4% (n= 41). Other frequent symptoms observed were: change in bowel habits (14.5%; n= 34) and large bowel obstruction (4.7%; n= 11) (**Table XII**).

Table XII: Summary of rectal cance	r symptoms.
------------------------------------	-------------

Symptom	n (%)
Digestive bleeding	54 (23.0)
Digestive bleeding + change in bowel habit	41 (17.4)
Change in bowel habit	34 (14.5)
Large bowel obstruction	11 (4.7)
Incomplete stool evacuation sensation	11 (4.7)
Tenesmus	10 (4.2)
Tenesmus + Digestive bleeding	10 (4.2)
Tenesmus + changes in bowel habit	9 (3.8)
Abdominal pain	7 (3.0)
Constitutional symptoms	6 (2.6)
Abdominal pain + digestive bleeding	5 (2.1)
Study (hepatic metastasis, pelvic mass)	4 (1.7)
Large bowel perfuration	2 (0.9)
Urgency	1 (0.4)
Anal pain	1 (0.4)

#### 4.1.3.1.2 LOCALIZATION

From the 233 rectal cancers, most (50.6%, n=118) were localized in the middle third, followed by distal rectum in 28.3% (n=66) and proximal rectum in 21% (n=49).

#### 4.1.3.1.3 DIAGNOSIS AND STAGING

In rectal cancer patients, diagnosis was made by total colonoscopy in 79.8% (n=186) and rectosigmoidoscopy in 18.9% (n=44). In 1.3% (n=3) of cases, it was impossible to perform an endoscopic exam (rectal stenosis).

Most lesions (55.8%, n=130) were polypoid/vegetant cancers. The remaining 21.0% (n=49) were ulcerated, 10.7% (n=25) were infiltrative; 9.0% (n=21) exofitic cancers; 0.4% (n=1) were vilosous and for the reminder 7 patients (3%) there was no cancer macroscopic appearance information (**Figure 15**). Synchronous lesions were observed in 10.3% (n=24) of patients.



Figure 15: Frequency of macroscopic rectal cancer appearance.

Pre-operative biopsy revealed rectal adenocarcinoma in 91.4% (n=213) of the patients, invasive adenocarcinoma in 2.1% (n=5), adenomatosous dysplasic lesions in 4.7% (n=11); villous lesions in 1.3% (n=3) and mucinous adenocarcinoma in one patient (0.4%). From the 233 patients, 27.0% (n=63) had synchronic metastasis at diagnosis, more frequently lymph node and hepatic metastasis (**Table XIII**).

Metastasis	n (%)
Lymph node	24 (10.2)
Hepatic	20 (8.5)
Peritoneal	6 (2.6)
Pulmonary	4 (1.7)
Lymph node + Hepatic + pulmonary	4 (1.7)
Lymph node + pulmonary	2 (0.8)
Hepatic + pulmonary	1 (0.4)
Hepatic + pulmonary + adrenal	1 (0.4)
Bone	1 (0.4)

**Table XIII:** Summary of rectal cancer metastasis localization.

Pelvic magnetic resonance (MR) and rectal endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) were used in combination for local staging. After staging, 26% (61 patients) had indication for neoadjuvant therapy; 21% (49 patients) underwent chemotherapy and radiotherapy, the remaining had not done neoadjuvant therapy due to comorbidities (2 patients) or underwent chemotherapy or radiotherapy alone due to specific contra-indications (**Table XIV**).

Table XIV: Summary of neoadjuvant treatment.

Neoadjuvant Treatment	n (%)
None	172 (73.8)
With indication for neoadjuvant treatment but comorbilities	2 (0.9)
Neoadjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy	49 (21.0)
Neoadjuvant chemotherapy	8 (3.4)
Neoadjuvant radiotherapy	2 (0.9)

#### 4.1.3.2 OPERATIVE REPORTS BY SURGEONS

From the 233 patients with rectal cancer diagnosis, 203 (87.1%) were submitted to surgical treatment in this period; 193 (95.1%) and 10 (4.9%) were submitted to a scheduled and urgent surgery, respectively. At exploration, 3 patients (1.5%) presented tumour perforation, including not only the patients with clinical perforation, but also the patients with buffered tumour perforation and iatrogenic tumour perforation during surgery. In 197 (97.0%) patients no perforation was documented and in 3 patients this data was not referred.

At surgery, mobility exploration was documented in 136 (66.9%) patients, 50 (24.6%) patients had a fixed tumour and in 17 patients this data was not referred.

#### 4.1.3.3 HISTOPATHOLOGICAL REPORTS

#### 4.1.3.3.1 TUMOUR SIZE

Most patients, 107 patients (52.7%), presented tumours smaller than or equal to 4.5 cm, 48 (23.6%) patients presented tumours bigger than 4.5 cm and in the remainder 48 patients no size information was referred.

#### 4.1.3.3.2 MACROSCOPIC SEROSAL INVOLVEMENT

From the patients examinated, 109 (53.7%) presented macroscopic serosal involvement and 70 (34.5%) without. No information was referred in the remainder 24 patients.

#### 4.1.3.3.3 TUMOUR DIFFERENTIATION

Most patients, 80 (39.4%) presented a moderately-differentiated tumours, followed by well and poorly-diferentiated tumours (73 (36.0%) and 9 (4.4%) patients, respectively). 1.0% of patients (2 patients) presented undifferentiated tumours and in 40 patients this data was not mentioned (**Figure 16**).



Figure 16: Distribution of rectal cancer differentiation.

#### 4.1.3.3.4 RESSECTION MARGIN INVOLVEMENT

Ressection Margins examination did not reveal involvement in 155 patients (76.4%), this was observed in 20 patients (9.6%) and for the remainder 28 this data was not mentioned.

#### 4.1.3.3.5 VASCULAR INVASION

As previously mentioned, despite no specific marker of lymphatic or hematogeneous vessels being used, it was documented that 113 (55.6%) patients had venous vessel invasion and 90 (44.3%) lymphatic vessel invasion. In 59 (29.0%) and 81 (39.9%), respectively, no invasion was documented and for the remainder patients no information was mentioned.

#### 4.1.3.3.6 HISTOLOGICAL STAGING

Post-operative histological staging was determined by two experienced pathologists and tumour staging was graded according to the TNM classification, sixth edition (American Joint Commitence on Cancer) (311). Most patients with rectal cancer were stage IIA (21.2%) and stage I (18.7%), followed by stage IV (18.2% patients). In 8 patients, post-operative histological stage was not determined because the patients have realized surgery without resection (ex. derivative colostomy) (**Table XV**).

Stage	n (%)
0	21 (10.3)
I	38 (18.7)
IIA	43 (21.2)
IIIA	12 (5.9)
IIIB	31 (15.3)
IIIC	13 (6.4)
IV	37 (18.2)

#### Table XV: Summary of rectal cancer histopathological staging.

#### 4.1.3.4 FOLLOW-UP

A total of 52 patients (22.3%) died from all causes, 28.0% (42 patients) had a colorectal cancer-related cause and the remaining 4.3% (10 patients) died in the post-operative period (mortality within 30 days of surgery).Follow-up time ranged from 2 to 7 years; 18.0% (42 patients) had recurrence during follow-up. Stage IV was the stage most often associated with tumour recurrence (**Table XVI**).

Table XVI: Summary of histopathological tumour staging of rectal cancer recurrence.

Stage	n (%)
I.	4 (9.5)
IIA	12 (28.6)
IIIB	7 (16.7)
IIIC	3 (7.1)
IV	16 (38.1)

Most metastasis occurred in liver, followed by lung, while local recurrence occurred in 9 patients (**Table XVII**). Most patients with metastasis and recurrence (73.8%; n=31) were asymptomatic and 14.2% (n=6) of those presented with asymptomatic elevation of tumour markers. In the case of symptomatic patients, the most frequent symptoms/signs was a rectal mass (9.5%; n=4), and intestinal obstruction 4.7% (n=2) (**Table XVIII**).

**Metastasis localization and Recurrence** n (%) 17 (40.5) Hepatic Local recurrence 9 (21.3) 5 (11.9) Pulmonary 4 (9.5) Hepatic + Pulmonary Carcinomatosis 1 (2.4) Bone 1 (2.4) Hepatic + Pulmonar + adrenal glands 1 (2.4) Hepatic + Pulmonary + Bone 1 (2.4) Hepatic + Pulmonary + Lymph node 1 (2.4) Pulmonar and Bone 1 (2.4) Hepatic + Lymph node 1 (2.4)

Table XVII: Summary of rectal cancer metastasis localization and recurrence.

Metastasis and Recurrence Rectal Cancer symptoms/signs	n (%)
Rectal mass	4 (9.5)
Intestinal obstruction	2 (4.7)
Bone pain	1 (2.4)
Metrorrhagia	1 (2.4)
Anal pain	1 (2.4)
Pleural effusion	1 (2.4)
Rectal blood loss	1 (2.4)

 Table XVIII: Summary of symptoms/signs in rectal cancer metastasis and recurrence.

#### 4.1.4 COLORECTAL CANCER OVERALL SURVIVAL

*Overall survival (OS)* was defined as the time from disease diagnosis until death from any *cause and Survival free disease (DFS)* was defined as the time from disease diagnosis until disease relapse, both were assessed using the Kaplan-Meier method (**Figure 17 and 18**). When patients were divided into two groups by location, colon and rectum, no significant difference was found in the survival rate between the colon cancer group and rectal cancer group; assessed by log-rank test (**Figure 19**).







**Figure 17:** Kaplan-Meier curve depicting overall survival CRC curve.



*p*=0.518

Figure 19: Comparison between colon and rectum cancer survival assessed by log-rank test.

### 4.2 ANALYSIS OF THE ASSOCIATIONS OF MCTS, CHAPERONES AND GLYCOLYTIC METABOLIC MARKERS IN PRIMARY COLORECTAL CANCERS AND NORMAL ADJACENT TISSUES

Our previous study analyzed the expressions of MCT1, 2, and 4 in a series of 126 CRC (109) and we reported that the expression of the MCT isoforms in tumour cells was significantly increased when compared to normal adjacent epithelium. Remarkably, there was a significant gain in membrane expression for MCT1 and MCT4 and loss of plasma membrane expression for MCT2 in tumour cells. However, the tumour series analyzed at that time was relatively small. To reinforce the results obtained, we evaluated MCT1, MCT4 immunohistochemical expression in this series of 580 cases, adding evaluation of immunohistochemical expression of the MCT chaperones CD147, CD44 and the glycolytic metabolic marker GLUT1, besides the advantage of the possibility of correlation with epidemiological patients' data. Sections were evaluated for immunoreaction, which included both cytoplasmic and membrane-positive staining.

# 4.2.1 MCT1, MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL EXPRESSION IN CRCs and Normal Adjacent Tissues

The results obtained are described in **Table XIX**, which summarizes the frequency of MCT isoforms 1 and 4, chaperones CD147 and CD44 and glycolytic metabolic marker GLUT1 expressions, in tumour and normal adjacent (NA) epithelium.

**Figure 20** shows representative cases of MCT1, MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 positive staining in tumour cells and in normal adjacent epithelium.

Protein		Immunoreactio	n	Plasma membra	ne
	n	Positive (%)	p	Positive (%)	p
MCT1			<0.001		<0.001
NA	135	106 (78.5%)		104 (77.0%)	
Tumour	501	469 (93.6%)		464 (92.6%)	
MCT4			<0.001		<0.001
NA	108	42 (38.9%)		6 (5.6%)	
Tumour	484	368 (76.0%)		275 (56.8%)	
CD147			<0.001		<0.001
NA	139	19 (13.7%)		17 (12.2%)	
Tumour	495	179 (36.2%)		162 (32.7%)	
CD44			<0.001		<0.001
NA	103	1 (1.0%)		1 (1.0%)	
Tumour	486	138 (28.4%)		123 (25.3%)	
GLUT1			<0.001		<0.001
NA	108	7 (6.5%)		4 (3.7%)	
Tumour	464	156 (33.6%)		132 (28.4%)	

**Table XIX:** Pattern of protein staining in CRC vs. normal adjacent epithelium.

Analyzing the results of **Table XIX**, it is possible to observe that all the proteins studied are overexpressed in tumours when comparing with normal-adjacent tissue and in plasma membrane expression pattern (p<0.001). We detect a significant increase in both MCT1 and MCT4 expressions when comparing normal adjacent epithelium to tumour tissues (p < 0.001, for both), corresponding to 93.6% and 76.0%, respectively and similar results were observed when analyzing membrane expression. Percentage of positive cases decreased for the chaperones CD147 and CD44 as well as in the glycolytic metabolic marker GLUT1.



Figure 20: MCT1, MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 immunohistochemical expression in CRC samples (200x magnification).

## 4.2.2 EVALUATION OF ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN MCTs, CD147, CD44 AND GLUT1 EXPRESSION IN CRC

Functional expression of MCTs is regulated by accessory proteins, such as CD147, that are involved in trafficking and anchoring of plasma membrane proteins (135). Regulation of MCT1 and MCT4 by CD147, was supported by evidence on human and *in vitro* studies (104,135,157–161). CD44 is a transmembrane glycoprotein that plays an important role in communication of cell-matrix interactions (181,182) and also function as a chaperone for MCT expression (162).

Moreover, as a consequence of high energetic demands, CRC cells show an increase in glucose uptake. Upregulation of glucose transport across the plasma membrane is mediated by a family of facilitated glucose transporter proteins named (GLUT 1–14) (209,212); thus GLUT1, is expected to be upregulated in tumour cells.

We analyzed the associations between MCTs, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 Expression in CRC tissues, the results obtained are summarized in **Table XX**.

		CD147			CD44	Ļ	GLUT1				
		Plasma memb	orane		Plasma men	nbrane		Plasma membrane			
Tumour	n	Positive (%) $p$ n			Positive (%)	р	n	Positive (%)	p		
MCT1											
Positive	452	157 (34.7%)	0.003	438	116 (26.5%)	0.111	425	126 (29.6%)	0.076		
MCT4											
Positive	269	100 (37.2%)	0.050	270	98 (36.3%)	<0.001	262	90 (34.4%)	0.001		

**Table XX:** Assessment of associations between MCTs and CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression in tumour cases.

We observed that in tumour samples, MCT1 positive cases were associated with CD147 plasma membrane expression (p=0.003) and between MCT4 and both chaperones plasma membrane expression; CD147 (p=0.05), CD44 (p<0.001) and GLUT1 (p=0.001); while association between MCT1 isoform with the chaperone CD44 and the metabolic marker GLUT1 was not achieved (**Table XX**).

## 4.2.3 EVALUATION OF ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN MCTs, CD147, CD44, GLUT1 EXPRESSION IN CRC TISSUES AND EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA

The results obtained are described in **Table XXI, XXII** and **XXIII** which summarizes the correlation between MCTs, chaperones, metabolic marker GLUT1 plasma membrane expression and the epidemiological data.

**Figure 21 – 25** describes MCT1, MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT plasma membrane expression, respectively, by stage, colon and rectal cancer survival curve assessed by log-rank test.

	MCT1		MCT4			CD147			CD44		GLUT1				
	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	p
Sex															
Male	314	92 7	0 934	302	57.3	0 801	312	31.4	0.391	302	25 5	0 933	294	28.6	0 969
Female	186	92.5	0.004	180	56.1	0.001	182	35.2	0.001	178	25.8	0.000	169	28.4	0.000
Age															
<=71.5	253	91.3	0.263	242	52.5	0.052	250	28.8	0.056	242	23.6	0.295	231	28.6	0.977
> 71.5	247	93.9		240	61.3		244	36.9		238	27.7		232	28.4	
Personal history - Polyps															
Negative	435	92.4	0.681	417	55.9	0.276	431	32.5	0.700	416	25.5	0.854	402	28.6	0.905
Positive	65	93.8		65	63.1		63	24.9		64	26.6		61	27.9	
Personal history - CCR															
Negative	487	92.6	0.967	469	56.1	0.040	481	33.1	0.560*	467	25.5	0.748*	451	28.6	1.000*
Positive	13	92.3		13	84.6		13	23.1		13	30-8		12	25	
Personal history - cancer															
Negative	462	92.4	0.601	444	56.8	0.892	458	32.5	0.660	443	25.3	0.552	428	28.5	0.993
Positive	38	94.7		38	57.9		36	36.1		37	29.7		35	28.6	

## **Table XXI:** Assessment of correlation between MCTs, CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression and clinical data. \*Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).</td>

**Table XXII:** Assessment of correlation between MCTs, CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression and diagnosis/surgery data.

 \*Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).</td>

	MCT1		MCT4			CD147			CD44			GLUT1			
	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	р
Presentation															
Asymptomatic	87	93.1	0.844	84	48.8	0.102	87	36.8	0.383	85	18.8	0.113	83	28.9	0.928
Symptomatic	413	92.5		398	58.5		407	31.9		395	27.1		380	28.4	
Rectal Examination															
Mobile cancer	41	57.1	0.059	40	43.3	0.003	40	65.2	0.575	39	46.2	0.221	38	46.7	0.122
Fixed cancer	27	42.9		24	56.7		26	34.8		25	53.8		22	53.3	
Localization															
Colon	360	92.5	0,891	351	59.3	0.080	359	33.4	0.625	349	27.5	0.123	338	29.3	0.541
Rectum	140	92.9		131	50.4		135	31.1		131	20.6		125	26.4	
Macroscopic Cancer type															
Polypoid	254	92.9		247	54.7		249	33.3		246	26.0		239	23.8	
Ulcerative	116	91.4		115	54.8		118	32.3		112	25.0		111	29.7	
Infiltrative	42	85.7	0.492	40	62.5	0.245	40	27.5	0.798	39	12.8	0.294	35	25.7	0.023
Exophytic	42	95.2		37	70.3		41	29.3		37	32.4		34	50.0	
Vilosous	2	100		2	100		2	0.0		2	50.0		2	0.0	
CEA ( ng/mL) >5 ≥5	122 272	90.2 91.9	0.568	115 269	60.0 57.6	0.665	118 270	33.1 29.3	0.455	115 263	30.4 22.8	0.116	111 256	36.9 22.7	0.05
--------------------------	------------	--------------	-------	------------	--------------	-------	------------	--------------	--------	------------	--------------	--------	------------	--------------	--------
Metastasis															
Hepatic															
Absent	428	93.5	0.083	415	55.7	0.405	427	31.9	0.536	413	23.7	0.055	399	26.1	0.046
Present	44	86.4		40	62.5		41	36.6		40	37.5		39	41.0	
Lymph Node															
Absent	439	93.4	0.067	422	56.9	0.350	436	32.2	0.892	420	24.8	0.748	409	28.1	0.204
Present	33	84.8		33	48.5		33	33.3		33	27.3		29	17.2	
Pulmonar	461	93.3		444	56.1	0.618									
Absent	11	72.7	0.009	11	63.6		458	32.3	1.000*	442	24.9	1.000*	427	27.4	1.000*
Present							10	30.0		11	27.3		11	27.3	
Tumour Mobility															
Mobile	433	92.1	0.340	419	56.3	0.619	428	31.3	0.101	419	25.5	0851	405	27.4	0.140
Fixed	66	95.5		62	59.7		65	41.5		60	26.7		57	36.8	
Tumour Perforation															
Absent	475	93.1	0.092	460	56.5	0.510	469	32.6	0.726	457	25.8	0.662	441	27.9	0.187
Present	25	84.0		22	63.6		25	36.0		23	21.7		22	40.9	

## **Table XXIII:** Assessment of correlation between MCTs, CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression and pathological data. \*Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).</td>

	MCT1		MCT4		CD147	7		CD44			GLUT1				
		Positive			Positive	~		Positive			Positive	2		Positive	
	Π	(%)	þ	Π	(%)	ρ	Π	(%)	ρ	П	(%)	ρ	11	(%)	ρ
Tumour size															
≤ 4.5 cm	286	93.4	0.389	278	54.7	0.265	283	27.9	0.003	278	23.7	0.278	267	29.6	0.466
> 4.5 cm	182	91.2		175	60.0		180	41.1		173	28.3		167	26.3	
Macrosc. serosal involv.															
Absent	124	91.9	0.756	119	56.3	0.926	120	30.0	0.465	121	22.3	0.320	115	22.6	0.111
Present	374	92.8		361	56.8		372	33.6		357	26.9		346	30.3	
Synchronous tumours															
Absent	482	92.5	0.855	463	56.6	0.855	476	32.8	0.898	463	25.7	1.000*	445	28.8	0.574*
Present	16	93.8		17	58.8		16	31.3		15	26.7		16	18.8	
Histological Type															
Adenocarcinoma	417	92.8		402	57.0		411	33.6		399	26.6		386	28.2	
Mucinous	51	90.2	0.456	49	57.1	0.862	52	28.8	0.787	49	16.5	0.463	46	26.1	0.389
Invasive Adenocarc.	24	95.8		24	54.2		23	26.1		24	16.7		23	39.1	
Signet ring and mucino	ι4	75.0		3	33.3		4	25.0		4	0.0		4	0.0	

Differentiation															
Well-differentiated	219	93.2		213	56.8		217	34.6		211	24.6		202	21.3	
Moderately-diff.	209	93.3	0.271	204	55.4	0.070	206	32.5	0.875	202	27.2	0.399	197	35.0	0.009
Poorly-diff.	49	85.7		43	69.8		48	29.2		45	33.3		43	39.5	
Undifferentiated	4	100.0		3	0.0		4	25.0		4	0.0		3	33.3	
Tumour Penetration															
Tis	5	100.0		6	16.7		4	25.0		5	0.0		5	0	
T1/T2	89	92.1	0.810	86	54.7	0.123	22	24.7	0.179	87	24.1	0.355	82	24.4	0.218
T3/T4	395	92.4		380	57.6		391	34.8		379	26.9		367	30.0	
Spread to lymph nodes															
Absent	280	92 5	0 888	272	54 0	0 269	277	32.5	0.876	274	25.9	0 975	263	25 5	0 058
Present	204	02.0	0.000	196	59.2	0.200	202	33.2	0.070	102	26.0	0.070	187	23.7	0.000
ricschi	204	52.2		100	00.L		202	00.2		152	20.0		107	00.7	
Vessel invasion															
Absent	159	94.3	0.255	159	58.5	0.541	156	33.3	0.817	158	31.6	0.031	150	25.3	0.194
Present	314	91.4		299	55.5		313	32.3		299	22.4		291	31.3	
Surgical margin invasion															
Absent	473	92.6	0.284	456	55.7	0.128	468	32.7	0.309	455	25.5	0.094	441	28.8	0.486*
Present	13	84.6		13	76.9		13	46.2		13	46.2		10	40.0	
TNM															
Stage 0	1	100.0		2	0.0		0	0.0		1	0.0		1	0.0	
Stage I	76	92.1		75	52.0		77	22.1		76	21.1		73	23.3	
Stage II	183	92.9	0.566	179	57.0	0.464	181	36.5	0.147	178	28.1	0.649	173	26.0	0.206
Stage III	155	94.2		151	57.6		154	34.4		147	24.5		142	30.3	
Stage IV	75	88.0		67	59.7		73	31.5		70	30.0		66	39.4	
-															



Figure 21: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of MCT1 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage.



Figure 22: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of MCT4 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage.



Figure 23: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of CD147 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage.



Figure 24: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of CD44 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage.



Figure 25: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of GLUT1 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage.

Assessment of correlation between MCTs, chaperones, metabolic marker GLUT1 plasma membrane expression and clinical data revealed MCT4 positive cases were associated with "Personal History of CRC" (p=0.040) and a tendency for association between MCT4 and CD147 with "Age" (p=0.052 and p=0.056, respectively) (**Table XXI**).

When analyzing correlation between plasma membrane expression and data from diagnosis/surgery data we found association between MCT1 plasma membrane expression and with "Pulmonary Metastasis" (p=0.009) and a tendency to association with "Rectal Examination" (p=0.059) "Hepatic and Ganglionar Metastasis" (respectively p=0.083 and p=0.067). MCT4 plasma membrane expression showed association with "Rectal Examination" (p=0.003). CD44 showed a tendency to associate with "Hepatic Metastasis" (p=0.055) and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression showed association with "Macroscopic cancer type" (p=0.023); "CEA" (p=0.05) and "Hepatic Metastasis" (p=0.046) (**Table XXII**).

When analyzing the correlation between plasma membrane expression and pathological data we find association between CD147 plasma membrane and "Tumour size" (p=0.003); CD44 plasma membrane expression and "Vessel Invasion" (p=0.031) and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression and "Tumour Differentiation" (p=0.009) (**Table XXIII**).

Observing colon and rectal cancer survival curves assessed by log-rank test, of MCTs, chaperones and GLUT1, (**Figures 21-25**), we found a statistically significant association for MCT1 expression and stage IV for colon cancer (p=0.017); GLUT1 expression and stage I for rectal cancer (p=0.023) and a tendency to association between MCT4 expression and stage III for colon cancer (p=0.060).

#### 4.3 ANALYSIS OF THE ASSOCIATIONS OF MCTS, CHAPERONES AND GLYCOLYTIC METABOLIC MARKERS IN COLORECTAL CANCER HEPATIC METASTASIS AND NORMAL ADJACENT TISSUES

Liver is the most common site of CRC metastasis (50-60% of the cases). Close to one third of patients have liver metastases either at the time of diagnosis (synchronous in 1/3 of the cases) or during the disease course (metachronous in 2/3 of the cases) (312–314) and about 66% had liver metastases at death time (315,316). Despite recent advances in terms of early diagnosis and therapy which led to improvement in survival (five years survival has increased from <8%, using palliative chemotherapy to 25-40% using multimodal management including palliative chemotherapy and surgery (312,313,317), the prognosis remains reserved (312–316), with a five years survival of 15-50% and 17-33% ten years survival after hepatic metastases resection (315,316).

Surgical resection of liver metastases is considered the only curative treatment option for patients with resectable liver metastases and no extrahepatic disease (312–314) but liver metastases are resectable in only 15% of the cases. The remaining 85% are ineligible to surgery because of the location, size, number, residual normal liver, and the extra hepatic disease (312,313,318). Recently, other new modalities have become available that allow safe ablation of liver metastases without the need for surgical intervention.

Once documented the increases expression of MCTs, CD147 and CD44 chaperones and glycolytic metabolic marker GLUT1 in CRC tissues remains the question if that metabolic profile is maintained in CRC hepatic metastasis. Our initial aim was to evaluate the expression of these proteins in the patients with liver metastasis of our series, but due to the few number of patients that have been submitted to hepatic resection during this period, this was not possible. Thus, we increased the research period of patients submitted to CRC hepatic metastasis resection from January 2003 to January 2011 and analyzed the expression of MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 in CRC hepatic metastasis and normal adjacent tissue.

No data exists in the literature about the expression of these proteins in CRC hepatic metastasis, being this the first study to be performed in this direction.

### 4.3.1 Characterization of MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 Immunohistochemical Expression in CRC Hepatic Metastasis and Normal Adjacent Tissue

A total of 45 samples of hepatic metastasis of CRC patients were analyzed, including tumour and normal adjacent tissue. Sections were evaluated for immunoreaction, which included both cytoplasmic and membrane-positive staining. The results obtained are described in **Table XXIV**, which summarizes the frequency of MCT 4, chaperones CD147 and CD44 and glycolytic metabolic marker GLUT1 expressions, in tumour cells and normal adjacent epithelium.

MCT1 immunohistochemical reaction was not performed due to problems with the "detection system".

**Figure 26** shows representative pictures of MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 positive staining in CRC Hepatic Metastasis and in normal adjacent epithelium.

Protein		Imm	unoreaction	Plasn	na membrane
	n	Positive (%)	p	Positive (%)	p
MCT4			0.749		<0.001
NA	40	15 (37.5%)		0 (0%)	
Tumour	44	18 (40.9%)		275 (40.9%)	
CD147			0.616		0.001
NA	40	29 (72.5%)		12 (30.0 %)	
Tumour	43	29 (67.4%)		29 (67.4%)	
CD44			<0.001		<0.001
NA	41	0 (0.0%)		0 (0.0%)	
Tumour	41	12 (27.3%)		12 (27.3%)	
GLUT1			<0.001		<0.001
NA	43	0 (0.0%)		0 (0.0%)	
Tumour	44	25 (56.8%)		25 (56.8%)	

Table XXIV: Pattern of protein staining in CRC Hepatic metastasis vs. normal adjacent epithelium.



Figure 26: MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 immunohistochemical expression in CRC Hepatic Metastasis samples (200x magnification).

Observing the results of **Table XXIV**, in tumour positive cases, immunoreaction and plasma membrane shows similar results. All the proteins studied are overexpressed in CRC hepatic metastasis when comparing with normal-adjacent tissue in plasma membrane expression pattern (p<0.001). The values were lower in normal adjacent tissue and no reaction was observed for MCT4, CD44 and GLUT1.

#### 4.3.2 EVALUATION OF ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN MCT4, CD147, CD44 AND GLUT1 EXPRESSION IN CRC HEPATIC METASTASIS

We analyzed the associations between MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 expression in CRC hepatic metastasis, the results obtained are summarized in **Table XXV.** 

		CD14	7		CD4	4		GLU	٢1
		Plasma mei	mbrane		Plasma me	embrane		Plasma me	embrane
Tumour	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	p
MCT4			<0.001			0.003*			<0.001
Positive	18	16		18	7		18	18 (100%)	
		(88.9%)			(38.9%)				

 Table XXV: Assessment of associations between MCTs and CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression in CRC Hepatic metastases.

\* Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).

We observed that in tumour samples, MCT4 positive cases were associated with CD147 plasma membrane expression (p < 0.001) CD44 plasma membrane expression (p = 0.003) and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression (p < 0.001) (**Table XXVI**).

#### 4.3.3 EVALUATION OF ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN MCT4, CD147, CD44, GLUT1 EXPRESSION IN CRC HEPATIC METASTASIS AND EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA

Data from these 45 patients with CRC Hepatic metastasis were retrospectively collected namely anatomopathological data from primary tumour (CRC localization, stage, differentiation, lymphatic and blood vessel invasion) and anatomopathological data from hepatic metastasis (presence of synchronous or metachronous hepatic metastasis, localization, size). Other data that were also collected was CEA level at CRC diagnosis and Hepatic metastasis diagnosis.

The results obtained are described in **Table XXVI** and **XXVII** which summarizes the correlation between MCT4, chaperones and metabolic marker GLUT1 plasma membrane expression and anatomopathological data from primary tumour and hepatic metastasis.

**Figures 27 – 30** outline MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression CRC Hepatic metastasis survival curves assessed by log-rank test, respectively.

		MCT4		CD147		CD44		GLUT1	
	n	Positive (%)	p	Positive (%)	p	Positive (%)	p	Positive (%)	p
Localization									
Colon	7	28.6	0.682	42.9	0.190	42.9	0.369	42.9	0.443
Rectum	37	43.2		72.2		24.3		59.5	
CRC stage									
1+11	8	62.5	0.250	75.0	1.000	25.0	1.000	62.5	1.000
III+IV	32	37.5		67.7		28.1		56.3	
Differentiation									
Well/ Moderately-diff.	20	35.0	0.457	60.0	0.277	30.0	0.969	45.0	0.117
Poorly/ Undifferentia.	17	47.1		81.3		29.4		70.6	
Venous Vessel invasion									
Absent	20	45.0	0.452	84.2	0.042	20.0	0.217	55.0	0.784
Present	11	27.3		45.5		45.5		50.0	
Lymph Vessel invasion									
Absent	23	30.4	0.109	72.7	1.000	17.4	0.075	43.5	0.070
Present	9	66.7		66.7		55.6		80.0	
CEA									
≤ 200ng/ml	24	41.7	0.274*	62.5	1.000*	25.0	1.000*	58.3	0.569*
> 200ng/ml	3	0.0		66.7		33.3		33.3	

**Table XXVI:** Assessment of correlation between MCT4, CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression and anatomopathological data from primary tumour.

 \*Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).</td>

**Table XXVII:** Assessment of correlation between MCT4, CD147, CD44, and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression and anatomopathological data from hepatic metastasis.

 \*Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).</td>

		MCT4		CD147		CD44		GLUT1	
	n	Positive	р	Positive	р	Positive	р	Positive	р
		(%)		(%)		(%)		(%)	
Localization									
One hepatic lobe	30	50.0	0.251	73.3	0.129	26.7	0.693	60.0	1.000
Both hepatic lobe	9	22.2		44.4		33.3		62.5	
Size									
≤ 5 cm	37	43.2	1.000	70.3	0.373	27.0	1.000	58.3	1.000
> 5 cm	6	33.3		50.0		33.3		50.0	
CEA	~ -		a a ( a t	- <i>i</i> -	(	~			
≤ 200ng/ml	35	45.7	0.618*	64.7	1.000*	25.7	1.000*	57.1	1.000*
> 200ng/ml	4	25.0		75.0		25.0		50.0	



**Figure 27:** MCT4 plasma membrane expression CRC Hepatic metastasis survival curve assessed by log-rank test.



**Figure 30:** CD44 plasma membrane expression CRC Hepatic metastasis survival curve assessed by log-rank test.



**Figure 28:** CD147 plasma membrane expression CRC Hepatic metastasis survival curve assessed by log-rank test.



**Figure 29:** GLUT1 plasma membrane expression CRC Hepatic metastasis survival curve assessed by log-rank

Assessment of correlation between MCT4, chaperones and the metabolic marker GLUT1 plasma membrane expression and anatomopathological data from primary tumour and Hepatic metastasis, revealed CD147 positive cases were associated with "Venous vessel invasion" of CRC (p=0.042, **Table XXVI**) and no correlation was observed with anatomopathological data from Hepatic metastasis (**Table XXVII**).

No statistic significant associations were found for MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression in CRC Hepatic metastasis survival curve assessed by log-rank test (**Figures 27 – 30**).

#### 4.4 ANALYSIS OF THE ASSOCIATIONS OF VEGF'S FAMILY IN PRIMARY COLORECTAL TUMOURS AND NORMAL ADJACENT TISSUES

Angiogenesis plays a key role in tumourigenesis and metastatic processes (4,229–234) and VEGF represents a critical inducer of tumour angiogenesis (234,258,259). In mammals, VEGF family consists of VEGF-A, B, C, D and PIGF1 and 2. All VEGF molecules/ligands transduce their signal through their binding to VEGF receptor -1, -2 and -3. VEGFR-2 is the key molecule for VEGF signaling in the tumour micro-environment including vascular permeability and endothelial cell proliferation (259,260), VEGFR-3 is restricted to lymphatic vessels after their formation (271,274).

We evaluated VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 immunohistochemical expression in CRCs and Normal Adjacent Tissue, in this series of 580 cases and also the correlation with clinical data.

#### 4.4.1 CHARACTERIZATION OF VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 AND VEGFR-3 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL EXPRESSION IN CRCs AND NORMAL ADJACENT TISSUES

The results obtained are described in **Table XXVIII** which summarizes the frequency of VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expressions, in tumour cells and normal adjacent epithelium.

Analyzing the results of **Table XXVIII**, it is possible to observe that only VEGF-C are overexpressed in tumours when comparing tumour cell with normal-adjacent tissue (p=0.004), and VEGFR-2 shows a tendency to that association (p=0.064).

**Figure 31** shows representative cases of VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 positive staining in tumour cells and in normal adjacent epithelium.

Protein		Immu	noreaction
	n	Positive (%)	p
VEGF-A			1.000*
NA	132	130 (98.5%)	
Tumour	500	490 (98.0%)	
VEGF-C			0.004
NA	138	115 (83.3%)	
Tumour	508	466 (91.7%)	
VEGFR-2			0.064
NA	142	133 (93.7%)	
Tumour	501	486 (97.0%)	
VEGFR-3			0.903
NA	139	34 (24.5%)	
Tumour	505	121 (24.0%)	

Table XXVIII: Pattern of protein staining in CRC vs. normal adjacent epithelium.

Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).



Figure 31: VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 immunohistochemical expression in CRC samples (40x magnification).

## 4.4.2 Evaluation of Associations between VEGF-A, VEGF-C, and VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3 Expression in CRC tissues

VEGF molecules transduce their signal through their binding to VEGF receptor -1, -2 and -3 (259,260). VEGFR-2 is considered the primary signaling receptor for VEGF during angiogenesis (259,319) and although VEGFR-3 is restricted to lymphatic and some fenestrated vascular endothelium in the adult, it is upregulated in angiogenic blood vessels in tumours, and blocking VEGFR-3 inhibits angiogenesis and growth in some tumours (320).

We analyzed the associations between VEGF-A, VEGF-C and the receptors VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3 expression in CRC tissues, the results obtained are summarized in **Table XXIX**.

		VEGFR-	2		VEGFR-3				
		Immunorea	action		Immunorea	ction			
Tumour	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	p			
VEGF-A			1.000*			0.210*			
Positive	464	453 (97.6%)		471	120 (25.5%)				
VEGF-C			1.000*			0.047*			
Positive	446	434 (97.3%)		451	117 (25.9%)				

**Table XXIX:** Assessment of associations between VEGF-A, VEGF-C and the receptors VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expression in tumour cases.

\* Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).

We observed that in tumour samples, VEGF-C positive cases were associated with VEGFR-3 expression (p=0.047) (**Table XXIX**).

# 4.4.3 EVALUATION OF ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN VEGF-A, VEGF-C, AND VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3 EXPRESSION IN CRC TISSUES AND EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA

The results obtained are described in **Table XXX, XXXI** and **XXXII** which summarizes the correlation between VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expression and epidemiological data.

**Figure 34, 35, 36** and **37** describes VEGF-A, VEGF-C, and VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3 plasma expression, respectively, by stage, colon and rectal cancer survival curve assessed by log-rank test.

#### **Table XXX:** Assessment of correlation between VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expression and clinical data. \*Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).

	VEGFA			VEGFC		VEGFR-2			VEGFR-3			
	n	Positive (%)	р	n	Positive (%)	p	n	Positive (%)	р	n	Positive (%)	p
Gender												
Male	304	99.3	0.016*	309	91.6	0.446	306	97.1	0.776*	307	24.4	0.731
Female	181	96.1		184	93.5		179	97.8		182	25.8	
Age												
<=71.5	242	97.9	1.000*	249	90.4	0.107	244	97.1	0.802	247	23.9	0.565
> 71.5	242	98.3		229	94.2		240	97.5		241	26.1	
Personal history-Polyps												
Negative	419	98.3	0.352*	427	92.0	0.804*	420	97.4	0.689*	423	25.8	0.289
Positive	66	97.0		66	93.9		65	96.9		66	19.7	
Personal history - CCR												
Negative	472	98.3	0.219*	480	92.3	1.000*	472	97.2	1.000*	476	25.2	0.533*
Positive	13	92.3		13	92.3		13	100.0		13	15.4	
Personal history of Cancer												
Negative	446	98.2	0.533*	454	91.6	0.060	447	97.1	0.612*	450	25.6	0.292
Positive	39	97.4		39	100.0		38	100.0		39	17.9	

## **Table XXXI:** Assessment of correlation between VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expression and diagnosis/surgery data. \*Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).</td>

	VEGFA		VEGFC		VEGFR-2			VEGF	R-3			
	n	Positive	р	n	Positive	р	n	Positive	р	n	Positive	р
		(%)			(%)			(%)			(%)	
Presentation												
Asymptomatic	87	96.6	0.207*	89	88.8	0.168	87	97.7	1.000*	88	23.9	0.795
Symptomatic	398	98.5		404	93.1		398	97.2		401	25.2	
Rectal Examination												
Mobile cancer	40	97.5	1.000*	42	81.0	0.300*	40	90.0	1.000*	40	25.0	0.339*
Fixed cancer	25	100.0		25	92.0		25	92.0		24	12.5	
Localization												
Colon	352	98.3	0.711*	357	93.8	0.037	354	98.0	0.115	358	24.6	0.756
Rectum	133	97.7		136	88.2		131	95.4		131	26.0	
Macroscopic Cancer type												
Polypoid	244	98.0		255	89.8		246	98.0		252	25.4	
Ulcerative	112	97.4		115	94.8		115	98.3		114	25.4	
Infiltrative	38	97.4	0.896	39	94.9	0.048	40	97.5	0.278	38	13.2	0.439
Exophytic	38	100.0		37	97.4		35	92.1		39	28.2	
Vilosous	2	100.0		1	50.0		2	100.0		2	50.0	

CEA ( ng/mL)												
<5	314	94.9	1.000*	314	90.1	0.869	314	93.9	0.756	313	24.6	0.779
≥5	78	93.6		78	89.7		78	94.9		78	23.1	
Metastasis												
Hepatic								<b>a=</b> <i>i</i>				
Absent	443 39	98.2 97.4	0.535*	450 40	92.2 92.5	1.000*	443 39	97.1 100	0.613*	445 41	23.8 39.0	0.032
Present												
Lymph Node												
Absent	437	98.2	0.589*	442	92.3	0.779*	436	97.5	0.357*	438	25.8	0.285
Present	45	97.8		48	91.7		46	95.7		48	18.8	
Tumour Mobility												
Mobile	418	97.8	0.240	426	91.8	0.158	419	97.4	0.786	423	24.6	0.630
Fixed	63	100.0		63	96.8		62	96.8		62	27.4	
Tumour Perforation												
Absent	460	98.0	0.480	468	92.3	1.000*	461	97.6	0.079	464	24.6	0.403
Present	25	100.0		25	92.0		24	91.7		25	32.0	

## **Table XXXII:** Assessment of correlation between VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expression and pathological data. \*Comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Fisher's exact test (when n < 5).</td>

	VEGFA			VEGFC			VEGFR-2			VEGFR-3		
	n	Positive	р	n	Positive	р	n	Positive	р	n	Positive	р
	(%)			(%)			(%)			(%)		
Tumour size												
≤ 4.5 cm	281	97.5	0.161*	281	94.3	0.088	276	98.2	0.291	277	27.1	0.287
> 4.5 cm	175	99.4		181	90.1		178	96.6		181	22.7	
Macrosc. serosal involv.												
Absent	121	97.5	0.697*	122	89.3	0.164	119	99.2	0.202*	119	25.2	0.868
Present	362	98.3		369	93.2		364	96.7		368	24.5	
Synchronous tumours												
Absent	467	98.1	1.000*	475	92.2	1.000*	467	97.2	1.000*	471	24.6	1.000*
Present	16	100.0		16	93.8		16	100.0		16	25.0	
Histological Type												
Adenocarcinoma	403	98.3		408	92.6		404	98.0		403	26.1	
Mucinous	50	98.0	0.869	52	90.4	0.470	49	93.9	0.007	53	15.1	0.214
Invasive Adenocarc.	25	96.0		25	96.0		24	100.0		25	28.0	
Signet ring and mucinous	3	100.0		4	75.0		4	75.0		4	0.0	

Differentiation Well-differentiated Moderately-diff. Poorly-diff. Undifferentiated	209 208 48 2	99.0 97.6 97.9 66.7	0.001	215 208 48 4	92.6 94.2 89.6 50.0	0.007	210 205 47 4	97.1 97.6 97.9 100.0	0.973	212 206 49 4	23.6 27.7 22.4 0.0	0.474
Tumour Penetration												
Tis	5	100.0		5	80.0		4	100.0		5	20.0	
T1/T2	87	96.6	0.476	88	85.2	0.010	87	97.7	0.939	85	27.1	0.830
T3/T4	387	98.4		394	94.2		388	97.4		393	24.2	
Spread to nearby lymphnodes Absent Present	277 194	97.8 98.5	0.742*	276 203	92.4 93.1	0.767	273 198	97.4 97.0	0.782*	273 202	24.2 25.7	0.696
Vessel invasion												
Absent	166	98.2	0.889	166	92.2	0.988	163	97.5	0.747	164	23.2	0.578
Present	301	98.0		308	92.2		303	97.0		306	25.5	
Surgical margin invasion												
Absent	460	98.0	1.000*	468	92.5	0.264*	459	97.2	1.000*	465	24.3	0.500*
Present	13	100.0		13	84.6		13	100.0		12	33.3	
TNM												
Stage 0	1	100.0		1	100.0		1	100.0		1	0.0	
Stage I	76	96.1		76	86.8		75	98.7		74	28.4	
Stage II	183	98.4	0.713	181	94.5	0.336	180	97.2	0.940	180	21.7	0.550
Stage III	147	98.6		156	92.3		150	96.7		154	24.7	
Stage IV	70	98.6		71	93.0		70	97.1		72	30.6	



**Figure 32:** Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of VEGF-A plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage. \*no comparasion was realized, because all cases are VEGF-A+



Figure 33: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of VEGF-C plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage.



**Figure 34:** Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of VEGFR-2 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage. \* no comparasion was realized, because all cases are VEGFR-2+



Figure 35: Kaplan-Meyer survival curves of VEGFR-3 plasma membrane expression in colon and rectum, by stage.

Assessment of correlation between VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expressions and the clinical data revealed that VEGF-A positive cases were associated with "Patient gender" (p=0.016) and VEGF-C shows a tendency to association with "Personal History of CRC" (p=0.060) (**Table XXX**).

When analyzing correlation with data from diagnosis/surgery we find association between VEGF-C expression with "Tumour Localization" (p=0.037), and "Macroscopic Cancer type" (p=0.048). VEGFR-3 shows association with "Hepatic Metastasis" (p=0.032) (**Table XXXI**).

When analyzing correlation with pathological data we find association between VEGF-A and VEGF-C expression and "Differentiation" (p=0.001 and p=0.007, respectively); VEGF-C expression and "Tumour penetration" (p=0.010); VEGFR-2 expression and "Histological type" (p=0.007) (**Table XXXII**).

Observing colon and rectal cancer overall-survival curves assessed by log-rank test, of VEGFA, VEGFC, and VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3, **Figure 32 – 35** we find a statistically significant association in VEGF-C expression and stage III for rectal cancer (p=0.019) and VEGFR-3 expression and stage IV for rectal cancer (p=0.047).
5. DISCUSSION

### 5.1 EPIDEMIOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION

CRC epidemiological data abounds in the worldwide literature, but in the case of the Portuguese population this data are scarce and the existing studies are retrospective studies based on cancer registries but with few data that permits to characterize the affected population.

In the developed world, CRC represents a major public health problem (321) and in Portugal, it is the second most frequent cancer and the second cause of death by cancer (18,20).

The North of Portugal is traditionally considered to be an area of high CRC incidence. Braga Hospital, in the North of Portugal, has an area of reference of 300000 patients, so with this first task we intended to characterize the patients treated at this hospital and also comparing the results with the literature data. In the future and with the extension to other regions this will permit a better adjustment of screening programs. Our results clearly demonstrated that CRC is a major problem of public health impact due to the high incidence and the degree of advanced stage of the tumours at moment of diagnosis.

#### **5.1.1 GENERAL CHARACTERIZATION**

## 5.1.1.1 AGE AND GENDER

In this study most of the 672 patients, 419 (62.4%), were male patients and the age range of most patients (61%) was 61-80 years old. Except for the group older than 81 years old, CRC incidence was more frequent in men. Similar results were found in literature with CRC, being more frequent at advanced age and in men (1,3,4,14).

Advanced age is the most significant risk factor for diagnosis of CRC which is defined as a disease of elderly people, with the majority of cases arising after 65-70 years of age and with an incidence relatively lower under 40 years. Still, 15% of cases will occur in people  $\leq$  50 years old (3,13,22,230,322–326), although another study suggests a lower value (7%) (327) and a large study identifies it as one of the 10 most commonly diagnosed cancers among men and women aged 20-49 years (22). Early onset of CRC is assumed to be indicative of genetic susceptibility (323), often associated with a positive family history (328). In some studies, such younger patients

presented more advanced disease and more aggressive tumour grades at diagnosis and had less favourable prognosis (22,327,329). Also advanced CRC prevalence increases with age and is higher among men than women (21,321,326,329,330) and cross-sectional analyses estimated that men reach an equivalent prevalence at a much younger age than women (21).

### 5.1.1.2 ANATOMIC DISTRIBUTION OF TUMOURS

Among the 672 patients, colon cancer was more frequent than rectal cancer (65.3% versus 34.7%) and most colon cancers were left-sided (64.7% of all colon cancers). In the case of rectal cancer most (50.6%, n=118) were localized in the middle third. Similar results are documented in literature (13,329,331–333).

Tumour distribution throughout colon and rectum depends on genetic and environmental factors involved in colorectal carcinogenesis and on gender, race and patient's age (13,329). In general, almost two-thirds of all bowel cancers are colon cancers and over one-third are rectal cancers (331–333). Recently, other studies reported a shift of CRC distribution to the right colon in the high risk population for unknown reasons (334–338), and other have suggested that the frequency of right-sided colon cancer increases in elderly patients (13). This shift of CRC distribution implies that arguments used to recommend full colonoscopy instead of flexible sigmoidoscopy in CRC screening can be applied in high risk countries and that this is an issue that deserves further attention in future years, to document if that shift is also occurring in the population of Braga Hospital.

### 5.1.1.3 PAST PERSONAL AND FAMILIAR HISTORY

Epidemiological studies suggest that at least 15% of colorectal cancers arise in individuals with an inherited predisposition for the disease (18,339). The literature also reveals that positive familiar story is strongly associated with CCR (13,326) although it is considered a high specific association with low sensitivity (326).

In our study, 94.8% of patients had no history of previous colorectal polyps; 4.1% of patients had a previous personal history of CRC; 7.7 % had a personal history of other cancers and 9.7% of patients had a positive familiar story for CRC.

Knowing CRC natural history, we would expect a higher incidence of previous colorectal polyps history. This lower value could be the result of the low adherence of patients to colonoscopy without symptoms. Also the value of familiar story is underestimated since a significant number of patients do not know ignore their relative's cause of death.

### 5.1.1.4 CLINICAL PRESENTATION

Most patients (81.3%) from our study were symptomatic at diagnosis. Analysing colon and rectal cancer, 77.4% (n=340) and 88.5% (n=206), were symptomatic at diagnosis, respectively. Digestive bleeding was the most frequent symptom for both (17.1% and 20% respectively), followed by large bowel obstruction in colon cancer (15.0%) and digestive bleeding associated with change in bowel habits (17.4%) and change in bowel habits (14.5%) in rectal cancer.

Symptoms of CRC can be nonspecific or quite fulminant (340). Signs and symptoms of colon and rectal cancers are varied, nonspecific, and somewhat dependent on the localization of the tumour (48). Traditionally right-side colon cancers bleeds asymptomatic and are detected by anemia discovered by a routine haemoglobin determination or when studying constitutional symptoms. Cancers located in the left colon are often constrictive in nature, so patients more frequently notice a change in bowel habit. In rectal cancer, the most frequent symptom is hematochezia, other frequent symptoms are tenesmus and change in bowel habits (48). In a meta-analysis Jellema et al. (326) analysed various symptoms of CRC and concluded that the symptoms most commonly investigated included abdominal pain, rectal bleeding, change in bowel habits, and perianal symptoms. Of the typical symptoms of CRC, only weight loss had some diagnostic value, with a fairly high specificity (326).

### **5.1.2 OPERATIVE REPORTS BY SURGEONS**

Operative reports by surgeons like type of surgery, presence of perforation and tumour mobility were collected.

Emergency situations are most commonly related to the complications of tumour obstruction (341) or tumour perforation (341,342), both with a poor prognosis and high risk of recurrence (341,343).

Data from literature are variable regarding the emergency operation incidence, but overall approximately 20% of patients with colorectal cancer present as an emergency (343). Cuffy et al. (344) reported that over 15% of all cases with CRC present acutely as obstruction or perforation, with a mortality rate reaching 8.2% after an emergency operation. A lower value was documented by Lane Smothers et al. (345), 15.7% in a study with 184 CRC patients, and by Pavlidis et al. (346), 12%, in a study realized with 1009 patients with CRC.

In this study, 422 (96.1%) of colon and 203 (87.1%) of rectal cancer patients have been submitted to surgical treatment, and of this, 20.9% and 4.9% have been submitted to a urgent operation, respectively.

Perforation was more frequently associated with colon than rectal cancer (7.6% vs. 1.5%) and in both cases cancers were presented at laparotomy as mobile masses (82.2% and 66.9% respectively).

### **5.1.3 HISTOPATHOLOGICAL REPORTS**

When pathologists examine a CRC specimen, they are taking a single fragment of the tumour at a given time, thereby providing information on the extent of tumour diffusion. A quantitative assessment of tumour extension, however, is insufficient to provide additional diagnostic, prognostic, and possibly predictive information required to plan the best therapeutic strategy (347).

Histopathological reports like tumour size, macroscopic serosal involvement, tumour differentiation, margin resection and blood and lymph node involvement was determined by two

experienced pathologists at Pathology Department of Braga Hospital. Some of these data will be reflected in the final pathological stage, pTNM.

### 5.1.3.1 TUMOUR SIZE

Most of the cancers analyzed, 49.0% of colon cancer and 52.7% of rectal cancer, have a maximum tumour diameter smaller than or equal to 4.5 cm. Tumour size should be reported as part of permanent record of tumour description. Although the size of the tumour is of no prognostic significance, it may be important for quality control of tumour size determined by nonpathologic means (eg, imaging modalities) (348).

### 5.1.3.2 MACROSCOPIC SEROSAL INVOLVEMENT

Macroscopic serosal involvement corresponds to a pT3 in TNM classification; in our series, 69.9% of colon cancers and 53.7% of rectal cancer, presented with macroscopic serosal involvement. When Macroscopic serosal involvement is present, even in the absence of lymph node involvement (AJCC/UICC stage IIB classification) it also identifies high-risk disease requiring adjuvant therapy (347,349,350).

# 5.1.3.3 TUMOUR DIFFERENTIATION

Tumour differentiation is consistently recognized as an important prognostic parameter (347,351). In our series, most of the cancers analysed were moderately-differentiated, 40.8% of colon cancer and 39.4% of rectal cancer.

#### 5.1.3.4 Ressection margins involvement

For colon cancer the primary determinant of the extent of bowel resection is the need for adequate removal of lymph nodes and arterial supply that is consistent with the creation of a well-vascularized anastomosis. An adequate minimum length for proximal and distal colon resection margin is 5 cm, although they are generally much greater. Radial, non-peritonealized negative margins resection of the colon should be obtained and must be histologically free of disease to achieve a curative resection (352).

For rectal cancer the primary determinant of the extent of resection of proximal rectum is determined by technical considerations for obtaining adequate lymphadenectomy and reconstruction. The margin resection length should be a minimum of 5 cm (352). The current recommendation for a adequate distal margin of resection is 2cm, and this is adequate for preventing local recurrence (353). In the case of the circumferential margin, 1 mm of margin is the current accepted margin, but if 2 mm were obtained instead of the 1 mm, local recurrences rates decreases from 16% to 5.8% (353).

In our study we only observed "Margins resection involvement" in 6 patients of colon cancer and in 20 of rectal cancer patients.

### **5.1.3.5 VASCULAR INVASION**

In our study, it was reported 54.2% and 55.6% of venous vessel invasion and 39.3% and 44.3 of lymphatic vessels invasion, for colon and rectal cancer, respectively.

CRC exploits the lymphatic and venous drainage sistem for dissemination to regional lymph nodes and distant organs and vascular invasion is an independent adverse prognostic factor in CRC (347,354,355). The diagnosis of vascular invasion in CRC specimens may be exceedingly difficult with conventional hematoxylin-eosin staining alone (356). Literature data reported a CRC vascular invasion in ranges from 10% to 89% (355) most likely due to the different criteria used for its identification or because of patient selection. To note that in some studies no distinction was made between venous and lymphatic vessels or intramural and extramural venous invasion (347).

### 5.1.3.6 HISTOLOGICAL STAGING AND FOLLOW-UP

Stage at diagnosis plays a significant role in CRC survival (15,254,324–326,340,357) and is actually the main prognostic factor in CRC (3,15,235,324,325) but it is difficult to accurately determine the stage prior to surgical treatment (358).

Staging has evolved over time, and TNM system is used currently. This is an evaluation system based on 3 variables: primary tumour (T), regional nodes (N), and metastasis (M) (340,359). In the past, patients presenting the same stage of CRC were considered similar in terms of prognosis. The new staging criteria recognize that they are usually quite different and subsets of patients with varying survival statistics can be found (340,358). Less than one quarter of the patients present early disease (Stage I) that is curable by surgical resection (15,324,340) and more than 20% of CRC patients present stage IV disease at diagnosis (340). This has an impact in five year survival rates and we can expect a five-year survival rate greater than 90% for stage I (15,324,326) and less than 10% for stage IV (326). On the other hand, around 40% of patients undergo resection with curative intent, but 50% of patients still die of the disease within five years (357,360).

As we stated above, most colon and rectal cancer patients from our study were stage IIA (33.7% ans 21.2%, respectively), followed by stage IIIB (22.5%) for colon cancer patients and stage IV (18.2%) for rectal cancer patients.

Despite expecting a worse prognosis in rectal cancer patients, we observed that 27.8% of colon cancer and 18.0% of rectal cancer patients died from a colorectal cancer-related cause. Follow-up time ranged from 2 to 7 years and in that period 14.6% of patients with colon cancer and 19.3% with rectal cancer had recurrence, mostly in liver.

These data are consistent with the literature (15,324,340), with low percentage of patients diagnosed at stage I, 13.0% for colon cancer and 18.7% for rectal cancer. Also, the percentage of stage VI diagnosed patients was very close to that observed in literature, with 18.2% for rectal cancer and 18.7% for colon cancer (340). From these data, we would expect a higher mortality in rectal cancer patients compared to colon cancer, but we observed very similar results, documented by the

log-rank test, when comparing between colon and rectum cancer survival (p=0.518). In the literature, studies have shown conflicting results when comparing prognosis and localization (360). Reduced survival in left colon cancer compared to right colon was reported in a Norwegian study from 1987 and Aldrige et al. (360–362) reported similar results, but no differences were detected in other studies (360,363–365). We also observed a lower value of 5 years disease recurrence, 14.6 % and 19.3% for colon and rectal cancer respectively, when compared with values of 40% found in the literature. These data may reveal a different biological behaviour or be the result of the follow-up time, however, other studies with larger series must be done.

# 5.2 MCTs, CHAPERONES AND GLYCOLYTIC METABOLIC MARKERS IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL EXPRESSION IN CRCs AND NORMAL ADJACENT TISSUES AND CORRELATION WITH EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA

Our group has previously analyzed the expressions of MCT1, 2, and 4 in a series of 126 CRC (109) and we document that the expression of the MCT isoforms in tumour cells was significantly increased when compared to normal adjacent epithelium and we also observe a significant gain in membrane expression for MCT1 and MCT4 and loss of plasma membrane expression for MCT2 in tumour cells (109).

With this work we hypothesize to reinforce the results obtained, by evaluating MCT1, MCT4 immunohistochemical expression in this larger series of 580 cases, adding immunohistochemical expression evaluation of chaperones CD147, CD44 and glycolytic metabolic marker GLUT1 and correlation with MCTs expression to further understand the role of MCTs in CRC glycolytic metabolism, besides the advantage of the correlation with epidemiological data.

In this study, we evaluated MCT1, MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 immunohistochemical expression in a CRC series of 580 cases and we observed that all the proteins studied are overexpressed in tumours when comparing with normal-adjacent tissue and in plasma membrane expression pattern (p<0.001). MCTs were the proteins most frequently expressed, followed by CD147, GLUT1 and CD44.

MCT1 results are consistent with the previous results of our group (104,109), also documented by Koukourakis et al. (115) who document a strong membranous expression in cancer cells of CRC but not in the adjacent stroma or the normal colonic mucosa.

Similar results were obtained with MCT4, we observed that MCT4 expression and plasma membrane staining was higher in tumour cells than in normal adjacent cells. These results are consistent with the previous results of our group (104,109), although Koukourakis et al. (115) and Lambert et al. (144), observed only a weakly and no expression of MCT4 in tumour cells, respectively, suggesting a minimal role in the metabolic intratumoural communication (115).

As stated before, cancer is associated with an increase in glycolytic flux (102,108– 110,112,122) with consequent increase in lactic acid production (103,109–112). The maintenance of intracellular pH is achieved by upregulation of MCTs (109) namely; MCT1 with a ubiquitous tissue expression (109,127) and participating in the bidirectional transmembrane exchange of lactic acid (115) and MCT4 with a localization more restricted to the glycolytic cells (109,366) and with a low-affinity lactate (105,124,138,366). So we might predict that its expression would increase in CRC cell to enable to export the increased quantities of lactic acid and so prevent apoptosis.

The lower expression in normal adjacent cells is in accordance to what is known on normal colon metabolism. MCTs were demonstrated to transport aliphatic monocarboxylates, including lactate, pyruvate and ketone bodies but also the branched-chain oxo acids derived from leucine, valine and isoleucine, and the ketone bodies acetoacetate,  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate and acetate (134,135); consequently, MCTs play a pivotal role in mammalian metabolism. We also observed that expression in normal adjacent cells is more marked for MCT1, what is in accordance to the broader distribution of this transporter and also because it transports butyrate, a substrate for colonic epithelial cells, and possess trophic effects in the colon (127,134,135,137).

Chaperones CD147 and CD44 immunohistochemical expression were also overexpressed in CRC when comparing with normal adjacent tissue and in plasma membrane expression pattern (p<0.001). Functional expression of MCTs is regulated by these accessory proteins (104,135,157–162), that are involved in trafficking, anchoring of plasma membrane proteins (135) and communication of cell-matrix interactions (181,182), respectively.

With regard to CD147, besides acting as MCT chaperone, CD147 expression seems to be dependent on MCT1 and MCT4 expressions (135,157,160) and in all tissues expressing MCT1 or MCT4, CD147 expression was consistently found co-localized in the same regions (158). In our study, we observed a higher expression and higher plasma membrane staining was in tumour cells than in normal adjacent cells. These results are consistent with those observed in the literature. Zheng et al. (177), Buergy et al. (178) and Jin et al. (179) documented that CD147 expression is stronger in C and metastatic carcinoma than normal adjacent cells.

The glycolytic metabolic marker GLUT1 has also a higher expression and higher plasma membrane staining in tumour cells than in normal adjacent cells. These results were expected because as a consequence of the high energetic demands observed in CRC, increased glucose metabolism and utilization is accomplished by upregulation of glucose transport across the plasma membrane (209,212), so increased GLUT1 expression reflects an increased glycolytic metabolism (209,210,212,213,215,367) in CRC.

Some studies suggest that GLUT1 expression may play an important role in the survival of tumour cells by promoting an adequate energy supply (210,213) and could be a useful biomarker for malignant transformation (210,214,216).

We studied the association between MCT isoforms and the remaining proteins and observed that in tumour samples, MCT1 positive cases were associated with CD147 plasma membrane expression and between MCT4 and both chaperones and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression. As stated before, functional expression of MCTs is regulated by these chaperones (104,135,157–162) and our results support these previously mentioned findings. Also the association found between MCT4 and the glycolytic metabolic marker GLUT1 can result from the fact that CRC cells upregulate GLUT1 to increase glucose uptake and, subsequent to "aerobic glycolysis", while the accumulated lactate is extruded by MCTs.

We studied the association between MCT chaperones, metabolic marker GLUT1 expression and clinical data, diagnosis/pre-operative staging data pathological and follow-up data and compared with other cancer literature data on CRC.

MCT1 positive cases were associated with the presence of "Pulmonary Metastasis" so more advanced CRC stage. In our previous study we documented a significant correlation between MCT1 plasma membrane staining and vascular invasion (109), that was not observed in this larger series, one possible explanation is that different methods may be used to evaluate vascular invasion.

We found that MCT4 positive cases were associated with "Personal History of CRC". Patients with a "Personal History of CRC" presented an increased risk to develop CRC, this higher expression of MCT4 in the patients may reflect an alteration of CRC metabolic profile conferred in the previous cancer.

There was also an association between MCT4 positivity and "Rectal Examination", namely with fixed rectal cancer. With digital rectal exam, the size, location, and degree of fixation of most low and some middle third rectal tumours can be detected and assessed. Assessment of the extent of local disease by digital rectal exam is imprecise (368,369), however, rectal fixed tumours are generally associated with an advanced rectal cancer stage (369).

There is some controversy in the literature when analyzing the correlation between CD147 expression and the clinicopathological characteristics in CRC. In our study, we only found association between CD147 positivity and "Tumour Size" and a tendency to associate with "Patient

Age" (p=0.056), also observed for MCT4 plasma membrane positive cases (p=0.052).

Zheng et al. (370) reported that CD147 expression was positively correlated with tumour size, depth of invasion, vascular or lymphatic invasion, grade of infiltration of CRC. On the other side, Jin et al. (167) documented a CD147 overexpression in CRC compared to normal mucosa, but no correlation was found with TNM stage. Also Jung et al. (149) and Stenzinger et al. (371) showed that the CD147 overexpression was not associated with clinicopathological parameters, although Stenzinger et al. (371) and Buergy et al. (372) observed that it was associated with a poor clinical prognosis.

Associations of CD147 expression with survival and prognosis have been suggested for other tumours, such as endometrial (373), ovarian carcinoma (173) and esophageal squamous cell carcinomas (374) although in esophageal squamous cell carcinomas Ishibashi et al. (176) it was reported that CD147 expression was not associated with the recurrence-free survival. In oral squamous cell carcinoma, increased expression of CD147 has been shown to correlate with lymphatic metastasis and tumour progression (375) and Yang et al. (376) found that CD147 expression in breast carcinoma cells rendered them resistant to anoikis, a form of apoptosis triggered by a lack of improper cell-matrix interactions, through an MAP kinase-dependent pathway. Marieb et al. (148) documented that upregulated CD147 expression stimulates hyaluronan production by elevating hyoluronan synthases, which is closely related to the anchorage-independent growth of cancer cells. Taken together, our result supported the opinion that CD147 might enhance tumour growth of CRC by disrupting the balance between apoptosis and proliferation.

In our study, we only documented a correlation of CD44 immunoexpression and "Vessel Invasion" in other words with metastatic spread also documented in the tendency to associate with "Hepatic Metastasis" (p=0.055). These results are in harmony with previous reports, which states that extracellular acidification induces invasion.

Several studies have suggested an important biological role for CD44 in tumour progression and metastasis, and the potential for the use of CD44 variant expression as a clinicopathological marker of disease progression in CRC (189–194) and other cancers (195–199). Some studies observe that protein expression of standard and variant isoforms of CD44 correlates with a poor prognosis in CRC (200–202) and that it can be a molecular marker for CRC and its micrometastasis to the regional normal lymph node (202), but divergent conclusions have been reached regarding a potential relationship between variant CD44 expression and the prognosis of patients with CRC (181,203–205). More recent studies suggest either no role for CD44s or a worse clinical outcome (192,206–208), documented by correlation between CD44 expression and metastatic spread and survival (377–380).

Also studies performed in gastric cancer found no correlation of CD44 immunoexpression and clinicopathological characteristics such as tumour size, pathologic stage, histological grade, angioinvasion, perineural invasion and lymph node metastasis or prognosis in terms of survival (183,381). However, Ghaffarzadehgan et al. (377) reported significant correlation between CD44 expression and histological grade and patient survival.

GLUT1 positive cases in plasma membrane show a significant association with "Macroscopic Cancer type", namely with exofitic lesions, high CEA level (p=0.05) presence of "Hepatic Metastasis" (p=0.046), "Tumour Differentiation" (p=0.009), and a tendency for association with "Spread to nearby lymph nodes" (p=0.058) namely poorly-differentiated tumours, in other words, tumour characteristics associated with more aggressive tumours and poor prognosis, so tumours with high energetic demands to grow and metastize. Previous studies suggest that GLUT1 expression may play an important role in the survival of tumour cells by promoting an adequate energy supply (210,213) and could be a useful biomarker for malignant transformation (210,214,216). Many studies have reported a correlation between GLUT1 expression level and the grade of tumour aggressiveness (209,212,213,217,218), increased proliferative activity and energy requirements (212) which suggests that GLUT1 expression may be of prognostic significance (209,213,219).

In our study, we documented a significant correlation between GLUT1 and tumour differentiation, results which are in accordance with those of Sakashita et al. (382) that reported that GLUT1 expression was significantly different between well differentiated and less differentiated groups in CRC. Also, Ito et al. (383) in lung adenocarcinomas and Chen et al. (384) in breast cancer, demonstrated that GLUT1 immunostaining was stronger in tumours with lower differentiation. Others studies (214,217) reported that there was no correlation between GLUT1 expression and histological differentiation.

The relationship between GLUT1 expression the depth of invasion has been reported in CRC. Sakashita et al. (382) reported that GLUT1 expression was significantly different between T1

and T2 groups, however, Younes et al. (217) and Young Jin Jun et al. (213), demonstrated that there was no significant difference between GLUT1 expression and depth of invasion. Younes et al. (217), Young Jin Jun et al. (213) and Zhou et al. (218) documented that there was a close correlation between strong GLUT1 expression and the frequency of lymph node metastasis in CRC. Sakashita et al. (382) reported that the correlation of GLUT1 expression in CRC with nodal metastasis was higher than that in those without, but the difference was not significant. In our study, we did not observe that correlation but we documented a significantly correlation between "CEA level" and "Hepatic metastization" both associated with more advanced cancers. The greater degree of GLUT1 expression in these tumors indicates that GLUT1 may be important for maintaining the high-energy requirements of aggressive cancers.

Young Jin Jun et al. (213) documented that there was a close correlation between GLUT1 expression and tumour stage, and also showed that GLUT1 expression was significantly correlated with poor overall survival and disease-free survival. Also Shen et al. (219) found a worse prognosis in GLUT1 positive cancers; but Haber et al. (214) reported a association of GLUT1 staining status and stage; however, no statistical significance was revealed. In our study we did not observe any statistically significant relation with survival. Also Hong et al. (210) did not show these results, but suggest the possibility that tumours with absent GLUT1 staining might express another GLUT isoform, which might be associated with poor prognosis (210,385). Also, for breast cancer, Avril et al. (386) find no association. On the other hand, other studies reported that GLUT1 correlates with poor prognosis and tumour aggressiveness in carcinomas of the lung (387,388) and bladder (389), and in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (390,391) and in ovarian cancer (392,393).

Although the associations between MCTs, chaperones and GLUT1 and clinicopathological data associated with worse prognosis, when we observe colon and rectal cancer survival curves assessed by log-rank test, we only find a statistically significant association between MCT1 expression and stage IV for colon cancer; GLUT1 expression and stage I for rectal cancer and a tendency to association between MCT4 expression and stage III for colon cancer (p=0.060); thus suggesting that longer follow-up times may be necessary to document this relationship.

# 5.3 MCTs, CHAPERONES AND GLYCOLYTIC METABOLIC MARKERS IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL EXPRESSION IN COLORECTAL CANCER HEPATIC METASTASIS AND NORMAL ADJACENT TISSUES AND CORRELATION WITH EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA

Our initial aim was to correlate the results of MCTs, chaperones and Glycolytic Metabolic Markers Immunohistochemical expression in Colorectal Cancer Hepatic Metastasis with the results obtained in CRC and ascertain if the metabolic profile observed in CRC was maintained in CRC Hepatic Metastasis, but due to the few number of patients that have been submitted to hepatic resection during this period this was not possible.

So we retrieved a new series with 45 patients that have been submitted to CRC hepatic metastasis resection in the period of 1 January 2003 to 1 de January 2011 and analyzed the expression of MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 in CRC hepatic metastasis and normal adjacent tissue.

No data are available in literature about this issue, being this the first work performed with these proteins in CRC hepatic metastasis.

When analyzing CRC hepatic metastasis, the same expression patterns were observed in tumour positive cases, in immunoreaction and plasma membrane suggesting the same alterations in metabolic profile documented in CRC tissues. The lower significance observed in the metastases series may be justified by the lower number of cases.

Analyzing the associations between MCT4 and the other proteins we observed that MCT4 positive cases were associated with both chaperones and GLUT1 plasma membrane expression, as observed in CRC tissues, reinforcing the role of the chaperones in the function of MCT4 (104,135,157–162) and upregulation of GLUT1 to increase glucose uptake and, subsequent to "aerobic glycolysis".

Assessment with anatomopathological data from primary tumour and Hepatic metastasis, revealed CD147 positive cases were associated with "Venous Vessel Invasion" (p=0.042) and no other correlation was observed, perhaps because of the series size.

# 5.4 VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 AND VEGFR-3 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL EXPRESSION IN CRCs AND NORMAL ADJACENT TISSUES AND CORRELATION WITH EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA

Tumour angiogenesis is essential to allow neoplastic mass development favoring access to the blood components, and also strengthening the vascular routes in the metastatic process (4,241,242,244,247,248). Neovascularisation promotes tumour growth by supplying nutrients, oxygen and releasing growth factors that promote tumour cell proliferation (232,239,244,249,250).

Numerous studies have demonstrated that tumour overexpression of VEGF is associated with advanced tumour stage or tumour invasiveness in various common human cancers (232,240,394,395) and, its overexpression in colon cancer tissue indicates poor prognosis (395); although paradoxically, some data showed that VEGF has not a significant prognostic value in colon cancer tissue (396).

Our results corroborate the premises that angiogenesis plays a key role in tumourigenesis and metastatic processes (231,232,397), because all the markers involved with neovascularisation were consistently expressed in tumour cells. Additionally, VEGF-C, a lymphangiogenic maker, was more significantly expressed in cancer cells rather than in normal cells. This general view of our results clearly indicate that CRC are predominantly composed by cancer cell that are directly or indirectly associated to the high expression of molecular players related to the blood angiogenesis and that the major lymphangiogenic molecule is also more importantly expressed in cancer cells that primarily escape from primary site to metastatic route by lymphatic vessels.

Normally, VEGF family members are weakly expressed in a wide variety of human and animal tissues; however, high levels of VEGF expression can be detected at sites where physiologic angiogenesis is required, such as fetal tissue or placenta, or in the vast majority of human tumours and other diseases such as, chronic inflammatory disorders, diabetes mellitus, and ischemic heart disease (4). Furthermore, VEGF family and its receptors are expressed at high levels in metastatic human colon carcinomas and in tumour-associated endothelial cells, respectively (4,240). Consequently, VEGF is recognized as a prominent angiogenic factor in colon carcinoma and the assessment of VEGF expression may be useful for predicting metastasis from CRC (4,240).

In literature, the role of the VEGF family members in CRC has, to date, mainly concentrated

on VEGF-A, but the newer members of the family, VEGF-C and VEGF-D, may have important roles to play in both angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis (398).

VEGF-A promotes angiogenesis through enhancement of permeability, activation, survival, migration, invasion, and proliferation of endothelial cells (4,399) and play a role in early tumour development at the stage of adenoma formation (4,12,400) and some studies document a overexpression of VEGF-A in CRC (4,401). In other studies, VEGF-A expression was also found to be higher in patients with metastatic tumours (4,240,243), and high levels of VEGF-A expression were associated with advanced cancer stage and related with unfavorable prognosis (4,395,396,402). VEGF-A was documented as a useful marker for prognosis by significantly correlating with angio-lymphatic invasion, lymph node status and depth of invasion, notwithstanding it was not an independent prognostic factor (4,244,401).

VEGF-C gene was also found to be poorly and at maximum moderately expressed in CRCs when compared to control tissue (398,403); however, the number of samples analysed in this study, particularly, was small (n=12). In a larger series, however, the immunohistochemical expression of VEGF-C was correlated with lymph node spread (398,404). In our study, in opposite to that observed in literature, we did not observe a statistically positive correlation between tumour and normal adjacent tissues of VEGF-A expression. The majority of the normal-looking tissues were strongly decorated by the VEGF-A reaction. On the other hand, we observed that VEGF-C was overexpressed in tumours when comparing tumour cell strongly decorated to the weak staining of the normal-adjacent tissue (p=0.004).

The effect of VEGF depends not only on tumour cell expression of VEGF, but also on the VEGF receptors in the endothelial cells (4,232) so we also analyzed the associations between VEGF-A, VEGF-C and the receptors VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3 expression in CRC tissues and we observed that in tumour samples, VEGF-C positive cases were associated with VEGFR-3 expression (p=0.047), this is consistent with the fact that lymphangiogenesis induced by VEGF-C is driven mainly by the activation of the tyrosine kinase-linked receptor VEGFR-3 (405) and supports the fact that CRC escapes through lymphatic vessels, although no correlation with pathological data of lymph node metastasis or lymphatic vessel invasion was observed.

The comparison of the correlation among VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expressions and the clinical-pathological data, data from diagnosis/surgery and pathological data

revealed that VEGF-A positive cases were associated with "Patient Gender" (p=0.016) and "Tumour Differentiation" (p=0.001); VEGF-C expression with "Tumour Localization" (p=0.037), and Macroscopic Cancer type" (p=0.048), "Tumour Differentiation" (p=0.007) and "Tumour penetration" (p=0.010); VEGFR-2 shows association with Histological type" (p=0.007) and VEGFR-3 shows with "Hepatic Metastasis" (p=0.032). All this characteristics characterize a high expression of molecules that contribute for progression, invasion and metastasis and poorer survival and prognosis that we observe in overall-survival curves for rectal cancer in VEGF-C stage III (p=0.019) and VEGFR-3 expression stage IV (p=0.047).

\_\_6. CONCLUDING REMARKS/ FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

### 6.1 EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA

As previously mentioned, the beginning of this thesis coincided with the creation of the Coloproctology Unit of Braga Hospital, responsible, among others diseases, by the treatment of patients with diagnosis of CRC. All the work was performed looking for the development of protocols as well estimulate multidisciplinary meetings with Surgery, Pathology and Oncology. Besides been necessary to the drawing of this thesis, this initiative also, allowed to standardize the diagnosis, staging, treatment and follow-up, leading to a significant improvement in the management of these patients.

As stated before, CRC epidemiological data are scarce in Portugal, and our results clearly demonstrated that CRC is a major problem of public health, impact due to the incidence and the degree of advanced stage of the tumors at the moment of diagnosis. This work not only allowed a better knowledge of our population, but with other parallel studies, improved patient treatment at Coloproctology Unit of Braga Hospital.

The majority of our results are consistent to that observed in the literature. Most of our CRC patients were male and old patients, reinforcing the role of these data in CRC risk factors. Most of our cancers were located in colon more precisely left-sided colon. From these data, it would be expectable that flexible sigmoidoscopy would be a diagnostic procedure sufficient for most cases of CRC, but most cancers of our series were diagnosed by total colonoscopy, resulting in part from the fact that most of these patients have not done a screening exam but as investigation of some symptom, as documented by the higher percentage of symptomatic patients at diagnosis in our series. The low adhesion of our population to the CRC screening programs was also documented by the lower incidence of previous history of colorectal polyps, of previous personal and of a positive familiar story for CRC, than that observed in the literature.

As a measure of the re-structuring of Gastroenterology department of Braga Hospital and in part as a result of these observations, actually an annual screening programme is realized at the Braga Hospital.

From the reports collected from surgeons, we documented that most patients were submitted to a scheduled surgery, presenting similar results to that observed in the literature for emergent surgeries, what is associated to a worse prognosis as it influences staging besides the patients being operated without a complete pre-operative staging.

Data from pathological reports reveals that although most of CRC in our series were small tumours, most of those tumours present macroscopic serosa involvement at diagnosis, what reflects a more advanced stage.

When analysing "Resection Margin involvement", we documented that this was more frequent in rectal than colon cancer. This data was expectable not only resulting from anatomical surgical reasons but also from technical reasons. This reflects the higher percentage of patients with local rectal cancer recurrence compared to colon cancer patients.

In what concerns "Vascular Invasion", venous vessel and lymph vessel are two routes of CRC metastization and actually considered as an independent risk factor. These data, and also the number of positive lymph nodes were not described in all specimens. For this reason we intend, with the Pathological department, and as it was already done for other cancers, to standardize the histological report of colon and rectal cancers.

Also, the results of "Staging at Diagnosis" were similar to that observed in the literature, with few patients diagnosed at stage I and almost 19% at stage IV, for rectal and colon cancer. "Metastization/Recurrence" during the follow-up were more frequent in rectal than colon cancer patients, but in both this was more frequent in the liver and most patients were asymptomatic, reinforcing the need of periodical follow-up. Despite expecting a worse prognosis in rectal cancer this fact was not documented in survival curves and longer follow-up may be necessary.

# The results presented in this chapter were submitted for publication in international periodicals:

- <u>Martins SF</u>, Reis RM, Amorim R, Pinheiro C, Rodrigues AM, Baltazar F, Filho AL. An epidemiologic descriptive study of Colorectal Cancer patients treated at Braga Hospital, Northern Portugal.

# Other results collected in CRC prospective database were used as material for Master thesis of medical students and some were posteriorly published:

. "Assessment of Quality of life (QoL) after rectal cancer surgery."

- Supervisor of Master thesis presented at School of Health Sciences in January 2009.

. "Sensibilidade da Ecografia Endorectal no estadiamento do Cancro do Recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico."

- Supervisor of Master thesis presented at School of Health Sciences in January 2010.
- Carriço L, <u>Martins SF</u>. Sensibilidade da Ecografia Endorectal no estadiamento do Cancro do Recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico. **Rev bras Coloproct**, 2011;30(4): 430-439. (Appendix 9)

. "Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of Hospital de Braga."

- Supervisor of Master thesis presented at School of Health Sciences in January 2011.
- Castro M, <u>Martins SF</u>. Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of Hospital de Braga. J Coloproctol, 2011;31(4): 362-371.
  (Appendix 10)

. "Assessment of surgical risk in CRC patients: possum vs. Acpgbi?"

- Presented as communication at "Congresso Nacional de Cirurgia 2012"
- Accepted for publication at Revista Portuguesa de Cirurgia. Goulart A, <u>Martins SF.</u> Assessment of surgical risk in colo-rectal cancer patients: possum vs. Acpgbi?

### **6.2 CRC** AND HEPATIC METASTASIS METABOLIC MARKERS

One of cancer features is the ability to maintain a sustained proliferative signaling, that is responsible for the faster tumor growth comparing to normal cells. Thus, tumor cells present higher energy requirements, and this enhanced glucose consumption and glycolytic metabolism results in the production of high amounts of lactic acid. Therefore, in order to survive, cancer cells must reprogram their energy metabolism.

Recently, much attention has being given to the manipulation of tumour metabolism, in the context of therapeutic approaches and the expression of MCTs have already been documented by several authors (including our group), in CRC and other cancers.

The purpose of this work was not only to reinforce our previous results with a smaller series but also to expand the study to other metabolic markers, namely chaperones CD147, CD44 and the glycolytic metabolic marker GLUT1 to further understand the role of MCTs in CRC glycolytic metabolism, besides the advantage of the possibility of correlation with epidemiological patients' data.

Moreover, as well known, metastization is one of the main prognostic factors, so, apart from evaluating these metabolic markers in the primary cancer (CRC), we evaluated the same proteins in a seires of CRC Hepatic Metastasis, for which there is no data in the literature.

As stated before in the present study, it was demonstrated that MCT1, MCT4, CD147, CD44 and GLUT1 are overexpressed in human CRC samples, when compared with normal adjacent tissues. As expected, up-regulation of GLUT-1 is a result of the high energetic demands of CRC cells to promote an adequate energy supply. This, in turn, results in an increased lactic acid production, thus the up-regulation of MCTs is an expected result in order to maintain intracellular pH and prevent apoptosis.

Observing those results, we also documented that the expression of these metabolic markers in normal adjacent cells was more pronounced for MCT1 than the remaining proteins. This can reflect the influence of the tumor microenvironment, since the tissue evaluated is adjacent to the tumour, and may be under "tumour influence". However, it could also reflect the broader distribution of MCT1 as well the function of butyrate transport, a substrate for colonic epithelial cells, which possess trophic effects in the colon.

To overcome this limitation, evaluation of theses markers in normal colic epithelium may be necessary although it was not possible. This must be taken into account when we think of MCTs as potential therapeutic targets, making MCT4, chaperones and GLUT1 more attractive, since their lower expression in normal adjacent tissue will be associated to fewer side effects.

When analyzing CRC Hepatic Metastasis series, the same expression patterns were observed in tumour positive cases, suggesting that Hepatic Metastasis hold the same alterations in metabolic profile documented in CRC tissues. In CRC Hepatic Metastasis, the results observed in normal adjacent cells were still more promising, comparing to CRC, as no expression was observed for MCT4, CD44 and GLUT1 in normal adjacent tissue, but once again the evaluation in normal hepatic tissue and in a larger series will be important.

When we analyzed the association between MCT expression with chaperones, CD147 and CD44, and with GLUT1 in CRC and CRC Hepatic Metastasis as expected, by the reasons previously mentioned, we observed that in tumour samples MCT1 positive cases were associated with CD147 plasma membrane expression and MCT4 with both chaperones (plasma membrane expression) and GLUT1. Further, in this evaluation, CRC Hepatic Metastasis holds the same alterations in metabolic profile documented in CRC tissues for MCT4.

When analyzing the correlation between plasma membrane expression and epidemiological data, the association of these proteins with characteristics as: "Age", "Personal History of CRC", "Rectal examination", Macroscopic cancer type", "Tumour size", "Vessel invasion" and presence of Hepatic metastasis" and "Pulmonary metastasis", we documented that the association with these parameters that reflect a worse prognosis, reflects the metabolic advantage that these tumor cells have acquired. Analyzing these correlations in the Hepatic Metastasis series, no association was observed, being the small series and the retrospective access to the data possible limiting factors.

# The results presented in this chapter were submitted for publication in international periodicals:

<u>Martins SF</u>, Amorim R, Pereira H, Pinheiro C, Pardal F, Rodrigues AM, Preto A, Filho AL, Baltazar F. Monocarboxylate Transporters (MCTs) as rational therapeutic targets in Colorectal Cancer.

# Other results presented in this chapter were used as material for Master thesis of medical students:

. "Avaliação da expressão dos transportadores de monocarboxilatos nas metástases hepáticas do carcinoma Colorrectal"

- Supervisor of Master thesis presented at School of Health Sciences in January 2012.

# Candidate to "Grande Prémio Fundação AstraZeneca 2008":

"Expression of monocarboxylase transporters in colorectal carcinomas". PI: Sandra Martins.

# Candidate to "Concurso FCT 2012":

"Papel dos transportadores de monocarboxilatos (MCTs) na comunicação entre a sinalização oncogénica e a remodelação metabólica em Carcinoma Colorrectal". PI: Fátima Baltazar.

# Candidate to "Concurso FCT/CAPES 2012":

"Avaliação da *crosstalk* entre o metabolismo tumoral e a sinalização oncogénica: papel dos transportadores de monocarboxilatos (MCTs)". PI: Fátima Baltazar.

### 6.3 CRC ANGIOGENIC MARKERS

Angiogenesis is a key process for tumor growth and metastization. This study had as purpose to evaluate the expression of VEGF-A, -C and the receptors -2 and -3 in this large series of CRC and assess, if possible, correlations with clinicopathological data and impact on prognostic.

Assessing the expression of VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 in this series, we documented that all these markers were overexpressed in human CRC samples which suggest their role in tumour development and progression, by enabling new routes of oxygenation and nutrition of tumour cells, preventing tumour cell apoptosis.

When we compared CRC tissue and normal adjacent tissue we observed a statistically significant correlation for VEGF-C; a marker for lymphatic vessels, and its upregulation in the tumour tissue support the fact that lymphatic system is an escape route for metastization in CRC. We also observed a tendency for correlation with VEGFR-2, a receptor for the ligands VEGF-A and VEGF-C with action in terms of angiogenesis and lymphangenesis, contributing not only to tumour growth but also to tumour metastization. Observing the results of the expression of these markers in normal adjacent tissue, we observed that the staining was less pronounced for VEGFR-3 than the remaining, although present. This can reflect the biology of the tumor microenvironment, once the tissue evaluated is the normal-like adjacent tissue to the tumor, so it may be under the same "tumour influence".

To overcome this study limitation, evaluation of these markers in normal colonic epithelium may be necessary although it was not currently possible. When we analyzed the association between VEGF-A and -C and the receptor VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3 we observed that in tumour samples, VEGF-C positive cases were associated with VEGFR-3 expression. This is consistent with the fact that lymphangiogenesis induced by VEGF-C is driven mainly by the activation of the tyrosine kinase-linked receptor-3, VEGFR-3, and once again supports the fact that CRC escapes through lymphatic vessels.

When we evaluated the correlation of these markers with epidemiological data, we expected to find some particular associations namely with tumour size, vessel invasion and lymph node metastasis. Although these associations were not found, correlations were observed with data that demonstrate tumour progression, in specifically with the fact of VEGF-A correlates with "Tumour Differentiation", in particular well differentiated tumours takes into account that overexpression of VEGF-A is an earlier event in tumour development as observed by its overexpression in CRC adenomas. On the other hand, the correlations observed with VEGF-C suggest that this marker was associated with more advanced stages and with histological characteristics that reveal a greater probability for metastization, as observed with the correlation with "Macroscopic Cancer type", namely exophytic tumours; "Tumour Differentiation", namely moderately differentiated tumours and "Tumour Penetration" and specifically more advanced tumour stages, T3/T4 lesions. Lastly, VEGFR-3 correlated with the presence of "Hepatic Metastasis". All these characteristics characterize a high expression of molecules that contribute for progression, invasion and metastasis and poorer survival and prognosis that we observed in overall-survival curves for rectal cancer in VEGF-C stage III and VEGFR-3 expression stage IV.

By documenting the overexpression of these markers in CRC, we can in the future improve CRC staging, by identifying at a early stage a group of patients that despite not present lymph node metastasis at diagnosis may present overexpression of these markers and so the potential for development of metastasis.

These findings also open a new door in CRC therapy. Most studies currently available are based on VEGF-A and VEGFR-2 expression on tumour cells and tumour vessels. With this study, also VEGF-C and VEGFR-3 are potential therapeutic targets, particularly if we associated the fact that the lymphatic pathway is a major route of escape in CRC and with the advantage of their expression in the tumour. Moreover, the fact that the drugs already approved and those that are under consideration are directed to VEGF-A and VEGFR-2 and resistance to these drugs are emerging, makes VEGF-C and VEGFR-3 promising new therapeutic options.

# The results presented in this chapter were published or submitted to international peer review periodicals:

<u>Martins SF</u>, Reis RM, Rodrigues AM, Baltazar F, Filho AL. Role of endoglin and VEGF family expression in colorectal cancer prognosis and anti-angiogenic therapies World Journal of Clinical Oncology. **World Journal of Clinical Oncology.** 2011;2(6):272–80. (Appendix 11)

# Submitted for publication:

<u>Martins SF</u>, Garcia EA, MA, Pardal F, Rodrigues AM, Filho AL. Clinicopathological correlation and prognostic significance of VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3 expression in Colorectal Cancer.

# Candidate to "Grande Prémio Fundação AstraZeneca 2008":

"Evaluation of Angiogenesis and Lymphangiogenesis in Colorectal Cancer: Impact in Prognosis Assessment". PI: Sandra Martins.

# **Studies under development:**

# As Master thesis of "Mestrado Integrado em Medicina" and other studies:

- Assessment of D2-40 in CCR and correlation with clinicopathological data and prognostic significance.

- Assessment of Ki-67 in CCR and correlation with clinicopathological data and prognostic significance.

- Assessment of PROX-1 in CCR and correlation with clinicopathological data and prognostic significance.

- Assessment of correlations between *SPINT2* metilation, expression of the receptor MET, clinicopathological data and prognostic significance, in CRC.

- Relevance of HOXA9 Expression in Colorectal Cancer Patients.

- Assessment of Microsatellite Instability in Colorectal Cancer Patients.

- miR-28 targets in colorectal cancer

# **Candidate to RASPHAGY Project:**

- The role of KRAS mutation signaling in autophagy regulation in colorectal carcinoma: towards identification of new therapeutic targets. PI: Ana Preto.

\_\_\_\_\_7. REFERENCES

- 1. Svagzdys S, Lesauskaite V, Pavalkis D, Nedzelskiene I, Pranys D, Tamelis A. Microvessel density as new prognostic marker after radiotherapy in rectal cancer. BMC cancer. 2009 Jan;9:95.
- 2. Des Guetz G, Uzzan B, Nicolas P, Cucherat M, Morere J-F, Benamouzig R, et al. Microvessel density and VEGF expression are prognostic factors in colorectal cancer. Meta-analysis of the literature. British journal of cancer. 2006 Jun;94(12):1823–32.
- 3. Brenner H, Hoffmeister M, Haug U. Should colorectal cancer screening start at the same age in European countries? Contributions from descriptive epidemiology. British journal of cancer.2008;99(3):532–5.
- 4. Martins SF, Reis RM, Rodrigues AM, Baltazar F, Filho AL. World Journal of Clinical Oncology. World Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2011;10(2(6)):272–80.
- 5. Ferlay J, Shin H-R, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM. Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer. 2010;127(12):2893–917.
- 6. Boyle P, Langman JS. Epidemiology. Cancer. 2000;321(September):805–8.
- 7. de Vet HCW, Eisinga A, Riphagen II, Aertgeerts B PD. Chapter 7: Searching for studies. In Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of diagnostic test accuracy, Version 0.4, Cochrane Collaboration. 2008.
- 8. Huhn S, Pardini B, Naccarati A, Vodicka P, Hemminki K FA. Ancestral susceptibility to colorectal cancer. Mutagenesis. 2012;27(2):197–204.
- 9. AM A. Clinico-pathological patterns of colorectal cancer in Saudi Arabia: younger with an advanced stage presentation. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2007;13:84–7.
- 10. Center M, Jemal A, Smith RA, Ward E. Worldwide Variations in Colorectal Cancer. Colorectal Cancer. 2009;
- 11. Henry K a, Niu X, Boscoe FP. Geographic disparities in colorectal cancer survival. International journal of health geographics. 2009;8:48.
- 12. Barozzi C, Ravaioli M, Errico AD, Grazi GL, Poggioli G, Cavrini G, et al. Relevance of Biologic Markers in Colorectal Carcinoma A Comparative Study of a Broad Panel. Cancer. 2002.
- Neagoe A, Molnar A-M, Acalovschi M, Seicean A, Serban A. Risk factors for colorectal cancer: an epidemiologic descriptive study of a series of 333 patients. Romanian journal of gastroenterology. 2004;(3):187–93.
- 14. Zavoral M. Colorectal cancer screening in Europe. World Journal of Gastroenterology. 2009;15(47):5907.

- 15. Alexander DD, Waterbor J, Hughes T, Funkhouser E, Grizzle W MU. African-American and Caucasian disparities in colorectal cancer mortality and survival by data source: An epidemiologic review. Cancer Biomark. 2007;3(6):301–13.
- 16. Bosetti C, Levi F, Rosato V, Bertuccio P, Lucchini F, Negri E LVC. Recent trends in colorectal cancer mortality in Europe. Int J Cancer. 129:180–91.
- 17. Pinto CG, Paquete AT, Pissarra I. Colorectal cancer in Portugal. The European journal of health economics : HEPAC : health economics in prevention and care. 2010;10(1):65–73.
- 18. Chaves FC. Rastreio e Prevenção dos tumores malignos do aparelho digestivo. 2005.
- 19. Pontes L. RORENO Registo Oncológico Regional do Norte 2005. In: Instituto Português de Oncologia do Porto. 2009.
- 20. Estatísticas. IN de. Estatísticas da Saúde 2005. 2006.
- 21. Brenner H, Altenhofen L HM. Sex, age, and birth cohort effects in colorectal neoplasms: a cohort analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2010;152:697–703.
- 22. Fairley TL, Cardinez CJ, Martin J, Alley L, Friedman C, Edwards B, et al. Colorectal cancer in U.S. adults younger than 50 years of age, 1998-2001. Cancer. 2006;107(5):1153–61.
- 23. Haggar FA, Boushey RP, Ph D. Colorectal Cancer Epidemiology: Incidence , Mortality , Survival , and Risk Factors. Clinics. 2009;6(212):191–7.
- 24. Aune D, Chan DSM, Lau R, Vieira R, Greenwood DC, Kampman E, et al. Dietary fibre, whole grains, and risk of colorectal cancer: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. Bmj. 2011;343:6617–6617.
- 25. Day LW, Espey DK, Madden E, Segal M, Terdiman JP. Screening prevalence and incidence of colorectal cancer among American Indian/Alaskan natives in the Indian Health Service. Digestive diseases and sciences. 2011;56(7):2104–13.
- 26. Bingham SA, Day NE, Luben R, Ferrari P, Slimani N, Norat T et al. Dietary fibre in food and protection against colorectal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC): an observational study. Lancet. 2003;361:1496–501.
- 27. Shin A, Li H, Shu XO, Yang G, Gao YT ZW. Dietary intake of calcium, fiber and other micronutrients in relation to colorectal cancer risk: results from the Shanghai Women's Health Study. Int J Cancer. 2006;119:2938–42.
- 28. Butler LM, Wang R, Koh WP YM. Prospective study of dietary patterns and colorectal cancer among Singapore Chinese. Br J Cancer. 2008;99:1511–6.
- 29. Otani T, Iwasaki M, Ishihara J, Sasazuki S, Inoue M TS. Dietary fiber intake and subsequent risk of colorectal cancer: the Japan Public Health Center-based prospective study. Int J Cancer. 2006;119:1475–80.
- 30. Wakai K, Date C, Fukui M, Tamakoshi K, Watanabe Y, Hayakawa N et al. Dietary fiber and risk of colorectal cancer in the Japan collaborative cohort study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2007;16:668–75.
- 31. Liu L, Zhong R, Wei S, Yin JY, Xiang H, Zou L, Chen W, Chen JG, Zheng XW, Huang LJ, Zhu BB, Chen Q, Duan SY, Rui R, Yang BF, Sun JW, Xie DS, Xu YH, Miao XP NS. Interactions between genetic variants in the adiponectin, adiponectin receptor 1 and environmental factors on the risk of colorectal cancer. PLoS One. 2011;6(11).
- 32. Craigie AM, Caswell S, Paterson C, Treweek S, Belch JJF, Daly F, et al. Study protocol for BeWEL: the impact of a BodyWEight and physicaL activity intervention on adults at risk of developing colorectal adenomas. BMC public health. BioMed Central Ltd; 2011;11(1):184.
- 33. Vrieling A, Kampman E. Review Article The role of body mass index , physical activity , and diet in colorectal cancer recurrence and survival : a review of the literature 1 4. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2010;471–90.
- 34. Johnson IT, Lund EK. Review article: nutrition, obesity and colorectal cancer. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2007;26(2):161–81.
- 35. Coups EJ, Manne SL, Meropol NJ, Weinberg DS. Multiple behavioral risk factors for colorectal cancer and colorectal cancer screening status. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology.2007;16(3):510–6.
- 36. Jacobs ET, Martínez ME, Alberts DS, Jiang R, Lance P LK, PA. T. Association between body size and colorectal adenoma recurrence. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007;5(8):982–90.
- 37. Byberg L, Melhus H, Gedeborg R, Sundström J, Ahlbom A ZB, Berglund LG, Wolk A MK. Total mortality after changes in leisure time physical activity in 50 year old men: 35 year follow-up of population based cohort. BMJ. 2009;
- 38. Zhao J, Zhu Y, Wang PP, West R, Buehler S, Sun Z, et al. Interaction between alcohol drinking and obesity in relation to colorectal cancer risk: a case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. BMC public health. BioMed Central Ltd; 2012;12(1):94.
- 39. Fedirko V, Tramacere I, Bagnardi V, Rota M, Scotti L, Islami F et al: Alcohol drinking and colorectal cancer risk: an overall and dose-response metaanalysis of published studies. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(9):1958–72.

- 40. Wei EK, Giovannucci E, Wu K, Rosner B, Fuchs CS, Willett WC et al. Comparison of risk factors for colon and rectal cancer. Int J Cancer. 2004;108(3):433–42.
- 41. Crockett SD, Long MD, Dellon ES, Martin CF, Galanko JA SR. Inverse relationship between moderate alcohol intake and rectal cancer: analysis of the North Carolina Colon Cancer Study. Dis Colon Rectum. 2011;54(7):887–94.
- 42. Dolwani S, Sampson JR. Familial Colorectal Cancer. cap.3:37–58.
- 43. Guilherme Cutait de Castro Cotti, Fábio Pirese de Souza Santos Fernando Moreno Sebastianes, Angelita Harb-Gama, Victor Edmund Seid RB de M. Genética do câncer colorrectal. Revista Médica (São Paulo). 2000;79:45–64.
- 44. M. Ferron, F. Praz MP. Génétique du cancer colorectal Mise au point. Annales de chirurgie. 2005;130:602–7.
- 45. Fearon ER, Vogelstein B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell. 1990;61(5):759–67.
- 46. Carcinoma Colorectal: Actualización y Perspectivas. El Médico Interactivo Diário Electrónico de la Sanidad (medynet.com/elmedico). 2003;892.
- 47. Hamilton SR. Colon Cancer Testing and Screening. Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine. 1999;123(11):1027–9.
- 48. Courtney M. Townsend, Jr., MD, R. Daniel Beauchamp, MD, B. Mark Evers, MD, and Kenneth L. Mattox M. Chapter: Colon and Rectum. Sabiston Textbook of Surgery, 18th edition. 2009. p. 1393.
- 49. Pawlik, T.M., Raut CP, Rodriguez-Bigas MA. Colorectal carcinogenesis: MSI-H versus MSI-L. Dis Markers. 2004;20(4-5):199–206.
- 50. Moran, A. et al. Differential colorectal carcinogenesis: Molecular basis and clinical relevance. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(3):151–8.
- 51. Maria S. Pino DCC. The Chromosomal Instability Pathway in Colon Cancer. Gastroenterology. 2010;138(6):2059–72.
- A. Sanchez-Pernaute, E. Pérez-Aguirre, F.J. Cerdán, P. Iniesta, L. Díez Valladares, C. de Juan, A. Morán, A. Garcia-Botella, C. Garcia Aranda, M. Benito, A.J. Torres JLB. Sobreexpresión de c-myc y perdida de heterozigosidade en 2p,3p, 5q, 17p y 18q en carcinoma colorectal esporádico. Rev esp. enferm. dig. 2005;97(3).

- 53. Minde DP, Anvarian Z, Rüdiger SG, Maurice MM. Messing up disorder: how do missense mutations in the tumor suppressor protein APC lead to cancer? Molecular cancer. BioMed Central Ltd; 2011 Jan;10(1):101.
- 54. Narayan S, Roy D. Role of APC and DNA mismatch repair genes in the development of colorectal cancers. Molecular cancer. 2003;2:41.
- 55. Nathke, I.S. et al. The adenomatous polyposis coli tumor suppressor protein localizes to plasma membrane sites involved in active cell migration. J Cell Biol. 1996;34(1):165–79.
- 56. Green, R.A., R. Wollman and KBK. APC and EB1 function together in mitosis to regulate spindle dynamics and chromosome alignment. Mol Biol Cell. 2005;16(10):4609–22.
- 57. Rusan NM, Peifer M. Original CIN: reviewing roles for APC in chromosome instability. J Cell Biol. 2008;181(5):719–26.
- 58. Takayama, T. et al. Colorectal cancer: genetics of development and metastasis. J Gastroenterol. 2006;41(3):185–92.
- 59. Chen YQ, Hsieh JT, Yao F, Fang B, Pong RC, Cipriano SC KF. Chen, Y.Q., et al., Induction of apoptosis and G2/M cell cycle arrest by DCC. Oncogene. 1999;18(17):2747–54.
- 60. Shekarabi M, T.E. Kennedy. The netrin-1 receptor DCC promotes filopodia formation and cell spreading by activating Cdc42 and Rac1. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2002;19(1):1–17.
- 61. Worthley DL, Whitehall VL, Spring KJ LB. Colorectal carcinogenesis: road maps to cancer. World J Gastroenterol. 2007;13(28):3784–91.
- 62. Leslie A, Carey FA, Pratt NR SR. The colorectal adenoma-carcinoma sequence. Br J Surg. 2002;89(7):845–60.
- 63. Pietsch EC, Sykes SM, McMahon SB MM. The p53 family and programmed cell death. Oncogene. 2008;27(50):6507–21.
- 64. Martinez-Garza, S.G. et al. Frequency and clinicopathology associations of K-ras mutations in colorectal cancer in a northeast Mexican population. Dig Dis. 1999;17(4):225–9.
- 65. Urosevic, N. et al. Prevalence of G-to-T transversions among K-ras oncogene mutations in human colorectal tumors in Yugoslavia. Int J Cancer. 1993;54(2):249–54.
- 66. Oliveira, C. et al. KRAS and BRAF oncogenic mutations in MSS colorectal carcinoma progression. Oncogene, 2007. 2007;26(1):158–63.

- 67. Bazan, V. et al. Specific TP53 and/or Ki-ras mutations as independent predictors of clinical outcome in sporadic colorectal adenocarcinomas: results of a 5-year Gruppo Oncologico dell'Italia Meridionale (GOIM) prospective study. Ann Oncol. 2005;16(4):50–5.
- 68. Davies, H. et al. Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature Medicine. 2002;417(6892):949–54.
- 69. Oliveira, C. et al. BRAF mutations characterize colon but not gastric cancer with mismatch repair deficiency. Oncogene. 2003;22(57):9192–6.
- 70. Domingo, E. et al. Activated BRAF targets proximal colon tumors with mismatch repair deficiency and MLH1 inactivation. Genes Chromosomes. Cancer. 2004;39(2):138–42.
- 71. Wan, P.T. et al. Mechanism of activation of the RAF-ERK signaling pathway by oncogenic mutations of B-RAF. Cell. 2004;116(6):855–67.
- 72. Vakiani E and DBS. KRAS and BRAF: drug targets and predictive biomarkers. J Pathol. 2011;223(2):219–29.
- 73. Hamelin R, Chalastanis A, Colas C, El Bchiri J, Mercier D, Schreurs AS, Simon V, Svrcek M, Zaanan A, Borie C, Buhard O, Capel E, Zouali H, Praz F, Muleris M, Fléjou JF DA. Clinical and molecular consequences of microsatellite instability in human cancers. Bull Cancer. 2008;95(1):121–32.
- 74. C.L. W, Ian S. Histopathology and Mismatch repair status of 458 consecutive colorectal carcinomas. The American Journal of Surgical Pathology. 2003;27(11).
- 75. Brush J, Boyd K, Chappell F, Crawford F, Dozier M, Fenwick E, et al. The value of FDG positron emission tomography / computerised tomography (PET / CT) in pre-operative staging of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technology Assessment. 2011;15(35).
- 76. Siegel R, Ward E, Brawley O JA. Cancer statistics, 2011: the impact of eliminating socioeconomic and racial disparities on premature cancer deaths. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61(4):212–36.
- 77. Hu B, Ren DL, Su D, Lin HC, Xian ZY, Wang XY, et al. Expression of the phosphorylated MEK5 protein is associated with TNM staging of colorectal cancer. BMC cancer. 2012;12(1):127.
- 78. Mates IN, Jinga V, Csiki IE, Mates D, Dinu D, Constantin A, et al. Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms in Colorectal Cancer: Associations with Tumor Site and TNM Stage. Romania.

- 79. Adam R, Hoti E, Folprecht G BA. Accomplishments in 2008 in the management of curable metastatic colorectal cancer. Gastrointest Cancer Res. 2009;3:15–22.
- van Steenbergen LN, Elferink MA, Krijnen P, Lemmens VE, Siesling S, Rutten HJ, Richel DJ, Karim-Kos HE CJWGO of TNCR. Improved survival of colon cancer due to improved treatment and detection: A nationwide population-based study in the Netherlands 1989-2006. Ann Oncol. 2010;21:2206–12.
- 81. Grossmann I, Klaase JM, Avenarius JK, de Hingh IH, Mastboom WJ, Wiggers T. The strengths and limitations of routine staging before treatment with abdominal CT in colorectal cancer. BMC cancer. BioMed Central Ltd; 2011;11(1):433.
- 82. Scoggins CR, Meszoely IM, Blanke CD, Beauchamp RD LS. Nonoperative management of primary colorectal cancer in patients with stage IV disease. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:651–7.
- 83. Grossmann I, Avenarius JK, Mastboom WJ KJ. Preoperative staging with chest CT in patients with colorectal carcinoma: Not as a routine procedure. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:2045–50.
- 84. Cho YK, Lee WY, Yi LJ, Park JH, Yun H-R, Cho YB, et al. Routine chest computed tomography as a preoperative work-up for primary colorectal cancer: is there any benefit in short-term outcome? Journal of the Korean Surgical Society. 2011;80(5):327–33.
- 85. Ohlsson B PB. Follow-up after colorectal cancer surgery. Acta Oncol. 2003;42:816–26.
- 86. Engstrom PF, Arnoletti JP, Benson AB 3rd, Chen YJ C, MA, Cooper HS et al. C. Colon cancer. J Natl Compr Netw. 2007;5:884–925.
- 87. Engstrom PF, Arnoletti JP, Benson AB 3rd, Chen YJ C, MA, Cooper HS et al. Rectal cancer. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2007;5:940–81.
- 88. Bipat S, Niekel MC, Comans EFI, Nio CY, Bemelman WA, Verhoef C, et al. imaging modalities for the staging of patients with colorectal cancer. Communications. 2006;26–34.
- 89. Meyenberger C, Huch Böni RA, Bertschinger P, Zala GF, Klotz HP KG. Endoscopic ultrasound and endorectal magnetic resonance imaging: a prospective, comparative study for preoperative staging and follow-up of rectal cancer. Endoscopy. 1995;27:469–79.
- 90. Kwok H, Bissett IP HG. Preoperative staging of rectal cancer. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2000;15:9–20.
- 91. Obrocea FL, Sajin M, Marinescu EC, Stoica D. Colorectal cancer and the 7th revision of the TNM staging system: review of changes and suggestions for uniform pathologic reporting. Romanian journal of morphology and embryology = Revue roumaine de morphologie et embryologie. 2011;52(2):537–44.

- 92. Harrison, J.C. et al. From Dukes through Jass: pathological prognostic indicators in rectal cancer. Hum Pathol. 1994;25(5):498–505.
- 93. Puppa, G. et al. TNM staging system of colorectal carcinoma: a critical appraisal of challenging issues. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134(6):837–52.
- 94. CE D. The classification of cancer of the rectum. J Pathol Bacteriol. 1932;35(3):323–32.
- 95. Jass JR and BCM. Reporting colorectal cancer. J Clin Pathol. 1987;40(9):1016–23.
- 96. Edge SB, Byrd DR, Compton CC, Fritz GF, Greene FL TAA. cancer staging manual. 7th edn.New York, NY: Springer. 2009.
- 97. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. www.cancerstaging.org/staging/index.html. 7 th edition. 2010.
- 98. www.managecrc.com. Colorectal Cancer: Screening and Staging Screening for Colorectal Cancer. 2011.
- 99. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E et al. Cancer statistics, 2008. CA Cancer J Clin. 2008;58:71–96.
- 100. Hanahan D and RAW. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74.
- 101. Vander Heiden, M.G., L.C. Cantley and CBT. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. Science. 2009;324(5930):1029–33.
- 102. Ganapathy, V., M. Thangaraju and PDP. Nutrient transporters in cancer: relevance to Warburg hypothesis and beyond. Pharmacol Ther. 2009;121(1):29–40.
- 103. PD. GV. TM. P. Nutrient transporters in cancer: relevance to Warburg hypothesis and beyond. Pharmacology and Theapeutics. 2009;121(1):29–40.
- 104. C. Pinheiro; RM. Reis; S. Ricardo; A. Longatto-Filho; F. Schmitt; F.Baltazar. Expression of Monocarboxylate Transporters 1, 2, and 4 in Human Tumours and Their Association with CD147 and CD44. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2010.
- 105. O. F. Pyruvate into lactate and back: From the Warburg effect to symbiotic energy fuel exchange in cancer cells. Radiotherapy and Oncology. 2009;92:329–33.
- 106. Warburg O. On the origin of cancer cells. Science. 1956;123(3191):309–14.
- 107. M.E. P. PET: the merging of biology and imaging into molecular imaging. J Nucl Med. 2000;41(4):661-81.

- 108. Sattler UG.; Hirschhaeuser F.; Mueller-Klieser WF. Manipulation of glycolysis in malignant tumors: fantasy or therapy? Current Medicinal Chemistry. 2010;17(2):96–108.
- Pinheiro C.; Longatto-Filho A.; Scapulatempo C.; Ferreira L.; Martins S.; Pellerin L.; Rodrigues M.; Alves VA.; Schmitt F.; Baltazar F. Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2, and 4 in colorectal carcinomas. Virchows Arch. 2008;452:139–46.
- 110. Helmlinger G.; Sckell A,; Dellian M.; Forbes NS. JR. Acid production in glycolysis-impaired tumors provides new insights into tumor metabolism. Clinical Cancer Research. 2002;8:1284–91.
- W. BD. ST. SR. WS. CR. DM. M-K. Elevated tumour lactate concentrations predict for an increased risk of metastases in head-and-neck cancer. International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics. 2001;51:349–53.
- 112. Su J.T.; KanekuraChen X. A CD147-targeting siRNA inhibits the proliferation, invasiveness, and VEGF production of human malignant melanoma cells by down-regulating glycolysis. Cancer Letters. 2009;273(1):140–7.
- 113. Kroemer G and JP. Tumor cell metabolism: cancer's Achilles' heel. Cancer Cell. 2008;13(6):472–82.
- 114. Pouyssegur, J., F. Dayan and NMM. Hypoxia signalling in cancer and approaches to enforce tumour regression. Nature. 2006;441(7092):437–43.
- 115. Koukourakis, M.I. et al. Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. Cancer Res. 2006;66(2):632–7.
- 116. Swietach, P., R.D. Vaughan-Jones and ALH. Regulation of tumor pH and the role of carbonic anhydrase 9. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2007;26(2):299–310.
- 117. Kennedy KM.; Dewhirst MW. Tumor metabolism of lactate: the influence and therapeutic potential for MCT and CD147 regulation. Future Oncology. 2010;6(1).
- 118. Fischer, K. et al. Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. Blood. 2007;109(9):3812–9.
- 119. Gatenby RA and RJG. Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4(11):891–9.
- 120. Brandon, M., P. Baldi and DCW. Mitochondrial mutations in cancer. Oncogene. 2006;25(34):4647–62.

- 121. Walenta S and WFM-K. Lactate: mirror and motor of tumor malignancy. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2004;14(3):267–74.
- 122. Brizel, D.M. et al. Elevated tumor lactate concentrations predict for an increased risk of metastases in head-and-neck cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys,. 2001;51(2):349–53.
- 123. Quennet, V. et al. Tumor lactate content predicts for response to fractionated irradiation of human squamous cell carcinomas in nude mice. Radiother Oncol. 2006;81(2):130–5.
- 124. Sonveaux S. MW. ; VF. ST. WM. V. RZ. SCKK. DC. JB. KM. GB. WM. FO. D. Targeting lactatefueled respiration selectively kills hypoxic tumor cells in mice. The Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2008;118(12):3939–42.
- 125. KE.;Mueller-Klieser WSW. WM. LM. SG. SK. R. High lactate levels predict likelihood of metastases, tumor recurrence, and restricted patient survival in human cervical cancers. Cancer Research. 2000;60(4):916–21.
- 126. W. SG. WS. SK. RE. M-K. Correlation of high lactate levels in human cervical cancer with incidence of metastasis. Cancer Research. 1995;55(21):4757–9.
- 127. MW. KK. D. Tumor metabolism of lactate: the influence and therapeutic potential for MCT and CD147 regulation. Future Oncology. 2010;6(1).
- 128. Ott D, Hennig J ET. Human brain tumors: assessment with in vivo proton MR spectroscopy. Radiology. 1993;186:745–52.
- 129. G. FM. BA. DM. SHRRR. SGFJ. DA. AJ. C. Mapping of brain tumor metabolites with proton MR spectroscopic imaging: clinical relevance. Radiology. 1992;185(3):675–86.
- Yokota H.Y ; GJ. MM. HK. TH. N. Lactate, choline, and creatine levels measured by vitro 1H-MRS as prognostic parameters in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 2007;25(5):992–9.
- 131. Yamamoto GJI. HK. YH. NY. UY. KY. OM. TS. TH. In vitro proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic lactate and choline measurements, 18F-FDG uptake, and prognosis in patients with lung adenocarcinoma. Journal of Nuclear Medicine. 2004;45(8):1334–9.
- 132. Walenta S.; Schroeder T.; Mueller-Klieser. Lactate in Solid Malignant Tumors: Potential Basis of a Metabolic Classification in Clinical Oncology. Current Medicinal Chemistry. 2004;11(16):2195–204.
- Walenta S.W.; Chau TV.; Schroeder T.; Lehr HA.; Kunz-Schughart LA.; Fuerst A.;Mueller-Klieser. Metabolic classification of human rectal adenocarcinomas: a novel guideline for clinical oncologists? Journal Cancer Research Clinical Oncology. 2003;129(6):321–6.

- 134. Halestrap AP MD. The SLC16 gene family-frommonocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) to aromatic amino acid transporters and beyond. Pflugers Arch. 2004;447:619–28.
- 135. Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Azevedo-Silva J, Casal M, Schmitt FC, Baltazar F. Role of monocarboxylate transporters in human cancers: state of the art. Journal of bioenergetics and biomembranes. 2012
- 136. Poole RC and APH. Transport of lactate and other monocarboxylates across mammalian plasma membranes. Am J Physiol,. 1993;264:761–82.
- 137. Cuff MA, Lambert DW S-BS. Substrate-induced regulation of the human colonic monocarboxylate transporter, MCT1. J Physiol. 2002;539:361–71.
- 138. Dimmer KS, Friedrich B, Lang F, Deitmer JW BS. The low-affinity monocarboxylate transporter MCT4 is adapted to the export of lactate in highly glycolytic cells. Biochem J. 2000;350:219–27.
- 139. Price, N.T., V.N. Jackson and APH. Cloning and sequencing of four new mammalian monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) homologues confirms the existence of a transporter family with an ancient past. Biochem J, 1998;329:321–328.
- 140. Manning Fox, J.E., D. Meredith and APH. Characterisation of human monocarboxylate transporter 4 substantiates its role in lactic acid efflux from skeletal muscle. J Physiol,. 2000;529:285–293.
- 141. Pinheiro C, Reis RM, Ricardo S, Longatto-Filho A, Schmitt F BF. Expression of Monocarboxylate Transporters 1, 2, and 4 in Human Tumours and Their Association with CD147 and CD44. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2010.
- 142. WF. SU. HF. M-K. Manipulation of glycolysis in malignant tumors: fantasy or therapy? Current Medicinal Chemistry. 2010;17(2):96–108.
- 143. E. KM. GA. HA. S. Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumorassociated stroma. Cancer Research. 2006;66(2):632–637.
- 144. Lambert DW SP ; WI. EA. S-B. Molecular changes in the expression of human colonic nutrient transporters during the transition from normality to malignancy. British Journal Cancer. 2002;88:1262-1269.
- 145. Biswas, C. et al. The human tumor cell-derived collagenase stimulatory factor (renamed EMMPRIN) is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. Cancer Res. 1995;55(2):434–439.

- 146. Koch, C. et al. T cell activation-associated epitopes of CD147 in regulation of the T cell response, and their definition by antibody affinity and antigen density. Int Immunol. 1999;11(5):777–86.
- 147. Chen, X. et al. A small interfering CD147-targeting RNA inhibited the proliferation, invasiveness, and metastatic activity of malignant melanoma. Cancer Res Treat. 2006;66(23):11323–11330.
- 148. Marieb EA, Zoltan-Jones A, Li R, Misra S, Ghatak S, Cao J, Zucker S TB. Emmprin promotes anchorage-independent growth in human mammary carcinoma cells by stimulating hyaluronan production. Cancer Res. 2004;64:1229–32.
- 149. Jung EJ, Lee JH, Min BW, Kim YS CJ. Clinicopathologic significance of fascin, extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer, and ezrin expressions in colorectal adenocarcinoma. Indian J Pathol Microbiol. 2011;54(1):32–36.
- 150. Gabison EE, Hoang-Xuan T, Mauviel A MS. EMMPRIN/CD147, an MMP modulator in cancer, development and tissue repair. Biochimie. 2005;87:361–8.
- 151. Tang Y, Nakada MT, Kesavan P, McCabe F, Millar H, Rafferty P BP, L Y. Extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer stimulates tumor angiogenesis by elevating vascular endothelial cell growth factor and matrix metalloproteinases. Cancer Res. 2005;65:3193–9.
- 152. Sun J HM. Regulation of MMP-1 and MMP-2 production through CD147/extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer interactions. Cancer Res. 2001;61:2276–2281.
- 153. Yang JM, Xu Z, Wu H, Zhu H, Wu X HW. Overexpression of extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer in multidrug resistant cancer cells. Mol. Cancer Res. 2003;1:420–7.
- 154. Zucker S, Hymowitz M, Rollo EE, Mann R, Conner CE, Cao J, Foda HD, Tompkins DC TB. Tumorigenic potential of extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer (EMMPRIN). Am. J. Pathol. 2001;158:1921–1928.
- 155. Tang, Y. et al. Extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer stimulates tumor angiogenesis by elevating vascular endothelial cell growth factor and matrix metalloproteinases. Cancer Res. 2005;65(8):3193–3199.
- 156. Lescaille G, Menashi S, Cavelier-Balloy B, Khayati F, Quemener C, Podgorniak MP, et al. EMMPRIN/CD147 up-regulates urokinase-type plasminogen activator: implications in oral tumor progression. BMC cancer. 2012;12(1):115.

- 157. Gallagher SM, Castorino JJ, Wang D PN. Monocarboxylate transporter 4 regulates maturation and trafficking of CD147 to the plasma membrane in the metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231. Cancer Res. 2007;67:4182–9.
- 158. Kirk P, Wilson MC, Heddle C, Brown MH, Barclay AN HA. CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression. EMBO J. 2000;19:3896–904.
- 159. Makuc J, Cappellaro C BE. Co-expression of a mammalian accessory trafficking protein enables functional expression of the rat MCT1 monocarboxylate transporter in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Yeast Res. 2004;4:795–801.
- 160. Deora AA, Philp N, Hu J, Bok D R-BE. Mechanisms regulating tissue-specific polarity of monocarboxylate transporters and their chaperone CD147 in kidney and retinal epithelia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:16245–50.
- 161. Wilson MC, Meredith D, Fox JE, Manoharan C, Davies AJ HA. Basigin (CD147) is the target for organomercurial inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter isoforms 1 and 4: the ancillary protein for the insensitive MCT2 is EMBIGIN (gp70). J Biol Chem. 2005;280:27213–21.
- 162. Slomiany MG, Grass GD, Robertson AD, Yang XY, Maria BL B, C TB. Hyaluronan, CD44, and emmprin regulate lactate efflux and membrane localization of monocarboxylate transporters in human breast carcinoma cells. Cancer Res. 2009;69:1293–301.
- 163. Iacono KT, Brown AL, Greene MI SS. CD147 immunoglobulin superfamily receptor function and role in pathology. Exp Mol Pathol. 2007;83:283–95.
- 164. Nabeshima K, Iwasaki H, Koga K, Hojo H, Suzumiya J KM. Emmprin (basigin/CD147): matrix metalloproteinase modulator and multifunctional cell recognition molecule that plays a critical role in cancer progression. Pathol Int. 2006;56:359–67.
- 165. Riethdorf S, Reimers N, Assmann V, Kornfeld JW, Terracciano L, Sauter G et al. High incidence of EMMPRIN expression in human tumors. Int J Cancer. 2006;119:1800–1810.
- 166. van der Jagt MF, Sweep FC, Waas ET, Hendriks T, Ruers TJ, Merry AH Wobbes T SP. Correlation of reversion-inducing cysteinerich protein with kazal motifs (RECK) and extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer (EMMPRIN), with MMP-2, MMP-9, and survival in colorectal cancer. Cancer Lett. 2006;237:289–297.
- 167. Jin JS, Wu CY, Lin YF, Wang JY, Yu CP, Sheu LF et al. Higher expression of epidermal growth factor receptor is associated with extracellular matrix metalloprotease inducer in colorectal adenocarcinoma: Tissue microarray analysis of immunostaining score with clinicopathological parameters. Dis Markers. 2006;22:309–316.

- 168. Zhou S, Liu C, Wu SM WR. Expressions of CD147 and matrix metalloproteinase-2 in breast cancer and their correlations to prognosis. Ai Zheng. 2005;24:874–9.
- 169. Quemener C, Gabison EE, Naimi B, Lescaille G, Bougatef F PM, Labarchede G, Lebbe C, Calvo F, Menashi S et al. Extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer up-regulates the urokinase-type plasminogen activator system promoting tumor cell invasion. Cancer. Res. 2007;67(1):9–15.
- 170. Zucker S, Hymowitz M, Rollo EE, Mann R, Conner CE, Cao J, Foda HD Tompkins DC TB. Tumorigenic potential of extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer. Am J Pathol. 2001;158(6):1921–1928.
- 171. Li HG, Xie DR, Shen XM, Li HH, Zeng H ZY. Clinicopathological significance of expression of paxillin, syndecan-1 and EMMPRIN in hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2005;11:1445–51.
- 172. Sier CF, Zuidwijk K, Zijlmans HJ, Hanemaaijer R, Mulder-Stapel AA, Prins FA, Dreef EJ, Kenter GG, Fleuren GJ GA. EMMPRIN-induced MMP-2 activation cascade in human cervical squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2006;118:2991–8.
- 173. Davidson B, Givant-Horwitz V, Lazarovici P, Risberg B, Nesland JM T, CG, Schaefer E RR. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMP), EMMPRIN (extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer) and mitogen- activated protein kinases (MAPK): co-expression in metastatic serous ovarian carcinoma. Clin Exp Metastas. 2003;20:621–631.
- 174. Zheng H-C, Takahashi H, Murai Y, Cui Z-G, Nomoto K, Miwa S, et al. Upregulated EMMPRIN/CD147 might contribute to growth and angiogenesis of gastric carcinoma: a good marker for local invasion and prognosis. British journal of cancer. 2006;95(10):1371–8.
- 175. PN. van der JM. SF. WE. HT. RT. MA. WT. S. Correlation of reversion-inducing cysteine-rich protein with kazal motifs (RECK) and extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer (EMMPRIN), with MMP-2, MMP-9, and survival in colorectal cancer. Cancer Letters. 2006;237(2):289–297.
- 176. Ishibashi Y, Matsumoto T, Niwa M, Suzuki Y, Omura N, Hanyu N NK, Yanaga K, Yamada K, Ohkawa K, Kawakami M UM. CD147 and matrix metalloproteinase-2 protein expression as significant prognostic factors in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer. 2004;101:1994–2000.
- 177. Y. ZH. WW. XX. XP. YM. ST. T. Up-regulated EMMPRIN/CD147 protein expression might play a role in colorectal carcinogenesis and its subsequent progression without an alteration of its glycosylation and mRNA level. Journal of Cancer. Research and Clinical Oncology. 2011;137(4):585–596.

- 178. Buergy D, Fuchs T, Kambakamba P, Mudduluru G, Maurer G, Post S, et al. Prognostic impact of extracellular matrix metalloprotease inducer: immunohistochemical analyses of colorectal tumors and immunocytochemical screening of disseminated tumor cells in bone marrow from patients with gastrointestinal cancer. Cancer. 2009;115(20):4667–4678.
- 179. WH. JJ. WC. LY. WJ. YC. SL. CH. TW. L. Higher expression of epidermal growth factor receptor is associated with extracellular matrix metalloprotease inducer in colorectal adenocarcinoma: tissue microarray analysis of immunostaining score with clinicopathological parameters. Disease Markers. 2006;22(5-6):309–316.
- Y. BM. IM. IK; Nishizaw. Blocking CD147 induces cell death in cancer cells through impairment of glycolytic energy metabolism. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2008;374(1):111–116.
- 181. Rudzki Z, Jothy S. Reviews CD44 and the adhesion of neoplastic cells. Molecular Pathology. 1997;44:57–71.
- 182. Jang BI, Li Y, Graham DY, Cen P. The Role of CD44 in the Pathogenesis, Diagnosis, and Therapy of Gastric Cancer. Gut and liver. 201;5(4):397–405.
- 183. Dhingra S, Feng W, Brown RE, Zhou Z, Khoury T, Zhang R, et al. Clinicopathologic significance of putative stem cell markers, CD44 and nestin, in gastric adenocarcinoma. International journal of clinical and experimental pathology. 2011;4(8):733–41.
- 184. Hill A, McFarlane S, Johnston PG WD. The emerging role of CD44 in regulating skeletal micrometastasis. Cancer Lett. 2006;237:1–9.
- 185. Liu J JG. CD44 and hematologic malignancies. Cell. Mol. Immunol. 2006;3:359–365.
- 186. Marhaba R ZM. CD44 in cancer progression: adhesion, migration and growth regulation. J. .Mol. Histol. 2004;35:211–231.
- 187. Slevin M, Krupinski J, Gaffney J, Matou S, West D, Delisser H, Savani RC KS. Hyaluronanmediated angiogenesis in vascular disease: Uncovering RHAMM and CD44 receptor signaling pathways. Matrix Biol. 2007;26:58–68.
- 188. Hao J, Chen H, Madigan MC, Cozzi PJ, Beretov J, Xiao W, Delprado WJ, Russell PJ LY. Coexpression of CD147 (EMMPRIN), CD44v3-10, MDR1 and monocarboxylate transporters is associated with prostate cancer drug resistance and progression. Br J Cancer. 2009;103:1008–18.
- 189. WIELENGA VJM, HEIDER K-H, OFFERHAUS GJA, ADOLF GR, VAN DEN BERG FM, PONTA H HPAPS. Expression of CD44 variant proteins in human colorectal cancer is related to tumor progression. Cancer Res. 1993;53:4754–4756.

- 190. Mulder JW, Wielenga VJ, Polak MM, van den Berg FM, Adolf GR, Herrlich P, et al. Expression of mutant p53 protein and CD44 variant proteins in colorectal tumorigenesis. Gut. 1995;36(1):76–80.
- 191. Yamaguchi A. Expression of variant CD44 in colorectal cancer and its relationship to liver metastasis. Nihon Geka Gakkai Zasshi. 1998;99(7):409–414.
- 192. Coppola D, Hyacinthe M, Fu L, Cantor AB, Karl R, Marcet J, Cooper DL, Nicosia SV CH. CD44V6 expression in human colorectal carcinoma. Hum Pathol. 1998;29(6):627–635.
- 193. Weg-Remers S, Anders M, von Lampe B, Riecken EO, Schüder G, Feifel G, Zeitz M SA. Decreased expression of CD44 splicing variants in advanced colorectal carcinomas. Eur J Cancer. 1998;34(10):1607–1611.
- 194. Kim H, Yang XL, Rosada C, Hamilton SR AJ. CD44 expression in colorectal adenomas is an early event occurring prior to K-ras and p53 gene mutation. Archl Biochem Biophys. 1994;310:504–507.
- 195. DALL, P, HEIDER K-H, SINN H-P, SKROCH-ANGEL P, ADOLF G KAUFMANN M HPAPH. Comparison of immunohistochemistry and RT-PCR for detection of CD44 variant-expression, a new prognostic factor in human breast cancer. Int. J. Cancer. 1995;60:471 –477.
- 196. TAKADA M YMMASY. The significance of CD44 in human pancreatic cancer: I. High expression of CD44 in human pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Pancreas. 1994;9:748–752.
- 197. Heider K-H, Dammrich J, Skroch-Angel P, Muller-hermelink H-K, Vollmers HP HP and PH. Differential expression of CD44 splice variants in intestinal and diffuse-type human gastric carcinomas and normal gastricnmucosa. Cancer Res. 1993;53:4197–4203.
- 198. Le Bras GF, Allison GL, Richards NF, Ansari SS, Washington MK, Andl CD. CD44 upregulation in E-cadherin-negative esophageal cancers results in cell invasion. PloS one. 20116(11):e27063.
- 199. Zhao J-S, Li W-J, Ge D, Zhang P-J, Li J-J, Lu C-L, et al. Tumor initiating cells in esophageal squamous cell carcinomas express high levels of CD44. PloS one. 2011;6(6):e21419.
- 200. W I. Positive relationship between expression of CD44 and hepatic metastases in colorectal cancer. Pathobiology, 1994;62:172–179.
- 201. Mulder JW, Kruyt PM, Sewnath M, Oosting J, Seldenrijk CA, Weidema WF et al. Colorectal cancer prognosis and expression of exon-v6-containing CD44 proteins. Lancet. 1994;344:1470–1472.

- 202. Chun SY, Bae OS KJ. The significance of CD44 variants expression in colorectal cancer and its regional lymph nodes. J Korean Med Sci. 2000;15(6):696–700.
- 203. FINKE LH, TERPE H-J, ZORB C HWASP. Colorectal cancer prognosis and expression of exonv6- containing CD44 proteins. Lancet. 1995;345:583.
- 204. Gotley DC, Fawcett J, Walsh MD, Reeder J a, Simmons DL, Antalis TM. Alternatively spliced variants of the cell adhesion molecule CD44 and tumour progression in colorectal cancer. British journal of cancer. 1996;74(3):342–51.
- 205. Nagata T, Sakakura C, Komiyama S, Miyashita A, Nishio M, Murayama Y, Komatsu S, Shiozaki A, Kuriu Y, Ikoma H, Nakanishi M, Ichikawa D, Fujiwara H, Okamoto K, Ochiai T, Kokuba Y, Sonoyama T OE. Expression of cancer stem cell markers CD133 and CD44 in locoregional recurrence of rectal cancer. Anticancer Res. 2011;31(2):495–500.
- 206. Morrin M DP. CD44v6 is not relevant in colorectal tumour progression. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2002;17(1):30–36.
- 207. Ngan CY, Yamamoto H, Seshimo I, Ezumi K, Terayama M, Hemmi H, Takemasa I, Ikeda M, Sekimoto M MM. A multivariate analysis of adhesion molecules expression in assessment of colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2007;95(8):652–662.
- 208. Choi D, Lee HW, Hur KY, Kim JJ, Park GS, Jang SH, Song YS, Jang KS PS. Cancer stem cell markers CD133 and CD24 correlate with invasiveness and differentiation in colorectal adenocarcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15(18):2258–2264.
- 209. Jóźwiak P, Lipińska A. Rola transportera glukozy 1 (GLUT1) w diagnostyce i terapii nowotworów \* The role of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) in the diagnosis and therapy of tumors. Postepy Hig Med Dosw Online. 2012;165–74.
- 210. Hong R, Lim S-C. <sup>18</sup>F-fluoro-2-deoxyglucose uptake on PET CT and glucose transporter 1 expression in colorectal adenocarcinoma. World journal of gastroenterology: WJG.2012;18(2):168–74.
- 211. Krzeslak A, Wojcik-Krowiranda K, Forma E, Jozwiak P, Romanowicz H, Bienkiewicz A BM. Expression of GLUT1 and GLUT3 Glucose Transporters in Endometrial and Breast Cancers. Pathol Oncol Res. 2012;18(3):721–8.
- 212. Carvalho KC, Cunha IW, Rocha RM, Ayala FR, Cajaíba MM, Begnami MD, et al. GLUT1 expression in malignant tumors and its use as an immunodiagnostic marker. Clinics.2011;66(6):965–72.

- 213. Jun YJ, Jang SM, Han HL, Lee KH, Jang K-S, Paik SS. Clinicopathologic significance of GLUT1 expression and its correlation with Apaf-1 in colorectal adenocarcinomas. World journal of gastroenterology : WJG. 2011;17(14):1866–73.
- 214. Haber RS, Rathan A, Weiser KR, Pritsker A, Itzkowitz SH, Bodian C, Slater G, Weiss A BD. GLUT1 glucose transporter expression in colorectal carcinoma: a marker for poor prognosis. Cancer. 1998;83:34–40.
- 215. Sung JY, Kim GY, Lim SJ, Park YK KY. Expression of the GLUT1 glucose transporter and p53 in carcinomas of the pancreatobiliary tract. Pathol Res Pract. 2010;206:24–9.
- 216. Yen TC, See LC, Lai CH, Tsai CS, Chao A, Hsueh S, Hong JH, Chang TC NK. Standardized uptake value in para-aortic lymph nodes is a significant prognostic factor in patients with primary advanced squamous cervical cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2008;35:493–501.
- 217. Younes M, Lechago LV LJ. Overexpression of the human erythrocyte glucose transporter occurs as a late event in human colorectal carcinogenesis and is associated with an increased incidence of lymph node metastases. Clin Cancer Res. 1996;2:1151–4.
- 218. Zhou YL DC. Correlations of expressions of Glut1 and HIF-1alpha to cellular proliferation of colorectal adenocarcinoma. Ai Zheng. 2005;24(6):685–689.
- 219. Shen YM, Arbman G, Olsson B SX. Overexpression of GLUT1 in colorectal cancer is independently associated with poor prognosis. Int J Biol Markers. 2011;26(3):166–172.
- 220. Harguindey S, Arranz JL, Wahl ML, Orive G, Reshkin SJ. Proton transport inhibitors as potentially selective anticancer drugs. Anticancer research. 2009;29(6):2127–36.
- 221. Fukumura, D. et al. Hypoxia and acidosis independently up-regulate vascular endothelial growth factor transcription in brain tumors in vivo. Cancer Res, 2001;61(16):6020–6024.
- 222. Martinez-Zaguilan, R. et al. Acidic pH enhances the invasive behavior of human melanoma cells. Clin Exp Metastasis, 1996;14(2):176–186.
- 223. Schlappack, O.K., A. Zimmermann and RPH. Glucose starvation and acidosis: effect on experimental metastatic potential, DNA content and MTX resistance of murine tumour cells. Br J Cancer, 1991;64(4):663–670.
- 224. Colen, C.B. et al. Metabolic remodeling of malignant gliomas for enhanced sensitization during radiotherapy: an in vitro study. Neurosurgery. 2006;59(6):1313–23.

- 225. Mathupala, S.P., P. Parajuli and AES. Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study. Neurosurgery. 2004;55(6):1410–9.
- 226. Fang, J. et al. The H+-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma. Mol Pharmacol. 2006;70(6):2108–2115.
- 227. Kennedy KM DM. Tumor metabolism of lactate: the influence and therapeutic potential for MCT and CD147 regulation. Future Oncol. 2010;6(1):127–48.
- 228. Porporato PE, Dhup S, Dadhich RK, Copetti T, Sonveaux P. Anticancer targets in the glycolytic metabolism of tumors: a comprehensive review. Frontiers in pharmacology. 2011;2(49).
- 229. Montañez R, Sánchez-Jiménez F, Quesada AR, Medina MÁ. Exploring and challenging the network of angiogenesis. Scientific reports. 2011;1:61.
- 230. Svagzdys S, Lesauskaite V, Pavalkis D, Nedzelskiene I, Pranys D TA. Microvessel density as new prognostic marker after radiotherapy in rectal cancer. BMC Cancer. 2009;9(95).
- 231. Graziano F CS. Prognostic molecular markers for planning adjuvant chemotherapy trials in Dukes' B colorectal cancer patients: how much evidence is enough? Ann Oncol. 2003;14:1026–1038.
- 232. Pang RW PR. Clinical implications of angiogenesis in cancers. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2006;2:97–108.
- 233. RS. K. Tumor angiogenesis. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:2039–2049.
- 234. Abajo A, Bitarte N, Zarate R, Boni V, Lopez I, Gonzalez-Huarriz M, et al. Identification of colorectal cancer metastasis markers by an angiogenesis-related cytokine-antibody array. World journal of gastroenterology : WJG. 2012;18(7):637–45.
- 235. Des Guetz G, Uzzan B, Nicolas P, Cucherat M, Morere JF, Benamouzig R, Breau JL PG. Microvessel density and VEGF expression are prognostic factors in colorectal cancer. Metaanalysis of the literature. Br. J Cancer. 2006;94:1823–32.
- 236. Hanahan D WR. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000;100(1):57–70.
- 237. Mueller MM FN. Friends or foes—bipolar effects of the tumour stroma in cancer. Nature Reviews. Cancer. 2004;4(11):839–849.
- 238. Fan F, Schimming A, Jaeger D, Podar K. Targeting the tumor microenvironment: focus on angiogenesis. Journal of oncology.2012:281261.

- 239. Kwon KA, Kim SH, Oh SY, Leeee S, Han JY, Kim KH, Goh RY, Choi HJ, Park KJ, Roh MS, Kim HJ, Kwon HC LJ. Clinical significance of preoperative serum vascular endothelial growth factor, interleukin-6-6, and C-reactive protein level in colorectal cancer. BMC Cancer. 2010;10(203).
- 240. De Vita F, Orditura M, Lieto E, Infusino S, Morgillo F, Martinelli E, Castellano P, Romano C, Ciardiello F, Catalano G, Pignatelli C GG. Elevated perioperative serum vascular endothelial growth factor levels in patients with colon carcinoma. Cancer. 2004;100:270–8.
- 241. Cressey R, Wattananupong O, Lertprasertsuke N VU. Alteration of protein expression pattern of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) from soluble to cell-associated isoform during tumourigenesis. BMC Cancer. 2005;5(128).
- 242. Y. K. Angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis of gastric cancer. J Oncol. 2010;4687 25.
- 243. Cascinu S, Staccioli MP, Gasparini G, Giordani P, Catalano V, Ghiselli R, Rossi C, Baldelli AM, Graziano F, Saba V, Muretto P CG. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor can predict event-free survival in stage II colon cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2000;6:2803–7.
- 244. Saad RS, Liu YL, Nathan G, Celebrezze J, Medich D SJ. Endoglin (CD105) and vascular endothelial growth factor as prognostic markers in colorectal cancer. Mod Pathol. 2004;17:197–203.
- 245. M. M. Baldewijns, I. J. H. Van Vlodrop, P. B. Vermeulen P, M. M. B. Soetekouw, M. Van Engeland and APDB. VHL andHIF signalling in renal cell carcinogenesis". Journal of Pathology. 2010;221(2):125–38.
- 246. I.Wacker, M. Sachs KK et al. "Key role for activin B in cellular transformation after loss of the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor." Molecular and Cellular Biology. 2009;29(7):1707–18.
- 247. Fidler IJ EL. The implications of angiogenesis for the biology and therapy of cancer metastasis. Cell. 1994;79(2):185–188.
- 248. Li WW, Li VW, Hutnik M, Chiou AS. Tumor angiogenesis as a target for dietary cancer prevention. Journal of oncology. 2012:879623.
- 249. Tanigawa N, Amaya H, Matsumura M, Lu C, Kitaoka A, Matsuyama K MR. Tumor angiogenesis and mode of metastasis in patients with colorectal cancer. Cancer Res. 1997;57:1043–6.
- 250. Mosch B, Reissenweber B, Neuber C PJ. Eph receptors and ephrin ligands: important players in angiogenesis and tumor angiogenesis. J Oncol. 2010;135285.

- 251. Wurschmidt F, Beck-Bornholdt HP VH. Radiobiology of the rhabdomyosarcoma R1H of the rat: influence of the size of irradiation field on tumor response, tumor bed effect, and neovascularization kinetics. Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics. 1990;18(4):879–882.
- 252. J. F. Tumor angiogenesis and tissue factor. Nature Medicine. 1996;2(2):167–168.
- 253. Hicklin DJ EL. Role of the vascular endothelial growth factor pathway in tumor growth and angiogenesis. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:1011–27.
- 254. Gurzu S, Jung J, Azamfirei L, Mezei T, Cîmpean AM SZ. The angiogenesis in colorectal carcinomas with and without lymph node metastases. Rom J Morphol Embryol. 2008;49:149–52.
- 255. Rodrigo JP, Cabanillas R, Chiara MD, García Pedrero J, Astudillo A SNC. Prognostic significance of angiogenesis in surgically treated supraglottic squamous cell carcinomas of the larynx. Acta Otorrinolaringol Esp. 2009;60:272–9.
- 256. Giatromanolaki A, Stathopoulos GP, Tsiompanou E, Papadimitriou C, Georgoulias V, Gatter KC, Harris AL KM. Combined role of tumor angiogenesis, bcl-2, and p53 expression in the prognosis of patients with colorectal carcinoma. Cancer. 1999;86:1421–30.
- 257. Moore S. Targeting Metastatic and Advanced Breast Cancer. Seminars in Oncology Nursing. 2007;23(1):37–45.
- 258. Grothey A GE. Targeting angiogenesis: progress with anti-VEGF treatment with large molecules. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2009;6(9):507–518.
- 259. Bellou S, Karali E, Bagli E, Al-Maharik N, Morbidelli L, Ziche M, et al. The isoflavone metabolite 6-methoxyequol inhibits angiogenesis and suppresses tumor growth. Molecular cancer.2012;11(1):35.
- 260. Ferrara N, Gerber HP LJ. The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nat Med. 2003;9(6):669– 676.
- 261. Nicholson B TD. Angiogenesis and prostate cancer tumor growth. J Cell Biochem. 2004;91(1):125–50.
- 262. Robinson CJ SS. The splice variants of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and their receptors. J Cell Sci. 2001;114:853–65.
- 263. Moreira IS, Fernandes PA RM. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) inhibition -a critical review. Anticancer Agents Med Chem. 2007;7(2):223–45.

- 264. RF N. What is the role of vascular endothelial growth factor-related molecules in tumor angiogenesis? Am J Pathol. 1998;153(1):11–6.
- 265. Tozer GM et al. Blood vessel maturation and response to vascular-disrupting therapy in single vascular endothelial growth factor-A isoform-producing tumors. Cancer Res. 2008;68(7):2301–2311.
- 266. Achen MG, Jeltsch M, Kukk E, Mäkinen T, Vitali a, Wilks a F, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (Flt4). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1998;95(2):548–53.
- 267. Lohela M, Bry M, Tammela T AK. VEGFs and receptors involved in angiogenesis versus lymphangiogenesis. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2009;21(2):154–65.
- 268. Ferrara N. Vascular endothelial growth factor and the regulation of angiogenesis. Recent Prog Horm Res. 2000;55:15–35.
- 269. Ferrara N, Gerber HP LJ. The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nat Med. 2003;9(6):669– 76.
- 270. Yamazaki Y MT. Molecular and functional diversity of vascular endothelial growth factors. Mol Divers. 2006;10(4):515–27.
- 271. Jr. RR. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) signaling in tumor progression. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology. 2007;62:179–213.
- 272. M. S. Differential roles of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 and receptor- 2 in angiogenesis. J Biochem Mol Biol. 2006;39(5):469–78.
- 273. Waltenberger J, Claesson-Welsh L, Siegbahn A, Shibuya M HC. Different signal transduction properties of KDR and Flt1, two receptors for vascular endothelial growth factor. J Biol Chem. 1994;269:26988–95.
- 274. Kaipainen A, Korhonen J, Mustonen T et al. Expression of the fms-like tyrosine kinase 4 gene becomes restricted to lymphatic endothelium during development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1995;92:3566–70.
- 275. Kajdaniuk D, Marek B, Foltyn W, Kos-kudła B. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) part 2 : in endocrinology and oncology w endokrynologii i onkologii. 2011;62(5):456–64.
- 276. Qin LX TZ. The prognostic molecular markers in hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2002;8:385–392.

- 277. Zhu AX, Duda DG SD et al. HCC and angiogenesis: possible targets and future directions. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2011;8:292–301.
- 278. Pircher A, Medinger M DJL cancer. Targeted future options. World J Hepatol. 2011;3:38–44.
- 279. Capp C, Wajner SM SD et al. Increased expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors, VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2, in medullary thyroid carcinoma. Thyroid. 2010;20:863–71.
- 280. Ferrara N D-ST. The biology of vascular endothelial growth factor. Endocr Rev. 1997;18:4– 25.
- 281. Shi B, Wang X YZ. Vascular endothelial growth factors and liver diseases. Hepatogastroenterology. 2001;48:1145–1148.
- 282. Yamaguchi R, Yano H IA et al. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 1998;28:68–77.
- 283. Shimada H, Takeda A NY et al. Clinical significnace of serum vascular endothelial growth factor in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Biomark. 2001;92:663–669.
- 284. Broll R, Erdmann H DM et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) a valuable serum tumor marker in patients with colorectal cancer? Eur J Surg Oncol. 2001;27:37–42.
- 285. Oehler MK CH. Prognostic relevance of serum vascular endothelial growth factor in ovarian cancer. Anticancer Res. 2000;20:5109–5112.
- 286. Gornall RJ, Anthony FW CE et al. Investigation of women with endometrial carcinoma using serum vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) measurement. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2001;11:164–166.
- 287. Holzer G, Obermair A KM et al. Concentration of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in the serum of patients with malignant bone tumors. Med Pediatr Oncol. 2001;36:601–604.
- 288. George DJ, Halabi S ST et al. Prognostic significance of plasma vascular endothelial growth factor levels in patients with hormone-refractory prostate cancer treated on Cancer and Leukemia Group B 9480. Clin Cancer Res. 2001;7:1932–1936.
- 289. Jubb AM, Pham TQ HA et al. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor, hypoxia inducible factor 1 alpha, and carbonic anhydrase IX in human tumours. J Clin Pathol. 2004;57:504–512.
- 290. Turner HE, Harris AL MS et al. Angiogenesis in endocrine tumors. Endocr Rev. 2003;24:600-632.

- 291. Maeda K, Chung YS OY et al. Prognostic value of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in gastric carcinoma. Cancer. 1996;77:858–863.
- 292. Salven P, Heikkila P JH. Enhanced expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in metastatic melanoma. Br J Cancer. 1997;76:930–934.
- 293. Ferrara N KR. Angiogenesis as a therapeutic Target. Nature. 2005;15(438):967–974.
- 294. Mahajan D, Miller C HK et al. Incidental reduction in the size of liver hemangioma following use of VEGF inhibitor bevacizumab. J Hepatol. 2008;49:867–870.
- 295. Zorzi D, Chun YS MD et al. Chemotherapy with bevacizumab does not affect liver regeneration after portal vein embolization in the treatment of colorectal liver metastases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:2765–2772.
- 296. J. G. Antiangiogenic cancer therapies get their act together: current developments and future prospects of growth factor- and growth factor receptor-targeted approaches. Exp Dermatol. 2006;15:175–86.
- 297. Sparano JA, Gray R, Giantonio B, O'Dwyer P CR. Evaluating antiangiogenesis agents in the clinic: the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Portfolio of Clinical Trials. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10:1206–1211.
- 298. Gruenberger B, Tamandl D, Schueller J, Scheithauer W, Zielinski C, Herbst F GT. Bevacizumab, capecitabine, and oxaliplatin as neoadjuvant therapy for patients with potentially curable metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:1830–5.
- 299. Ma AT, Ma BB, Lei KI, Mo FK CA. Clinical predictors of response to cetuximab-chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer. Hong Kong Med J. 2010;16:207–212.
- 300. Nussenbaum F HI. Tumor angiogenesis: insights and innovations. J Oncol. 2010;132641.
- 301. Boehm S, Rothermundt C, Hess D JM. Antiangiogenic drugs in oncology: a focus on drug safety and the elderly a mini-review. Gerontology. 2010;56:303–9.
- 302. Mahfud M, Breitenstein S, El-Badry AM, Puhan M, Rickenbacher A, Samaras P, Pessaux P, Lopez-Ben S, Jaeck D, Figueras J A-CP. Impact of preoperative bevacizumab on complications after resection of colorectal liver metastases: case-e-matched control study. World J Surg. 2010;34:92–100.
- 303. Tol J PC. Monoclonal antibodies in the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: a review. Clin Ther. 2010;32:437–453.

- 304. Goldfarb SB, Hudis C DM. Bevacizumab in metastatic breast cancer: when may it be used? Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2011;3:85–93.
- 305. Shih T LC. Bevacizumab: an angiogenesis inhibitor for the treatment of solid malignancies. Clin Ther. 2006;28:1779–802.
- 306. Rougier P ME. Targeted biotherapy: a revolution in the management of patients with colorectal cancer? Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2009;33.
- 307. Jubb AM, Hurwitz HI, Bai W, Holmgren EB, Tobin P, Guerrero AS, Kabbinavar F, Holden SN, Novotny WF, Frantz GD, Hillan KJ KH. Impact of vascular endothelial growth factor-A expression, thrombospondin-2 expression, and microvessel density on the treatment effect of bevacizumab in metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:217–227.
- 308. Tappenden P, Jones R, Paisley S CC. Systematic review and economic evaluation of bevacizumab and cetuximab for the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. Health Technol Assess. 2007;7(11).
- 309. GD Y. Clinical application of therapies targeting VEGF. Cell. 2010;143:13–6.
- Guilherme B. L. De Freitas, a\* Lucas V. B. Hoelz, a Daniel L. M. Aguiar, b Ricardo B. De Alencastro a RASSG. Sistema VEGF, um alvo multi-terapêutico. Revista Virtual de Química,. 2009;1(3).
- 311. Greene, Frederick L.; Page, David L.; Balch, Charles M.; Fleming, Irvin D.; Fritz AG. AJCC Cancer Staging Handbook: From the AJCC Cancer Staging Manual (6th edition). Springer Verlag, New York; 2002.
- 312. Ismaili N. Treatment of colorectal liver metastases. World journal of surgical oncology. BioMed Central Ltd; 2011;9(1):154.
- 313. R A. Chemotherapy and surgery: new perspectives on the treatment of unresectable liver metastases. Ann Oncol. 2003;14(2):13–26.
- 314. Van Cutsem E, Nordlinger B, Adam R, Köhne CH, Pozzo C, Poston G, Ychou M RP. European Colorectal Metastases Treatment Group: Towards a pan-European consensus on the treatment of patients with colorectal liver metastases. Eur J Cancer. 2006;42(14):2212–21.
- Nicole C T et all. Surgical treatment for liver cancer. World J Gastroenterol. 2010;16(8):927– 33.
- 316. Prognosis of colorectal cancer with liver metastasis: value of a prognostic index. Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research. 2010;43(11):1116–22.

- 317. Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E FD. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61(2):69–90.
- 318. Nordlinger B, Van Cutsem E, Rougier P, Köhne CH, Ychou M SA, Adam R, Arvidsson D, Carrato A, Georgoulias V, Giuliante F GB, Golling M, Gruenberger T, Tabernero J, Wasan H PG. European Colorectal Metastases Treatment Group: Does chemotherapy prior to liver resection increase the potential for cure in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer? A report from the European ColorectalMetastases Treatment Group. Eur J Cancer. 2007;43(14):2037–45.
- 319. Jain RK. Normalization of Tumor Vasculature: An Emerging Concept in Antiangiogenic Therapy. Science. 2005;307:58–62.
- 320. Laakkonen, P., Waltari, M., Holopainen T, Takahashi, T., Pytowski, B., Steiner, P. H, D., Persaud, K., Tonra, J.R., Witte, L. et al., (2007). Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 (VEGFR-3) is involved in tumor angiogenesis and growth. Cancer Res. 2007;67:593–599.
- 321. Brenner H, Hoffmeister M, Arndt V HU. Gender differences in colorectal cancer: implications for age at initiation of screening. British Journal of Cancer. 2007;96:828 –831.
- 322. Boardman LA, Morlan BW, Rabe KG, Petersen GM, Lindor NM, Nigon SK, Goldberg J GS. Colorectal Cancer Risks in Relatives of Young-Onset Cases: Is Risk the Same Across All First Degree Relatives? Clinical Gastroenteroly and Hepatology. 2007;5(10):1195–8.
- 323. Berg M, Agesen TH, Thiis-Evensen E, INFAC-study group, Merok MA, Teixeira MR, Vatn MH, Nesbakken A, Skotheim RI LR. Distinct high resolution genome profiles of early onset and late onset colorectal cancer integrated with gene expression data identify candidate susceptibility loci. Molecular Cancer. 2010;9(100).
- 324. Zafar SY, Abernethy AP, Abbott DH, Grambow SC, Marcello JE, Herndon JE 2nd; Rowe KL, Kolimaga JT, Zullig LL, Patwardhan MB PD. Comorbidity, age, race and stage at diagnosis in colorectal cancer: an retrospective, parallel analysis of two health systems. BMC Cancer. 2008;8(345).
- 325. P Rougier P ME. Epidemiology, treatment and chemoprevention in colorectal cancer. Annals of Oncology Annals of Oncology. 2003;14(2):3–5.
- 326. Jellema P, van der Windt DA, Bruinvels DJ, Mallen CD, van Weyenberg SJ, Mulder CJ de VH. Value of symptoms and additional diagnostic tests for colorectal cancer in primary care: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2010;340:1269.
- 327. Imperiale TF, Kahi CJ, Stuart JS, Qi R, Born LJ, Glowinski EA RD. Risk factors for advanced sporadic colorectal neoplasia in persons younger than age 50. Cancer Detection and Prevention. 2008;32(1):33–8.

- 328. Abdullah M, Sudoyo AW, Pranowo BS, Rini D, Sutrisna B RA. Expression of NF-B and COX-2 in Young versus Older Patients. Acta Medica Indonesia. 2009;41(2):70–4.
- 329. Xu AG, Yu ZJ, Jiang B, Wang XY, Zhong XH, Liu JH, Lou QY GA. Colorectal cancer in Guangdong Province of China: A demographic and anatomic survey. World Journal of Gastroenterology. 2010;16(8):960–5.
- 330. Murphy G, Devesa SS, Cross AJ, Inskip PD, McGlynn KA CM. Sex disparities in colorectal cancer incidence by anatomic subsite, race and age. International Journal of Cancer. 2010;128(7):1668–75.
- 331. Office for National Statistics on request. http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/search/index.html?newquery=cancer+registrations. 2011.
- 332. Unit WCI and S. http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/page.cfm?orgid=242pid=51358. 2011.
- 333. Registry NIC. http://www.qub.ac.uk/research-centres/nicr/CancerData/ OnlineStatistics/. 2011.
- 334. K McCallion, R Mitchell, R Wilson, F Kee, R Watson, J Collins and KG. Flexible sigmoidoscopy and the changing distribution of colorectal cancer: implications for screening. Gut. 2001;48(4):522–5.
- 335. E.I. Efremidou, N. Liratzopoulos, S.M. Papageorgiou, K. Romanidis, Th. Tourlis, G. Kouklakis KJM. Colorectal carcinoma: correlation between age, gender and subsite distribution. Chirurgia. 2003;103(6):659–63.
- 336. J J Y Sung, J Y W Lau, G P Young, Y Sano, H M Chiu, J S Byeon, K G Yeoh, K L Goh, J Sollano, R Rerknimitr, T Matsuda, K C Wu, S Ng, 1 S Y Leung, G Makharia, V H Chong, K Y Ho, D Brooks, D A Lieberman, F K L Chan 1 for T, Cancer APWG on C. Asia Pacific consensus recommendations for colorectal cancer screening. Gut and liver. 2008;57:1166–76.
- 337. Ankit B. Shah, Diana Sarfati, Tony Blakely, June Atkinson ERD. Trends in colorectal cancer incidence rates in New Zealand, 1981–2004. ANZ Journal of Surgery. 2012;82(4):258–64.
- 338. Liu LU, Holt PR, Krivosheyev V MS. Human right and left colon differ in epithelial cell apoptosis and in expression of BAK, a pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 homologue. Gut. 1999;45:45–50.
- 339. Sampson SD and JR. Familial Colorectal Cancer. p. 37–58.
- 340. BensonIII AB. Epidemiology, Disease Progression, and Economic Burden of Colorectal Cancer. Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy. 2007;13(6):5–18.

- 341. Ho YH, Siu SK, Buttner P, Stevenson A, Lumley J SR. The Effect of Obstruction and Perforation on Colorectal Cancer Disease-Free Survival. World Journal Surgery. 2010;34:1091–101.
- 342. Costa RPS LR. Resultados do Tratamento do Câncer Colorretal (T4) Perfurado: Análise de 14 Pacientes Operados. Revista brasileira Coloproctologia. 2008;28(3).
- 343. Taylor. AS and I. Colorectal cancer. In: Holzheimer RG MJ, editor. Surgical Treatment: Evidence-Based and Problem-Oriented. Munich: Zuckschwerdt; 2001.
- 344. CUFFY M., ABIR F., AUDISIO R. A. LWE. Colorectal cancer presenting as a surgical emergency. Surg Oncol. 2004;13:149–57.
- 345. Carcinoma. E surgery for colon. Emergency surgery for colon carcinoma. Dis Colon Rectum. 2003;46(1):24–30.
- 346. T. E. Pavlidis, G. Marakis, K. Ballas, S. Rafailidis, K. Psarras, D. Pissas AKS. Does Emergency Surgery Affect Resectability of Colorectal Cancer ? Acta chir belg. 2008;108:219–25.
- 347. Giacomo Puppa, Angelica Sonzogni, Romano Colombari GP. TNM Staging System of Colorectal Carcinoma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134:837–52.
- 348. Carolyn C. Compton, PhD; L. Peter Fielding, Lawrence J. Burgart, Barbara Conley, Harry S. Cooper, Stanley R. Hamilton, M. Elizabeth H. Hammond, Donald E. Henson MRVPH, Raymond B. Nagle, Mary L. Nielsen, Daniel J. Sargent, PhD; Clive R. Taylor, Mark Welton CW. Prognostic Factors in Colorectal Cancer. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2000;124:979–94.
- 349. Quah HM, Chou JF, Gonen M et al. Identification of patients with highrisk stage II colon cancer for adjuvant therapy. Dis Colon Rectum. 2008;51(5):503–7.
- 350. Merkel S, Wein A, Gunther K, Papadopoulos T HW, P. H. High-risk groups of patients with stage II colon carcinoma. Cancer. 2001;92(6):1435–43.
- 351. Derwinger K, Kodeda K, Bexe-Lindskog E TH. Tumour differentiation grade is associated with TNM staging and the risk of node metastasis in colorectal cancer. Acta Oncol. 2010;49(1):57–62.
- 352. Smith AJ, Driman DK, Spithoff K, Hunter A, Mcleod RS, Marko Simunovic M et al. Guideline for optimization of colorectal cancer surgery and pathology. J Surg Oncol. 2010;101:5–12.
- 353. Shaun P. McKenzie SLB. An Update on the Surgical Management of Rectal Cancer. Current Surgery. 2005;62(4):407–11.

- 354. MK. W. Colorectal carcinoma: selected issues in pathologic examination and staging and determination of prognostic factors. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2008;132(10):1600–7.
- 355. Sternberg A, Amar M, Alfici R GG. Conclusions from a study of venous invasion in stage IV colorectal adenocarcinoma. J Clin Pathol. 2002;55(1):17–21.
- 356. Kingston EF, Goulding H BA. Vascular invasion is underrecognized in colorectal cancer using conventional hematoxylin and eosin staining. Dis Colon Rectum. 2007;50(11):1867–72.
- 357. Calvo HJ, Ortega GD, Pardo RJM, López MAJ CT. Biologia molecular del processo metastásico del cancer colorectal. Cirugia Española. 2000;68:577–87.
- 358. Li-Chu Sun, Koung-Shing Chu, Su-Chen Cheng, Chien-Yu Lu, Chao-Hung Kuo, Jan-Sing Hsieh, Ying-Ling Shih, Shun-Jen Chang J-YW. Preoperative serum carcinoembryonic antigen, albumin and age are supplementary to UICC staging systems in predicting survival for colorectal cancer patients undergoing surgical treatment. BMC Cancer. 2009;9(288).
- 359. Labianca R, Beretta GD, Mosconi S, Pessi MA ML. Development of clinical research in CRC. Annals of Oncology. 2005;16:37–43.
- 360. Sjo OH, Lunde OC, Nygaard K, Sandvik L NA. Tumour location is a prognostic factor for survival in colonic cancer patients. Colorectal Disease. 2007;10:33–4.
- 361. Halvorsen TB SE. Tumour site: a prognostic factor in colorectal cancer? A multivariate analysis. Scandinavian Journal Gastroenterology. 1987;22:124–8.
- 362. Aldridge MC, Phillips RK, Hittinger R, Fry JS FL. Influence of tumour site on presentation, management and subsequent outcome in large bowel cancer. British Journal Surgery. 1986;73:663–70.
- 363. Jagoditsch M, Lisborg PH, Jatzko GR, Wette V, Kropfitsch G, Denk H, Klimpfinger M SH. Long-term prognosis for colon cancer related to consistent radical surgery: multivariate analysis of clinical, surgical, and pathologic variables. World Journal Surgery. 2000;24:1264–70.
- 364. Angell-Andersen E, Tretli Coleman, MP Langmark F GT. Colorectal cancer survival trends in Norway 1958–1997. European Journal Cancer. 2004;40:734–42.
- 365. Wiggers T, Arends JW VA. Regression analysis of prognostic factors in colorectal cancer after curative resections. Diseases Colon Rectum. 1988;31:33–41.
- 366. HP MS. AD. A. The Plasma Membrane Lactate Transporter MCT4, but Not MCT1, Is Upregulated by Hypoxia through a HIF-1-dependent Mechanism. The journal of biological chemistry. 2006;281(14):9030–7.

- 367. Hauptmann S, Grünewald V, Molls D, Schmitt WD, Köbel M, Kriese K, et al. Glucose transporter GLUT1 in colorectal adenocarcinoma cell lines is inversely correlated with tumour cell proliferation. Anticancer research. 2005;25(5):3431–6.
- 368. James S. Wu. Rectal Cancer Staging. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. 2007;20(3):148–57.
- 369. L. Carriço SM. Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico. Rev bras Coloproct. 2010;30(4):430–9.
- 370. Zheng HC, Wang W, Xu XY, Xia P, Yu M, Sugiyama T TY. Up-regulated EMMPRIN/CD147 protein expression might play a role in colorectal carcinogenesis and its subsequent progression without an alteration of its glycosylation and mRNA level. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2011;137(4):585–596.
- 371. Stenzinger A, Wittschieber D, von Winterfeld M, Goeppert B, Kamphues C, Weichert W, Dietel M, Rabien A KF. High extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer/CD147 expression is strongly and independently associated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. Hum Pathol. 2012.
- 372. Prognostic impact of extracellular matrix metalloprotease inducer: immunohistochemical analyses of colorectal tumors and immunocytochemical screening of disseminated tumor cells in bone marrow from patients with gastrointestinal cancer. Cancer. 2009 Oct;115(20):4667–78.
- 373. Ueda K, Yamada K, Urashima M et al. Association of extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer in endometrial carcinoma with patient outcomes and clinicopathogenesis using monoclonal antibody 12C3. Oncol Rep. 2007;17:731–735.
- 374. Cheng MF, Tzao C, Tsai WC et al. Expression of EMMPRIN and matriptase in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: correlation with clinicopathological parameters. Dis Esophagus. 2006;19:482–486.
- 375. Rosenthal EL, Shreenivas S, Peters GE, Grizzle WE, Desmond R GC. Expression of extracellular matrix metalloprotease inducer in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Laryngoscope. 2003;113(8):1406–1410.
- 376. Yang JM, O'neill P, Jin W, Foty R, Medina DJ, Xu Z, Lomas M AG, Tang Y, Nakada M, Yan L HW. Emmprin (CD147) confers resistance of breast cancer cells to anoikis through inhibition of bim. J Biol Chem. 2006;281:9719– 9727.
- 377. Ghaffarzadehgan K, Jafarzadeh M, Raziee HR, Sima HR, Esmaili-Shandiz E, Hosseinnezhad H, Taghizadeh Kermani A, Moaven O BM. Expression of cell adhesion molecule CD44 in gastric adenocarcinoma and its prognostic importance. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14:6376–6381.

- 378. Dammrich J, Vollmers HP, Heider KH MHH. Importance of different CD44v6 expression in human gastric intestinal and diffuse type cancers for metastatic lymphogenic spreading. J Mol Med. 1995;73:395–401.
- 379. Yamaguchi A, Goi T, Yu J, Hirono Y, Ishida M, Iida A, Kimura T, Takeuchi K, Katayama K HK. Expression of CD44v6 in advanced gastric cancer and its relationship to metastasis and long term prognosis. J Surg Oncol. 2002;79:230–235.
- 380. Ozmen F, Ozmen MM, Ozdemir E, Moran M, Seçkin S, Guc D, et al. Relationship between LYVE-1, VEGFR-3 and CD44 gene expressions and lymphatic metastasis in gastric cancer. World journal of gastroenterology : WJG. 2011;17(27):3220–8.
- 381. Kim JY, Bae BN, Kim KS, Shin E PK. Osteopontin, CD44, NF-kB expression in gastric adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res Treat. 2009;41:29–35.
- 382. Sakashita M, Aoyama N, Minami R, Maekawa S, Kuroda K, Shirasaka D, Ichihara T, Kuroda Y, Maeda S KM. Glut1 expression in T1 and T2 stage colorectal carcinomas: its relationship to clinicopathological features. Eur J Cancer. 2001;37:204–9.
- 383. Ito T, Noguchi Y, Satoh S, Hayashi H, Inayama Y KH. Expression of facilitative glucose transporter isoforms in lung carcinomas: its relation to histologic type, differentia- tion grade, and tumor stage. Mod Pathol. 1998;11:437–43.
- 384. Chen CL, Chu JS, Su WC, Huang SC LW. Hypoxia and metabolic phenotypes during breast carcinogenesis: expression of HIF-1alpha, GLUT1, and CAIX. Virchows Arch. 2010;457(1):53–61.
- 385. Younes M, Brown RW, Stephenson M, Gondo M CP. Overexpression of Glut1 and Glut3 in stage I nonsmall cell lung carcinoma is associated with poor survival. Cancer Cell. 1997;80:1046–51.
- 386. Avril N, Menzel M, Dose J, Schelling M, Weber W, Jänicke F, Nathrath W SM. Glucose metabolism of breast cancer assessed by 18F-FDG PET: histologic and immunohistochemical tissue analysis. J Nucl Med. 2001;42:9–16.
- 387. Younes M, Brown RW, Stephenson M, Gondo M CP. Overexpression of Glut1 and Glut3 in stage I nonsmall cell lung carcinoma is associated with poor survival. Cancer. 1997;80:1046–51.
- Sasaki H, Shitara M, Yokota K, Hikosaka Y, Moriyama S, Yano M FY. Overexpression of GLUT1 correlates with Kras mutations in lung carcinomas. Mol Med Report. 2012;5(3):599– 602.

- 389. Younes M, Juarez D, Lechago LV LS. Glut 1 expression in transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder is associated with poor patient survival. Anticancer Res. 2001;21:575–8.
- 390. Baer S, Casaubon L, Schwartz MR, Marcogliese A YM. Glut3 expression in biopsy specimens of laryngeal carcinoma is associated with poor survival. Laryngoscope. 2002;112:393–6.
- 391. Ayala FR, Rocha RM, Carvalho KC, Carvalho AL, da Cunha IW, Lourenço SV SF. GLUT1 and GLUT3 as potential prognostic markers for Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Molecules. 2010;15(4):2374–87.
- 392. Rudlowski C, Moser M, Becker AJ et al. GLUT1 mRNA and protein expression in ovarian borderline tumors and cancer. Oncology. 2004;66:404–410.
- 393. Cantuaria G, Fagotti A, Ferrandina G et al. GLUT-1 expression in ovarian carcinoma. Cancer. 2001;92:1144–1150.
- 394. Lee SJ, Kim JG, Sohn SK, Chae YS, Moon JH, Kim SN, Bae HI CHY. No association of vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A) and VEGF-C expression with survival in patients with gastric cancer. Cancer Res Treat. 2009;41:218–23.
- 395. Liang JF, Wang HK, Xiao H, Li N, Cheng CX, Zhao YZ, Ma YB, Gao JZ BRZ. Relationship and prognostic significance of SPARC and VEGF protein expression in colon cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2010;29(71).
- 396. Zheng S, Han MY, Xiao ZX PJD. Clinical significance of vascular endothelial growth factor expression and neovascularization in colorectal carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2003;9:1227–30.
- 397. Svagzdys S, Lesauskaite V, Pavalkis D, Nedzelskiene I, Pranys D, Tamelis A, et al. Microvessel density as new prognostic marker after radiotherapy in rectal cancer. BMC Cancer.2009;9(95):95.
- 398. George ML, Tutton MG, Janssen F, Arnaout A, Abulafi a M, Eccles S a et al. VEGF-A, VEGF-C, and VEGF-D in Colorectal Cancer Progression. Neoplasia. 2001;3(5):420–427.
- 399. Hanrahan V, Currie MJ, Gunningham SP, Morrin HR, Scott PA RBF. The angiogenic switch for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-)-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, and VEGF-D in the adenoma-carcinoma sequence during colorectal cancer progression. J Pathol. 2003;200:183–94.
- 400. Miyazaki T, Okada N, Ishibashi K, Ogata K, Ohsawa T, Ishiguro T, Nakada H, Yokoyama M, Matsuki M, Kato H KHI. Clinical significance of plasma level of vascular endothelial growth factor-C in patients with colorectal cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2008;38:839–839.

- 401. Myśliwiec P, Pawlak K KAK. Combined perioperative plasma endoglin and VEGF– a assessment in colorectal cancer patients. Folia Histochem Cytobiol. 2009;47:231–6.
- 402. Cao D, Hou M, Guan YS, Jiang M YYG. Expression of HIF-1alpha and VEGF in colorectal cancer: association with clinical outcomes and prognostic implications. BMC Cancer. 2009;9(432).
- 403. Andre T, Kotelevets L, Vaillant JC, Coudray AM, Weber L PS, Parc R GC and C2000 ). Vegf, vegf -B, vegf -C and their receptors KDR, FLT 1 and FLT 4 during the neoplastic progression of human colonic mucosa. Int J Cancer. 1986;174–81.
- 404. Akagi K, Ikeda Y, Miyazaki M, Abe T, Kinoshita J, Maehara Y A KS. Vascular endothelial growth factor -C (VEGF-C) expression in human colorectal cancer tissues. Br J Cancer. 2000;887–91.
- 405. Saharinen P, Tammela T KMA. Lymphatic vasculature: development, molecular regulation and role in tumor metastasis and inflammation. Trends Immunol. 2004;25:387–395.

## Appendix 1:

"Protocolo de estudo de Cancro do Colon"

	UNIDADE FUNCIONAL DE COLOPROCTOLOGIA	CÓDIGO: PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX
Hospital de São MarcoS	Protocolo de Estudo Cancro do Cólon	DATA:
CRITÉRIOS DE REFERÊNCIA: 19.22		EDIÇÃO N.º: 01
ÂMBITO: Aplica-se a todos os médicos do Hospital de São Marcos		<b>REVISÃO N.º:</b> 00
<b>OBJECTIVO:</b> Uniformizar a avaliaç Hospital de São Marcos.	ão pré-operatória dos doentes com cancro do cólon no	
RESPONSABILIDADES: Compete aos Directore 2 e ao Coordenador da Unio instrução de trabalho.	es de Departamento de Cirurgia, dos Serviços de Cirurgia 1 e dade Funcional de Coloproctologia a implementação desta	COLO
DEFINIÇÕES: Cancro do cólon: Ne DESCRIÇÃO:	oplasia, com confirmação histológica, do cólon.	PROTO
Na avaliação pré-opera a. Exames ana b. Estudo da f	atória do doente com cancro do cólon deve constar: Ilíticos, Rx tórax e ECG de acordo com protocolo existente unção hepática (ALT, AST, LDH, FA, bilirrubina)	
c. Avaliação transferrina d. CEA e Ca 1 e. Colonoscop f. Histologia o g. TAC abdom h. Relatório multidisciplinar.	do estado nutricional (proteínas totais, albumina e ) 9.9 ia total se não houver impedimento orgânico da lesão inal resultante da discussão do caso clínico em reunião	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsável (00-00-2005) APROVADO POR Presidente do C.A. (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 HOMOLOGADO POR Conselho de Administração (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 PRÓXIMA REVISÃO 00-00-2005

## Página 1 de 1
## Appendix 2:

"Protocolo de estudo de Cancro do Recto"

	UNIDADE FUNCIONAL DE COLOPROCTOLOGIA	CÓDIGO: PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX
Hospital de São MarcoS	Protocolo de Estudo Cancro do Recto	DATA:
CRITÉRIOS DE REFERÊNCI	A: 19.22	EDIÇÃO N.º: 01
ÂMBITO: Aplica-se a todos os	médicos do Hospital de São Marcos	<b>REVISÃO N.º:</b> 00
OBJECTIVO: Uniformizar a avaliação RESPONSABILIDADES: Compete aos Directore 2 e ao Coordenador da Unid instrução de trabalho. DEFINIÇÕES: Cancro do recto: Neo Limites do recto: seo rígido, cujo limite superior se e Ressecção anterior o Ressecção anterior o Ressecção anterior o Ressecção anterior o	o pré-operatória dos doentes com cancro do recto. s de Departamento de Cirurgia, dos Serviços de Cirurgia 1 e ade Funcional de Coloproctologia a implementação desta oplasia, com confirmação histológica, do recto. gmento do tubo digestivo, medido com rectosigmoidoscopio ncontra aos 15 cm da margem anal. recto: anastomose acima da reflexão peritoneal do recto baixa: anastomose abaixo da reflexão peritoneal do recto ultra-baixa: anastomose ao nível do pavimento pélvico ral: anastomose à linha pectinea iva pélvica excepto metástases ováricas	PROTOCOLO
DESCRIÇÃO: Na avaliação pré-opera a. Exames ana b. Estudo da fr c. Avaliação transferrina) d. CEA e Ca 19 e. Colonoscopi f. Histologia c g. TAC toraco- h. RMN pélvica i. Ecoendoscop j. Relatório m	tória do doente com cancro do cólon deve constar: líticos, Rx tórax e ECG de acordo com protocolo existente unção hepática (ALT, AST, LDH, FA, bilirrubina) do estado nutricional (proteínas totais, albumina e 9.9 a total se não houver impedimento orgânico a lesão abdomino-pélvico ia rectal esultante da discussão do caso clínico em reunião	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsável () 00-00-2005 APROVADO POR Presidente do C.A. (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 HOMOLOGADO POR Conselho de Administração (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 PRÓXIMA REVISÃO 00-00-2005 Página 1 de 1

## Appendix 3:

"Protocolo de Registo de Cancro Colorectal"

	UNIDADE FUNCIONAL DE COLOPROCTOLOGIA	CÓDIGO: PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX
Hospital de São MarcoS	Protocolo de Registo de Cancro Colorectal	DATA:
CRITÉRIOS DE REFERÊNCI	A: 19.22	<b>EDIÇÃO N.º:</b> 01
ÂMBITO: Aplica-se a todos os	s médicos do Hospital de São Marcos	<b>REVISÃO N.º:</b> 00
OBJECTIVO: Uniformizar os registos de Cirurgia. RESPONSABILIDADES:	s dos doentes com cancro colorectal (CCR) no Departamento	
Compete aos Directore 2 e ao Coordenador da Unic instrução de trabalho.	es de Departamento de Cirurgia, dos Serviços de Cirurgia 1 e lade Funcional de Coloproctologia a implementação desta	OTO
DEFINIÇÕES: Cancro do cólon: Ne Cancro do recto: Ne Limites do recto: se rígido, cujo limite superior se e DESCRIÇÃO: Dever ser registados Cirurgia, onde conste: i. Pass ii. Hist jii. Mo	oplasia, com confirmação histológica, do cólon. oplasia, com confirmação histológica, do recto. gmento do tubo digestivo, medido com rectosigmoidoscopio encontra aos 15 cm da margem anal. todos os doentes tratados por CCR no Departamento de ado tumoral ória familiar do de apresentação	PROTOC
iv. Ava iv. Ava v. Ciru b. Sempre que responsável pelo doente têr "Registo de Cancro do Cóle Recto ", consoante a local Unidade Funcional de Colopro c. Eventuais n Serviço de Cirurgia 2 <b>DOCUMENTOS RELACIONA</b>	e um doente está proposto para cirurgia por CCR, o médico n de preencher o formulário HSM.PC.CIRII. 194.1 – on " ou HSM.PC.CIRII. 195.1 – "Registo de Cancro do ização do cancro, que será entregue ao Coordenador da ctologia ou a quem ele delegue. medidas correctivas serão incluídas no Plano de Acção do	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsável 
HSM.PC.CIRII. 194.1 - HSM.PC.CIRII. 195.1 -	- "Registo de Cancro do Cólon " - "Registo de Cancro do Recto"	00-00-2005 Página 1 de 1

## Appendix 4:

"Protocolo Terapêutico de Cancro do Recto"



		UNIDA COL	DE FUNCIO OPROCTOI	DNAL DE LOGIA	CÓDIGO: PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX
Hospital de S	São MarcoS	Protocolo Ter:	apêutico de (	Cancro do Recto	DATA:
CRITÉRIOS D	E REFERÊNCIA:				<b>EDIÇÃO N.º:</b> 01
<b>ÀMBITO:</b> Aplic Nédica do Hos <sub>l</sub>	ca-se a todos os m pital de São Marco	édicos do Departam s	ento de Cirurg	ia e de Oncologia	<b>REVISÃO N.º:</b> 00
iomenclatura:	<b>3</b> . O estadiam	ento TNM é efe	ectuado respe	eitando a seguinte	
Fumor Prin	mário (T)				
Fis – Carcino F1 – Tumor i F2 – Tumor i F3 – Tumor i tecido F4 – Tumor i perito Gânglios lii	oma em situ: int invade a submud invade a muscul invade através d s peri-cólicos nã invade a directa neu visceral nfáticos region	raepitelial ou inva cosa aris própria la muscularis prój o peritonizados o mente outros órgá nais (N)	asão da lâmin pria até à sul u perirectal ăos ou estrut	na própria bserosa ou até aos uras e/ou perfura o	OTOCOLO
Ax – Gânglio N0 – Sem gâr N1 – Metásta N2 – Metásta Aetástases Aetástases	s linfáticos regio nglios linfáticos ises em 1-3 gâng ises em 4 ou mai à Distância (M ases à distância 1	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona VI) não determinadas	er determina ados iis	ados	R
Nx – Gânglio N0 – Sem gâr N1 – Metásta N2 – Metásta Metástases Ax – Metásta 10 – Sem me A1 – Com me	s linfáticos regio nglios linfáticos r ises em 1-3 gâng ises em 4 ou mai à Distância (M ases à distância r etástases à distân etástases à distâ	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona VI) não determinadas ncia ncia	er determina ados iis	ados	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsáve
Ix – Gânglio I0 – Sem gâr I1 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I0 – Sem me I1 – Com mo Estadio	s linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regions em 1-3 gâng eses em 1-3 gâng eses em 4 ou mai à Distância (Mases à distância r etástases à distância etástases à distância	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona M) não determinadas ncia ncia N	er determina cados uis M	ados Dukes	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsáve
Ix – Gânglio I0 – Sem gâr I1 – Metásta I2 – Metásta Ietástases Ix – Metásta I0 – Sem me I1 – Com mo Estadio	s linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios linfáticos reseases em 1-3 gâng ases em 4 ou mai à Distância (Mases à distância retástases à distância retástases à distância f etástases à distância retástases a distância retástaseses a distância retástases a distância retástases a distância retást	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona MI) não determinadas ncia ncia N	er determina zados nis M	ados	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsáve
x – Gânglio 0 – Sem gâr 1 – Metásta 2 – Metásta Ietástases Ix – Metásta I0 – Sem me I1 – Com mo Estadio	s linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios linfáticos reseases em 1-3 gâng ses em 4 ou mai à Distância (N ases à distância retástases à distân etástases à distân etástases à distân T Tis T1	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona VI) não determinadas ncia ncia N N0 N0	er determina zados iis <u>M</u> <u>M0</u> M0	ados Dukes	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsáve
x – Gânglio 0 – Sem gâr 1 – Metásta 2 – Metásta Ietástases Ix – Metásta I0 – Sem me I1 – Com mo Estadio	s linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionses em 1-3 gâng ases em 4 ou mai à Distância (Mases à distância re etástases à distância re etástases à distância re tástases à distância re tástases à distância re etástases a distânci re etástases a distâ	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona VI) não determinadas ncia <b>N</b> N0 N0 N0	er determina ados nis M M0 M0 M0 M0	ados Dukes A A	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsáve
x – Gânglio 0 – Sem gâr 1 – Metásta 2 – Metásta Ietástases Ix – Metásta I0 – Sem me I1 – Com mo Estadio 0 I	s linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios em 1-3 gâng eses em 1-3 gâng eses em 4 ou mai à Distância (Mases à distância re etástases a distânci	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona M) não determinadas ncia ncia N0 N0 N0 N0 N0	er determina ados iis M M0 M0 M0 M0 M0	A A B	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsáve
x – Gânglio 0 – Sem gâr 1 – Metásta 2 – Metásta Ietástases Ix – Metásta I0 – Sem me I1 – Com mo Estadio 0 I	s linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios em 1-3 gâng ses em 1-3 gâng ses em 4 ou mai à Distância (N ases à distância re taístases à distân etástases à distân etástases à distân T Tis T1 T2 T3 T4	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona VI) não determinadas ncia ncia N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0	er determina zados iis M M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0	A A A B B B	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsáve ( 00-00-2005 APROVADO POR Presidente do C.A. (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 HOMOLOGADO POI
Ix – Gânglio I0 – Sem gâr I1 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I0 – Sem me I1 – Com me Estadio 0 I IIA IIIA	s linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios em 1-3 gâng eses em 1-3 gâng eses em 4 ou mai à Distância (Mases à distância re etástases à distância re etástases à distância re tástases à distância re etástases a distância re etástases a distância re etástases à distância re etástases à distância re etástases a distânci	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona VI) não determinadas ncia No No No No No No No No No No No	mer determina ados nis M M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0	A A A B B C	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsáve ( 00-00-2005 APROVADO POR Presidente do C.A. (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 HOMOLOGADO POR Conselho de Administração
IX – Gânglio I0 – Sem gâr I1 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I0 – Sem me I1 – Com me Estadio 0 I IIA IIIA IIIB	s linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios em 1-3 gâng eses em 1-3 gâng eses em 4 ou mai à Distância (Mases à distância re etástases a distânci	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona M) não determinadas ncia ncia N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N1 N1	er determina cados nis M M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0	A A A B B C C C	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsáve (
Ix – Gânglio I0 – Sem gâr I1 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I2 – Metásta I0 – Sem me I1 – Com mo Estadio 0 I IIA IIIA IIIB IIIA	s linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios linfáticos regionglios linfáticos reses em 1-3 gâng ses em 4 ou mai à Distância (Mases à distância retástases a distância retástases à distância retástases à distância retástases à distância retástases à distância retástases a	onais não podem s regionais metastiz lios regionais s gânglios regiona VI) não determinadas ncia ncia N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0 N0	er determina zados iis M M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M0 M	A A A B B B C C C C	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsáve ( 00-00-2005 APROVADO POR Presidente do C.A. (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 HOMOLOGADO POI Conselho de Administração (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005

## Appendix 5:

"Protocolo de Follow-up de Cancro Colorectal"



#### UNIDADE FUNCIONAL DE COLOPROCTOLOGIA

Protocolo de Follow-up do Cancro Colorectal

#### **CRITÉRIOS DE REFERÊNCIA:**

**ÂMBITO:** Aplica-se a todos os médicos do Departamento de Cirurgia e de Oncologia Médica do Hospital de São Marcos

OBJECTIVO: Uniformizar o seguimento dos doentes com cancro colorectal.

#### **RESPONSABILIDADES:**

Compete aos Directores de Departamento de Cirurgia, dos Serviços de Cirurgia 1 e 2, do Coordenador da Unidade Funcional de Coloproctologia e do Serviço de Oncologia Médica a implementação desta instrução de trabalho.

#### **FUNDAMENTAÇÃO:**

. Não existe um protocolo universalmente aceite de follow-up de cancro colorectal.

. A maior parte dos estudos clínicos, mostram que cerca de 80% das recidivas ocorrem nos primeiros 3 anos após a ressecção cirúrgica e portanto a vigilância deve ser maior durante este período.

. Deste modo o protocolo que propomos para follow-up de cancro colorectal deve ser considerado um guia e ajustado ao estádio da doença, à idade e ao estado geral do doente.

. Após a realização de cirurgia com intenção curativa, a vigilância dos doentes com cancro colorectal é realizada com os seguintes objectivos:

- 1- Avaliar possíveis complicações terapêuticas
- 2- Identificar a recorrência que é potencialmente ressecável para cura da doença
- 3- Identificar lesões metacrones num estadio pré-invasivo

. Para follow-up recomendamos os seguintes meios:

- 1- História clínica e Exame Objectivo
- 2- Colonoscopia
- 3- Rx tórax
- 4- TAC abdominal
- 5- CEA

CÓDIGO:

PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX

DATA:

EDIÇÃO N.º: 01

**REVISÃO N.º:** 00

PROTOCOLO

**ELABORADO POR** Director/Responsável

> ( ) 00-00-2005

**APROVADO POR** Presidente do C.A.

(Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005

HOMOLOGADO POR Conselho de

Administração

(Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005

PRÓXIMA REVISÃO 00-00-2005

Página 1 de 4

		UNIDADE FUNCIONAL DE COLOPROCTOLOGIA	CÓDIGO: PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX
Hos	pital de São MarcoS	Protocolo de Follow-up do Cancro Colorectal	DATA:
RITÉ	ÊRIOS DE REFERÊN	CIA:	EDIÇÃO N.º: 01
MBI lédica	<b>TO:</b> Aplica-se a todos a do Hospital de São M	os médicos do Departamento de Cirurgia e de Oncologia 1arcos	<b>REVISÃO N.º:</b> 00
<b>ESCI</b>	<b>RIÇÃO:</b> Nos doentes operad	dos por carcinoma colo-rectal deve-se proceder do seguinte	
	<ol> <li>O seguimento é partir do 6º ano de p</li> </ol>	subdividido em três períodos: 1º e 2º ano, do 3º ao 5º e a pós-operatório	0
		1º e 2º ANO	COL
	Estadio II/III	<ul> <li>História clínica e exame objectivo (3/3 meses)</li> <li>CEA (3/3 meses)</li> <li>Rx tórax - anual</li> </ul>	PROTO
	Estadio I	- História clínica e exame objectivo (6/6meses) - CEA (6/6 meses) - Rx tórax - anual	
			ELABORADO POR
		3º ao 5º ANO	Director/Responsave
		- História clínica e exame objectivo (6/6meses) - CEA (6/6 meses) - Rx tórax - anual	APROVADO POR Presidente do C.A. (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 HOMOLOGADO POI
			Conselho de Administração (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005
			PRÓXIMA REVISÃO 00-00-2005



	UNIDADE FUNCIONAL DE COLOPROCTOLOGIA	CÓDIGO: PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX
Hospital de São MarcoS	Protocolo de Follow-up do Cancro Colorectal	DATA:
RITÉRIOS DE REFERÊNCI	A:	EDIÇÃO N.º: 01
MBITO: Aplica-se a todos os lédica do Hospital de São Mai	s médicos do Departamento de Cirurgia e de Oncologia rcos	<b>REVISÃO N.º:</b> 00
4. No caso particular	do Cancro do Recto:	
- Proctoscopia ressecção anterior do recto,	6/6 meses nos 5 anos de follow-up de doentes submetidos para avaliar a recorrência local anastomotica	
		O,
Os doentes operados p	oor carcinoma rectal devem realizar, aos 6 meses pós-	2
rurgia, uma RIMN pelvica que	ficara como RMN de referência.	S S
		ĕ
		2
		5
		E C
		Index
		Director/Responsável
		Directory responsivel
		( ) 00-00-2005
		APROVADO POR
		Presidente do C.A.
	en angles participation of all an entropy statements and	(Lino Mesquita Machado)
	in a second s	HOMOLOGADO POR
		Conselho de Administração
		(Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005
		PRÓXIMA REVISÃO 00-00-2005
		Dágina 4 do 4

## Appendix 6:

"Protocolo de Registo de recidiva de Cancro Colorectal"

	UNIDADE FUNCIONAL DE COLOPROCTOLOGIA	CÓDIGO: PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX
Hospital de São MarcoS	Protocolo de Registo de Recidiva do CCR	DATA:
CRITÉRIOS DE REFERÊNCI	A: 19.22	EDIÇÃO N.º: 01
ÂMBITO: Aplica-se a todos os Marcos	s médicos do Departamento de Cirurgia do Hospital de São	<b>REVISÃO N.º:</b> 00
OBJECTIVO: Registar os dados, em cancro do cólon e recto aquan RESPONSABILIDADES: Compete aos Directoro 2 e ao Coordenador da Unio instrução de trabalho. DESCRIÇÃO: O registo das recidiva seguinte modo: 1. Serão regis	documento próprio e suporte informático, de doentes com do da recidiva tumoral. es de Departamento de Cirurgia, Dos Serviços de Cirurgia 1 e dade Funcional de Coloproctologia a implementação desta es dos doentes com cancro colorectal (CCR) processa-se do	PROTOCOLO
recto tratados no Departamen 2. Sempre qui proposto para cirurgia ou nã formulário HSM.PC.DCIR.196. entregue ao Coordenador da l 3. Os formulá	to de Cirurgia. e um doente têm recidiva de cancro do colon e recto, sendo o, o médico responsável pelo doente têm de preencher o 1 – "Registo de Recidiva do doente com CCR", que será Jnidade Funcional de Coloproctologia.	
Cirurgia 2.		ELABORADO POR
4. Eventuais Serviço de Cirurgia 2	medidas correctivas serão incluidas no Plano de Acção do	( 00-00-2005 ) APROVADO POR
DOCUMENTOS RELACIONA	DOS:	Presidente do C.A.
HSM.PC.DCIR.196.1 –	"Registo de Recidiva do doente com cancro colorectal"	(Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 HOMOLOGADO POR Conselho de Administração (Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 PRÓXIMA REVISÃO 00-00-2005 Página 1 de 1

## Appendix 7:

"Protocolo de Antibioprofilaxia para Cirurgia Colorectal"

	UNIDADE FUNCIONAL DE COLOPROCTOLOGIA	CÓDIGO: PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX
Hospital de São MarcoS	Protocolo de Antibioprofilaxia para Cirurgia Colorectal	DATA:
CRITÉRIOS DE REFERÊNCI	A:	EDIÇÃO N.º: 01
ÂMBITO: Aplica-se a todos os Marcos	médicos do Departamento de Cirurgia do Hospital de São	<b>REVISÃO N.º:</b> 00
<b>OBJECTIVO:</b> Definir as medid	as a tomar para antibioprofilaxia na Cirurgia Colorectal	
<b>RESPONSABILIDADES:</b> Con Serviços de Cirurgia 1 e 2 e d implementação desta instrução	npete aos Directores de Departamento de Cirurgia, dos lo Coordenador da Unidade Funcional de Coloproctologia a de trabalho.	i is constant and the
DEFINIÇÕES:		010
Antibioprofilaxia: Consiste na submetidos a cirurgia, não have	a administração de antibiótico aos doentes que vão ser endo evidência de infecção no momento do acto cirúrgico.	DTOC
FUNDAMENTAÇÃO:		<b>PR(</b>
. A Cirurgia co cirurgia que apresenta maior in . A ILC na cirur realizam antibioprofilaxia, cerca um aumento do número de reinternamentos e da mortalida	olorectal, incluindo a realizada de forma electiva, é a cidência de ILC rgia colorectal, ocorre frequentemente nos doentes que não a de 40% dos casos. Por outro lado a ILC está associada a e admissões na UCIP assim como a um aumento de	
. O risco de IL (contaminada ou suja), tempo	C depende ainda do ASA (3,4,ou 5), classificação da ferida de duração de cirurgia (superior a 3 horas) entre outros	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsável
ractores (exemplo: transfusão (NNIS risk índex). Este risco de ir	per-operatória, realização concomitante de estoma etc.) nfecção é superior para a cirurgia do recto relativamente à	( ) 00-00-2005 ) APROVADO POR Presidente do C.A.
cirurgia cólica. . A antibioprofi	ilaxia reduz a incidência de ILC pós-operatórias. (de 40%	(Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005
para cerca de 7%, na maior pa	rte aos estudos)	Conselho de Administração
		(Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005 PRÓXIMA REVISÃO
at 2 millions		00-00-2005 Página 1 de 2

	UNIDADE FUNCIONAL DE COLOPROCTOLOGIA	CÓDIGO: PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX
Hospital de São Marco	Protocolo de Antibioprofilaxia para Cirurgia OS Colorectal	DATA:
CRITÉRIOS DE REFER	ÊNCIA:	EDIÇÃO N.º: 01
ÂMBITO: Aplica-se a toc Marcos	dos os médicos do Departamento de Cirurgia do Hospital de São	<b>REVISÃO N.º:</b> 00
PROTOCOLO:		
- Cefoxiti máximo até 30min a 1 ho	ina, 2 g EV, idealmente durante a indução anestésica ou no ora antes da cirurgia.	
- Repicag	em com 1 g às 2 h da cirurgia	LO
- Prolonga	ar até as 24 h de pós-operatório: 1 g EV 8/8h	0
	ar de la companya de Na companya de la comp	ŏ
		OT
		a a
	una dasser determinado a apendara por elementese operaneciano encorrer a	
	ະ ການເປັນ ແລະດັ່ງໃນເສັດ ເດິດ ເປັນ. ແລະ ແມ່ນການແຜ່ນເຮັດແຮງ ແລະ ເປັນ ເປັນ ເຮັດເຮັດເຮັດເຮັດເຮັດເຮັດ ເຮັດ ເປັນເຮັດເຮັດ ເຮັດ	
	2. ASSERTED (C. P. C. C. C. C. C. C. C. C. C. Strategic and C.	ELABORADO POR Director/Responsável
	mole of ellightcomp, ofgenties, polytopy of the fragme	() 00-00-2005
	nakaaka daga da sana manang manang manang manang sa	APROVADO POR Presidente do C.A.
		(Lino Mesquita Machado)
		HOMOLOGADO POR
		Administração
		(Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005
		00-00-2005
		Página 2 de 2

## Appendix 8:

"Protocolo de Processamento da peça operatória"



## UNIDADE FUNCIONAL DE COLOPROCTOLOGIA

Protocolo de Processamento da Peça Operatória

#### **CRITÉRIOS DE REFERÊNCIA: 19.22**

ÂMBITO: Aplica-se a todos os médicos do Departamento de Cirurgia e de Anatomia Patológica do Hospital de São Marcos

#### **OBJECTIVO:**

Uniformizar as medidas de processamento da peça cirúrgica.

#### **RESPONSABILIDADES:**

Compete aos Directores de Departamento de Cirurgia, dos Serviços de Cirurgia 1 e 2, do Coordenador da Unidade Funcional de Coloproctologia e do Serviço de Anatomia Patológica a implementação desta instrução de trabalho.

#### **DESCRIÇÃO:**

O processamento da peça operatória prévio ao envio para o Serviço de Anatomia Patológica é efectuado do seguinte modo:

- 1. Proceder à limpeza adequada da peça cirúrgica,
- 2. Abrir pelo bordo antimesentérico tentando não interceptar a neoplasia,
- 3. Referenciar os topos proximal e distal,
- 4. Enviar a peça cirúrgica, a fresco, no caso de neoplasia,
- 5. Enviar os anéis de sutura em recipiente separado,
- 6. Caso haja outras biópsias, enviar em frasco separado e referenciado.

CÓDIGO:

PRT.XXX.HSM.XXX

DATA:

EDIÇÃO N.º: 01

REVISÃO N.º: 00

PROTOCOLO

**ELABORADO POR** Director/Responsável

## ( 00-00-2005

)

#### **APROVADO POR**

Presidente do C.A.

(Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005

HOMOLOGADO POR Conselho de Administração

(Lino Mesquita Machado) 00-00-2005

PRÓXIMA REVISÃO 00-00-2005

Página 1 de 1

## Appendix 9:

"Sensibilidade da Ecografia Endorectal no estadiamento do Cancro do Recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico."

# Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico

## Sensitivity of endorectal ecography in the staging of rectal chancre: correlation with pathological staging

#### LUÍS FILIPE CARVALHO CARRIÇO<sup>1</sup>; SANDRA FÁTIMA FERNANDES MARTINS<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Estudante de Medicina da Escola de Ciências da Saúde da Universidade do Minho – Campos de Gualtar – Braga, Portugal; <sup>2</sup>Assistente Hospitalar de Cirurgia da Unidade de Coloproctologia do Hospital Braga –Braga, Portugal; Assistente no Instituto de Investigação em Ciências da Vida e da Saúde, Faculdade de Ciências da Saúde, Universidade do Minho, Portugal – Campos de Gualtar – Braga, Portugal.

CARRIÇO LFC; MARTINS SFF. Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico. **Rev bras Coloproct**, 2011;30(4): 430-439.

RESUMO: Objectivo: Avaliar a sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal, em nossa experiência, no estadiamento do cancro do recto comparando com o resultado anatomopatológico. Material e métodos: Estudo retrospectivo, realizado entre Janeiro de 2005 e Agosto de 2009. Calculou-se a sensibilidade, a especificidade, o valor preditivo positivo e negativo para cada estadio T e N. Por meio da elaboração de curvas ROC avaliou-se a precisão do estadiamento ecoendoscópico e por meio do teste de McNemar comparou-se com o resultado anatomopatológico. Resultados: Dos 112 doentes, 76 cumpriram os critérios de inclusão. Obtivemos uma eficácia de 75 a 97% para uT e de 75% para uN. Verificou-se sensibilidade, especificidade, valor preditivo positivo e negativo, respectivamente, de 63;98;92 e 89% para uT1; 71;76;54 e 88% para uT2; 67;81;73 e 76% para uT3; 100;97;60 e 100% para uT4; e 39;91;62 e 78% para uN. As curvas ROC indicaram que a ecografia endorectal é um bom teste para o estadiamento do T e razoável para o N. O teste de McNemar revelou que não há diferenças significativas entre o estadiamento ecoendoscópico e anatomopatológico (p>0,05). Conclusões: Conclui-se que a ecografia endorectal é uma importante ferramenta no estadiamento do cancro do recto, apresentando boa correlação com o resultado anatomopatológico.

Descritores: Ecografia; Valor preditivo dos testes; Patologia.

#### INTRODUÇÃO

O cancro colorectal (CCR) é a doença oncológica gastrointestinal mais comum e a segunda maior causa de mortes oncológicas nos países Ocidentais<sup>1</sup>. Em Portugal, segundo o Instituto Nacional de Estatística, é a principal causa de morte por doença oncológica<sup>2</sup>. A sobrevida do CCR está relacionada com o estadio da doença, apresentando no geral uma sobrevida de 78% no primeiro ano de seguimento e de 54% aos 5 anos<sup>3</sup>. Cerca de 15 a 20% dos doentes morrem da doença em fases iniciais e 40 a 80% em fases mais avançadas<sup>4</sup>.

O cancro do recto apresenta particularidades em termos de diagnóstico, estadiamento e tratamento. Constitui cerca de 5% dos tumores malignos, sendo diagnosticados cerca de 140 mil novos casos por ano, na Europa<sup>5</sup>.

Tradicionalmente, o estadiamento era obtido pelo exame anatomopatológico da peça cirúrgica. Hoje em

Escola de Ciências da Saúde da Universidade do Minho em colaboração com o Hospital de Braga.

Recebido em 19/04/2010 Aceito para publicação em 30/07/2010

Rev bras Coloproct Outubro/Dezembro, 2010

Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico Luís Filipe Carvalho Carriço e Cols.

dia, o estadiamento pré-operatório é de grande importância para gerir adequadamente as decisões terapêuticas bem como para determinar o prognóstico do doente<sup>6</sup>, uma vez que vai permitir a selecção dos doentes candidatos a terapêutica primária com o principal objectivo de reduzir a recidiva local e que paralelamente beneficiam com a redução local do tumor, facilitando a ressecção e potencialmente podendo resultar em recessões que preservem o esfíncter<sup>7</sup>. Também em termos de terapêutica observou-se nos últimos 1970 anos uma evolução de um tratamento meramente cirúrgico para uma terapêutica multimodal<sup>8</sup>.

A utilização da terapêutica primária é actualmente recomendada em doentes com cancro do recto localmente avançado, ou seja, em que se verifique extensão do tumor na gordura perirectal e/ou envolvimento ganglionar ou do mesorecto (T3/T4 N0 ou Tx N1/N2)9; pois doentes com estádios II e III têm elevada taxa de recorrência local depois da cirurgia<sup>10,11</sup> e tem-se obtido uma redução significativa da recorrência local e da ocorrência de metástases à distância, com consequente aumento da sobrevida, por meio da combinação da ressecção cirúrgica do cancro com a quimioradioterapia primária<sup>11,12</sup>. Nos doentes com doença no estádio IV, a mesma atitude permite aumentar a taxa da ressecção cirúrgica e a sobrevida dos doentes11,13. Assim, hoje em dia, devido à utilização da terapêutica primária, a "cirurgia poupadora de esfíncteres" pode ser oferecida também a doentes com cancro do recto localmente avançados sem compromisso do resultado oncológico14.

Nesses doentes, a terapia primária seguida de cirurgia resulta num melhor controlo local e numa redução da toxicidade quando comparada com a terapia adjuvante pós-operatória estandardizada<sup>15,16</sup>. Verificando-se ainda uma redução de 13% da recidiva tumoral<sup>17</sup>.

O controlo locoregional do tumor também melhorou significativamente nos últimos 15 anos com melhoria da técnica cirúrgica, nomeadamente com a introdução da excisão total do mesorecto (ETM)<sup>18</sup>. Esta permitiu diminuir a taxa de recorrência local de 16 para 9%, sendo ainda um predictor independente da sobrevida geral<sup>19</sup>.

O estadiamento pelo sistema tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) para o cancro do recto é baseado na profundidade da invasão da lesão (T), a extensão da invasão local a gânglios linfáticos (N) e a presença de metástases à distância (M)<sup>18</sup>.

Vol. 30

Nº 4

Actualmente dispomos de várias opções para o estadiamento pré-operatório, tais como, tomografia computorizada (TC), ecografia endorectal, ressonância magnética (RM) e tomografia de emissão de positrões (PET)<sup>20,21</sup>. Apesar desses avanços tecnológicos, o exame objectivo, nomeadamente o toque rectal, dános informações relevantes relativamente à localização, distância da margem anal e tonicidade dos esfíncteres, aspectos importantes para planear a cirurgia. No entanto, trata-se de um exame subjectivo ao avaliar a invasão tumoral<sup>6</sup>.

Em 1984, Hildebrandt e Fielfe preconizaram o estadiamento ecoendoscópico dos tumores rectais com base na classificação TNM<sup>6</sup>.

A ecografia endorectal (2 dimensões) é realizada com um aparelho provido com sonda que proporciona uma imagem de 360°, possibilitando, portanto, a avaliação circunferencial das camadas do recto. Ecograficamente, o recto está dividido em camadas circulares e concêntricas, alternadas entre imagens hiperecoicas e hipoecoicas. São visualizadas cinco camadas, sendo a mais interna a mucosa, seguida da muscular da mucosa, submucosa, muscular própria e gordura perirectal. Actualmente, existem ecoendoscópios com imagem a três dimensões com melhor resolução e precisão em visualizar a infiltração e tamanho tumoral<sup>22</sup>.

Segundo alguns autores, a sensibilidade e especificidade da ecografia endorectal (2 dimensões) para o estadiamento do T ronda os 80 a 95% comparando com a RM (75 a 85%) e com a TC (65 a 75%)<sup>17,23,24</sup>. Enquanto para determinar o N é aproximadamente de 70 a 75% comparado com a RM (60 a 70%) e com a TC (55 a 65%)<sup>23,25,26</sup>. Assim, a ecografia endorectal tem emergido como modalidade de diagnóstico de escolha para o estadiamento clínico dos tumores rectais<sup>27,28</sup>.

#### **MATERIAIS E MÉTODOS**

#### População

A população em estudo é constituída por todos os doentes com cancro do recto estadiados e tratados no Hospital de Braga, desde 1º de Janeiro de 2005 a 31 de Agosto de 2009. Rev bras Coloproct Outubro/Dezembro, 2010 Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico Luís Filipe Carvalho Carriço e Cols. Vol. 30 Nº 4

Definiram-se para esse estudo, como critérios de inclusão: doentes com diagnóstico histológico de adenocarcinoma do recto; estadiamento pré-operatório completo, incluindo ecografia endorectal conclusiva; e resultado histológico da peça cirúrgica.

Definiram-se como critérios de exclusão: diagnóstico histológico distinto de adenocarcinoma, como por exemplo, carcinomas epidermoides; doentes com diagnóstico de cancro do recto que não realizaram ecografia endorectal ou em que esta não foi conclusiva, por exemplo: impossibilidade de visualização da totalidade da lesão; doentes submetidos a radioterapia pélvica e doentes sem o resultado do estadiamento histológico.

#### Amostra

Utilizou-se uma amostra de conveniência, de 76 doentes com diagnóstico de adenocarcinoma do recto que respeitam os critérios de inclusão/exclusão previamente definidos.

#### Métodos e recolha de dados

Entre 1º de Janeiro de 2005 e 31 de Agosto de 2009 foram realizadas, no Hospital de Braga, um total de 112 ecografias endorectais para estadiamento do cancro do recto. Destas, 76 preenchiam os critérios previamente determinados.

De maneira a poder avaliar a sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto, elaborou-se uma base de dados a partir dos relatórios da ecografia endorectal e do resultado anatomopatológico da peça cirúrgica. Os parâmetros estudados foram: sexo e idade do doente; localização da lesão (1/3 inferior, médio ou superior, isto é, 0 a 5cm, 6 a 10cm e 11 a 15cm da margem anal respectivamente) e estadiamento ecoendoscópico do tumor e histológico da peça cirúrgica.

#### Análise estatística

Após a recolha dos dados, estes foram armazenados na forma de base de dados no programa Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, (SPSS Inc. R, Chicago, Illinois, Estados Unidos), versão 17.0, de onde, posteriormente, se procedeu à análise.

Numa primeira fase do estudo, foi realizada a análise descritiva dos dados para se obter as frequências, médias, desvios-padrão e variância. Foi utilizado o Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Excel 2007 para a elaboração de gráficos e tabelas.

Posteriormente, procedeu-se ao cálculo da sensibilidade, especificidade, valor preditivo positivo e negativo do estadiamento pela ecografia endorectal relativamente ao T e N comparativamente com os resultados da anatomia patológica (Tabela 1).

Realizou-se ainda um estudo comparativo entre o estadiamento ecoendoscópico e o histológico por meio de curvas ROC com o cálculo da área abaixo das curvas (AUC). A curva ROC com o cálculo da AUC é um bom preditor da precisão de um teste, em que quanto mais perto tiver a área da AUC de 1 melhor será o exame. Valores abaixo de 0,50 representam um teste ruim ou ineficaz; entre 0,50 a 0,70 significa um teste de precisão média ou razoável, de 0,70 a 0,90 prediz um bom ou excelente teste.

					Sensibilidade	$S = \frac{VP}{n} = \frac{VP}{VP + FN} = P(T^+ \mid D)$
		$\frac{Te}{T^+}$	ste T	- Total	Fsnecificidade	$VP^{+} = \frac{VP}{VP} = \frac{VP}{VP} = P(D \mid T^{+})$
Gold	D	VP	FN	n <sub>D</sub>	Especificidade	$n_{T^*} VP + FP T(D   T)$
Standard	$\overline{D}$	FP	VN	$n_{\overline{D}}$	VP Negativo	$VP^{-} = \frac{VN}{R} = \frac{VN}{VN + \Gamma N} = P(\overline{D} \mid T^{-})$
Total		$n_{T^+}$	<i>n</i> <sub><i>T</i></sub> .	п		$n_T$ $V_I V + P_I V$
100					<b>VP</b> Positivo	$E = \frac{VN}{n_{\overline{D}}} = \frac{VN}{VN + FP} = P(T^{-}   \overline{D})$

**Tabela 1** – Fórmulas estatísticas utilizadas para cálculo da sensibilidade, especificidade, valor preditivo positivo (VP positivo) e valor preditivo negativo (VP negativo).

Rev bras Coloproct Outubro/Dezembro, 2010 Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico Luís Filipe Carvalho Carriço e Cols.

Por último, utilizou-se o teste de McNemar para avaliar se existem diferenças significativas entre o estadiamento ecoendoscópico e o histológico. Admitiu-se que existem diferenças significativas quando p<0,05.

#### RESULTADOS

Dos 76 exames realizados, 68,4% (52 doentes) eram do sexo masculino e 31,6% (24 doentes) eram do sexo feminino. A média de idades dos doentes é de  $68,9\pm10,7$ , com idade mínima de 49 anos e máxima de 93.

No que respeita à localização tumoral, 69,7% (53 doentes) localizavam-se no 1/3 médio do recto, 26,3% (20 doentes) no 1/3 inferior do recto e 3,9% (3 doentes) no 1/3 superior do recto. A localização mais comum, em ambos os sexos, foi no 1/3 médio do recto, nomeadamente 76,9% (40 doentes) no sexo masculino e 54,2% (13 doentes) no sexo feminino. Relativamente ao estadiamento tumoral obtido pela ecografia endorectal, dos 76 exames realizados, 17,1% (13 tumores) foram classificados como T1, 36,8% (28 tumores) foram estadiados como T2, 39,5% (30 tumores) como T3 e 6,6% (5 tumores) foram classificados como T4 (Tabela 2). Em relação ao envolvimento ganglionar, 82,9% (63 tumores) foram classificados como N0 e 17,1% (13) com envolvimento ganglionar (N1) (Tabela 3). Relativamente ao estadiamento anatomopatológico das peças cirúrgicas, 25% (19 tumores) foram

**Tabela 2** – Estadiamento obtido pela ecografia endorectal em relação ao T

	Frequência	%
T1	13	17,10
T2	28	36,80
Т3	30	39,50
T4	5	6,60
Total	76	100

**Tabela 3** – Estadiamento obtido pela ecografia endorectal em relação ao N.

	Frequência	%
N0	63	82,90
N1	13	17,10
Total	76	100

classificados como T1, 27,6% (21 tumores) estadiados como T2, 43,4% (33 tumores) classificados como T3 e 3,9% (3 tumores) foram estadiados como T4 (Tabela 4). Respeitante ao envolvimento ganglionar, em 71,1% (54 tumores) não foi observado envolvimento ganglionar e em 28,9% (22 tumores) verificou-se envolvimento ganglionar regional (N1) (Tabela 5).

Procedendo-se à comparação do estadiamento efectuado pela ecografia endorectal com o resultado histológico da peça cirúrgica (Tabela 6), verificou-se: sub-estadiamento em 1 doente (1,3% dos casos) estadiado como uT1; sobre-estadiamento em 5 doentes (6,6% casos) estadiados como uT2; sub-estadiamento em 8 doentes (10,5% casos) estadiados como uT2; sobre-estadiamento em 8 doentes (10,5% casos) estadiados como uT3 e sobre-estadiamento em 2 doentes (2,6% casos) estadiados como uT4.

Em relação à comparação do estadiamento referente ao envolvimento ganglionar, notou-se um subestadiamento de 18,4% (14 doentes) e um sobre-estadiamento de 6,6% (5 doentes) (Tabela 7).

Quanto aos resultados obtidos para a sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento pré-operatório do cancro do recto, observou-se uma sensibilidade de 63% para T1, de 71% para T2, 67% para T3 e de 100% para T4. Em relação à especificidade, verificouse uma especificidade de 98% para T1, de 76% para T2, de 81% para T3 e de 97% para T4. No que diz respeito ao valor preditivo positivo, constatou-se um valor preditivo de 92% para T1, de 54% para T2, de

**Tabela 4** – Estadiamento anatomopatológico respeitante ao T.

	F	requência	%
T1	sections are	19	25,00
T2		21	27,60
Т3		33	43,40
T4		3	3,90
Total		76	100

**Tabela 5** – *Estadiamento anatomopatológico respeitante ao N*.

	Frequência	%
N0	54	71,10
N1	22	28,90
Total	76	100

Vol. 30 Nº 4
Rev bras Coloproct	Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto:	Vol. 30
Outubro/Dezembro, 2010	correlação com o estadiamento patológico	Nº 4
	Luís Filipe Carvalho Carrico e Cols.	

		Estadiamento ecoendoscópico				
		T1	Τ2	Т3	Τ4	Total
Estadiamento	T1	12(15,8)	5(6,6%)	2(2,6%)	0	19(25%)
	T2	0	15(19,7%)	6(7,9%)	0	21(27,6%)
Instologico	Т3	1(1,3%)	8(10,5%)	22(28,9%)	2(2,6%)	33(43,4%)
	Τ4	0	0	0	3(3,9%)	3(3,9%)
	Total	13(17,1%)	28(36,8%)	30(39,5%)	5(6,6%)	76(100%)

**Tabela 6** – Comparação entre o estadiamento histológico e ecográfico respeitante ao T.

<b>Tabela 7</b> – Comparação entre o estadiamento histológico e ecogr	·áfico em i	relação ao I	V
---	-------------	--------------	---

		Esta	adiamento ecoendoscó	ópico
		N+	N-	Total
	N+	8(10,5%)	14(18,4%)	22(28,9%)
Estadiamento histológico	N-	5(6,6%)	49(64,5%)	54(71,1%)
	Total	13(17,1%)	63(2,9%)	76(100%)

**Tabela 8** – Resultados da sensibilidade, especificidade, valor preditivo positivo e negativo e eficácia do estadiamento ecoendoscópico em relação ao T e ao N.

	Sensibilidade (%)	Especificidade (%)	VP positivo (%)	VP negativo (%)	Eficácia (%)
T1	63	98	92	89	89
T2	71	76	54	88	75
Т3	67	81	73	76	75
Τ4	100	97	60	100	97
Ν	39	91	62	78	75

73% para T3 e de 60% para T4. Quanto ao valor preditivo negativo, observou-se um valor de 89% para T1, de 88% para T2, de 76% para T3 e de 100% para T4. Quanto à eficácia da Ecoendoscopia, esta foi de 89% para T1, de 75% para T2 e T3 e de 97% para T4 (Tabela 8). Em relação ao N, observou-se uma sensibilidade de 39%, especificidade de 91%, um valor preditivo positivo e negativo de 62 e 78%, respectivamente, e ainda uma eficácia de 75% (Tabela 8).

Na avaliação da precisão estadiamento ecoendoscópico, por meio da elaboração de curvas ROC e cálculo das AUC, obteve-se um valor de AUC de 0,807 para T1, de 0,739 para T2, de 0,740 para T3, de 0,986 para T4 e um AUC de 0,636 para o estadiamento N (Figura 1).

No que diz respeito ao teste de McNemar, não se verificou diferença significativa entre o estadiamento ecoendoscópico e o estadiamento anatomopatológico (Tabela 9).

#### DISCUSSÃO

O cancro do recto é uma doença oncológica de elevada incidência<sup>1</sup> e o seu prognóstico depende não só de um diagnóstico precoce, mas também de um estadiamento pré-operatório preciso, o que vai permitir a selecção da terapêutica mais apropriada com o objectivo de diminuir a recidiva local e assim aumentar a sobrevida do doente<sup>10,11,13,15-17)</sup>. Dessa forma, torna-se de extrema importância auditar a eficácia dos métodos disponíveis na gestão dessa patologia, no caso do nosso estudo, os resultados da ecografia endorectal, uma vez que o erro no estadiamento pré-operatório poderá levar a sub ou sobretratamento do doente. Dado a precisão da ecografia endorectal ser muito variada na literatura, pretende-se, com este estudo, avaliar a sensibilidade e especificidade desta no estadiamento do cancro do recto, em nossa série, por meio da comparação com os resultados histológicos da peça cirúrgica.

Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico Luís Filipe Carvalho Carriço e Cols.

Vol. 30 Nº 4



Figura 1 – Curvas ROC para os vários estádios T e N.

Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico Luís Filipe Carvalho Carriço e Cols.

Actualmente, as técnicas de estadiamento do cancro do recto incluem o exame objectivo, TAC, ecografia endorectal e a RM com bobina endorretal; destes, os dois últimos são considerados os melhores exames para determinar o T<sup>29</sup>.

A ecografia endorectal é uma das técnicas mais precisas no estadiamento do cancro do recto, tendo emergido nos últimos tempos como modalidade de escolha nesse processo<sup>22,27</sup>. Entre as vantagens apontadas, consta a realização fácil, baixo custo e uma precisão muito elevada segundo alguns autores<sup>17,23,26</sup>. Contudo, tem as suas limitações, sendo o facto de ser operador-dependente uma das mais significativas<sup>29-31</sup>. Por outro lado, é um exame com sensibilidade limitada para detecção de metástases ganglionares regionais, assim como, para o re-estadiamento de doentes que realizaram radioterapia pré-operatória<sup>29</sup>. Por último, essa técnica pode também ser influenciada por inúmeros factores, nomeadamente, a incapacidade de a sonda ultrapassar a lesão tumoral, uma exploração incompleta devido à angulação do recto, um contacto irregular com o recto devido a fezes ou gases, defeitos anatómicos provocados por intervenções cirúrgicas no recto, inflamação tumoral que poderão levar a interpretações erradas32.

A RM com bobina endorretal, fornece informação em relação ao T sobreponível à ecografia endorectal, mas o elevado custo é uma das principais limitações<sup>29</sup>. Permite uma avaliação precisa do mesorecto e possibilita a determinação correcta da margem de ressecção radial tumoral, sendo esse último um preditor muito forte da recorrência local do tumor<sup>33-34</sup>.

Quer a ecografia endorectal quer a RM com bobina endorretal apresentam sensibilidade limitada na avaliação do envolvimento ganglionar<sup>29</sup>.

Neste estudo, quando se procedeu à comparação do estadiamento efectuado pela ecografia endorectal com o resultado histológico da peça cirúrgica (Tabela 5), verificou-se: sub-estadiamento em 1 doente (1,3% dos casos) estadiado como uT1; sobre-estadiamento em 5 doentes (6,6% casos) estadiados como uT2; subestadiamento em 8 doentes (10,5% casos) estadiados como uT2; sobre-estadiamento em 8 doentes (10,5% casos) estadiados como uT3 e sobre-estadiamento em 2 doentes (2,6% casos) estadiados como uT4. Tendo em conta que doentes com o estadiamento pré-operatório T1-2N0 realizam somente terapêutica cirúrgica e que doentes com estadio T3,4Nx e TxN1 realizam terapêutica primária<sup>9</sup> verificou-se um subtratamento em 8 doentes (10,5% casos), uma vez que foram estadiados com T2 e o resultado histológico demonstrou que na realidade se tratavam de T3, não tendo portanto realizado terapêutica primária. Relativamente aos oito doentes que aparentemente foram sobre-estadiados como uT3, tendo portanto realizado terapêutica primária, não podemos afirmar com certeza este sobre-estadiamento, pois o resultado histológico da peça cirúrgica pode tratar-se de um sobre-estadiamento ou então de um subestadiamento resultante da terapêutica primária.

O efeito downstaging dessa modalidade terapêutica tem sido confirmado em vários estudos. Após a radioterapia pré-operatória em esquema longo (45Gy, 5 semanas) verificou-se existir downstaging histológico, com sinais de regressão tumoral, em 94,4% dos doentes e tem sido constatada regressão tumoral completa inferior a 10% dos casos submetidos a terapia radica isolada, subindo essa taxa para valores até 30% após radioquimioterapia<sup>35</sup>.

A respeito do cálculo da sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento T, neste estudo observou-se uma sensibilidade de 63% para T1, de 71% para T2, 67% para T3 e de 100% para T4. Esses valores são ligeiramente inferiores aos referidos na literatura, exceptuando a nível de T4, em que referem valores de sensibilidade mais altos, a rondar os 80 e 95%<sup>17,23,24</sup>. Esta diferença poderá ser explicada pelo facto de muitos estudos não incluírem muitos doentes com cancros do recto localmente avançados<sup>36,37</sup>. Por outro lado, alguns autores concluíram que existe um enviesamento de publicações, no que respeita a edição dos estudos com melhores resultados<sup>38</sup>.

No que diz respeito à especificidade, verificou-se uma especificidade de 98% para T1, de 76% para T2, de 81% para T3 e de 97% para T que demonstram valores entre 80 e 98%<sup>17,23,24</sup>.

Em relação ao valor preditivo positivo, constatou-se um valor de 92% para T1, de 54% para T2, de 73% para T3 e de 60% para T4. Quanto ao valor preditivo negativo, observou-se um valor de 89% para T1, de 88% para T2, de 76% para T3 e de 100% para T4. Esses valores obtidos estão de acordo com estudos anteriores que apontam para valores semelhantes de valor preditivo positivo e negativo<sup>39</sup>.

Vol. 30 Nº 4

Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico Luís Filipe Carvalho Carriço e Cols.

Quanto à eficácia, esta foi de 89% para T1, de 75% para T2 e T3 e de 97% para T4, conforme resultados demonstrados por estudos anteriores que apontam para níveis de eficácia muito altos da ecografia endorectal na avaliação da invasão tumoral na parede do recto<sup>17,23,26,39</sup>.

Ao analisar o envolvimento ganglionar, observou-se uma sensibilidade de 39%, o que difere de alguns estudos publicados que apontam para valores mais altos de sensibilidade, mas que vai ao encontro de outro estudo, que demonstra uma sensibilidade de 33% na avaliação do N<sup>23,25,26,40</sup>. Isso poderá ser explicado pelo enviesamento de publicação referido anteriormente, mas também pelo facto da inclusão nesses estudos de doentes submetidos à terapia neoadjuvante, que poderá resultar numa subestimação da sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal<sup>39,40</sup>.

Verificou-se uma especificidade de 91%. Esse valor é ligeiramente superior ao encontrado na literatura que aponta valores de especificidade entre 76 e 86%<sup>23,19,25,26,39</sup>. Em relação ao valor preditivo positivo e negativo, observou-se um valor preditivo positivo e negativo de 62 e 78%, respectivamente. Esse resultado é concordante com o publicado em estudos anteriores, que demonstra que a ecografia endorectal é melhor na exclusão de envolvimento ganglionar do que propriamente a confirmar a invasão ganglionar<sup>26</sup>.

Foi observada uma eficácia de 75% da ecografia endorectal na avaliação da invasão ganglionar, conforme o já descrito na literatura que aponta para uma eficácia entre 64 e 75%<sup>26,39,40</sup>.

De modo a comprovar melhor a precisão da ecografia endorectal, elaborou-se curvas ROC e calculouse a AUC destas. Esse teste estatístico é um bom preditor da precisão de um teste, sendo que uma área de 1 representa um teste perfeito. Na avaliação da precisão, obteve-se um valor de AUC de 0,807 para T1, de 0,739 para T2, de 0,740 para T3, de 0,986 para T4 e um AUC de 0,636 para o estadiamento N (Figura 1). Neste estudo, as curvas ROC mostraram valores de AUC muito perto de 1, indicando que a ecografia endorectal é um bom teste para estadiar a invasão tumoral no recto (T) e que é um teste razoável no estadiamento da invasão ganglionar. Esses resultados são ligeiramente inferiores a estudos previamente efectuados, que apontam para valores de AUC mais altos, indicando, assim, que a ecografia endorectal é um excelente teste no estadiamento global do Cancro do Recto<sup>17,26</sup>. No entanto, essa diferença pode ser explicada pelo maior número de doentes incluídos neste estudo relativamente aos estudos já efectuados, o que por sí poderá levar a uma melhor estimação da precisão da ecografia endorectal.

Por meio do teste de McNemar verificamos se existiam ou não diferenças significativas entre a ecografia endorectal e o estadiamento anatomopatológico. Neste estudo, verificou-se que há concordância significativa entre ambos pois não se obteve valores de p<0,05 (Tabela 8). Esse resultado vem reforçar que a ecografia endorectal é um exame essencial no estadiamento pré-operatório do cancro do recto.

Em jeito de conclusão, os resultados deste estudo permitem confirmar que a ecografia endorectal é uma importante ferramenta, de alta precisão para o estadiamento pré-operatório do cancro do recto. Os dados são melhores no estadiamento do T do que do N, sobretudo a nível da sensibilidade, com valores entre 63 e 100% comparativamente a 39%. O mesmo acontece relativamente à eficácia, com valores compreendidos entre 75 e 97% contra 75% na avaliação da invasão ganglionar. Apesar disso, ecografia endorectal é um teste moderado para averiguar o envolvimento ganglionar, sendo mais preciso na exclusão do que na confirmação de invasão ganglionar.

No futuro próximo, com os avanços tecnológicos que a ecoendoscopia 3D poderá acrescentar a esta modalidade de estadiamento, será possível atingir maior precisão no estadiamento TN do cancro do recto préoperatoriamente e assim obter uma gestão mais adequada da doença.

Vol. 30 Nº 4

ABSTRACT: Objective: This study aimed to evaluate endorectal ultrasound sensibility, in our experience, in rectal cancer staging comparing with pathologic result. Methods: A retrospective study between January 2005 and August 2009. We calculated sensibility, specificity, positive and negative predictive value for T and N. Through ROC curves we evaluated endoscopic ultrasound accuracy and through McNemar test we compared it with the anatomopathological result. Results: Of 112 patients, 76 met the inclusion criteria. We obtained an efficiency of 75 to 97% for uT and 75% in uN. There was a sensibility, specificity, positive and negative predictive value, respectively of 63, 98, 92 and 89% for uT1, 71% and 76, 54 and 88 for uT2, 67, 81; 73 and 76% for uT3, 100, 97, 60 and 100% uT4,

Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico Luís Filipe Carvalho Carriço e Cols.

and 39, 91, 62 and 78% for uN. The ROC curves indicated that endorectal ultrasound is a good test for T staging and reasonable for N staging. The McNemar test revealed no significant differences between endoscopic ultrasound and histological staging (p>0.05). Conclusions: We concluded that endorectal ultrasound is an important tool in rectal cancer staging, showing a good correlation with histopathological results.

Key words: Ultrasonography endorectal; Sensibility; Specificity; Positive predictive value; Negative predictive value; Pathological outcome.

# REFERÊNCIAS

- Akin O, Nessar G, Agildere AM, Aydog G. Preoperative local staging of rectal cancer with endorectal MR imaging: comparison with histopathologic findings. Journal of Clinical Imaging. 2004;28(6):432-8.
- Carneiro Chaves F. Rastreio e Prevenção dos tumores malignos do aparelho digestivo; 2005.
- Berrino F, De Angelis R, Sant M, Rosso S, Bielska-Lascota M, Coebergh JW, Santaquilini M; EUROCARE Working group. Survival for eight major cancers and all cancers combined for European adults diagnosed in 1995-99: results of the EUROCARE-4 study. Lancet Oncol. 2007;8(9):773-83.
- Hoffe SE, Shridhar R, Biagioli MC. Radiation therapy for rectal cancer: current status and future directions. Cancer Control. 2010;17(1):25-34.
- Ferlay J, Bray F, Pisani P, Parkin DM. Globocan 2002 Cancer Incidence, Mortality and Prevalence Worldwide. IARC CancerBase No. 5, version 2.0. Lyon: IARCPress;2004.
- Nagy VM. Updating the management of rectal cancer. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis. 2008;17(1):69-74.
- Siddiqui AA, Fayiga Y, Huerta S. The role of endoscopic ultrasound in the evaluation of rectal cancer. Int Semin Surg Oncol. 2006;3:36.
- Calvo JH, Pallila DG, Ortega JM, Ramia R, Pardo J, Martin A, Cubo LT. Biologia molecular del processo metastásico del cancer colorrectal. Cir Esp. 2000;68: 577-587.
- Crane CH, Skibber J. Preoperative chemoradiation for locally advanced rectal cancer: rationale, technique, and results of treatment. Semin Surg Oncol. 2003;21(4):265-270.
- Sleisenger, Fortran. Gastrointestinal and liver disease. 8th ed. Saunders; 2006.
- 11. National Cancer Institute. Surveillance epidemiology and end results (SEER). U.S. National Institutes of Health; 2008.
- Krook JE, Moertel CG, Gunderson LL, Wieand HS, Collins RT, Beart RW, et al. Effective adjuvant therapy for high-risk rectal carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 1991;324(11):709-15.
- Videtic GM, Fisher BJ, Perera FE, Bauman GS, Kocha WI, Taylor M, et al. Preoperative radiation with concurrent 5-fluorouracil continuous infusion for locally advanced unresectable rectal cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1998;42(2):319-24.
- Schmidt CE, Bestmann B, Küchler T, Longo WE, Kremer B. Ten-year historic cohort of quality of life and sexuality in patients with rectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum.

2005;48(3):483-92.

 Minsky BD. Adjuvant therapy for rectal cancer--a good first step. N Engl J Med. 1997;336:1016-7.

Vol. 30

Nº 4

- Grann A, Feng C, Wong D, Saltz L, Paty PP, Guillem JG, et al. Preoperative combined modality therapy for clinically resectable uT3 rectal adenocarcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;49(4):987-95.
- Krook JE, Moertel CG, Gunderson LL, Wieand HS, Collin RT, Beart RW, et al. Effective surgical adjuvant therapy for high-risk rectal carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 1991;324:709-15.
- Puli SR, Bechtold ML, Reddy JBK, Choudhary A, Antillon MR, Brugge WR. (2009). How Good is Endoscopic Ultrasound in Differentiating Various T Stages of Rectacl Cancer? Meta-Analysis and Sustematic Review. Ann Sur Oncol. 2009;16(2):254-65.
- 19. Kapiteijn E, Putter H, van de Velde CJ; Cooperative investigators of the Dutch ColoRectal Cancer Group. Cooperative investigators of the Dutch ColoRectal Cancer Group. Impact of the introduction and training of total mesorectal excision on recurrence and survival in rectal cancer in The Netherlands. Br J Surg. 2002;89(9):1142-9.
- Ross HM, Mahmoud N, Fry RD. The Current Management of rectal cancer. The Current Probl Surg. 2005;42(2):78-131.
- Christakis C, Chatzidimitrou C, Kontos N, Papadopoulou S, Karanikas M. Techniques in Coloproctology. Surgical Endos. 2004;18/11,(1572-7), 0930-2794.
- Kim JC, Cho YK, Kim SY, Park SK, Lee MG. Comparative study of threedimensional and conventional endorectal ultrasonography used in rectal cancer staging. Surg Endosc. 2002;16(9):1280-5.
- Guinet C, Buy JN, Ghossain MA, Sézeur A, Mallet A, Bigot JM, et al. Comparison of magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography in the preoperative staging of rectal cancer. Arch Surg. 1990;125(3):385-8.
- Meyenberger C, Huch Böni RA, Bertschinger P, Zala GF, Klotz HP, Krestin GP. Endoscopic ultrasound and endorectal magnetic resonance imaging: a prospective. comparative study for preoperative staging and follow-up of rectal cancer. Endoscopy. 1994;27(7):469-79.
- Rifkin MD, Ehrlich SM, Marks G. Staging of rectal carcinoma: prospective comparison of endorectal US and CT. Radiology. 1989;170(2):319-22.
- Puli Sr, Reddy JBK, Bechtold ML, Choudhary A, Antillon MR, Brugge WR. Accuracy of endoscopic ultrasound to diagnose nodal invasion by rectal cancers: a meta-analysis

Sensibilidade da ecografia endorectal no estadiamento do cancro do recto: correlação com o estadiamento patológico Luís Filipe Carvalho Carriço e Cols.

Vol. 30 Nº 4

and systematic review. Ann Sur Oncol. 2009;16(5):1255-65.

- Meyenberger C, Huch Böni RA, Bertschinger P, Zala GF, Klotz HP, Krestin GP. Endoscopic ultrasound and endorectal magnetic resonance imaging: a prospective, comparative study for preoperative staging and follow-up of rectal cancer. Endoscopy. 1995;27:469-79.
- 28. Kwok H, Bissett IP, Hill GL. Preoperative staging of rectal cancer. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2000;15:9-20.
- Wu JS. Rectal cancer staging. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. 2007;20(3):148-57.
- Orrom WJ, Wong WD, Rothenberger DA, Jensen LL, Goldberg SM. Endorectal ultrasound in the preoperative staging of rectal tumors. A learning experience. Dis Colon Rectum. 1990;33:654.
- Solomon MJ, McLeod RS. Endoluminal transrectal ultrasonography: accuracy, reliability and validity. Dis Colon Rectum. 1993; 36:200-5.
- Kim JC, Yu CS, Jung HY, Kim HC, Kim SY, Park SK, et al. Source of errors in the evaluation of early rectal cancer by endoluminal ultrasonography. Dis Colon Rectum. 2001;44(9):1302-9.
- Zammit M, Jenkins JT, Urie A, O'Dwyer PJ, Molloy RG. A technically difficult endorectal ultrasound is more likely to be inaccurate. Colorectal Dis. 2005;7:486-91.
- Lee SH, Hernandez de Anda E, Finne CO, Madoff RD, García-Aguilar J. The effect of circumferential tumor location in clinical outcomes of rectal cancer patients treated with total mesorectal excision. Dis Colon Rectum. 2005;48(12):2249-57.

- Leite JS, Alves FC, Souza FC. Carcinoma do recto Terapêutica neoadjuvante selectiva. GE - J Port Gastrenterol. 2004;11:248-256.
- Tio TL, Coene PP, van Delden OM, Tytgat GN. Colorectal carcinoma: preoperative TNM classification with endosonography. Radiol. 1991;179(1):165-70.
- Shimizu S, Tada M, Hawai K. Use of endoscopic ultrasonography for the diagnosis of colorectal tumors. Endoscopy.1990;22(1):31-4.
- Harewood GC. Assessment of publication bias in the reporting of EUS performance in staging rectal cancer. Am J Gastroenterol. 100(4):808-16.
- Vila JJ, Jiménes FJ, Irisarri R, Martínez A, Amorena E, Borda F. Rectal cancer staging with endoscopic ultrasonography: correlation with pathological staging. Rev Esp Enferm. (Madrid). 2007;99(3):132-7.
- Garcia-Aguilar J, Pollack J, Lee SH, Anda EH, Mellgren A, Wong WD, et al. Accuracy of endorectal ultrasonography in preoperative staging of rectal tumors. Dis Colon Rectum. 2002;45(1):10-5.

# Endereço para correspondência: SANDRA MARTINS

Rua Monsenhor Ferreira, 28 – 3° Esq. CEP: 4710-407 – Braga, Portugal Telemóvel – 00351933361345 E-mail: sandramartins@ecsaude.uminho.pt

# Appendix 10:

"Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of Hospital de Braga."

### **Original Article**

# Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of Hospital de Braga

MAFALDA ARAÚJO PIMENTA DE CASTRO<sup>1</sup>, SANDRA FÁTIMA FERNANDES MARTINS<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Medical Student of the School of Health Sciences at Universidade do Minho, campus of Gualtar – Braga, Portugal. <sup>2</sup>Hospital Assistant of Surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of Hospital de Braga. <sup>3</sup>Assistant at the Life and Health Sciences Research Institute of the College of Health Sciences at Universidade do Minho, campus of Gualtar – Braga, Portugal.

CASTRO MAP, MARTINS SFF. Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of Hospital de Braga. J Coloproctol, 2011;31(4): 362-371.

ABSTRACT: Introduction: Rectal cancer (RC) represents 1/3 of all diagnosed colorectal cancers. After the creation of specialized units to treat RC, it became fundamental to establish criteria to assess the quality of the service. Objective: To evaluate the surgical treatment provided to RC patients at the Coloproctology Unit of *Hospital de Braga* (BH-CU) by means of quality parameters. Methods: We conducted an observational cross-sectional descriptive study with a convenience sample of 149 patients undergoing surgical treatment in this unit, from January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2007 to June 30, 2010. Results: We observed that the postoperative mortality rate (4%) and the global dehiscence rate (14.8%) were in accordance with recommended values. Sphincter sparing surgery rate (65.8%) was higher than the recommended minimum; however, more than 12 resected ganglia (36.6%) is inferior than what is recommended. The oncological results were analyzed by the local recurrence rate (6.7%) and the two-year survival rate (91.1%); both values are in accordance with literature. Conclusion: We conclude that the BH-CU surgical treatment has a quality level similar to that observed in literature.

Keywords: rectal cancer; functional coloproctology unit; quality parameters of surgical treatment.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Colorectal cancer (CCR) is the third most common cancer and ranks the fourth position as a cause of death by cancer worldwide<sup>1-3</sup>. Its incidence is geographically varied, and there are higher rates in North America, Australia and Western Europe. The lower rates are in developing countries<sup>4</sup>, but the incidence in these countries<sup>5</sup> has been increasing in the past few years.

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), CCR is the second most common cancer in Europe, followed by lung cancer among males and breast cancer among females<sup>6</sup>. Despite the high incidence, data from WHO from 1997 to 2007 show that mortality caused by CCR decreased<sup>7</sup>. The reduction in mortality rates was mainly due to the advances in knowledge concerning the molecular mechanisms that are responsible for the development and progression of CCR<sup>8</sup> and for

the introduction of tracking programs with the population aged more than 50 years<sup>9</sup>. In Portugal, according to the National Institute of Statistics, CCR is the second most common cancer and the main cause of death due to neoplastic disease<sup>10</sup>. It is more common in urban centers, such as Lisbon, Porto and Setubal<sup>11</sup>. To the north of Portugal, data from *Registro Oncológico Regional do Norte* (RORENO) show that CCR was the most prevalent cancer in 2005 for both genders, and the second cause of death due to cancer, after lung cancer<sup>12,13</sup>.

Rectal cancer (RC) makes up to 1/3 of the total number of diagnosed cases of CCR<sup>14</sup>. Even though the north of Portugal presents an incidence rate of 24.8/100,000 inhabitants, which is higher to the incidence in Europe (21.2/100,000 inhabitants), the five-year survival rate (53%) has a much closer value to the European mean (53.2%)<sup>12</sup>. The therapeutic approach to RC has been through significant changes in the past decades, going

Submitted on: 06/05/2011 Approved on: 06/13/2011

Study carried out at the Hospital de Braga, Coloproctology Unit, Braga, Portugal. Financing source: none. Conflict of interest: nothing to declare.

Journal of Coloproctology October/December, 2011 Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of Hospital de Braga Mafalda Araújo Pimenta de Castro et al.

from a merely surgical treatment to a multidisciplinary approach15; however, despite the aforementioned advances, surgical exeresis is still essential<sup>16</sup>, since it is the only potentially curative treatment nowadays. There are currently many therapy options related to the location of the cancer; thus, the performance of an anterior rectal resection (ARR) for superior rectal tumors is indicated; a low anterior rectal resection with coloanal anastomosis is indicated for inferior rectal tumors<sup>17</sup>. As to the latter, since this procedure has risk of dehiscence, it is established that is should be complemented with protective ileostomy<sup>18</sup>. The abdominoperineal resection (APR) is currently limited; it is recommended for tumors that present with sphincter infiltration, for cases of fecal incontinence prior to tumoral symptomatology and elderly patients with associated comorbidity that does not allow an anastomosis. The same happens with the Hartmann's operation (HO), which is performed when there are factors that contraindicate anastomosis that would enable the preservation of the sphincters with a safe distal margin<sup>17</sup>. Also, the local transanal resection is only indicated for tumors that are limited to the mucosa and the submucosa (T1N0M0), with no lymphovascular invasion, well or moderately differentiated, with less than 3 cm in diameter and located up to 8 cm from the anal margin (AM)<sup>17</sup>. One of the great advances in the past decades, in terms of surgical treatment for CR, was the introduction of the concept of total mesorectal excision (TME). Heald et al. showed the importance of TME in the two lower thirds of the rectum, with dissection under direct visualization and preservation of the nervous plexus. The introduction of TME enabled the reduction of local recurrence rates for values of 6%, with a fiveyear survival rate of 80%, and ten-year survival rate of 78%<sup>15</sup>. The decrease in local recurrence rates was due to the fact that TME enabled the resection of RC with a negative circumferential margin<sup>19</sup>. This technique has also led to the improvement in pathological staging of cancer, as well as in the quality of life of the operated patient because of the reduction in the incidence of vesical dysfunction and sexual impotence14.

The concept of margin is important to be considered in resection with a curative intent. Regarding RC, we should consider the distal, proximal and radial margins, in which the currently accepted values are 1 cm, 5 cm and 1 mm, respectively. The involvement of these margins is associated with increased locoregional recurrence; more specifically, the involvement of the radial margin is associated with a recurrence risk of 56 - 80%, with a five-year survival rate, decreasing from 79 to  $40\%^{20}$ . Another margin to be considered is the distal margin of the mesorectal dissection, which has an important prognostic value and should be 5 cm distal to the tumor, once it showed the presence of tumor niche 2 to 3 cm below the tumor<sup>17</sup>.

Vol. 31

Nº 4

As to the surgical treatment of RC, together with negative resection margins, a proper lymphadenectomy is the most important aspect<sup>21</sup>. In this context, it is important to perform a proper lymphadenectomy, with resection of at least 12 ganglia; besides reducing the risk of lymphatic invasion, it also prevents the substaging of the tumor<sup>22</sup>.

Despite the improvements observed in the recurrence rate of the resectable RC, the local recurrence is still an issue in cases of locally advanced fixed rectal cancer. The current strategy to treat such cases is multidisciplinary<sup>23</sup>. The primary therapy enables to increase respectability, decrease the locoregional recurrence rate and improve the survival of the patient<sup>19,23</sup>. Thus, the initial treatment for locally advanced RC (T3-4 or N+) consists of the administration of chemotherapy and primary radiotherapy<sup>16,19</sup>.

The creation of units that are specialized in treating RC contributed with better results, since it improved the preoperative staging by using: the pelvic magnetic resonance and endoluminal ultrasound; the primary therapy after establishing the dose and proper times of application<sup>24</sup> in cases of locally advanced RC; the implementation of TME as a qualified technique to assess the obtained results<sup>22</sup>; and the establishment of standards concerning anatomopathological tecniques<sup>24</sup>. According to a study conducted in the United States, these changes are reflected in the decreased local recurrence rate, from 9.6 to 6.9%<sup>25</sup>. In a study group from Norway, the implementation of TME showed a decrease in the local recurrence rate, from 12% to 6%, and the survival rate after four years increased from 60% to 73%. The same happened in a randomized study conducted in the Netherlands, in which the local recurrence rate after two years was significantly lower in patients submitted to surgery and radiotherapy (2.4%) than in the group treated only with surgery  $(8.2\%)^{16}$ . Due to this evolution, many European countries, such as Germany, Sweden and Spain, showed the need to define new quality

 

 Journal of Coloproctology
 Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of October/December, 2011

 Hospital de Braga

Mafalda Araújo Pimenta de Castro et al.

standards, with the minimum required values, which are essential for the evolution of the diagnosis, staging and treatment of RC, for beyond the ones that are usually used, such as morbidity and mortality<sup>22,24,26</sup>.

By studying large samples, some indicators have been established to enable the evaluation of surgical quality concerning the RC treatment; these can be divided into general and specific criteria, and criteria that study oncologic results<sup>27</sup>. General criteria are: postoperative mortality rate, which should be inferior to 5%, ideally between 2 and 3%24,27, and the global dehiscence rate, whose required value lies between 10 and 15%<sup>22,24,27</sup>. Regarding the sphincter sparing surgery rate, it is recommended to be higher than 65%<sup>24,27</sup>, and the number of cases with more than 12 resected ganglia should be higher than 75%<sup>22</sup>; both are considered to be specific criteria. Finally, the criteria that study the oncologic results are assessed by the local recurrence rate, that should be lower than 10%<sup>22,24,27</sup>, and the ideal value for the survival rate after two years is between 70 and 80%<sup>24,25</sup>. Besides the aforementioned, these indicators enable a proper evaluation of quality in assistance, because it accounts for the final health status of the patient and its functional capacity<sup>24</sup>.

#### **OBJECTIVE**

To assess the surgical treatment given to patients with rectal cancer in the Coloproctology Unit of *Hospital de Braga*, from January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2007, and June 30, 2010, according to quality standards.

#### **METHODS**

#### Population

The study population was comprised of patients treated for RC from January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2007, to June 30, 2010, at the Coloproctology Unit of *Hospital de Braga*. This study considered as "rectal cancer" all the cases of histopathological diagnosis of adenocarcinoma, located up to 15 cm from the anal margin, measured with the rigid sigmoidoscopy. Inclusion criteria were: patients with histological diagnosis of rectal adenocarcinoma submitted to surgery (local resection, anterior rectal resection, low anterior rectal resection or abdominoperineal resection). Exclusion criteria were: patients with histological diagnosis of rectal adenocarcinoma submitted to surgery (local resection or abdominoperineal resection). Exclusion criteria were: patients with histological diagnosis of rectal adenocarcinoma

that did not undergo surgery, or those in which the derivative stoma was performed.

Vol. 31

Nº 4

#### Sample

A convenience sample of 149 patients diagnosed with RC was used, respecting the inclusion/exclusion criteria previously established.

#### Methods and data collection

Before data collection, the work was submitted to and approved by the Ethics Committee of *Hospital de Braga*. A prospective database of patients diagnosed with RC was consulted; it consisted of sociodemographic data, location of the tumor, treatment of choice, number of resected ganglia, resection margins, presence of postoperative morbidity and data related to the follow-up period as the date of local recurrence and death.

#### Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed with the 18.0 version of the software *Package for the Social Sciences*, (SPSS Inc. R, Chicago, Illinois, USA). A simple descriptive analysis of all the variables was conducted by defining the total number of cases and the absolute and relative frequencies for valid cases. As for the treatment of continuous quantitative variables (age, distance to anal margin and number of resected ganglia) central tendency (mode and mean) and dispersion (standard deviation [SD]) were measured.

#### RESULTS

#### Sample caracterization

From January 1st, 2007, and June 30, 2010, 164 patients with RC were treated at the Coloproctology Unit of *Hospital de Braga*. At first, 15 patients were not eligible for the study, once they were in no conditions to be submitted to surgery (n=7) or in case they had been submitted to the isolated performance of a derivative stoma (n=9). Thus, after the establishment of exclusion criteria, 149 patients were included in the study, that is, 91% of the patients that had been initially identified. As to gender distribution, we observed that 57% of the patients (n=85) were males, and 43% (n=64) were females. Mean age was  $68\pm12$  years; among females, it was  $66\pm13$  years, and for males it was  $70\pm11$ 

Journal of Coloproctology Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of October/December, 2011 Hospital de Braga

Mafalda Araújo Pimenta de Castro et al.

years. Mode was equal to 80 years. After observing the age group analysis, we noticed that most cases, 35.6%, occurs between the ages of 70 and 80 years (n=53) (Figure 1). The most common location of RC was the medium rectum, in 53% of the cases, followed by the lower and upper rectum, in 27.5 and 19.5% of the cases, respectively (Table 1). The mean distance to the anal margin was 8.5±4.3 cm. After staging, 27.5% (n=41) of the patients underwent primary therapy followed by surgery; out of these, chemoradiotherapy was used in 25.5% of the patients (Table 2).

#### **Evaluation of surgery quality parameters**

#### Type of surgery

Concerning the performed surgeries, 98.7% (n=147) were elective, and 93.3% (n=139) of the cases, it had a curative intent. The most common surgery was the low anterior rectal resection, 30.2% (n=45), followed by the abdominoperineal resection (22.1%) (n=33). As demonstrated in Table 3, 65.8% of the surgeries were classified as "Sphincter Sparing Surgery".

#### Anastomotic dehiscence

Out of the 149 studied cases, 22 presented with postoperative morbidity classified as "anastomotic dehiscence". In this group, 9 patients needed surgical reintervention. After crossing the variables "type of surgery" and "anastomotic dehiscence", it was possible to show that the low anterior rectal resection is the surgical procedure that presents the highest global anastomotic dehiscence rate, with 6.8% of the cases; out of these, 3.4% were conservatively treated, and the other 3.4% needed surgical reintervention (Table 4). After analyzing the global dehiscence rate along the years of the study, we observed that 2007 and 2009 presented the highest percentage, with 4.7% of the cases; in 2010, this value decreased (Figure 2). Out of the 22 patients who presented with anastomotic dehiscence, only 1 (0.7%) was submitted to primary radiotherapy.

#### *Postoperative mortality*

The postoperative mortality rate was 4.0% (n=6). From these patients, 3 presented with postoperative morbidity characterized as anastomotic dehiscence; two were submitted to conservative treatment, and one underwent surgery.



Figure 1. Distribution of the "Age" variable by age groups.

Table 1. Characterizing the variable "Anatomical Location".

Anatomical Location			
	Absolute N° (n)	Frequency (%)	
Superior rectum	29	19.5	
Medium rectum	79	53.0	
Inferior rectum	41	27.5	
Total	149	100.0	

Table 2. Characterizing the variable "Primary Treatment".

Primary Treatment			
	Absolute N° (n)	Frequency (%)	
No primary treatment	108	72.5	
CT + RT	38	25.5	
СТ	1	0.7	
RT	2	1.3	
Total	149	100	

CT: chemotherapy; RT: radiotherapy.

Vol. 31

Nº 4

Journal of Coloproctology	Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of	Vol. 31
October/December, 2011	Hospital de Braga	N° 4
	Mafalda Analia Dimenta da Casta da I	

Mafalda Araújo Pimenta de Castro et al.

Table 3. Characterizing the variable "Type of surgery".

Type of Surgery	Absolute N° (n)	Frequency (%)	Sphincter Sparing Surgery
Low anterior rectal resection	45	30.2	65.8 %
Anterior rectal resection	28	18.8	
Low anterior rectal resection + ileostomy	21	14.1	
Local Resection	4	2.7	
Hartmann's operation	18	12.1	34.2 %
Abdominoperineal resection	33	22.1	
Total	149	100.0	

CT: chemotherapy; RT: radiotherapy

Table 4. Crossing variables "Type of surgery" and "Anastomotic dehiscence".

	Absolute N°(n)	Frequency (%)
Dehiscence – Conservative treatment	13	8.8
Low anterior rectal resection	5	3.4
Abdominoperineal resection	5	3.4
Low anterior rectal resection + ileostomy	3	2
Dehiscence – Surgical treatment	9	6.0
Low anterior rectal resection	5	3.4
Abdominoperineal resection	4	2.6
Low anterior rectal resection + ileostomy	0	0
Total	22	14.8



Figure 2. Evolution of the variable "Anastomotic dehiscence".

#### Number of analyzed ganglia

The mean of analyzed ganglia (gg) was  $11\pm7$  ganglia, the median was 9.5 and the mode was 6 ganglia.

The analysis of 12 or more ganglia was only observed in 36.6% of the cases (n=49); in the other 63.4% (n=85), an inferior number of ganglia were analyzed. Out of the 41 cases submitted to primary therapy, 70.7% (n=29) presented a number of analyzed ganglia inferior to 12. From the 85 cases with less than 12 analyzed ganglia, 29 cases (34.1%) had primary therapy.

#### Locoregional recurrence

The global recurrence rate was 6.7% (n=10). The patients submitted to primary therapy presented an inferior recurrence rate, 1.3%, in relation to those who underwent isolated surgery (5.4%).

#### Survival after 2 years

The survival rate after 2 years was 91.9% in the studied sample.

Journal of Coloproctology October/December, 2011 Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of Hospital de Braga Mafalda Araújo Pimenta de Castro et al.

DISCUSSION

The treatment of RC has progressed for the past few decades<sup>15</sup>, and this progress is mostly due to the creation of functional units that are specifically directed to this pathology<sup>24</sup>. Many European countries, such as Norway, the Netherlands, Germany, Sweden, France, Denmark and Spain, have been working to define new quality standards to establish minimum required values for the surgical treatment of RC<sup>22,24,26,28-32</sup>.

The requirement for the creation of coloproctology functional units is based on many studies that demonstrate that the treatment of patients with specific diagnoses, such as RC, is better in hospitals that receive a lot of cases of this pathology; and although it might sound true, this may be more related to specific characteristics of the surgeon than to the number of cases in the hospital<sup>33,34</sup>. In Europe, it is acknowledged that the surgeon factor, especially the technique, the ability and the practice, are essential and influence the results of the treatment for RC35. Thus, the sub specialization of colorectal surgeons who are especially trained and have performed a high number of surgeries, is one of the most important predictors of quality concerning colorectal surgery<sup>33,34</sup>. In 2006, Rogers et al. suggested at least 13 rectal resections per surgeon as the minimum value required for maintaining the certificate in colorectal surgery for a period of 4 years, and in hospitals that have at least 84 surgeries of this type during this period<sup>34</sup>. In Sweden, as in this study, Martling et al. observed that the high number of surgeries is associated with better results, and defined that a group reaches such classification when each surgeon performs at least 12 rectal resections in a year<sup>36</sup>.

In Portugal, there are many coloproctology functional units; however, there are few studies that evaluate quality standards. So, this study aims to audit the quality of the health care service that is present at the functional units of *Hospital de Braga* in order to provide a work base that allows its improvement.

After analyzing the data concerning the functional units of *Hospital de Braga*, from January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2007, to June 30, 2010, 164 patients with RC were treated, and since the unit had three surgeons, these values are clearly above the suggested by the two aforementioned studies<sup>34,36</sup> for the performance of RC surgery, so to offer quality standards to these patients. Concerning the treated patients, it was observed that males are more affected, in 57% of the cases, and that 92.4% of the cases are comprised in age groups older than 50 years, which is in accordance with literature<sup>1,3,37</sup>. As to the location of the RC, our studied showed that 53% of the cases were in the medium rectum, which is similar to findings from studies conducted in Germany, Spain and the United States of America, in which 40 to 55% of the cancers had this anatomical location<sup>22,25,38</sup>.

The administration of primary therapy is currently essential to approach locally advanced RC or with ganglion invasion, since it increases the possibility of resection, decreases the locoregional recurrence rate and increases survival rates<sup>23</sup>. In this study, after staging, 27.5% (n=41) of the patients underwent primary therapy followed by surgery.

Concerning the performed surgeries, 93.3% (n=139) of the cases had curative intent, which is higher than the values found in literature, that shows values such as 91.5% in Norway<sup>28</sup>, 83% in Sweden<sup>39</sup> and 64% in the Netherlands<sup>40</sup>. This result can be due to the fact that we are located in a region with high incidence of colorectal cancer; this is why patients have been tracked for the past few years, which enabled the early diagnosis, as well as the relation between the functional unit and the health centers; this way, patients were rapidly referred.

The most common surgery in the coloproctology functional unit was the low anterior rectal resection (30.2%), which is in accordance with rates found in literature, of  $39.5\%^{38}$  and  $47.3\%^{23}$ .

As to the parameter "sphincter sparing surgery", in Sweden and Spain the recommended values are higher than 70%<sup>24,39</sup> of the performed surgery; in Norway and the Netherlands, the ideal value is between 65 and 70%<sup>28,40</sup>. The result was 65.8%, which is close to the minimum value required in these studies. This value can be explained because the ultralow anterior rectal resection is not performed with coloanal anastomosis, and also because of the high percentage of cases in comparison to other series of performed Hartmann's operation, 12.1% (n=18). Out of these patients, only one was submitted to urgent surgery; the others underwent elective surgery, in which the "sphincter sparing" resection could be performed, but due to the old age of the patients (mode of 80 years), with comorbidities associated with sphincter malfunctions, it

Vol. 31 Nº 4 Journal of ColoproctologyEvaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of<br/>Hospital de Braga

Mafalda Araújo Pimenta de Castro et al.

was chosen to perform a definitive stoma in order to avoid the high risk of fecal incontinence.

The rate of abominoperineal resections performed was 22.1% (n=33), which is within the limits described in literature, from 22 and  $27\%^{41}$ , strongly influenced by the number of patients in the center. For tumors that are under the 8 cm from the anal margin, the described values range from 44.6 to 44.8%<sup>41</sup>.

This rate has been considered as one of the reliability criteria of the functional units<sup>41-43</sup>; however, such criteria are being discussed<sup>41,42</sup>, since they depend on the percentage of RC located in the inferior 1/3 of the rectum that each unit presents; in this study, it was 27.5% of the cases.

Concerning the postoperative morbidity analysis, we chose to only characterize the anastomotic dehiscence since it is the main cause of morbimortality of rectal resection<sup>35</sup>. Values of 15%<sup>24</sup> are described in Spanish studies, but other countries presented inferior numbers: 9% in Sweden<sup>39</sup>, 10% in Germany, 10% in Norway<sup>28</sup>, and 12% in the Netherlands<sup>40</sup>. The first issue we face to compare values concerning the coloproctology functional units at Hospital de Braga with data presented in literature is the definition of this concept. Except for the German study, none of the others define "anastomotic dehiscence". This problem is registered in literature, since there are many studies related to dehiscence values; a review conducted by Bruce et al. on the incidence of anastomotic dehiscence post colorectal surgery analyzed 97 studies, in which 57 different definitions of anastomotic dehiscence were defined by the need of surgical reintervention, clinical findings or radiological criteria, thus making the comparison between studies more difficult<sup>44</sup>.

In this study, the anastomotic dehiscence was defined as colorectal anastomotic failure, diagnosed by clinical or radiological criteria, with or without the need for the surgical treatment, which represents a total dehiscence rate of 14.8% (n=22); this value would decrease to 6% (n=9) in case only the patients who needed surgical reintervention were considered. When we analyze which "Type of surgery" presents the higher total dehiscence rate, we observe that the low anterior rectal resection is the highest, in 6.8% of the cases, which is in accordance with literature, since the risk of dehiscence depends on the level of anastomosis, among other factors, that is, bigger in the medium and inferior rectum<sup>45</sup>.

Another important aspect in the data analysis is that the low anterior rectal resection with ileostomy presents the lowest total dehiscence value, 2%, and also that all the other cases (n=3) were treated without the new surgical intervention.

Even though the primary therapy increases the risk of dehiscence, this study did not have enough data to establish such a relation<sup>45</sup>.

Data obtained after the analysis of the evolution of the variable "anastomotic dehiscence" throughout the studied years are inconclusive. Annual values are very similar, however, a gradual increase in dehiscence cases that needed surgical reintervention was observed. This can be a result of lower anastomoses that are performed with the years, due to the accumulated experience, thus causing a higher risk of dehiscence. The lowest dehiscence value was observed in 2010, concerning the first six months of the year; although, there is a tendency to reduce such number.

As to the postoperative mortality rate, according to countries like Sweden, Norway, the Netherlands and Spain, it should be around 2 and 3%<sup>24,28,39,40</sup>; however, this interval is not a consensus, and in Germany the recommendation is that it should be inferior to  $5\%^{22}$ . In our study, the postoperative mortality rate was 4.0% (n=6) and, as described in literature, this rate is directly related to the anastomotic dehiscence rate, once it is the main cause of death at the postoperative for the colorectal patient<sup>24</sup>. Out of these six patients, three had anastomotic dehiscence, and one underwent a new surgery. Besides, other aspects are also important, especially the old age of most patients in the sample, which leads to low resistance to the intercurrences that occur during admission, as well as associated comorbidities<sup>25</sup>; thus, it was the cause of death for other 3 patients (respiratory failure, myocardial infarction and pulmonary edema).

The evaluation of the ganglia involvement is essential for the staging of the RC, and significant correlations have been established between the number of analyzed ganglia and the survival of patients<sup>46</sup>. In order to study the number of analyzed ganglia, the cohort value was established based on criteria of different surgeon associations, which recommend the analysis of at least 12 negative ganglia<sup>41,46,47</sup>. This way, it is possible to confirm with 90% accuracy that the patient is free of lymphatic invasion<sup>38,48</sup>. In one of the studies conduct-

Vol. 31 Nº 4 Journal of Coloproctology Evaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of October/December, 2011 Hospital de Braga Mafalda Araújo Pimenta de Castro et al.

ed in Germany, it was defined that more than 75% of the surgeries should have more than 12 analyzed ganglia; in Spain, the value presented for such indicator is around  $71\%^{22,38}$ . In this context, the percentage of cases in which 12 or more ganglia were analyzed (36.6%) is lower than the minimum required value. Three types of factors can contribute with this value: the ones that depend on anatomy and on the biological conditions of the patient; the ones that depend on surgical technique; and the ones that depend anatomopathological technique<sup>48</sup>.

Concerning the factors that depend on the patient, the anatomical factors stand out, with individual variations related to the number of lymphatic ganglia, the age of the patient, with the tendency to perform surgeries that are less aggressive in oncological terms, with the old age of the patients48 and the administration of the primary treatment, which causes the ganglia to decrease in size, thus making resection harder<sup>46</sup>.

Concerning this last aspect in the analyzed study, 70% of the cases that were submitted to primary therapy presented a number of analyzed ganglia inferior to 12; however, they represent only 34.1% of the cases with less than 12 analyzed ganglia, thus, the low percentage cannot be only related to that fact.

As to the surgical technique, the analysis of resection margins that led to the observation that out of the 164 operated patients, only one presented with radial margin invasion; with this, we concluded that a proper total mesorectal excision was performed, and that the lymphatic ganglia that were present in the mesorectum were completely removed; they might or might not have been accounted for. In literature, abominoperineal resection is described as the surgery with the lowest number of ganglia<sup>48</sup>. Since this surgery ranks in second place in our series as to the most performed surgeries, this might have contributed with the obtained results.

Finally, these results can be justified by the anatomopathological technique, since this unit is still based on the classical model of visual identification and ganglion palpation, which is a slow and delicate process, and also, in 70% of the cases, ganglia have less than 5 mm in diameter and could easily go unnoticed during the resection process<sup>48</sup>.

The locoregional recurrence of RC is one of the most feared situations, since it is usually inoperable and the patient could die slowly and painfully<sup>43</sup>. As 55 to 80% of the recurrence cases happen in the first two

years after surgery<sup>49</sup>, the local recurrence rate in this period is one of the main indicators of the oncological results. The maximum value established for that rate is 10%, and it is presented by the Spanish series<sup>24</sup>; however, in decreasing order, we found the following values: 9% in the Netherlands<sup>40</sup>, 6% in Sweden<sup>28,39</sup>, and 4% in Norway<sup>28</sup>. In these three countries, this limit is lower for patients submitted to the primary treatment, and the minimum required value is between 1.5% and 2.4%<sup>28,39,40</sup>. In this area, the studied unit presents good numbers, with a local recurrence rate of 6.8%, subdivided into 6.1% of recurrence without primary treatment and 0.7% with primary treatment.

#### CONCLUSION

The periodic evaluation of quality standards concerning the surgery of RC is important in any coloproctology functional unit, since it enables internal monitoring, identifies the key points as to how to intervene for better results, and yet, at the same time, it enables to inform the patients in the unit about the expected results at the institution, instead of those in literature.

In this study, quality standards were classified as: general, specific and those that study oncological results. Concerning general criteria, the postoperative mortality rate, 4%, and the global dehiscence rate, 14.8%, are within the values recommended in literature. In the category of specific criteria, the rate of sphincter sparing surgeries, 65.8%, was higher than the recommended limit; however, the rate concerning more than 12 resected ganglia, 36.6%, is lower than recommended. Finally, the analysis of oncological results was conducted by a local recurrence rate, 6.7%, and survival rate after two years, 91.1%, both within recommended values.

With this study, we can observe that the values in this unit are within the values recommended in literature for most of the quality criteria. The exception, and one of the items that should receive short term investments, is the improvement of the anatomopathological characterization of the number of assessed ganglia. However, it is important to emphasize that with the rapid therapeutic advances, it is necessary to discuss and regularly rethink the minimum required values, as well as to define a limit of standards that are easy to calculate, so that the evaluation of the results by each of the surgeons in the unit can be a simple and periodic process.

Vol. 31 Nº 4 Journal of ColoproctologyEvaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit ofVol. 31October/December, 2011Hospital de BragaN° 4Mafalda Araújo Pimenta de Castro et al.N° 4

RESUMO: Introdução: O câncer do reto (CR) constitui cerca de 1/3 da totalidade dos casos de câncer colorretal diagnosticados. Após a criação de unidades especializadas no tratamento do CR, tornou-se fundamental estabelecer critérios que permitam avaliar a qualidade do tratamento prestado. Objetivo: Avaliar, segundo parâmetros de qualidade, o tratamento cirúrgico prestado aos doentes com CR, na Unidade Funcional de Coloproctologia (UFC) do Hospital de Braga (HB). Métodos: Realizou-se um estudo observacional, transversal e descritivo com uma amostra de conveniência constituída por 149 doentes operados de CR entre 1º de Janeiro de 2007 e 30 de Junho de 2010. Resultados: Observou-se que a taxa de mortalidade pós-operatória (4%) e a taxa global de deiscência (14,8%) se encontram dentro dos valores recomendados. A taxa de realização de cirurgia poupadora de esfíncteres (65,8%) foi superior ao limite mínimo aconselhado; no entanto, a taxa de número de gânglios ressecados superior a 12 (36,6%), encontra-se aquém do exigível. Os resultados oncológicos foram analisados através da taxa de recidiva local, 6,7%, e da taxa de sobrevida aos 2 anos, 91,1%, ambos dentro dos valores propostos na literatura. Conclusão: Concluímos que o tratamento cirúrgico prestado na UFC do HB apresenta um nível de qualidade semelhante ao globalmente recomendado.

Palavras-chave: câncer do reto; unidade funcional coloproctologia; parâmetros de qualidade do tratamento cirúrgico.

### REFERÊNCIAS

- Svagzdys S, Lesauskaite V, Pavalkis D, Nedzelskiene I, Pranys D, Tamelis A. Microvessel density as new prognostic marker after radiotherapy in rectal cancer. BMC Cancer 2009;9:95.
- Des Guetz G, Uzzan B, Nicolas P, Cucherat M, Morere JF, Benamouzig R, et al. Microvessel density and VEGF expression are prognostic factors in colorectal cancer. Metaanalysis of the literature. Br J Cancer 2006;94(12):1823-32.
- Brenner H, Hoffmeister M, Haug U. Should colorectal cancer screening start at the same age in European countries? Contributions from descriptive epidemiology. Br J Cancer 2008;99(3):532-5.
- 4. Center MM, Jemal A, Smith RA, Ward E. Worldwide variations in colorectal cancer. CA Cancer J Clin 2009;59(6):366-78.
- Aljebreen AM. Clinico-pathological patterns of colorectal cancer in Saudi Arabia: younger with an advanced stage presentation. Saudi J Gastroenterol 2007;13(2):84-7
- Neagoe A, Molnar AM, Acalovschi M, Seicean A, Serban A. Risk factors for colorectal cancer: an epidemiologic descriptive study of a series of 333 patients. Rom J Gastroenterol 2004;13(3):187-93.
- Bosetti C, Levi F, Rosato V, Bertuccio P, Lucchini F, Negri E, et al. Recent trends in colorectal cancer mortality in Europe. Int J Cancer 2011;129(1):180-91.
- Nagy VM. Updating the management of rectal cancer. J Gastrointestin Liver 2008;17(1):69-74.
- Wilson JA. Colon cancer screening in the elderly: when do we stop? Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc 2010;121:94-103.
- Chaves FC. Rastreio e prevenção de tumores malignos. Lisboa: Permanyer Portugal; 2005.
- Pereira CA, Henriques J. Cirurgia Patologia e Clínica. 2a ed. Lisboa: Mc Graw-Hill; 2006.
- Instituto Português de Oncologia do Porto. RORENO

   Registo Oncológico Regional do Norte 2005. [Cited 2010 Sep 15]. Available from: http://www.ipoporto.min-saude.pt/NR/rdonlyres/C2A78C3F-1009-4F29-B970-2D1A69F40DCE/15264/Roreno\_05.pdf).

- 13. Instituto Nacional de Estatística. Estatísticas da Saúde 2005. [cited 2010 Sep 15]. Available from: http:// www.ine.pt/xportal/xmain?xpid=1NE&xpgid=ine\_ publicacoes&PUBLICACOES%20pub\_boui=129520%20&P UBLICACOEStema=Qualquer&PUBLICACOESmodo=2)
- 14. Archampong D, Borowski DW, Dickinson HO. Impact of surgeon volume on outcomes of rectal cancer surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Surgeon 2010;8(6):341-52.
- Heald RJ, Moran BJ, Ryall RDH, Sexton R, MacFarlane JK. Rectal cancer: the Basingstoke experience of total mesorectal excision, 1978-1997. Arch Surg 1998;133:894-8.
- Leite JS, Alves FC, Sousa FC. Carcinoma do Recto -Terapêutica Neoadjuvante Selectiva .GE - J Port Gastrenterol 2004;11:248-56.
- Matoses SL, García-Granero E, García-Armengol J. Surgical treatment and results of rectal cancer. Cir Esp 2003;73(1):25-9.
- Stewart DB, Dietz DW. Total mesorectal excision: what are we doing? Clin Colon Rectal Surg 2007;20(3):190-202.
- Ais Conde G, Fernandez BF, Santos PV, Perez JL, Picatoste Merino M, Manzanares Sacristán J.. Rectal cancer: which patients benefit from radiotherapy? Cir Esp 2010;87(6):350-5.
- McKenzie SP, Barnes SL, Schwartz RW. An update on the surgical management of rectal cancer. Curr Surg 2005;62(4):407-11.
- Lim YK, Law WL, Liu R, Poon JT, Fan JF, Lo OS. Impact of neoadjuvant treatment on total mesorectal excision for ultralow rectal cancers. World J Surg Oncol 2010;8:23.
- Merkel S, Klossek D, Gohl J, Papadopoulos T, Hohenberger W, Hermanek P. Quality management in rectal carcinoma: what is feasible? Int J Colorectal Dis 2009;24(8):931-42.
- 23. Kim NK, Baik SH, Seong JS, Kim H, Roh JK, Lee KY, et al. Oncologic outcomes after neoadjuvant chemoradiation followed by curative resection with tumor-specific mesorectal excision for fixed locally advanced rectal cancer: Impact of postirradiated pathologic downstaging on local recurrence and survival. Ann Surg 2006;244(6):1024-30.
- 24. Pera M, Pascual M. Quality standards in rectal cancer surgery.

Journal of ColoproctologyEvaluation of quality parameters of rectal cancer surgery at the Coloproctology Unit of<br/>Hospital de Braga

Mafalda Araújo Pimenta de Castro et al.

Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005;28(7):417-25.

- Phang PT, McGahan CE, McGregor G, MacFarlane JK, Brown CJ, Raval MJ, et al. Effects of change in rectal cancer management on outcomes in British Columbia. Can J Surg 2010;53(4):225-31.
- Pahlman L, Bohe M, Cedermark B, Dahlberg M, Lindmark G, Sjödahl R, et al. The Swedish rectal cancer registry. Br J Surg 2007;94(10):1285-92.
- 27. Hortiz H. Standards of quality and instrumentation required for the laparotomic approach in the surgery of the lower rectum. Cir Esp 2003;74(6):321-4.
- Wibe A, Moller B, Norstein J, Carlsen E, Wiig JN, Heald RJ, et al. A national strategic change in treatment policy for rectal cancer--implementation of total mesorectal excision as routine treatment in Norway. A national audit. Dis Colon Rectum, 45(7):857-66.
- 29. Phelip JM, Milan C, Herbert C, Grosclaude P, Arveux P, Raverdy N, et al. Evaluation of the management of rectal cancers before and after the consensus conference in France. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004;16(10):1003-9.
- Nesbakken A, Nygaard K, Westerheim O, Mala T, Lunde OC.. Local recurrence after mesorectal excision for rectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 2002;28(2):126-34.
- Iversen LH, Norgaard M, Jepsen P, Jacobsen J, Christensen MM, Gandrup P, et al. Trends in colorectal cancer survival in northern Denmark: 1985-2004. Colorectal Dis 2007;9(3):210-7.
- 32. Grossmann I, de Bock GH, van de Velde CJ, Kievit J, Wiggers T. Results of a national survey among Dutch surgeons treating patients with colorectal carcinoma. Current opinion about follow-up, treatment of metastasis, and reasons to revise follow-up practice. Colorectal Dis 2007;9(9):787-92.
- Merlino J. Defining the volume-quality debate: is it the surgeon, the center, or the training? Clin Colon Rectal Surg 2007;20(3):231-6.
- Rogers SO, Wolf RE, Zaslavsky AM, Wright WE, Ayanian JZ.. Relation of surgeon and hospital volume to processes and outcomes of colorectal cancer surgery. Ann Surg 2006;244(6):1003-11.
- Codina-Cazador A, Espin E, Biondo S, Lujan J, de Miguel M, Alós R, et al. Audited teaching program for the treatment of rectal cancer in Spain: results of the first year. Cir Esp 2007;82(4):209-13.
- Martling A, Cedermark B, Johansson H, Rutqvist LE, Holm T. The surgeon as a prognostic factor after the introduction of total mesorectal excision in the treatment of rectal cancer. Br J Surg 2002;89(8):1008-13.
- Zavoral M, Suchanek S, Zavada F, Dusek L, Muzik J, Seifert B, et al. Colorectal cancer screening in Europe. World J Gastroenterol 2009;15(47):5907-15.
- Sancho C, Villalba FL, Garcia-Coret MJ, Vazquez A, Safont MJ, Hernández A, et al. Self-evaluation of a clinical pathway to improve the results of rectal cancer. Cir Esp

2010;87(4):231-8.

 Martling AL, Holm T, Rutqvist LE, Moran BJ, Heald RJ, Cedemark B. Effect of a surgical training programme on outcome of rectal cancer in the County of Stockholm. StockholmColorectalCancerStudyGroup,BasingstokeBowel Cancer Research Project. Lancet 2000;356(9224):93-6.

Vol. 31

Nº 4

- Kapiteijn E, Putter H, van de Velde CJ. Impact of the introduction and training of total mesorectal excision on recurrence and survival in rectal cancer in The Netherlands. Br J Surg 2002;89(9):1142-9.
- Rodriguez-Cuellar E, Ruiz Lopez P, Romero Simo M, Landa Garcia JI, Roig Vila JV, Ortiz Hurtado H. Analysis of the quality of surgical treatment of colorectal cancer, in 2008. A national study. Cir Esp 2010;88(4):238-46.
- 42. Ptok H, Marusch F, Kuhn R, Gastinger I, Lippert H. Influence of hospital volume on the frequency of abdominoperineal resection and long-term oncological outcomes in low rectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 2007;33(7):854-61.
- 43. Simunovic M, To T, Baxter N, Balshem A, Ross E, Cohen Z, et al. Hospital procedure volume and teaching status do not influence treatment and outcome measures of rectal cancer surgery in a large general population. J Gastrointest Surg 2000;4(3):324-30.
- Bruce J, Krukowski ZH, Al-Khairy G, et al. Systematic review of the definition and measurement of anastomotic leak after gastrointestinal surgery. *Br J Surg.* 2001;88:1157-1168.
- 45. Ferenschild FT, Dawson I, de Wilt JH, de Graaf EJ, Groenendijk RP, Tetteroo GW. Total mesorectal excision for rectal cancer in an unselected population: quality assessment in a low volume center. Int J Colorectal Dis 2009;24(8):923-9.
- 46. Sprenger T, Rothe H, Homayounfar K, Beissbarth T, Ghadimi BM, Becker H, et al. Preoperative chemoradiotherapy does not necessarily reduce lymph node retrieval in rectal cancer specimens--results from a prospective evaluation with extensive pathological work-up. J Gastrointest Surg 2010;14(1):96-103.
- Wong SL. Lymph node counts and survival rates after resection for colon and rectal cancer. Gastrointest Cancer Res 2009;3(2 Suppl):S33-5.
- 48. Martinez-Ramos D, Escrig-Sos J, Miralles-Tena JM, Rivadulla-Serrano I, Salvador-Sanchís JL. Is there a minimum number of lymph nodes that should be examined after surgical resection of colorectal cancer? Cir Esp 2008;83(3):108-17.
- Wiig JN, Odd S. Locoregional recurrence of rectal cancer, In: Surgical Treatment: Evidence-Based and Problem-Oriented. Holzheimer RG, Mannick JA (Eds). Munique: Zuckschwerdt; 2001.

#### **Correspondence to:**

Sandra Martins

Rua Monsenhor Ferreira, 28, 3° Esq 4710-407 – Braga, Portugal. E-mail: sandramartins@ecsaude.uminho.pt

# Appendix 11:

"Role of endoglin and VEGF family expression in colorectal cancer prognosis and anti-angiogenic therapies World Journal of Clinical Oncology."



*O* World Journal of *Clinical Oncology* 

Online Submissions: http://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333office wjco@wjgnet.com doi:10.5306/wjco.v2.i6.272 World J Clin Oncol 2011 June 10; 2(6): 272-280 ISSN 2218-4333 (online) © 2011 Baishideng. All rights reserved.



# Role of endoglin and VEGF family expression in colorectal cancer prognosis and anti-angiogenic therapies

Sandra F Martins, Rui M Reis, Antonio Mesquita Rodrigues, Fátima Baltazar, Adhemar Longatto Filho

Sandra F Martins, Rui M Reis, Fátima Baltazar, Adhemar Longatto Filho, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute, School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Portugal, Campos of Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal

Sandra F Martins, Antonio Mesquita Rodrigues, Coloproctology Unit, Hospital Braga, Portugal

Rui M Reis, Molecular Oncology Research Center, Barretos Cancer Hospital, CEP 14784-400, Barretos, S. Paulo, Brazil

Adhemar Longatto Filho, Laboratory of Medical Investigation (LIM) 14, Faculty of Medicine, University of São Paulo, Brazil Author contributions: Martins SF, Reis RM, Baltazar F, Mesquita Rodrigues A, Longatto-Filho A designed the structure of the review. Martins FS and Longatto-Filho A wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. Martins SF, Reis RM, Baltazar F, Mesquita Rodrigues A, Longatto-Filho A wrote the final version of the manuscript.

Correspondence to: Adhemar Longatto Filho, Professor, Laboratory of Medical Investigation (LIM) 14, Faculty of Medicine, University of São Paulo,

Brazil. longatto@ecsaude.uminho.pt

 Telephone: + 351-969690729
 Fax: + 351-253-604847

 Received: February 9, 2011
 Revised: March 2, 2011

 Accepted: April 5, 2011
 Revised: March 2, 2011

Published online: June 10, 2011

#### Abstract

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is one of the cancer models and most of the carcinogenic steps are presently well understood. Therefore, successful preventive measures are currently used in medical practice. However, CRC is still an important public health problem as it is the third most common cancer and the fourth most frequent cause of cancer death worldwide. Nowadays, pathologic stage is a unique and well-recognized prognostic indicator, however, more accurate indicators of the biologic behavior of CRC are expected to improve the specificity of medical treatment. Angiogenesis plays an important role in the growth and progression of cancer but its role as a prognostic factor is still controversial. Probably the most important clinical implication of tumor angiogenesis is the development of anti-angiogenic therapy. The goal of this review is to critically evaluate the role of angiogenic markers, assessed by either endoglin-related microvessel density or expression of vascular endothelial growth factor family members in the CRC setting and discuss the role of these angiogenic markers in antiangiogenic therapies.

© 2011 Baishideng. All rights reserved.

Key words: Angiogenesis; Colorectal cancer; Colorectal cancer treatment; Endoglin; Prognosis; Vascular endothelial growth factor

**Peer reviewer:** Murielle Mimeault, PhD, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, College of Medicine, Eppley Cancer Institute, 7052 DRC, University of Nebraska Medical Center, 985870 Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE 68198-5870, United States; Paolo Chieffi, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Experimental Medicine, Second University of Naples, Via Costantinopoli, 16, 80138 Naples, Italy

Martins SF, Reis RM, Mesquita Rodrigues A, Baltazar F, Longatto Filho A. Role of endoglin and VEGF family expression in colorectal cancer prognosis and anti-angiogenic therapies. *World J Clin Oncol* 2011; 2(6): 272-280 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v2/i6/272.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v2.i6.272

#### COLORECTAL CANCER EPIDEMIOLOGY

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer and the fourth most frequent cause of cancer death worldwide<sup>[1-3]</sup>. Globally, CRC incidence varies widely, with higher rates in North America, Australia and Western Europe and lower rates in developing countries<sup>[4]</sup>, although, in recent years, high CRC rates have also been reported in these countries<sup>[5]</sup>. In terms of mortality, geographic disparities have also been observed<sup>[6]</sup>. In Western countries, CRC is the second most common cause of death from malignant disease, and despite improvements in treatment mortality remains high with metastatic spread to the liver occurring in about 50% of patients<sup>[7]</sup>.

European countries rank highest in the global statistics, both in terms of CRC incidence and mortality. From 1998 to 2002, the incidence of CRC in Europe for men and women was 38.5 and 24.6 (world age standardization (ASR-W)) per 100000 inhabitants and mortality over the same period was 18.5 and 10.7 (ASR-W) per 100000 inhabitants, respectively<sup>[8]</sup>. However, over the past twentyfive years, mortality rates among Caucasians have steadily declined<sup>[9]</sup>. Data from the World Health Organization (WHO), between 1997 and 2007 have revealed that mortality from CRC declined by around 2% per year from 19.7 to 17.4/100000 for men (world standardized rates), and from 12.5 to 10.5/100000 for women, and these recent decreases in CRC mortality rates in several European countries are likely due to improvement in earlier diagnosis and treatment, with a consequent higher survival<sup>[10]</sup>

CRC incidence is generally higher in men, and the risk increases with age, as the majority of cases are diagnosed in patients older than 50 years<sup>[1, 3, 8]</sup>, with only 5% of cases recorded in patients younger than 40 years<sup>[1]</sup>. A large nationwide study identified CRC as one of the 10 most commonly diagnosed cancers among men and women aged 20-49 years<sup>[11]</sup>. The prevalence of advanced CRC also increases with age and is higher among men than women<sup>[12]</sup>.

# COLORECTAL CANCER PROGNOSIS AND DISEASE PROGRESSION

The main prognostic factors in CRC are tumor size (T), lymph node involvement (N), grade of differentiation (G) and distant disease spread (M)<sup>[1-3,9,13,14]</sup>. Other important factors include invasion of blood and/or lymphatic vessels and penetration or perforation of the bowel wall<sup>[14]</sup>.

Long-term survival correlates with stage of the disease<sup>[9, 15-17]</sup>, and this is the most important predictor of mortality. The five-year survival rate for localized disease is 90.4%, but only 39% of CRC is diagnosed at this early stage<sup>[9, 16]</sup>. Approximately 15-20% of patients die as a consequence of CRC in early stages compared with 40-80% in advanced stages<sup>[15]</sup>. The overall 5-year survival rate varies among studies but is approximately 60%<sup>[9, 15, 16]</sup>. Stage-specific survival rates are 96%, 87%, 55%, and 5% for TNM stage I, II, III, and IV, respectively<sup>[9,17,18]</sup>.

One third of the patients submitted to curative intent surgery die of local and/or distant tumoral recurrence <sup>[15]</sup>. Among the sites of metastasis, liver is the organ most frequently involved (38%-60% of cases), followed by abdominal lymph nodes (38%), lung (38%) and peritoneum (28%)<sup>[14]</sup>. Of those diagnosed with metastatic disease, less than 10% are still alive after 5 years<sup>[16]</sup>. The 5-year overall survival rates for patients in whom hepatic resection was technically feasible and who had metastasis confined to the liver was only 25%-40%<sup>[7,19,20]</sup>. Better results were reported by Abdalla *et al* and Choti *et al*, with a 5-year overall survival rate of 58% following resection<sup>[21]</sup> and a rate of 67% described by de Haas *et al*<sup>[22]</sup>. These higher survival rates likely reflect improvements in patient selection, perioperative and postoperative care, multidisciplinary treatment, and an appropriately aggressive approach to safe hepatic resection<sup>[21]</sup>. Therefore, early diagnosis is critical to improve survival rates in  $CRC^{[23]}$  and owing to its typically slow growth, there is a large potential for reducing the burden of the disease by early detection and removal of precancerous lesions or early cancer stages<sup>[24]</sup>.

On the other hand, the pathologic clinical stage is currently the single most well-established prognostic indicator, but it does not fully predict individual clinical outcome<sup>[7, 25, 26]</sup>; also, the response of clinically-identical tumors to the same treatment may be vastly different<sup>[1]</sup>. This is particularly contentious for those tumors with intermediate stage disease (Stage II, T3-T4N0M0)<sup>[7]</sup>, where one third of patients with tumor-free lymph nodes have recurrences, and therefore, adjuvant chemotherapy may be beneficial<sup>[27]</sup>. In this group, carcinoma cells are not detected in lymph nodes by conventional staging methods in 24% of patients. Surgical technique and specific pathological staining may improve staging accuracy and the appropriate selection of patients for chemotherapy<sup>[27]</sup>. Furthermore, the identification of cancer penetration or perforation is particularly important in defining CRC aggressiveness<sup>[14]</sup>. Accordingly, identification of prognostic molecular markers capable of categorizing those patients at high-risk, would be very helpful for improving treatment strategies mainly in lymph node negative patients, determining the characteristics of patients' outcome, predicting cancer dissemination and recognizing which patients might benefit most from adjuvant chemotherapy and those unlikely to benefit thus sparing them the toxicities of treatment114,

Molecular markers may improve clinicopathologic staging and provide a basis to guide novel therapeutic strategies which target specific tumor-associated molecules according to individual tumor biology<sup>[1, 2, 7, 14]</sup>, however, so far, no ideal molecular marker has been found to predict disease progression<sup>[29]</sup>.

# HIGHLIGHTS OF THE ANGIOGENESIS PHENOMENON

Angiogenesis plays a key role in tumorigenesis and metastatic processes<sup>[1, 28, 30]</sup>. It consists of the formation of new blood vessels from the endothelium of pre-existing vasculature<sup>[2, 30]</sup>. Sprouting from existing blood vessels is the principal process of angiogenesis and involves proliferation of activated endothelial cells, migration of endothelial cells to reach remote targets, assembly of endothelial cells into new capillary tubes, followed by synthesis of a new basement membrane and maturation of vessels with formation of a vascular lumen<sup>[30]</sup>. However, recruitment and *in situ* differentiation of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells are also involved<sup>[30]</sup>.

Tumor angiogenesis is essential to allow neoplastic mass development favoring access to the blood components, and also strengthening the vascular routes in the metastatic process<sup>[25, 31-33]</sup>. Neovascularization as a whole promotes tumor growth by supplying nutrients, oxygen and releasing growth factors that promote tumor cell proliferation<sup>[25, 30, 34-36]</sup>. Hypoxia in solid tumors occurs at a distance of  $\geq$  70 µm from functional blood vessels and it is generally accepted that tumors do not exceed a volume of 1-2 mm3 without induction of angiogenesis<sup>[36]</sup>. Intratumoral vasculature density is believed to be associated directly with cancer cell entrance into the systemic blood circulation, with the ability of cancer cells to invade locally normal anatomic structures, and the establishment of blood-borne metastases in distant organs<sup>[32, 37]</sup>. Regulation of tumor angiogenesis is the result of a complex balance between many stimulatory and inhibitory factors, which are secreted by both tumor cells and host-infiltrating cells as well as by tumoral stroma-cells activity<sup>[2, 30, 34]</sup>. Malignant neoplastic cells promote angiogenesis by secreting growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), among others that stimulate endothelial migration and proliferation<sup>[2,25,31,33,37,38]</sup>.

The role of angiogenesis as a prognostic factor, however, is still controversial<sup>[13, 39]</sup>. Weidner *et al* first reported a direct correlation between the incidence of metastasis and the number and density of blood vessels in invasive breast cancers. Similar studies have endorsed this correlation in gastrointestinal cancers<sup>[33]</sup> and in a variety of malignancies<sup>[2</sup> <sup>7, 13, 25, 35, 37]</sup>. An association between increased angiogenesis and an increased incidence of metastases and a subsequent decrease in survival curve rates was observed for the vast majority of solid tumors<sup>[2, 7, 3, 25, 35, 37]</sup>.

Several studies revealed high angiogenic activity in CRC, which was more likely correlated with aggressive histopathological features that included parietal invasion, tumor stage, grade of tumor differentiation, metastatic potential and poor patient survival<sup>[1, 13, 32]</sup>. Tanigawa<sup>[35]</sup> *et al* confirmed this premise, although a significant variation in patient populations and techniques was used, which can explain, in part, the inverse relationship between tumor vascularity and patient survival observed by these authors. Gurzu<sup>[13]</sup> *et al* added that augmented angiogenesis in CRC was higher in early-stages of tumoral proliferation but was not a progressively increasing process, having rather an oscillating character.

However, other studies revealed that angiogenesis does not provide any significant information<sup>[13, 28, 30]</sup>. These controversial statements may be credited to the lack of standardization of the different methods of counting tumoral blood vessels and to the different cutoffs used to define relevant parameters to consolidate the results and, lastly, to the different antibodies used to highlight the blood vasculature<sup>[13, 28, 30]</sup>.

Despite the debates, assessment of tumor angiogenesis may be particularly useful in prognostic classification of patients with apparent early cancer by conventional tumor staging, some of which may still develop early recurrence or metastasis (despite being staged as having early cancers by conventional parameters such as tumor size)<sup>[30]</sup>.

De Vita<sup>[37]</sup> *et al* observed that highly angiogenic tumors were associated with the presence of lymph node invasion . Nevertheless, a higher percentage of patients with nodepositive colon cancer than those without will experience recurrence and might benefit from anti-angiogenic adjuvant therapy. Thus, angiogenesis can be used to identify a subset of patients at high risk for recurrence regardless of their lymph node involvement<sup>[35]</sup>.

There is evidence that blood vessel density is also important in predicting cancer response to chemotherapy or radiotherapy<sup>[20]</sup>. Angiogenic tumors have a more aggressive phenotype and the degree of intra-tumoral microvessels is significantly predictive of poor response to platinum-based chemotherapy in terms of complete response, as seen in two studies, one in squamous cell carcinoma patients<sup>[40]</sup> and the other in patients with epithelial ovarian cancers<sup>[41]</sup>. In addition, Takagi<sup>[42]</sup> et al observed that blood vessel density was a valid predictor of the effects of intra-arterial targeted carboplatin chemotherapy and concurrent radiotherapy for treating human oral and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas. Zhang<sup>[43]</sup> et al, trying to identify reliable predictive factors for local control of hypopharyngeal cancer (HPC) treated by radiotherapy, observed that microvessel density (MVD) in biopsy specimens was closely correlated with local control of HPC treated by radiotherapy. In one study of 28 patients with advanced gastric cancer treated by paclitaxel and carboplatin, tumors with medium MVD showed a significantly higher response rate compared with those with either a high or low MVD<sup>[44]</sup>. Long course of radiotherapy significantly decreased angiogenesis in rectal cancer tissue. MVD have been found to be a favorable marker for tumor behavior during radiotherapy and a predictor of overall survival after a long course of radiotherapy. Further investigations are now needed to determine the changes in angiogenesis during a shorter course of radiotherapy<sup>[1]</sup>. However, the most important clinical implication of tumor angiogenesis is probably the development of anti-angiogenic therapy, targeting tumor vessels instead of cancer cells<sup>[30]</sup>.

# ENDOGLIN AND ASSESSMENT OF MI-CROVESSEL DENSITY AS ANGIOGENIC MARKERS

Microvessel density (MVD) assessment is the most common technique used to quantify intratumoral and peritumoral angiogenesis in cancer<sup>[2, 7, 28, 30, 39]</sup>. It was first developed by Weidner *et al* in 1991 who used pan-endothelial immunohistochemical staining of blood microvessels, mainly with Factor VIII related antigen (F. VIII Ag or von Willebrand's factor), CD31 or CD34, and rarely CD105<sup>[2]</sup>.

Measurement of angiogenesis is complicated by the

fact that it is a dynamic process. Intra-tumoral microvessels can be identified by immunostaining of endothelial cells by two categories of human endothelial cell-specific antibodies: the pan-endothelial cell markers and specific antibodies that bind selectively to proliferating endothelium<sup>[44, 45]</sup>. CD31 is utilized as the pan-endothelial marker of choice; it is characterized by equal intensity of staining for small and large vessels. The disadvantages associated with staining for CD31 antigen include co-staining of inflammatory cells. The selective antibodies, such as endoglin, distinguish quantitatively between tumor neovascularization and pre-existing vessels with no or poor staining of lymphatics and normal quiescent blood vessels<sup>[46]</sup>. Most studies revealed that high MVD predicts occurrence of metastatic disease<sup>[2, 7, 13, 25, 32, 35, 37]</sup>, and although tumor angiogenesis is unlikely to be the only factor responsible, it provides large numbers of leaking blood vessels for vascular invasion<sup>[25]</sup>.

Endoglin (CD105) is a receptor for the TGF-B1 molecule that is up-regulated in tumor angiogenesis [13, 25, 29] Its secretion is induced by hypoxia<sup>[29]</sup> and, as it is present mainly in new vessels, it is very useful in the assessment of newly formed vessels in malignant neoplasms<sup>[13, 25, 29]</sup>. It is also currently accepted as a potential target for antiangiogenic therapy, especially in cancer patients at risk of developing metastases<sup>[29]</sup>. The endoglin antibody binds preferentially to the activated endothelial cells that participate in tumor angiogenesis, however, endoglin expression is weak/or negative in vascular endothelium of normal tissues; accordingly, it is a more specific and sensitive marker of tumor angiogenesis than the others commonly used such as pan-endothelial markers<sup>[25, 29]</sup>. Intra-tumoral MVD determined by immunohistochemical staining for endoglin has been reported to be an indicator of poor prognosis in many types of solid neoplasia such as breast carcinoma, cervical cancer, endometrial carcinoma, gastric carcinoma, melanoma, some testicular tumors, non-small cell lung cancer, prostate cancer, renal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma<sup>[29]</sup>.

In CRC, many reports indicate that endoglin assessed immunohistochemically correlates not only with MVD, but also with survival curves, and it has also been identified as a valuable parameter for predicting increased risk of developing metastatic disease<sup>[25, 29,42]</sup>. Yan<sup>[47]</sup> *et al* reported that MVD was higher in CRC patients with metastases than in those without and observed that the specificity and sensitivity of MVD in predicting metastatization in CRC was 66.22% and 51.72%, respectively. In other studies, the presence of endoglin also had a prognostic meaning, showing a positive correlation with the presence of angio-lymphatic invasion, lymph node metastases, tumor stage and hepatic metastases, reinforcing the premise that endoglin might be considered for further therapeutic trials as anti-angiogenic therapy<sup>[25, 29]</sup>.

Endoglin is not only expressed on the cell surface but its soluble form can also be detected in the blood<sup>[29, 48]</sup>. Myśliwiec<sup>[29]</sup>*et al* demonstrated an apparent continuous endoglin rise in plasma from patients with metastatic colorectal cancer, and Li<sup>148</sup> *et al* reported that circulating endoglin levels positively correlated with CRC Dukes' stage and survival; patients with a high MVD, above the median  $3.10 \times 250$ , showed the worst prognosis. Takahashi<sup>149</sup> *et al* observed that increased serum endoglin was associated with metastasis in patients with solid tumors including colorectal and breast carcinomas; and, in CRC patients, the difference in endoglin levels between the metastasis-negative patients and the metastasis-positive patients was statistically significant. Conversely, it was recently demonstrated that assessment of endoglin in plasma is not a useful maker of CRC, but might be helpful in selecting patients with metastatic diseas<sup>[29]</sup>.

# VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTOR FAMILY AND CRC

Quantification of angiogenic factors in solid malignant tumors provides an alternative to MVD evaluation in assessing tumor angiogenic activity<sup>[28, 30]</sup>. Numerous studies have demonstrated that tumor overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) correlates with high tumor MVD and is associated with advanced tumor stage or tumor invasiveness in various common human cancers<sup>[30, 37, 50, 51]</sup> and, its overexpression in colon cancer tissue indicates poor prognosis<sup>[51]</sup>; although paradoxically, some data showed that MVD might have a significant prognostic value in colon cancer tissue, whilst VEGF has not<sup>[52]</sup>.

VEGF is the most widely studied angiogenic factor; it increases vascular permeability and is the most potent, direct acting, angiogenic protein known<sup>[28, 29, 36, 37, 52]</sup>. Normally, VEGF is weakly expressed in a wide variety of human and animal tissues; however, high levels of VEGF expression can be detected at sites where physiologic angiogenesis is required, such as fetal tissue or placenta, or in the vast majority of human tumors and other diseases i.e., chronic inflammatory disorders, diabetes mellitus, and ischemic heart disease<sup>[37]</sup>. Furthermore, both VEGF and its receptors are expressed at high levels in metastatic human colon carcinomas and in tumor-associated endothelial cells, respectively<sup>[37]</sup>. Consequently, VEGF is recognized as a prominent angiogenic factor in colon carcinoma and the assessment of VEGF expression may be useful for predicting metastasis from CRC<sup>[37]</sup>. In fact, VEGF expression was found to be higher in patients with metastatic tumors than in those with non-metastatic tumors<sup>[37,38]</sup>, and high levels of VEGF expression were associated with advanced cancer stage and related with unfavorable prognosis<sup>[51-53]</sup>.

De Vita *et al* <sup>[37]</sup> reported that preoperative serum VEGF levels might be useful for predicting the outcome of colon cancer patients following surgery. After surgery, VEGF levels tend to decrease compared with preoperative concentrations<sup>[30, 37]</sup>. Conversely, elevated VEGF levels after surgery may indicate significant residual disease, even



if it is not evident macroscopically<sup>[37]</sup>.

Other studies have shown that VEGF is also a useful marker for prognosis by significantly correlating with angio-lymphatic invasion, lymph node status and depth of invasion, notwithstanding it was not an independent prognostic factor<sup>[25, 29]</sup>.

Although numerous publications dealing with the measurement of circulating VEGF for diagnostic and therapeutic monitoring have been published, the relationship between the production of tissue VEGF and its concentration in blood is still unclear<sup>[31]</sup>. Some of the controversies regarding the clinical value of VEGF serum level measurement are related to the well-known fact that circulating VEGF is largely found in platelets, and as a consequence an open debate is ongoing to clarify if VEGF serum levels truly reflect tumor expression of VEGF or whether there are other potential sources of circulating VEGF, such as blood cells<sup>[30]</sup>. Cressey<sup>[31]</sup> et al noted that the cell-associated isoform (VEGF189), but not the soluble isoforms (VEGF121 and VEGF165) appear to play an important role in tumor progression. In addition, Serum VEGF protein levels are a prognostic parameter for progression-free and overall survival in CRC. Patients with high soluble VEGF levels might have a more aggressive disease, and the improved outcome observed in their series might be a reflection of the disease biology<sup>[54,55]</sup>.

The effect of VEGF depends not only on tumor cell expression of VEGF, but also on the VEGF receptors in the endothelial cells<sup>[30]</sup>. The ligands of the VEGF family include VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D and VEGF-E; and the receptors are VEGFR-1, R-2 and R-3<sup>[56]</sup>.

VEGF-A is commonly overexpressed by a wide variety of human tumors, and this overexpression has been correlated with progression, invasion and metastasis, MVD, and poorer survival and prognosis<sup>[56]</sup>. In CRC, VEGF-A is the ligand of the VEGF family most abundantly expressed<sup>[29]</sup>. VEGF-A promotes angiogenesis through enhancement of permeability, activation, survival, migration, invasion, and proliferation of endothelial cells<sup>[57]</sup>. VEGF-A and VEGF-B play a role in early tumor development at the stage of adenoma formation<sup>[7, 58]</sup>.

Myśliwiec<sup>[29]</sup> *et al* found a strong positive association with VEGF-A plasma concentrations assessed postoperatively and the presence of distant metastases. Zlobec<sup>[59]</sup> *et al* also correlated high VEGF expression with response to preoperative radiotherapy in patients with rectal tumors.

VEGF-C and -D are glycoproteins structurally similar and sharing areas of sequence homology with VEGF-A. In CRC, augmented VEGF-C expression has been found to correlate with lymphatic invasion and lymph node metastasis<sup>[60]</sup>. Elevated levels of serum VEGF-C have been found in patients with breast cancer, lung cancer and cervical cancer and it appears to be an independent marker for early diagnosis of cancer metastasis. Moreover, increased VEGF-C mRNA expression in tumor tissues correlates positively with lymphatic metastasis and poor prognosis<sup>[61]</sup>. A correlation between VEGF-D expression levels in the primary tumor and lymph node metastasis is still disputable, with controversial data reported<sup>[62]</sup>.

Another important fact is that through the development of anti-angiogenic therapy, CRC prognosis is improving<sup>[30, 63-65]</sup>. Median survival of patients with metastatic CRC (mCRC) treated with best supportive care is approximately 6 mo. Palliative chemotherapy considerably improves treatment outcome, with fluorouracil (FU) plus irinotecan and/or oxaliplatin extending median overall survival to approximately 20 mo<sup>[60]</sup>. Thus, in the past decade, the median overall survival of patients with mCRC has increased from 12 mo to approximately 20 mo, mainly due to the development of new combinations with standard chemotherapy<sup>[67]</sup>. Currently, anti-angiogenic treatment can prolong the survival time by some months, however, the results are not reproducible for all cases<sup>[13]</sup>. There have been clinical trials which show as many as 94% of invasive carcinomas and 88% of in situ carcinomas having a complete response<sup>[68]</sup>. Unfortunately, there are no tumor characteristics or molecular markers at present that help to identify patients who are likely to benefit from antiangiogenic treatment<sup>[69]</sup>.

Bevacizumab (BV) is a monoclonal antibody against VEGF with anti-angiogenic properties, and several clinical trials supported the use of BV in the first-line treatment of mCRC<sup>[70]</sup>. BV is typically used in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents such as oxaliplatin, irinotecan, leucovorin, and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) for treatment of patients with mCRC<sup>[70, 71]</sup>. In addition to its direct anti-angiogenic effects, BV may also improve the delivery of chemotherapy by changing tumor vasculature and decreasing the elevated interstitial pressure in tumors<sup>[69]</sup>. When combined with standard chemotherapy regimens, it has been associated with significant improvements, compared with chemotherapy alone, in the efficacy end points of overall survival, progression-free survival, and response rates in patients with mCRC and for some facilitates secondary resections<sup>[72]</sup>. Jubb<sup>[73]</sup> et al demonstrated that in patients with mCRC, the addition of BV to irinotecan, 5-FU/leucovorin (IFL) improves survival regardless of the level of VEGF expression, or MVD. In a review by Tappenden<sup>[74]</sup>et al, the addition of BV to IFL resulted in a statistically significant increase in median overall survival (OS) of 4.7 mo, and in a median progression-free survival (PFS) of 4.4 mo. An overall tumor response rate of 44.8% was reported for BV plus IFL compared with 34.8% for IFL plus placebo within one study. In a pivotal, placebo-controlled, phase III trial in patients with mCRC (Genentech Study 2107), the addition of BV to IFL resulted in a significantly longer survival time (20.3 vs 15.6 mo) and progression-free survival time (10.6 vs 6.2 mo) than with IFL plus placebo<sup>[73, 75-78]</sup>. In a placebo-controlled, phase II trial (Genentech Study 2192), adding BV to 5-FU plus LV resulted in a significantly longer progressionfree survival time than with 5-FU and LV plus placebo in

Table 1 The main results of CD105 and VEGF studies				
Study	п	High levels of CD105 were associated with	High levels of VEGF were associated with	
Barozzi <i>et al</i> <sup>[7]</sup>	101	M1	M1	
Saad et al <sup>[25]</sup>	150	M1, N1 and angiolymphatic invasion	N1, angiolymphatic and depth of invasion	
De Vita et al [37]	81	NE	NCs (serum levels)	
Cascinu et al <sup>[38]</sup>	121	NE	RR	
Myśliwiec et al <sup>[29]</sup>	48	M1	Colorectal cancer patients (plasma levels)	
Li et al <sup>[48]</sup>	111	Dukes' stages and survival	NE	
Takahashi et al <sup>[49]</sup>	34	M1	NE	
Liang et al <sup>[51]</sup>	114	NE	N1. TNM staging and poor prognosis	
Zheng et al <sup>[52]</sup>	97	NE	Poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma	
Cressey et al [31]	76	NE	TNM	
Cao et al <sup>[53]</sup>	71	NE	N1, M1, TNM, and OS	
Miyazaki et al <sup>[58]</sup>	127	NE	RR, DF, OS (plasma levels)	

DF: Disease-free; M1: Positive distant metastasis; N1: Positive lymph node metastasis; NCs: Non-curative surgery; NE: Not evaluated; OS: Overall survival; RR: Recurrence rate

patients with mCRC who were unsuitable candidates for first-line therapy with irinotecan (9.2 *vs* 5.5 mo). There was also a trend towards a longer survival time in patients receiving 5-FU, LV, and BV (16.6 *vs* 12.9 mo)<sup>[77]</sup>. BV was also tested in mCRC combined with an oxaliplatin-based regimen in the second-line setting. In this randomized phase III trial (E3200), patients with previously treated CRC were randomized into 3 arms: FOLFOX4 plus BV, FOLFOX4 and BV only. Results showed superior survival and progression-free survival in the FOLFOX4 plus BV arm. In this study, BV was equally effective with the oxaliplatin-based regimen<sup>[78]</sup>.

BV ultimately achieved FDA approval in 2004 as a first-line treatment for mCRC in combination with chemotherapy, based on its statistically and clinically meaningful benefits on progression-free survival and OS and has since garnered additional approval<sup>[79]</sup>. BV is the most used VEGF inhibitor with clear proof of efficacy in CRC, however, optimal use of this agent at various stages of the disease is still under investigation. Additionally, there are numerous other angiogenic agents targeting VEGF and other pro-angiogenic systems in clinical development<sup>[80]</sup>. These novel targeted agents inhibit the VEGF pathway by targeting the VEGF ligand, its receptors or by blocking downstream signaling pathway components. Anti-angiogenic agents include antibodies, small molecule tyrosine kinase (TK) inhibitors, antisense oligonucleotides and aptamers<sup>[81]</sup>.

Table 1 summarized the main results of CD105 and VEGF studies.

#### CONCLUSION

Despite major advances, in terms of knowledge and treatment of CRC in recent years, the single most welldocumented prognostic marker of pathologic stage remains the gold standard for disease stage at diagnosis. Angiogenesis plays an important role in the growth and progression of cancer but its role as a prognostic factor is still controversial. Most studies report that endoglin and vascular endothelial growth factor family expression are indicators of poor prognosis in CRC patients. Beyond these controversies, the ultimate clinical implication of tumor angiogenesis is the development of antiangiogenic therapy, targeting tumor vasculature.

#### REFERENCES

- Svagzdys S, Lesauskaite V, Pavalkis D, Nedzelskiene I, Pranys D, Tamelis A. Microvessel density as new prognostic marker after radiotherapy in rectal cancer. BMC Cancer 2009; 9: 95
- 2 Des Guetz G, Uzzan B, Nicolas P, Cucherat M, Morere JF, Benamouzig R, Breau JL, Perret GY. Microvessel density and VEGF expression are prognostic factors in colorectal cancer. Meta-analysis of the literature. *Br J Cancer* 2006; 94: 1823-1832
- 3 Brenner H, Hoffmeister M, Haug U. Should colorectal cancer screening start at the same age in European countries? Contributions from descriptive epidemiology. Br J Cancer 2008; 99: 532-535
- 4 Aljebreen AM. Clinico-pathological patterns of colorectal cancer in Saudi Arabia: younger with an advanced stage presentation. Saudi J Gastroenterol 2007; 13: 84-87
- 5 Center MM, Jemal A, Smith RA, Ward E. Worldwide variations in colorectal cancer. CA Cancer J Clin 2009; 59: 366-378
- 6 Henry KA, Niu X, Boscoe FP. Geographic disparities in colorectal cancer survival. *Int J Health Geogr* 2009; 8: 48
- 7 Barozzi C, Ravaioli M, D'Errico A, Grazi GL, Poggioli G, Cavrini G, Mazziotti A, Grigioni WF. Relevance of biologic markers in colorectal carcinoma: a comparative study of a broad panel. *Cancer* 2002; 94: 647-657
- 8 Zavoral M, Suchanek S, Zavada F, Dusek L, Muzik J, Seifert B, Fric P. Colorectal cancer screening in Europe. World J Gastroenterol 2009; 15: 5907-5915
- 9 Alexander DD, Waterbor J, Hughes T, Funkhouser E, Grizzle W, Manne U. African-American and Caucasian disparities in colorectal cancer mortality and survival by data source: an epidemiologic review. *Cancer Biomark* 2007; 3: 301-313
- 10 Bosetti C, Levi F, Rosato V, Bertuccio P, Lucchini F, Negri E, La Vecchia C. Recent trends in colorectal cancer mortality in Europe. Int J Cancer 2011; 129: 180-191

- 11 Fairley TL, Cardinez CJ, Martin J, Alley L, Friedman C, Edwards B, Jamison P. Colorectal cancer in U.S. adults younger than 50 years of age, 1998-2001. *Cancer* 2006; 107: 1153-1161
- 12 Brenner H, Altenhofen L, Hoffmeister M. Sex, age, and birth cohort effects in colorectal neoplasms: a cohort analysis. Ann Intern Med 2010; 152: 697-703
- 13 Gurzu S, Jung J, Azamfirei L, Mezei T, Cîmpean AM, Szentirmay Z. The angiogenesis in colorectal carcinomas with and without lymph node metastases. *Rom J Morphol Embryol* 2008; 49: 149-152
- 14 Cascinu S, Georgoulias V, Kerr D, Maughan T, Labianca R, Ychou M. Colorectal cancer in the adjuvant setting: perspectives on treatment and the role of prognostic factors. Ann Oncol 2003; 14 Suppl 2: ii25-ii29
- 15 Calvo HJ, Ortega GD, Pardo RJM, López, MAJ, Cubo T. Biologia molecular del processo metastásico del cancer colorectal. *Cirugia Española* 2000, 68 : 577-587
- 16 Zafar SY, Abernethy AP, Abbott DH, Grambow SC, Marcello JE, Herndon JE 2nd, Rowe KL, Kolimaga JT, Zullig LL, Patwardhan MB, Provenzale DT. Comorbidity, age, race and stage at diagnosis in colorectal cancer: a retrospective, parallel analysis of two health systems. *BMC Cancer* 2008; 8: 345
- 17 Ries LA, Wingo PA, Miller DS, Howe HL, Weir HK, Rosenberg HM, Vernon SW, Cronin K, Edwards BK. The annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1973-1997, with a special section on colorectal cancer. *Cancer* 2000; 88: 2398-2424
- 18 Townsend MC, Beauchamp D, Evers MB, Mattox LK. Sabiston Textbook of Surgery, 18th ed.; Saunders: Canada, 2008
- 19 Liu CL, Fan ST, Lo CM, Law WL, Ng IO, Wong J. Hepatic resection for colorectal liver metastases: prospective study. *Hong Kong Med J* 2002; 8: 329-333
- 20 Lambert LA, Colacchio TA, Barth RJ. Interval hepatic resection of colorectal metastases improves patient selection\* *Curr Surg* 2000; 57: 504
- 21 Abdalla EK, Vauthey JN, Ellis LM, Ellis V, Pollock R, Broglio KR, Hess K, Curley SA. Recurrence and outcomes following hepatic resection, radiofrequency ablation, and combined resection/ablation for colorectal liver metastases. *Ann Surg* 2004; 239: 818-25; discussion 825-827
- 22 de Haas RJ, Wicherts DA, Flores E, Azoulay D, Castaing D, Adam R. R1 resection by necessity for colorectal liver metastases: is it still a contraindication to surgery? *Ann Surg* 2008; 248: 626-637
- 23 Lang K, Korn JR, Lee DW, Lines LM, Earle CC, Menzin J. Factors associated with improved survival among older colorectal cancer patients in the US: a population-based analysis. BMC Cancer 2009; 9: 227
- 24 Brenner H, Hoffmeister M, Arndt V, Haug U. Gender differences in colorectal cancer: implications for age at initiation of screening. *Br J Cancer* 2007; 96: 828-831
- 25 Saad RS, Liu YL, Nathan G, Celebrezze J, Medich D, Silverman JF. Endoglin (CD105) and vascular endothelial growth factor as prognostic markers in colorectal cancer. *Mod Pathol* 2004; 17: 197-203
- 26 Gómez-Domínguez E, Trapero-Marugán M, del Pozo AJ, Cantero J, Gisbert JP, Maté J. The colorectal carcinoma prognosis factors. Significance of diagnosis delay. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2006; 98: 322-329
- 27 Bilchik AJ, DiNome M, Saha S, Turner RR, Wiese D, Mc-Carter M, Hoon DS, Morton DL. Prospective multicenter trial of staging adequacy in colon cancer: preliminary results. *Arch Surg* 2006; 141: 527-33; discussion 533-534.
- 28 Graziano F, Cascinu S. Prognostic molecular markers for planning adjuvant chemotherapy trials in Dukes' B colorectal cancer patients: how much evidence is enough? Ann Oncol 2003; 14: 1026-1038
- 29 Myśliwiec P, Pawlak K, Kukliński A, Kedra B. Combined perioperative plasma endoglin and VEGF--a assessment in

colorectal cancer patients. Folia Histochem Cytobiol 2009; 47: 231-236

- 30 Pang RW, Poon RT. Clinical implications of angiogenesis in cancers. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2006; 2: 97-108
- 31 Cressey R, Wattananupong O, Lertprasertsuke N, Vinitketkumnuen U. Alteration of protein expression pattern of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) from soluble to cell-associated isoform during tumourigenesis. BMC Cancer 2005; 5: 128
- 32 Giatromanolaki A, Stathopoulos GP, Tsiompanou E, Papadimitriou C, Georgoulias V, Gatter KC, Harris AL, Koukourakis MI. Combined role of tumor angiogenesis, bcl-2, and p53 expression in the prognosis of patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer* 1999; 86: 1421-1430
- 33 Kitadai Y. Angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis of gastric cancer. J Oncol 2010; 2010: 468725
- 34 Kwon KA, Kim SH, Oh SY, Lee S, Han JY, Kim KH, Goh RY, Choi HJ, Park KJ, Roh MS, Kim HJ, Kwon HC, Lee JH. Clinical significance of preoperative serum vascular endothelial growth factor, interleukin-6, and C-reactive protein level in colorectal cancer. *BMC Cancer* 2010; 10: 203
- 35 Tanigawa N, Amaya H, Matsumura M, Lu C, Kitaoka A, Matsuyama K, Muraoka R. Tumor angiogenesis and mode of metastasis in patients with colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* 1997; 57: 1043-1046
- 36 Mosch B, Reissenweber B, Neuber C, Pietzsch J. Eph receptors and ephrin ligands: important players in angiogenesis and tumor angiogenesis. *J Oncol* 2010; 2010: 135285
- 37 De Vita F, Orditura M, Lieto E, Infusino S, Morgillo F, Martinelli E, Castellano P, Romano C, Ciardiello F, Catalano G, Pignatelli C, Galizia G. Elevated perioperative serum vascular endothelial growth factor levels in patients with colon carcinoma. *Cancer* 2004; 100: 270-278
- 38 Cascinu S, Staccioli MP, Gasparini G, Giordani P, Catalano V, Ghiselli R, Rossi C, Baldelli AM, Graziano F, Saba V, Muretto P, Catalano G. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor can predict event-free survival in stage II colon cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 2000; 6: 2803-2807
- 39 Rodrigo JP, Cabanillas R, Chiara MD, García Pedrero J, Astudillo A, Suárez Nieto C. [Prognostic significance of angiogenesis in surgically treated supraglottic squamous cell carcinomas of the larynx]. Acta Otorrinolaringol Esp 2009; 60: 272-277
- 40 Gasparini G, Bevilacqua P, Bonoldi E, Testolin A, Galassi A, Verderio P, Boracchi P, Guglielmi RB, Pezzella F. Predictive and prognostic markers in a series of patients with head and neck squamous cell invasive carcinoma treated with concurrent chemoradiation therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* 1995; 11:1375-1383
- 41 Hollingsworth HC, Kohn EC, Steinberg SM, Rothenberg ML, Merino MJ. Tumor angiogenesis in advanced stage ovarian carcinoma. *Am J Pathol* 1995; 147: 33-41
- 42 Takagi S, Inenaga R, Oya R, Nakamura S, Ikemura K. Blood vessel density correlates with the effects of targeted intraarterial carboplatin infusion with concurrent radiotherapy for squamous cell carcinomas of the oral cavity and oropharynx. Br J Cancer 2006; 94: 1580-1585
- 43 Zhang SC, Miyamoto S, Kamijo T, Hayashi R, Hasebe T, Ishii G, Fukayama M, Ochiai A. Intratumor microvessel density in biopsy specimens predicts local response of hypopharyngeal cancer to radiotherapy. *Jpn J Clin Oncol* 2003; 33: 613-619
- 44 Hasan J, Byers R, Jayson GC. Intra-tumoural microvessel density in human solid tumours. Br J Cancer 2002; 86: 1566-1577
- 45 Poon RT, Fan ST, Wong J. Clinical significance of angiogenesis in gastrointestinal cancers: a target for novel prognostic and therapeutic approaches. *Ann Surg* 2003; 238: 9-28
- 46 Romani AA, Borghetti AF, Del Rio P, Sianesi M, Soliani P.



WJCO | www.wjgnet.com

The risk of developing metastatic disease in colorectal cancer is related to CD105-positive vessel count. *J Surg Oncol* 2006; **93**: 446-455

- 47 Yan G, Zhou XY, Cai SJ, Zhang GH, Peng JJ, Du X. Lymphangiogenic and angiogenic microvessel density in human primary sporadic colorectal carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2008; 14: 101-107
- 48 Li C, Gardy R, Seon BK, Duff SE, Abdalla S, Renehan A, O'Dwyer ST, Haboubi N, Kumar S. Both high intratumoral microvessel density determined using CD105 antibody and elevated plasma levels of CD105 in colorectal cancer patients correlate with poor prognosis. *Br J Cancer* 2003; 88: 1424-1431
- 49 Takahashi N, Kawanishi-Tabata R, Haba A, Tabata M, Haruta Y, Tsai H, Seon BK. Association of serum endoglin with metastasis in patients with colorectal, breast, and other solid tumors, and suppressive effect of chemotherapy on the serum endoglin. *Clin Cancer Res* 2001; 7: 524-532
- 50 Lee SJ, Kim JG, Sohn SK, Chae YS, Moon JH, Kim SN, Bae HI, Chung HY, Yu W. No association of vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A) and VEGF-C expression with survival in patients with gastric cancer. *Cancer Res Treat* 2009; 41: 218-223
- 51 Liang JF, Wang HK, Xiao H, Li N, Cheng CX, Zhao YZ, Ma YB, Gao JZ, Bai RB, Zheng HX. Relationship and prognostic significance of SPARC and VEGF protein expression in colon cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2010; 29: 71
- 52 Zheng S, Han MY, Xiao ZX, Peng JP, Dong Q. Clinical significance of vascular endothelial growth factor expression and neovascularization in colorectal carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2003; 9: 1227-1230
- 53 Cao D, Hou M, Guan YS, Jiang M, Yang Y, Gou HF. Expression of HIF-1alpha and VEGF in colorectal cancer: association with clinical outcomes and prognostic implications. BMC Cancer 2009; 9: 432
- 54 Paule B, Bastien L, Deslandes E, Cussenot O, Podgorniak MP, Allory Y, Naïmi B, Porcher R, de La Taille A, Menashi S, Calvo F, Mourah S. Soluble isoforms of vascular endothelial growth factor are predictors of response to sunitinib in metastatic renal cell carcinomas. *PLoS One* 2010; 5: e10715
- 55 Cook KM, Figg WD. Angiogenesis inhibitors: current strategies and future prospects. CA Cancer J Clin 2010; 60: 222-243
- 56 Duhoux FP, Machiels JP. Antivascular therapy for epithelial ovarian cancer. J Oncol 2010; 2010: 372547
- 57 Hanrahan V, Currie MJ, Gunningham SP, Morrin HR, Scott PA, Robinson BA, Fox SB. The angiogenic switch for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, and VEGF-D in the adenoma-carcinoma sequence during colorectal cancer progression. J Pathol 2003; 200: 183-194
- 58 Miyazaki T, Okada N, Ishibashi K, Ogata K, Ohsawa T, Ishiguro T, Nakada H, Yokoyama M, Matsuki M, Kato H, Kuwano H, Ishida H. Clinical significance of plasma level of vascular endothelial growth factor-C in patients with colorectal cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2008; 38: 839-843
- 59 Zlobec I, Steele R, Nigam N, Compton CC.A predictive model of rectal tumor response to preoperative radiotherapy using classification and regression tree methods. *Clin Cancer Res* 2005; 15: 5440-5443
- 60 He M, Cheng Y, Li W, Liu Q, Liu J, Huang J, Fu X. Vascular endothelial growth factor C promotes cervical cancer metastasis via up-regulation and activation of RhoA/ ROCK-2/moesin cascade. BMC Cancer 2010; 10: 170
- 61 Thiele W, Sleeman JP. Tumor-induced lymphangiogenesis: a target for cancer therapy? J Biotechnol 2006; **124**: 224-241
- 62 Stintzing S, Heinemann V, Moosmann N, Hiddemann W, Jung A, Kirchner T. The treatment of colorectal carcinoma with monoclonal antibodies: the importance of KRAS mutation analysis and EGFR status. *Dtsch Arztebl Int* 2009;

106: 202-206

- 63 Gille J. Antiangiogenic cancer therapies get their act together: current developments and future prospects of growth factor- and growth factor receptor-targeted approaches. *Exp Dermatol* 2006; **15**: 175-186
- 64 **Sparano JA**, Gray R, Giantonio B, O'Dwyer P, Comis RL. Evaluating antiangiogenesis agents in the clinic: the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Portfolio of Clinical Trials. *Clin Cancer Res* 2004; **10**: 1206-1211
- 65 **Gruenberger B**, Tamandl D, Schueller J, Scheithauer W, Zielinski C, Herbst F, Gruenberger T. Bevacizumab, capecitabine, and oxaliplatin as neoadjuvant therapy for patients with potentially curable metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26: 1830-1835
- 66 Ma AT, Ma BB, Lei KI, Mo FK, Chan AT. Clinical predictors of response to cetuximab-chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer. *Hong Kong Med J* 2010; 16: 207-212
- 67 Nussenbaum F, Herman IM. Tumor angiogenesis: insights and innovations. J Oncol 2010; 2010: 132641
- 68 Boehm S, Rothermundt C, Hess D, Joerger M. Antiangiogenic drugs in oncology: a focus on drug safety and the elderly - a mini-review. *Gerontology* 2010; 56: 303-309
- 69 Mahfud M, Breitenstein S, El-Badry AM, Puhan M, Rickenbacher A, Samaras P, Pessaux P, Lopez-Ben S, Jaeck D, Figueras J, Alain-Clavien P. Impact of preoperative bevacizumab on complications after resection of colorectal liver metastases: case-matched control study. World J Surg 2010; 34: 92-100
- 70 Tol J, Punt CJ. Monoclonal antibodies in the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: a review. *Clin Ther* 2010; 32: 437-453
- 71 Shih T, Lindley C. Bevacizumab: an angiogenesis inhibitor for the treatment of solid malignancies. *Clin Ther* 2006; 28: 1779-1802
- 72 **Rougier P**, Mitry E. [Targeted biotherapy: a revolution in the management of patients with colorectal cancer?]. *Gastroenterol Clin Biol* 2009; **33**: 672-680
- 73 Jubb AM, Hurwitz HI, Bai W, Holmgren EB, Tobin P, Guerrero AS, Kabbinavar F, Holden SN, Novotny WF, Frantz GD, Hillan KJ, Koeppen H. Impact of vascular endothelial growth factor-A expression, thrombospondin-2 expression, and microvessel density on the treatment effect of bevacizumab in metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24: 217-227
- 74 **Tappenden P**, Jones R, Paisley S, Carroll C. Systematic review and economic evaluation of bevacizumab and cetuximab for the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. *Health Technol Assess* 2007; 11: 1-128, iii-iv
- 75 Naschberger E, Croner RS, Merkel S, Dimmler A, Tripal P, Amann KU, Kremmer E, Brueckl WM, Papadopoulos T, Hohenadl C, Hohenberger W, Stürzl M. Angiostatic immune reaction in colorectal carcinoma: Impact on survival and perspectives for antiangiogenic therapy. *Int J Cancer* 2008; **123**: 2120-2129
- 76 Hurwitz H, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny W, Cartwright T, Hainsworth J, Heim W, Berlin J, Baron A, Griffing S, Holmgren E, Ferrara N, Fyfe G, Rogers B, Ross R, Kabbinavar F. Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 2004; 350: 2335-2342
- 77 Kabbinavar FF, Wallace JF, Holmgren E, Yi J, Cella D, Yost KJ, Hurwitz HI. Health-related quality of life impact of bevacizumab when combined with irinotecan, 5-fluorouracil, and leucovorin or 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Oncologist* 2008; 13: 1021-1029
- 78 Ma WW, Hidalgo M. Exploiting novel molecular targets in gastrointestinal cancers. World J Gastroenterol 2007; 13: 5845-5856
- 79 Yancopoulos GD. Clinical application of therapies targeting



VEGF. Cell 2010; 143: 13-16

- 80 Hubbard J, Grothey A. Antiangiogenesis agents in colorectal cancer. Curr Opin Oncol 2010; 22: 374-380
- 81 Prat A, Casado E, Cortés J. New approaches in angiogenic targeting for colorectal cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2007; 13: 5857-5866

S- Editor Tian L L- Editor Webster JR E- Editor Tian L

